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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

A ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009

or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

Commission file number 1-5424

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaetr)

Delaware 58-021854¢
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
Post Office Box 2070t
Atlanta, Georgia 30320-6001
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s telephone number, including area codg404) 715-2600

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(bhefAct:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per st New York Stock Exchang

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(ghe@fAct: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant isell-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Ruleot@Be Securities Act. Ye&l NoO
Indicate by check mark if the registrant i$ regjuired to file reports pursuant to Section L3ection 15(d) of the Exchange Act.
YesO NoM™

Indicate by check mark whether the regist(ahtas filed all reports required to be filed bgc8on 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastifgs. Ye# NoO

Indicate by check mark whether the registhast submitted electronically and posted on its @@te Web site, if any, every Interactive C
File required to be submitted and posted pursuaRuie 405 of Regulation S-T (8§ 232.405 of thisptkg) during the preceding 12 months (or
for such shorter period that the registrant wasired to submit and post such files). Y8s No[O

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delieqt filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation kot contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgejdfinitive proxy or information statements incorated by reference in Part 1l of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-KO

Indicate by check mark whether the registrsuatlarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filerpn-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large acceleréited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirgpmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file& Accelerated filer™d Non-accelerated fileEl Smaller reporting compania
(Do not check if a smaller reporting company)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrsiat shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 offkehange Act). YeEl NoM

The aggregate market value of the voting anmdwoting common equity held by non-affiliates bétregistrant as of June 30, 2009 was
approximately $4.5 billion.

Indicate by check mark whether the registhea filed all documents and reports required téilbe by Section 12, 13 or 15(d) of tl



Securities Exchange Act of 1934 subsequent toigtehiition of securities under a plan confirmedebgourt. Ye# NoO
On January 31, 2010, there were outstandibgdBd,490 shares of the registrant’s common stock.
This document is also available on our websitettat iwww.delta.com/about_delta/investor_relations.
Documents Incorporated By Reference

Part 11l of this Form 10-K incorporates byesfnce certain information from the registrant'irdéve Proxy Statement for its Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be filed with the Setiesiand Exchange Commission.
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Unless otherwise indicated, the terms “Delta&,” “us,” and “our” refer to Delta Air Lines, In and its subsidiaries.

Forward-Looking Information

Statements in this Form 10-K (or otherwise enbg us or on our behalf) that are not historieats, including statements about our
estimates, expectations, beliefs, intentions, ptmjas or strategies for the future, may be “fonvlooking statements” as defined in the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forwawbking statements involve risks and uncertaintias tould cause actual results to differ
materially from historical experience or our prasexpectations. For examples of such risks andnteiogies, please see the cautionary
statements contained in “Risk Factors Relatingétid) and “Risk Factors Relating to the Airline lredry” in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” of this
Form 10-K. All forward-looking statements speakyoa$ of the date made, and we undertake no oldigédi publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statements to reflect events ocwinstances that may arise after the date of tpwrte
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PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
General

We provide scheduled air transportation fageagers and cargo throughout the United Statearandd the world. In October 2008, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of ours merged with anadiNtorthwest Airlines Corporation (“Northwest”). Asresult of this merger, Northwest and
its subsidiaries, including Northwest Airlines, IftNWA”"), became our wholly-owned subsidiaries. Oecember 31, 2009, NWA merged
with and into Delta, ending NWA'’s existence as jpagate entity. We anticipate that we will compléte integration of NWA's operations into
Delta during 2010.

We are incorporated under the laws of theeSthDelaware. Our principal executive offices lmeated at Hartsfield-Jackson Atlanta
International Airport in Atlanta, Georgia (the “Atita Airport”). Our telephone number is (404) 7B8®@ and our Internet address is
www.delta.com. Information contained on this web&tnot part of, and is not incorporated by refeeein, this Form 10-K.

Financial Strategies

Complete the integration of Northwedt/e believe the Northwest merger better positist manage through economic cycles and
volatile fuel prices, invest in our fleet, improservices for customers and achieve our strategactibes. We also believe the merger will
generate approximately $2 billion in annual reveand cost synergies by 2012 from more effectiveratft utilization, a more comprehensive
and diversified route system and reduced overheddmaproved operational efficiency.

Right-size our operationsn response to the global recession and high ftietp, we reduced domestic and international capsxbetter
match capacity with demand. We have focused on vergdhe associated capacity-related costs, inotpdircraft fleet and staffing. To reduce
fleet costs, we removed 18 mainline passengeradiritom the fleet during 2009, retired our enfieet of B-747-200F freighter aircraft during
2009 and plan to remove over 30 regional jets foomnetwork beginning in mid-2009 and continuingptigh early 2011. We have reduced
staffing primarily through voluntary reduction pragns as well as normal attrition. At December 302 our total workforce was 4% lower
than the combined workforce of Delta and NWA at &aber 31, 2008.

Improve our operating margingVe believe that the scope of our network, combin#h investments we are making in our product and
customer service, will enable us to generate araagnue premium to the industry and that our swatture allows us to generate highly
competitive unit costs, both of which provide tbels to improve our operating margins. By strengthg our network, entering into joint
ventures and expanding our alliances, we believaredetter able to improve unit revenues. And evbilr consolidated non-fuel unit costs are
the lowest among the major network carriers, weshaditional improvement opportunities as we redugsts associated with right-sizing our
business, increase productivity and realize mesgeergies.

Strengthen our balance she¥te currently, and will continue to, prudently maaamsts and free cash flow to conserve liquiditg W
finished 2009 with $5.4 billion in unrestricteduiglity (consisting of cash, cash equivalents, sten investments and undrawn revolving
credit facility capacity). We have no immediate shéer significant aircraft purchases and currehtiye limited aircraft capital expenditures
planned for the next three years. We will contituécus on cost discipline and cash flow generatiavard our goal of further strengthening
our balance sheet.

2010 Flight Plan

Providing a safe, secure operation is out éirel most fundamental obligation to our custonagi employees, as well as to the commur
we serve. The key goals of our 2010 flight plarude (1) positioning Delta as the global airlinecbbice, (2) enhancing our customer service,
(3) promoting positive employee relations, (4) bing a diversified, profitable worldwide networkdaglobal alliance and (5) delivering
industry-leading financial results.
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Airline Operations

Our global route network gives us a presenavery major domestic and international market. ©ute network is centered around the
system we operate at airports in Atlanta, Cincinftroit, Memphis, Minneapolis/St. Paul, New YalkK, Salt Lake City, Paris-Charles de
Gaulle, Amsterdam and Tokyo-Narita. Each of thage dperations includes flights that gather andibiste traffic from markets in the
geographic region surrounding the hub to domesiitiaternational cities and to other hubs. Our ekws supported by a fleet of aircraft that
is varied in terms of size and capabilities, givirgyflexibility to adjust aircraft to the network.

Expanding our presence in New York City throirgcreased focus on corporate customers, expamtkdnproved airport facilities and
increased and expanded service into and out of Wk City is a key component of our network stratefgor example, we continue to make
investments in our international operations at Nemk-JFK and explore long-term options to upgraue fiacility. In addition, in August 2009,
we announced our intention to make New York’s La@igAirport a domestic hub through a slot tranigecctvith US Airways. The agreement
calls for US Airways to transfer 125 operating gatrs to us at LaGuardia and for us to transfepgrating slot pairs to US Airways at
Reagan National Airport in Washington, D.C. We gitan to swap gates at LaGuardia to consolidatefallr operations (including the Delta
Shuttle) into an expanded main terminal facilitghwi 1 additional gates. The United States DepartmiEnransportation (“DOT”) has issued a
tentative order on the transaction that would negthie divestiture of 20 slot pairs at LaGuardid &4 slot pairs at Reagan National. We and
US Airways are reviewing the tentative order tcedetine our next steps.

Other key characteristics of our route netwiodtude:
. our alliances with foreign airlines, including aaembership in SkyTeam, a global airline alliar
. our transatlantic joint venture with Air France KL|

. our domestic alliances, including our marketingaaite with Alaska Airlines and Horizon Air, whichevare enhancing to expand «
west coast service; al

. agreements with multiple domestic regional casriezhich operate as Delta Connection, includingvaoolly-owned subsidiaries,
Comair, Inc., Compass Airlines, Inc. and Mesabaa#ign, Inc.

International Alliances

We have bilateral and multilateral marketitigaaces with foreign airlines to improve our aceés international markets. These
arrangements can include codesharing, reciproeguént flyer program benefits, shared or recipracakss to passenger lounges, joint
promotions, common use of airport gates and tickanters, ticket office co-location and other méirigeagreements. These alliances often
present opportunities in other areas, such asraigpound handling arrangements and aircraft maaree insourcing.

Our international codesharing agreements enadto market and sell seats to an expanded nurhbdernational destinations. Under
international codesharing arrangements, we andeggfo carrier each publish our respective airliesighator codes on a single flight operat
thereby allowing us and the foreign carrier to pféent service with one aircraft, rather than aggierg separate services with two aircraft. These
arrangements typically allow us to sell seats for@ign carrier’s aircraft that are marketed unoler designator code and permit the foreign
airline to sell seats on our aircraft that are reted under the foreign carrier’s designator code.

We have international codeshare arrangemettisAgromexico, Air France, Alitalia, Avianca, ClairAirlines, China Southern, CSA Czech
Airlines, KLM Royal Dutch Airlines, Korean Air, Mal Hungarian Airlines, Royal Air Maroc and Virginl# (and some affiliated carriers
operating in conjunction with some of these aidine
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SkyTeam In addition to our marketing alliance agreemaith individual foreign airlines, we are a membétte SkyTeam global airline
alliance. The other full members of SkyTeam areoflet, Aeromexico, Air France, Alitalia, China Stetn, CSA Czech Airlines, KLM and
Korean Air. One goal of SkyTeam is to link the muaetworks of the member airlines, providing oppoities for increased connecting traffic
while offering enhanced customer service throughuadicodesharing arrangements, reciprocal fregilygtand lounge programs and
coordinated cargo operations.

We have received antitrust immunity from th@Dthat enables us and our immunized alliance pest(Air France KLM, Alitalia, CSA
Czech Airlines and Korean Air) to offer a more gnated route network and develop common sales, etingkand discount programs for
customers. In July 2009, Delta and Virgin Blue intgional Airlines (VAustralia), Virgin Blue Airlias, Pacific Blue Airlines (Australia) and
Pacific Blue Airlines (New Zealand) filed an apjglion with the DOT for antitrust immunity.

Air France KLM joint venture In addition to being members in SkyTeam with Riance and KLM, both of which are subsidiarieshef t
same holding company, we have a transatlantic y@nture agreement with Air France and KLM. Thisesgnent provides for the sharing of
revenues and costs on transatlantic routes, asawelbordinated pricing, scheduling, and produeelbment on included routes. Pursuant to
this joint venture, we and Air France KLM operateextensive transatlantic network, primarily ontesubetween North America and Europe,
and secondarily on routes between North America/drida, the Middle East and India, and routes lestw Europe and Central America and
several countries in northern South America.

Domestic Alliances

We have entered into a marketing alliance Witiska and Horizon, which includes mutual codeisiggand reciprocal frequent flyer and
airport lounge access arrangements. In 2009, wareeld our alliance agreement with Alaska and Hartagrovide for more extensive
cooperation with respect to our west coast presence

We also have frequent flyer and reciprocahfjriagreements with Hawaiian Airlines, and codesbagreements with American Eagle
Airlines (“American Eagle”), US Helicopter and Migwst Airlines. These marketing relationships aregiesl to permit the carriers to retain
their separate identities and route networks wihiteeasing the number of domestic and internationahecting passengers using the carriers’
route networks.

Regional Carriers

We have air service agreements with multiglmdstic regional air carriers that feed traffioto route system by serving passengers
primarily in small-and medium-sized cities. Thes@agements enable us to increase the numbegbtdlive have available in certain
locations, to better match capacity with demandtarteserve our presence in smaller markets. Apmprately 22% of our passenger revenue
in 2009 related to flying by regional air carriers.

Through our regional carrier program, we hemetractual arrangements with 10 regional cartigigperate regional jet and, in certain ca
turbo-prop aircraft using our “DL” designator codie addition to our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Cam@ompass and Mesaba, we have
contractual arrangements with Atlantic Southeaslifs, Inc., a subsidiary of SkyWest, Inc. (“Sky§Vg; SkyWest Airlines, Inc., a subsidiary
of SkyWest; Chautauqua Airlines, Inc., a subsid@riRepublic Airways Holdings, Inc. (“Republic Hatdjs"); Shuttle America Corporation, a
subsidiary of Republic Holdings; Freedom Airlings;., a subsidiary of Mesa Air Group, Inc.; Pinmaalirlines, Inc.; and American Eagle.

With the exception of American Eagle and aiparof SkyWest Airlines as described below, thageeements are capacity purchase
arrangements, under which we control the schedutiriging, reservations, ticketing and seat inveefor the regional carriers’ flights
operating under our “DL” designator code, and weartitled to all ticket, cargo and mail revenugsoaiated with these flights. We pay those
airlines an amount, as defined in the applicabteement, which is based on a determination of twst of operating those flights and other
factors intended to approximate market rates foselservices. These capacity purchase agreemertmngrterm agreements, usually with
initial terms of at least 10 years, which granthesoption to extend the initial term. Certain loése agreements provide us the right to term
the entire agreement, or in some cases remove gbthe aircraft from the scope of the agreememtcémvenience at certain future dates.

4
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Our arrangements with American Eagle, limi@dertain flights operated to and from the Los éleg International Airport, as well as a
portion of the flights operated for us by SkyWegtiAes, are structured as revenue proration agee¢sn These proration agreements establish
a fixed dollar or percentage division of revenumstickets sold to passengers traveling on conngdlight itineraries.

Frequent Flyer Program

Our SkyMiles® frequent flyer program is desgrto retain and increase traveler loyalty by dfiggincentives to customers to increase
travel on Delta. The SkyMiles program allows pragn@members to earn mileage for travel awards bydyin Delta, Delta’s regional carriers
and other participating airlines. Mileage creditynadso be earned by using certain services offeyggrogram participants, such as credit card
companies, hotels, car rental agencies, and teleconcation services. In addition, individuals amanpanies may purchase mileage credits.
We reserve the right to terminate the program wittmonths advance notice, and to change the prdgi@rms and conditions at any time
without notice.

SkyMiles program mileage credits can be redskfar free or upgraded air travel on Delta andigipating airlines, for membership in our
Delta Sky Clubs® and for other program participantrds. Mileage credits are subject to certairsfexrrestrictions and travel awards are
subject to capacity-controlled seating. Progranoants with no activity for 12 consecutive montheaénrollment are deleted. Miles will not
expire so long as, at least once every two yelaesparticipant (1) takes a qualifying flight on Bela Delta Connection carrier or other
participating airlines, (2) earns miles through ofeur program participants, (3) buys miles fromlt@ or (4) redeems miles for any program
award.

Cargo

Through the strength of our global network;, cargo operations are able to connect all of thddis major freight gateways. We generate
cargo revenues in domestic and international manetarily through the use of cargo space on mfjuscheduled passenger aircraft. We are
a member of SkyTeam Cargo, a global airline catfignae. The alliance, whose other members are iexico Cargo, Air France Cargo,
Alitalia Cargo, CSA Czech Airlines Cargo, KLM Cargad Korean Air Cargo, offers a global network spag six continents. This alliance
offers cargo customers a consistent internatioradyrt line, and the partners work to jointly impeaheir efficiency and effectiveness in the
marketplace.

MRO

Our maintenance, repair and overhaul (“MR@3grations known as Delta TechOps is the largd#t@MRO in North America. In additic
to providing maintenance and engineering supporoto fleet of approximately 800 aircraft, Deltach®ps serves more than 150 aviation and
airline customers from around the world. Delta T@ph employs approximately 8,800 maintenance priofieals and is one of the most
experienced MRO providers in the world.

Fuel

Our results of operations are significanthpanted by changes in the price and availabilitgicdraft fuel. The following table shows our
aircraft fuel consumption and costs for 2007 thio2§09.

Gallons Average Percentage of
Consumed®) Cost®)4) Price Per Total Operating
Year (Millions) (Millions) Gallon ®) Expense®)
20091 3,85¢ $8,291 $2.1¢ 2%
2008 2,74C $8,68¢ $3.1¢€ 38%
2007 2,534 $5,67¢ $2.24 31%

@ Includes Northwest operations for the entire per
@ Includes Northwest operations for the period frootdber 30 to December 31, 20(
® Includes the operations of our contract carrierdenrcapacity purchase agreeme

@ Net of fuel hedge (losses) gains under our fuegregdprogram of $(1.4) billion, $(65) million and3$ million for 2009, 2008 and 200
respectively

) Total operating expense for 2008 reflects a $illidn non-cash charge from an impairment of godidand other intangible assets and
$1.1 billion in primarily no-cash mergerelated charges. Including these charges, fues @stounted for 28% of total operating expe

5
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Our aircraft fuel purchase contracts do nowjote material protection against price increageassure the availability of our fuel supplies.
We purchase most of our aircraft fuel under cosréitat establish the price based on various mamétes. We also purchase aircraft fuel on
the spot market, from off-shore sources and undetracts that permit the refiners to set the price.

We use derivative instruments, which are casaprof crude oil, heating oil and jet fuel swapljar and call option contracts, in an effort to
manage our exposure to changes in aircraft fueepri

We are currently able to obtain adequate seppff aircraft fuel, but it is impossible to pretihe future availability or price of aircraft flue
Weather-related events, natural disasters, pdlifisauptions or wars involving oil-producing coues, changes in government policy
concerning aircraft fuel production, transportataymmarketing, changes in aircraft fuel productiapacity, environmental concerns and other
unpredictable events may result in fuel supply &ug@s and fuel price increases in the future.

Competition

We face significant competition with respextautes, services and fares. Our domestic rougesubject to competition from both new and
existing carriers, some of which have lower costsitwe do and provide service at low fares to dastins served by us. In particular, we face
significant competition at our hub airports in Atta, Cincinnati, Detroit, Memphis, Minneapolis/Baul, New York-JFK, Salt Lake City, Paris-
Charles de Gaulle, Amsterdam and Tokyo-Narita eilirectly at those airports or from the hubs dfestairlines that compete on a connecting
basis. We also face competition in smaller to medgized markets from regional jet operators. Otitalo compete effectively depends, in
significant part, on our ability to maintain a cegtucture that is competitive with other carriers.

In addition, we compete with foreign carritgs U.S. passengers traveling to internationalidatbns, as well as between foreign points.
International marketing alliances formed by donteatid foreign carriers, including the Star Alliarfeenong United Air Lines, Continental
Airlines, Lufthansa German Airlines, Air Canada artders) and the oneworld alliance (among Amerigilines, British Airways, Qantas and
others) have significantly increased competitiomternational markets. The adoption of liberalifagen Skies Aviation Agreements with an
increasing number of countries around the worldiuiding in particular the Open Skies Treaty wite Member States of the European Union,
has accelerated this trend. Japan has reachedvagrem principle with the United States on an ogkies agreement, contingent upon the
successful completion of DOT alliance approvalifercarriers. Through marketing and codesharingreyements with U.S. carriers, foreign
carriers have obtained increased access to intéridrpassenger traffic beyond traditional U.Sewaiy cities. Similarly, U.S. carriers have
increased their ability to sell international trpagation, such as services to and beyond traditiBaropean and Asian gateway cities, through
alliances with international carriers.

Regulatory Matters

The DOT and the Federal Aviation Administratighe “FAA”) exercise regulatory authority over air transpootain the U.S. The DOT h:
authority to issue certificates of public convemiermnd necessity required for airlines to providmestic air transportation. An air carrier that
the DOT finds fit to operate is given unrestriceadhority to operate domestic air transportatiocl(iding the carriage of passengers and
cargo). Except for constraints imposed by regutetieegarding “Essential Air Services,” which arglagable to certain small communities,
airlines may terminate service to a city withoudtrietion.

The DOT has jurisdiction over certain econoarid consumer protection matters, such as unfaleceptive practices and methods of
competition, advertising, denied boarding compéosabaggage liability and disabled passenger panrtation. The DOT also has authority to
review certain joint venture agreements betweemnagrriers. The FAA has primary responsibility foatters relating to air carrier flight
operations, including airline operating certificgteontrol of navigable air space, flight personaetraft certification and maintenance and
other matters affecting air safety.

Authority to operate international routes ameérnational codesharing arrangements is regulayetie DOT and by the governments of the
foreign countries involved. International certifieauthorities are also subject to the approvéhefJ.S. President for conformance with
national defense and foreign policy objectives.
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The Transportation Security Administration éhel U.S. Customs and Border Protection, eachisidivof the Department of Homeland
Security, are responsible for certain civil aviat&ecurity matters, including passenger and bagse@ening at U.S. airports and international
passenger prescreening prior to entry into or degafrom the U.S.

Airlines are also subject to various otherefed], state, local and foreign laws and regulatiéios example, the U.S. Department of Justice
has jurisdiction over airline competition mattefae U.S. Postal Service has authority over cedapects of the transportation of mail. Labor
relations in the airline industry, as discusseaWwehre generally governed by the Railway Labor. &ttvironmental matters are regulated by
various federal, state, local and foreign governaesntities. Privacy of passenger and employea idatgulated by domestic and foreign [
and regulations.

Fares and Rates

Airlines set ticket prices in all domestic andst international city pairs without governmemtgjulation, and the industry is characterized
by significant price competition. Certain intermaial fares and rates are subject to the jurisdiatithe DOT and the governments of the
foreign countries involved. Many of our tickets a@d by travel agents, and fares are subjectimntssions, overrides and discounts paid to
travel agents, brokers and wholesalers.

Route Authority

Our flight operations are authorized by cardifes of public convenience and necessity andatsxemptions and limited-entry frequency
awards issued by the DOT. The requisite approviadéheer governments for international operatiores@ntrolled by bilateral agreements w
or permits or approvals issued by, foreign couatrigecause international air transportation is gue@ by bilateral or other agreements
between the U.S. and the foreign country or coestirivolved, changes in U.S. or foreign governnaetdtion policies could result in the
alteration or termination of such agreements, dishithe value of our international route authositie otherwise affect our international
operations. Bilateral agreements between the W@various foreign countries served by us are stibjerenegotiation from time to time.
Notably, the U.S. and Japan have begun steps igertheir bilateral agreemel

Certain of our international route authoritige subject to periodic renewal requirements. ¥geiest extension of these authorities wher
as appropriate. While the DOT usually renews temoauthorities on routes where the authorizederaig providing a reasonable level of
service, there is no assurance this practice wiitioue in general or with respect to a specifitergal. Dormant route authority may not be
renewed in some cases, especially where anotherchr@er indicates a willingness to provide sesvic

Airport Access

Operations at four major domestic airports emdain foreign airports served by us are regdlategovernmental entities through allocati
of “slots” or similar regulatory mechanisms whidmik the rights of carriers to conduct operatiohshase airports. Each slot represents the
authorization to land at or take off from the pautar airport during a specified time period.

In the U.S., the FAA currently regulates theaation of slots, slot exemptions, operating auittations, or similar capacity allocation
mechanisms at Reagan National in Washington, R&Guardia and JFK in New York, and Newark. Our agiens at these airports generally
require the allocation of slots or analogous repmeauthorities. Similarly, our operations at Toks/Narita Airport, London’s Gatwick and
Heathrow airports and other international airparesregulated by local slot coordinators pursuautihé International Air Transport
Association’s Worldwide Scheduling Guidelines apglacable local law. We recently filed an applicetiwith the DOT to offer customers
nonstop service between Tokyo’s Haneda Airport@edittle, Detroit, Los Angeles and Honolulu. We ently have sufficient slots or
analogous authorizations to operate our existightt, and we have generally been able to obtaimithts to expand our operations and to
change our schedules. There is no assurance, howeaewe will be able to do so in the future hexsg among other reasons, such allocations
are subject to changes in governmental policies.
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Environmental Matters

Noise. The Airport Noise and Capacity Act of 1990 recags the rights of operators of airports with ngiseblems to implement local
noise abatement programs so long as such programstdnterfere unreasonably with interstate oeigm commerce or the national air
transportation system. This statute generally glesithat local noise restrictions on Stage 3 dirfirat effective after October 1, 1990, require
FAA approval. While we have had sufficient schedglflexibility to accommodate local noise restigets in the past, our operations could be
adversely impacted if locally-imposed regulatioesdme more restrictive or widespread.

Emissions The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the ABHs authorized to regulate aircraft emissions &as historically
implemented emissions control standards previcadgbpted by the International Civil Aviation Orgaatipn (“ICAQO”). Our aircraft comply
with the existing EPA standards as applicable yirendesign date. ICAO has adopted additional &irengine emissions standards applic
to engines certified after December 31, 2007, hatEPA has not yet proposed a rule that incorpsthese new ICAO standards.

Concern about climate change and greenhoussss gmay result in additional regulation of aircaftissions in the U.S. and abroad. As a
result, we may become subject to taxes, chargedditional requirements to obtain permits or pusehallowances or emission credits for
greenhouse gas emissions in various jurisdictimhg;h could result in taxation or permitting reaaritents from multiple jurisdictions for the
same operations. Ongoing discussions between thedJatates and other nations, including the dsions that resulted in an accord reached
at the United Nations Climate Change Conferenc®20@openhagen in December 2009, may lead tonatiemal treaties focusing on
greenhouse gas emissions.

The European Union has adopted the most &gnif emissions regulatory system by publishindgrective requiring its member countries
implement regulations including aviation in the &pean Union’s emissions trading system (“ETS"). &ntthese regulations, any airline with
flights originating or landing in the European Umiwill be subject to the ETS and, beginning in 20hay be required to purchase emissions
allowances or credits if the airline exceeds thealper of free credits allocated to it under the EW®. expect that such a system would impose
significant costs on our operations in the Europdaion. Under the ETS, each airline is requireflleoemissions plans with a specific mem
country. Prior to NWA ceasing existence as a sepanatity, we filed emissions plans in Germany ljwéspect to Delta) and the Netherlands
(with respect to NWA) under protest. The Air TraogpAssociation and three U.S. carriers have fdadiction in the United Kingdom
challenging the legality of the ETS on various grds; however, airlines will be required to complighithe ETS unless interim relief is
granted.

Cap and trade restrictions have also beenogeapin the United States. In addition, other lagige or regulatory action, including by the
EPA, to regulate greenhouse gas emissions is pesbilparticular, the EPA has found that greenbayesses threaten the public health and
welfare, which could result in regulation of greenke gas emissions from aircraft. In the eventl#waslation or regulation is enacted in the
U.S. or in the event similar legislation or regidatis enacted in jurisdictions other than the Ppean Union where we operate or where we
operate in the future, it could result in signifitaosts for us and the airline industry. At thisd, we cannot predict whether any such
legislation or regulation would apportion costswestn one or more jurisdictions in which we opefligdits. Under these systems, certain
credits may be available to reduce the costs ahjgein order to mitigate the impact of such retjoles on consumers, but we cannot predict
whether we or the airline industry in general \udlve access to offsets or credits. We are mongaim evaluating the potential impact of s
legislative and regulatory developments. In additio direct costs, such regulation may have a gredtect on the airline industry through
increases in fuel costs that could result from fugdpliers passing on increased costs that they imder such a system.

We seek to minimize the impact of carbon emissfrom our operations through reductions infoet consumption and other efforts. We
have reduced the fuel needs of our aircraft fleeiugh the retirement and replacement of cert@mehts of our fleet and with newer, more
fuel efficient aircraft. In addition, we have impiented fuel saving procedures in our flight andugtbsupport operations that further reduce
carbon emissions. We are also supporting effortiet@lop alternative fuels and efforts to modertieeair traffic control system in the U.S.
part of our efforts to reduce our emissions andimmize our impact on the environment.
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Other Environmental MattersWe have been identified by the EPA as a poténtiasponsible party (a “PRP”) with respect to a@rt
Superfund Sites, and have entered into consen¢eecegarding some of these sites. Our allegedshspolume at each of these sites is small
when compared to the total contributions of all BRPeach site. We are aware of soil and/or greuatér contamination present on our cur
or former leaseholds at several domestic airpdsaddress this contamination, we have a prograpteice to investigate and, if appropriate,
remediate these sites. Although the ultimate ou&ofrthese matters cannot be predicted with céytaimanagement believes that the
resolution of these matters will not have a matexilverse effect on our consolidated financialestagnts.

We are also subject to various other fedstate and local laws governing environmental matiaecluding the management and disposal of
chemicals, waste and hazardous materials, proteofisurface and subsurface waters and regulafiair emissions and drinking water.

Civil Reserve Air Fleet Program

We participate in the Civil Reserve Air Flpebgram (the “CRAF Program”), which permits the Unglitary to use the aircraft and crew
resources of participating U.S. airlines durindifhiemergencies, national emergencies or timesaf We have agreed to make available u
the CRAF Program a portion of our internationalgaircraft from October 1, 2009 until SeptemberZi10. As of October 1, 2009, the
following numbers of our international range aiftexe available for CRAF activation:

Number of
Description of International Aeromedical Total
Event Leading to Passenger Aircraft Aircraft by
Stage Activation Aircraft Allocated Allocated Stage
I Minor Crisis 11 N/A 11
Il Major Theater Conflic 30 25 55
1] Total National Mobilizatio 137 33 17C

The CRAF Program has only been activated twioéh times at the Stage | level, since it wastae in 1951.

Employee Matters
Railway Labor Act

Our relations with labor unions in the U.S governed by the Railway Labor Act. Under the Rayl Labor Act, a labor union seeking to
represent an unrepresented craft or class of erapoig required to file with the National Mediati®oard (the “NMB”)an application allegin
a representation dispute, along with authorizat@mnls signed by at least 35% of the employeesainctaft or class. The NMB then investig:
the dispute and, if it finds the labor union hataoted a sufficient number of authorization camsjducts an election to determine whether to
certify the labor union as the collective bargainiepresentative of that craft or class. UndeMNMB’s usual rules, a labor union will be
certified as the representative of the employeesdraft or class only if more than 50% of thos@layees vote for union representation. A
certified labor union then enters into negotiatitmsard a collective bargaining agreement withehgployer.

Under the Railway Labor Act, a collective bairdng agreement between an airline and a laba@ruddes not expire, but instead becomes
amendable as of a stated date. Either party mayestdghat the NMB appoint a federal mediator tdip@ate in the negotiations for a new or
amended agreement. If no agreement is reacheddiatioe, the NMB may determine, at any time, thatrapasse exists and offer binding
arbitration. If either party rejects binding arhtion, a 30-day “cooling off” period begins. At thad of this 30-day period, the parties may
engage in “self help,” unless the U.S. Presidepbaqts a Presidential Emergency Board (“PEB”) teestigate and report on the dispute. The
appointment of a PEB maintains the “status quo’afordditional 60 days. If the parties do not reagteement during this period, the parties
may then engage in “self help.” “Self help” incledamong other things, a strike by the union oiirtipgosition of proposed changes to the
collective bargaining agreement by the airline. gress and the President have the authority to ptéself help” by enacting legislation that,
among other things, imposes a settlement on thepar
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Collective Bargaining

As of December 31, 2009, we had 81,106 falletiequivalent employees. Approximately 39% of trezaployees were represented by
unions, including the following domestic employegeups.

Approximate

Number of Active Date on which Collectiv¢

Employees Bargaining Agreement

Employee Group Represented Union Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 10,79( ALPA December 31, 20:
Delta Flight Superintendents (Dispatche 31¢ PAFCA December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Fleet Service, Passenger Service, afidelZlerical 9,407 IAM December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Simulator Technicial 38 IAM December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Stock Clerk 242 IAM December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Flight Attendant 5,97( AFA-CWA December 31, 20:
Comair Pilots 1,31« ALPA March 2, 201
Comair Maintenance Employe 40C IAM December 31, 20:
Comair Flight Attendant 764 IBT December 31, 20:
Compass Pilot 373 ALPA April 10, 201
Mesaba Pilot: 1,01¢ ALPA June 1, 201
Mesaba Flight Attendan 623 AFA-CWA May 31, 201.
Mesaba Mechanics and Related Employ 358 AMFA May 31, 201
Mesaba Dispatche 28 TWU May 31, 201

Labor unions periodically engage in organizifigrts to represent various groups of our empsyécluding at our airline subsidiaries, 1
are not represented for collective bargaining psego

Integration of a number of the workgroups I{idéng pilots and aircraft maintenance technicidres been successfully completed.
Completion of the integration of certain workgroypeluding flight attendants, airport employeesl aeservations employees) will require the
resolution of representation issues. We cannotigtradhen these representation issues will be resblilowever, as a result of our obtaining a
single operating certificate from the FAA, comphetithe merger of the NWA reservations system indtid»s system, and the merger of NWA
into Delta, we believe we can achieve many of fhreeggies of integrating the pre-merger Northwestrapons into Delta’s before the
remaining employee representation issues are @dolv

Under procedures that have been utilized byNNB, each labor union that represented U.S.-basgaloyees at pre-merger Delta or NWA,
as well as other groups of employees with a séfficchowing of interest, may invoke the NMB’s jdiction to address representation issues
arising from the merger. Once its jurisdictionrizaked, the NMBS rules call for it to first determine whether tidines have combined or w
combine to form a single carrier. On January 79200 NMB ruled that Delta and NWA constitute lagi¢ transportation system for
representation purposes under the Railway LaboirAsponse to applications filed by certain & tine-merger unions at Delta and NWA.

The NMB has utilized certain procedures toradd and resolve representation issues arisingdidime mergers which generally have
included the following:

. Where employees in the same craft or class awbearriers are represented by the same uniahuttion will be certified to
represent the combined group, without an elec
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. Where employees in the same craft or class awtbearriers have different representation stateither they are represented by
different unions or one group is represented bgiaruand the other is not—the NMB’s rules provide d representation election
among the combined employee groups if the groupScamparable” in size. In general, the NMB hassidared two groups to be
comparable in size if the smaller group is at 18886 of the combined group. If the representatient®sn results in the combined
group not being represented by a union, the coliedttargaining agreement covering the group thdtgraviously been unionized will
terminate.

. If the two groups are not comparable in size stinaller group will be folded into and have the saepresentation status as the larger
group. Even where the two groups are not comparaldize, the smaller group can still obtain arctda if, within 14 days after the
NMB's single carrier determination with respect tat tipeup, the smaller group submits a showing afriggt from at least 35% of the
combined group. The showing of interest can comdiatithorization cards as well as the seniorgtlyydif the smaller group, if the
smaller group had be«epresented by a unic

Based upon these procedures, representatibretated issues have been resolved in U.S.-basddyvoups represented by six of the eight
labor unions at Delta and NWA pre-merger. The NMBently issued a formal proposal to change thengatiles for representation elections
in the airline industry to provide that a majoritfyvotes cast (rather than a majority of votesikl@to be cast) is necessary to certify a union to
represent a craft or class of employees. Concuwihtthe NMB’s proposal, the two remaining pre-gear NWA unions, the Association of
Flight Attendants-CWA, which represented fligheatiiants at pre-merger NWA, and the Internationab&mtion of Machinists, which
represented various categories of ground emplogiepe-merger NWA, withdrew applications that the filed with the National Mediation
Board to resolve post-merger representation issuBglta. While it is unclear when representatgsues will be resolved in those workgroups,
we are proceeding with a substantial portion ofaperational integration.

If a labor union is certified to representonbined group post-merger, the terms and conditbéesnployment of the combined work group
ultimately will be subject to negotiations towargbat collective bargaining agreement. Complefioigt collective bargaining agreements
covering combined work groups that choose to beesgmted by a labor union could take significametiwhich could delay or impede our
ability to achieve targeted synergies from the reerg

With respect to integration of seniority listghere the two employee groups in a craft or dese different representation status, federal
law requires that seniority integration be goverbgdhe procedures first issued by the Civil Aenatics Board in the Allegheny-Mohawk
merger—known as the Allegheny-Mohawk Labor ProtecBrovisions. In general, Allegheiehawk Labor Protective Provisions require
seniority be integrated in a “fair and equitableinrmer and that any disputes not resolved by ndgwttamay be submitted to binding
arbitration by a neutral arbitrator. This requireris consistent with the seniority protection pglthat has been adopted by the Delta board of
directors. Where both groups are represented bgah® union prior to the merger, seniority intdgrais governed by the union’s bylaws and
policies. The integration of the seniority liststbé pilots of Delta and NWA as well as flight digghers, meteorologists and aircraft
maintenance technicians and related Technical @pasasemployees have been resolved.

Executive Officers

Richard H. Anderson, Age 54Chief Executive Officer of Delta since SeptembeP007; Executive Vice President of UnitedHealtio@p
and President of its Commercial Services Group €bdaer 2006—August 2007); Executive Vice PresidémtrotedHealth Group (November
2004—December 2006); Chief Executive Officer of tharest (2001—November 2004).

Edward H. Bastian, Age 52President of Delta since September 1, 2007; @easiof Delta and Chief Executive Officer NWA
(October 2008—December 2009); President and Clinefrigial Officer of Delta (September 2007—Octob@08); Executive Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer of Delta (July 2005—S&=pber 2007); Chief Financial Officer, Acuity Bran@une 2005—July 2005); Senior
Vice President—Finance and Controller of Delta (B8@\pril 2005); Vice President and Controller of Ee{1998—2000).

Michael J. Becker, Age 48 Executive Vice President of Delta since Octol20& Executive Vice President of Delta and Chieé@jging
Officer NWA (October 2008—December 2009); Seniocé/President of Human Resources and Labor RelatioNsrthwest (May 2005—
October 2008); Senior Vice President—Human Ressust&lorthwest (August 2001 to May 2005); Vice Rtest—International of
Northwest (200—August 2001).
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Michael H. Campbell, Age 61 Executive Vice President—HR & Labor Relationd#lta since October 2008; Executive Vice President—
HR, Labor & Communications of Delta (December 20@Jetober 2008); Executive Vice Presiderttaman Resources and Labor Relation
Delta (July 2006—December 2007); Of Counsel, Fordarison (January 2005—July 2006); Senior Viceskient—Human Resources and
Labor Relations, Continental Airlines, Inc. (1997862); Partner, Ford & Harrison (1978—1996).

Stephen E. Gorman, Age 54Executive Vice President and Chief Operating €ffiof Delta since October 2008; Executive Vice
President—Operations of Delta (December 2007-Oct2068); President and Chief Executive Officer eé@ound Lines, Inc. (June 2003—
October 2007); President, North America and Exeeudlice President Operations Support at Krispy Kedboughnuts, Inc. (August 2001—
June 2003); Executive Vice President, Technicalrépens and Flight Operations of Northwest (Febyu301—August 2001), Senior Vice
President, Technical Operations of Northwest (Jani899—February 2001), and Vice President, Enlagntenance Operations of
Northwest (April 199—January 1999).

Glen W. Hauenstein, Age 49Executive Vice President—Network Planning and &we Management of Delta since April 2006;
Executive Vice President and Chief of Network are&ue Management of Delta (August 2005—April 200)e General Director—Chief
Commercial Officer and Chief Operating Officer ditAlia (2003—2005); Senior Vice President—NetwoiflContinental Airlines (2003);
Senior Vice President—Scheduling of ContinentaliAgés (2001— 2003); Vice President Scheduling ofitBental Airlines (1998—2001).

Hank Halter, Age 45: Senior Vice President and Chief Financial OffioéDelta since October 2008; Senior Vice Presiddfinance and
Controller of Delta (May 2005—October 2008); Viceefident—Controller of Delta (March 2005—May 2008)¢e President—Assistant
Controller of Delta (January 2002—March 2005); afick President—Finance—Operations of Delta (Felyr@@00—December 2001);
various finance leadership positions at Delta anteAcan Airlines, Inc. (June 1993—February 2000).

Richard B. Hirst, Age 65 Senior Vice President and General Counsel ofeDstice October 2008; Senior Vice President—Cotpora
Affairs and General Counsel of Northwest (March&000ctober 2008); Executive Vice President and fOhegal Officer of KB Home
(March 2004— November 2006); Executive Vice Presidand General Counsel of Burger King Corporatidarch 2001—June 2003);
General Counsel of the Minnesota Twins (1999—208@)jior Vice President—Corporate Affairs of Nortlstvgl 994—1999); Senior Vice
President—General Counsel of Northwest (1990—199itE President—General Counsel and Secretary ofi@ental Airlines (1986—
1990).

Additional Information

We make available free of charge on our welmitr Annual Report on Form 10-K, our Quarterly &gpon Form 10-Q, our Current
Reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reasigeon as reasonably practicable after thesetsegoe filed with or furnished to the
Securities and Exchange Commission. Informatioownwebsite is not incorporated into this Form 1@our other securities filings and is
not a part of those filings.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
Risk Factors Relating to Delta

Our business and results of operations are deperndenthe price and availability of aircraft fuel. ih fuel costs or cost increases could
have a materially adverse effect on our operatirgsults. Likewise, significant disruptions in the gply of aircraft fuel would materially
adversely affect our operations and operating resul

Our operating results are significantly imgacby changes in the price and availability ofraificfuel. Fuel prices have increased
substantially since the middle part of the lastadiecand spiked at record high levels in 2008 bdfdlieg dramatically during the latter part of
2008. In 2009, our average fuel price per gallos $215. In 2008, our average fuel price per gallas $3.16, a 41% increase from an ave
price of $2.24 in 2007, which in turn was signifitlg higher than fuel prices just a few years earlFuel costs represented 29%, 38%, and
of our operating expense in 2009, 2008 and 20@peactively. Total operating expense for 2008 réflec$7.3 billion non-cash charge from an
impairment of goodwill and other intangible assatd $1.1 billion in primarily non-cash merger-rethcharges. Including these charges, fuel
costs accounted for 28% of total operating exp@n2608. Fuel costs have had a significant negatifect on our results of operations and
financial condition.

Our ability to pass along the increased coffael to our customers is limited by the compegitnature of the airline industry. We often
have not been able to increase our fares to dfisetffect of increased fuel costs in the pastva@dnay not be able to do so in the future.

In addition, our aircraft fuel purchase contsado not provide material protection againsteiicreases or assure the availability of our fuel
supplies. We purchase most of our aircraft fuelaurmbntracts that establish the price based oowsuinarket indices. We also purchase air
fuel on the spot market, from offshore sourcesamtker contracts that permit the refiners to septiee. In an effort to manage our exposure to
changes in fuel prices, we use derivative instrusjemhich are comprised of crude oil, heating ol get fuel swap, collar and call option
contracts, though we may not be able to succegshdhage this exposure. Depending on the typeddihg instrument used, our ability to
benefit from declines in fuel prices may be limited

We are currently able to obtain adequate seppff aircraft fuel, but it is impossible to pretihe future availability or price of aircraft flue
Weather-related events, natural disasters, pdliisauptions or wars involving oil-producing coties, changes in governmental policy
concerning aircraft fuel production, transportataymmarketing, changes in aircraft fuel productiapacity, environmental concerns and other
unpredictable events may result in additional fugdply shortages and fuel price increases in theduAdditional increases in fuel costs or
disruptions in fuel supplies could have additiomedjative effects on us.

The global economic recession has resulted in weakemand for air travel and may create challenges fis that could have a material
adverse effect on our business and results of opierss.

As the effects of the global economic recessiave been felt in our domestic and internatiomalkets, we have experienced significantly
weaker demand for air travel. Our demand begatote during the December 2008 quarter and globahertc conditions in 2009
substantially reduced U.S. airline industry revenme2009 compared to 2008. As a result, we redocedonsolidated capacity by 6% in 2009
compared to the combined capacity of Delta andiNegst during 2008. Demand for air travel could renveeak if an economic recovery is
slow or even fall further if a recession returnsj @verall demand could fall lower than we are gisledently to reduce capacity. The weakness
in the United States and international economiésisng a significant negative impact on our resaftoperations and could continue to ha
significant negative impact on our future resuteperations.

The global financial crisis may have an impact omiobusiness and financial condition in ways that veairrently cannot predict.

The credit crisis and related turmoil in tHelgl financial system has had and may contindete an impact on our business and our
financial condition. In particular, the financiaisis and economic downturn resulted in broadlydomvestment asset returns and values,
including in the defined benefit pension plans tlkatsponsor for eligible employees and
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retirees. As of December 31, 2009, the defined fitgmension plans had an estimated benefit obligadf approximately $17.0 billion and wi
funded through assets with a value of approxim&hélg billion. We estimate that our funding reqoients for our defined benefit pension
plans, which are governed by ERISA and have bamefr for future accruals, are approximately $72laniin 2010. The significant level of
required funding is due primarily to the declinglie investment markets in 2008, which negativéfigcéed the value of our pension assets.
Estimates of pension plan funding requirementsveam materially from actual funding requirementsdase the estimates are based on va
assumptions concerning factors outside our cornitroliding, among other things, the market perfarogeof assets; statutory requirements;
demographic data for participants, including thenbar of participants and the rate of participatritetn. Results that vary significantly from
our assumptions could have a material impact orfudure funding obligations.

Our obligation to post collateral in connection vhitour fuel hedge contracts may have a substantrapiact on our short-term liquidity.

Under fuel hedge contracts that we may enterfrom time to time, counterparties to those maets may require us to fund the margin
associated with any loss position on the contrdais example, at December 31, 2008, our counteéesarequired us to fund $1.2 billion of fuel
hedge margin. However, at December 31, 2009, cquentiies were required to fund us a net $10 millibfuel prices fall significantly below
the levels at the time we enter into hedging catgrave may be required to post a significant amofinollateral, which could have an impact
on the level of our unrestricted cash and cashvatprits and short-term investments.

Our substantial indebtedness may limit our finantiand operating activities and may adversely affect ability to incur additional debt
to fund future needs.

We have substantial indebtedness, which could:

require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofi lsv from operations to the payment of principall interest on indebtedne
thereby reducing the funds available for operatamd future business opportuniti

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our paynmiemd other obligations under our indebtedn

limit our ability to borrow additional money ferorking capital, restructurings, capital expendigjrresearch and development,
investments, acquisitions or other purposes, ifladeand increasing the cost of any of these bangsy

make us more vulnerable to economic downturns,raéviedustry conditions or catastrophic externangs,
limit our ability to withstand competitive pressar
reduce our flexibility in planning for or respondito changing business and economic conditiongpa

limit our flexibility in responding to changingibiness and economic conditions, including incré@senpetition and demand for new
services, placing us at a disadvantage when comipareur competitors that have less debt, and ngakénmore vulnerable than our
competitors who have less debt to a downturn inbmsiness, industry or the economy in gent

In addition, a substantial level of indebtesB)garticularly because substantially all of ageds are currently subject to liens, could linoit
ability to obtain additional financing on acceptbtrms or at all for working capital, capital ergéures and general corporate purposes. We
have historically had substantial liquidity needdhie operation of our business. These liquiditydsecould vary significantly and may be
affected by general economic conditions, indugends, performance and many other factors not mithr control.
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Agreements governing our debt, including credit @@ments and indentures, include financial and othesvenants that impose
restrictions on our financial and business operatis.

Our credit facilities and indentures for sexlinotes have various financial and other coverthatgequire us to maintain, depending on the
particular agreement, minimum fixed charge coveragies, minimum unrestricted cash reserves amdipimum collateral coverage ratios.
The value of the collateral that has been pledgezhch facility may change over time, including tuéactors that are not under our control,
resulting in a situation where we may not be ablmaintain the collateral coverage ratio. In additithe credit facilities and indentures contain
other negative covenants customary for such fimagscilf we fail to comply with these covenants anel unable to obtain a waiver or
amendment, an event of default would result. Tleesenants are subject to important exceptions aatifgrations.

The credit facilities and indentures also eambther events of default customary for suchrfoilags. If an event of default were to occur,
lenders or the trustee could, among other thingslade outstanding amounts due and payable, anchstirmay become restricted. We cannot
provide assurance that we would have sufficientidiiy to repay or refinance the borrowings or sateder any of the credit facilities if such
amounts were accelerated upon an event of defawdtdition, an event of default or declaratiorao€eleration under any of the credit facili
or the indentures could also result in an evemted&ult under other of our financing agreements.

Employee strikes and other labor-related disrupt®omay adversely affect our operations.

Our business is labor intensive, utilizinggeunumbers of pilots, flight attendants and otlespnnel. As of December 31, 2009,
approximately 39% of our workforce was unionizettikes or labor disputes with our unionized emplyenay adversely affect our ability to
conduct business. Relations between air carrieddadoor unions in the United States are governethéyRailway Labor Act, which provides
that a collective bargaining agreement betweerirlineaand a labor union does not expire, but iadtbecomes amendable as of a stated date.
The Railway Labor Act generally prohibits strikesother types of self-help actions both before aftelr a collective bargaining agreement
becomes amendable, unless and until the collebtvgaining processes required by the Railway Latmbthave been exhausted.

In addition, if we or our affiliates are unalib reach agreement with any of our unionized vgodups on future negotiations regarding the
terms of their collective bargaining agreements additional segments of our workforce become aized, we may be subject to work
interruptions or stoppages, subject to the requér@mof the Railway Labor Act. Likewise, if thiréupy regional carriers with whom we have
contract carrier agreements are unable to readeagmt with their unionized work groups on currfuture negotiations regarding the terms
of their collective bargaining agreements, thosei@a may be subject to work interruptions or gages, subject to the requirements of the
Railway Labor Act, which could have a negative ictpan our operations.

The ability to realize fully the anticipated benefiof our merger with Northwest may depend on thieaessful integration of the
businesses of Delta and Northwest.

Our merger with Northwest involved the combim of two companies which operated as indepenpleblic companies prior to the merc
We are devoting significant attention and resoutoéstegrating our business practices and opergtio order to achieve the benefits of the
merger, including expected synergies. If we arébleto integrate our business practices and operstn a manner that allows us to achieve
the anticipated revenue and cost synergies, ahieaement of such synergies takes longer or enete than expected, the anticipated benefits
of the merger may not be realized fully or at alhtay take longer to realize than expected. Intaudiit is possible that the integration process
could result in the loss of key employees, divarsibmanagement’s attention, the disruption orrmfgtion of, or the loss of momentum in our
ongoing businesses or inconsistencies in standeodsols, procedures and policies, any of whichld@dversely affect our ability to maintain
relationships with customers and employees or bilityato achieve the anticipated benefits of therger, or could reduce our earnings or
otherwise adversely affect our business and firrdmesults. We expect to incur total cash coseppiroximately $500 million over
approximately three years to integrate the tworesl.
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Completion of the integration of the Delta and NW#orkforces may present significant challenges.

The successful integration of the pre-mergertiNvest operations into Delta and achievemenhefanticipated benefits of the combination
depend significantly on integrating the pre-mengelta and NWA employee groups and on maintainiruglpctive employee relations. While
integration of a number of the workgroups (inclugpilots and aircraft maintenance technicians)ieen successfully completed, completion
of the integration of certain workgroups (includiflight attendants, airport employees and resesnatemployees) of the two pre-merger
airlines will require the resolution of potentiatiijfficult issues, including but not limited to tipeocess and timing for determining whether the
combined post-merger workgroups wish to have urépnesentation. Unexpected delay, expense or ottadlenges to integrating the
workforces could impact the expected synergies fiteermerger and affect our financial performance.

Interruptions or disruptions in service at one ofiohub airports could have a material adverse impamn our operations.

Our business is heavily dependent on our oipaiaat the Atlanta airport and at our other hinpaats in Cincinnati, Detroit, Memphis,
Minneapolis/St. Paul, New York-JFK, Salt Lake Cigris-Charles de Gaulle, Amsterdam and Tokyo-Balach of these hub operations
includes flights that gather and distribute traffiam markets in the geographic region surroundirgghub to other major cities and to other
Delta hubs. A significant interruption or disruptitn service at the Atlanta airport or at one of other hubs could have a serious impact or
business, financial condition and results of openat

We are increasingly dependent on technology in @perations, and if our technology fails or we ar@able to continue to invest in new
technology or integrate the systems and technolegéDelta and Northwest, our business may be adebr affected.

We have become increasingly dependent on t¢éaby initiatives to reduce costs and to enhanstarner service in order to compete in the
current business environment. For example, we haaae significant investments in delta.com, checkidigsks and related initiatives. The
performance and reliability of the technology ariéical to our ability to attract and retain custers and our ability to compete effectively.
These initiatives will continue to require signéitt capital investments in our technology infrastinge. If we are unable to make these
investments, our business and operations coulaatively affected. In addition, we may face chaldles associated with integrating complex
systems and technologies that supported the sepgpatations of Delta and Northwest. If we are lematomanage these challenges effectiv
our business and results of operations could bativedy affected.

In addition, any internal technology errorfaiture or large scale external interruption inttiealogy infrastructure we depend on, such as
power, telecommunications or the internet, mayugisour technology network. Any individual, sustdror repeated failure of technology
could impact our customer service and result indased costs. Our technology systems and relatadrgy be vulnerable to a variety of
sources of interruption due to events beyond ontrog including natural disasters, terrorist atdelecommunications failures, computer
viruses, hackers and other security issues. Whiléawe in place, and continue to invest in, teabgnokecurity initiatives and disaster recov
plans, these measures may not be adequate or implechproperly to prevent a business disruptionisrativerse financial consequences to
our business.

If we experience losses of senior management pensband other key employees, our operating rescltsild be adversely affected.

We are dependent on the experience and iydkstwledge of our officers and other key employteesxecute our business plans. If we
experience a substantial turnover in our leaderahgpother key employees, our performance coulthdterially adversely impacted.
Furthermore, we may be unable to attract and retddtitional qualified executives as needed in theré.
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Our credit card processors have the ability to tadignificant holdbacks in certain circumstances. €hnitiation of such holdbacks likely
would have a material adverse effect on our liguidi

Most of the tickets we sell are paid for bygttumers who use credit cards. Our credit card jgging agreements provide that no holdback of
receivables or reserve is required except in gediacumstances, including if we do not maintaimequired level of unrestricted cash. If
circumstances were to occur that would allow Anaari&xpress or our Visa/MasterCard processor t@iaitt holdback, the negative impact
our liquidity likely would be material.

We are at risk of losses and adverse publicity steng from any accident involving our aircraft.

An aircraft crash or other accident could esgas to significant tort liability. The insuranee carry to cover damages arising from any
future accidents may be inadequate. In the eventite insurance is not adequate, we may be fdockdar substantial losses from an accident.
In addition, any accident involving an aircraftttivae operate or an aircraft that is operated bgidime that is one of our codeshare partners
could create a public perception that our aircaadtnot safe or reliable, which could harm our tapon, result in air travelers being reluctan
fly on our aircraft and harm our business.

Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwartts offset future taxable income for U.S. federaldome tax purposes is subject to
limitation.

In general, under Section 382 of the InteReenue Code of 1986, as amended, a corporatibnndargoes an “ownership change” is
subject to limitations on its ability to utilizesipre-change net operating losses (“NOLs"), toatffature taxable income. In general, an
ownership change occurs if the aggregate stock shipeof certain stockholders (generally 5% shalddrs, applying certain look-through
rules) increases by more than 50 percentage pmetssuch stockholders’ lowest percentage ownerdimg the testing period (generally
three years).

As of December 31, 2009, Delta reported a clideted federal and state NOL carryforward of appmately $17.3 billion. Both Delta and
Northwest experienced an ownership change in 26@/rasult of their respective plans of reorgaiopainder Chapter 11 of the U.
Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the merger, Nortivexperienced a subsequent ownership change. &stteexperienced a subsequent
ownership change on December 17, 2008 as a rdgtk onerger, the issuance of equity to employee®nnection with the merger and other
transactions involving the sale of our common swwitkin the testing period.

The Delta and Northwest ownership changedtiegdrom the merger could limit the ability toilize pre-change NOLs that were not
subject to limitation, and could further limit théility to utilize NOLs that were already subjeetimitation. Limitations imposed on the ability
to use NOLs to offset future taxable income cowdse U.S. federal income taxes to be paid eahiger btherwise would be paid if such
limitations were not in effect and could cause sNE_s to expire unused, in each case reducingimireting the benefit of such NOLs.
Similar rules and limitations may apply for stateame tax purposes. NOLs generated subsequenteniber 17, 2008 are not limited.

Our merger with Northwest affects the comparability our historical financial results.

On October 29, 2008, a subsidiary of Deltagadmwith and into Northwest. Our historical finaalgiesults under GAAP include the results
of Northwest for periods after October 29, 2008, 1mnt for periods before October 29, 2008. Accagtiinwhile our financial results for the
year ended December 31, 2009 include the resu®dhwest for the entire period, our financialuks for the year ended December 31, 2
include the results of Northwest only for the pdrfoom October 30 to December 31, 2008. This corapdis your ability to compare our results
of operations and financial condition for periolattinclude Northwest'’s results with periods thatnat.
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Risk Factors Relating to the Airline Industry

The airline industry is highly competitive and, We cannot successfully compete in the marketplamg, business, financial condition an
operating results will be materially adversely afted.

We face significant competition with respextautes, services and fares. Our domestic rougesubject to competition from both new and
established carriers, some of which have lowersciistn we do and provide service at low fares stigigtions served by us. In particular, we
face significant competition at our hub airportithanta, Cincinnati, Detroit, Memphis, Minneapé8s. Paul, New York-JFK, Salt Lake City,
Paris-Charles de Gaulle, Amsterdam and Tokyo-Naitteer directly at those airports or at the hubstber airlines that are located in close
proximity to our hubs. We also face competitiorsimaller to medium-sized markets from regional jegrators.

Low-cost carriers, including Southwest, Airfirand JetBlue, have placed significant competjpressure on us in the United States and on
other network carriers in the domestic market.ddiion, other network carriers have also signifitbareduced their costs over the last several
years. Our ability to compete effectively dependgart, on our ability to maintain a competitivest structure. If we cannot maintain our cc
at a competitive level, then our business, findrmadition and operating results could be matsriadiversely affected. In light of increased jet
fuel costs and other issues in recent years, weatxypnsolidation to occur in the airline industg. a result of consolidation, we may face
significant competition from larger carriers thaayrbe able to generate higher amounts of revendie@npete more efficiently.

In addition, we compete with foreign carridseth on interior U.S. routes, due to marketing endesharing arrangements, and in
international markets. Through marketing and codesl arrangements with U.S. carriers, foreignieesrhave obtained access to interior (
passenger traffic. Similarly, U.S. carriers havar@ased their ability to sell international trangation, such as transatlantic services to and
beyond European cities, through alliances withrivadonal carriers. International marketing allieadormed by domestic and foreign carriers,
including the Star Alliance (among United Airlin€3ontinental, Lufthansa German Airlines and otharg) the oneworld Alliance (among
American Airlines, British Airways and others) haalso significantly increased competition in ini@fonal markets. The adoption of
liberalized Open Skies Aviation Agreements withirsereasing number of countries around the worlduiding in particular the Open Skies
agreement between the United States and the MeBtats of the European Union, has acceleratedrémd. Similarly, the recent Open Skies
agreement between the United States and Japansiguificantly increase competition among carrggsving those markets.

The rapid spread of contagious illnesses can havaaterial adverse effect on our business and reswf operations.

The rapid spread of a contagious illness, sisctihe HIN1 flu virus, can have a material adveffeet on the demand for worldwide air
travel and therefore have a material adverse effiectur business and results of operations. Acatter of the spread of HIN1 during the flu
season in the Northern Hemisphere could have &isgm adverse impact on the demand for air travel as a result our financial results in
addition to the impact that we experienced durirgggpring of 2009. Moreover, our operations co@cdhegatively affected if employees are
quarantined as the result of exposure to a contadilmess. Similarly, travel restrictions or optwaal problems resulting from the rapid spread
of contagious illnesses in any part of the worlavitich we operate may have a materially adverseatnpn our business and results of
operations.

Terrorist attacks or international hostilities magdversely affect our business, financial conditiamd operating results.

The terrorist attacks of September 11, 20@ked fundamental and permanent changes in theeainlilustry, including substantial revenue
declines and cost increases, which resulted insitnghwide liquidity issues. Additional terroristatks or fear of such attacks, even if not made
directly on the airline industry, could negativelffect us and the airline industry. The potentegative effects include increased security,
insurance and other costs and lost revenue froreased ticket refunds and decreased ticket satgdif@ncial resources might not be
sufficient to absorb the adverse effects of anthirrterrorist attacks or other international Hitigts involving the United States.
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The airline industry is subject to extensive govarant regulation, and new regulations may increasgr @perating costs.

Airlines are subject to extensive regulatamg &gal compliance requirements that result inificant costs. For instance, the FAA from
time to time issues directives and other regulati@tating to the maintenance and operation ofafirthat necessitate significant expenditures.
We expect to continue incurring expenses to comjitly the FAA'’s regulations.

Other laws, regulations, taxes and airpoegaind charges have also been imposed from titmaechat significantly increase the cost of
airline operations or reduce revenues. For exantipéeAviation and Transportation Security Act, whizecame law in November 2001,
mandates the federalization of certain airport gcprocedures and imposes additional securityirements on airports and airlines, most of
which are funded by a per ticket tax on passergaisa tax on airlines. The federal government Ineseweral occasions proposed a significant
increase in the per ticket tax. The proposed titkeincrease, if implemented, could negatively &etpour results of operations.

Proposals to address congestion issues afrcaitports or in certain airspace, particulanyhe Northeast United States, have included
concepts such as “congestion-based” landing fesbst, ductions” or other alternatives that could @ a significant cost on the airlines
operating in those airports or airspace and imghectbility of those airlines to respond to competiactions by other airlines. Furthermore,
events related to extreme weather delays have d¢dimegress and the DOT to consider proposals tetatairlines’ handling of lengthy flight
delays during extreme weather conditions. The reeeactment of such a regulation by the DOT coualdeha negative impact on our operat
in certain circumstances.

Future regulatory action concerning climatarge and aircraft emissions could have a signifieffect on the airline industry. For examg
the European Commission has adopted an emissixfiagrscheme applicable to all flights operatinghie European Union, including flights
to and from the United States. We expect that susystem will impose significant costs on our opers in the European Union. Other laws
or regulations such as this emissions trading sehanother U.S. or foreign governmental actions madwersely affect our operations and
financial results, either through direct costs im operations or through increases in costs fdiugdtthat could result from jet fuel suppliers
passing on increased costs that they incur unaér ssystem.

We and other U.S. carriers are subject to dtimand foreign laws regarding privacy of passergel employee data that are not consistent
in all countries in which we operate. In additiorttie heightened level of concern regarding priv@gyassenger data in the United States,
certain European government agencies are initi@tiggiries into airline privacy practices. Compl&with these regulatory regimes is
expected to result in additional operating costs@uld impact our operations and any future exjpans

Our insurance costs have increased substantiallysa®sult of the September 11, 2001 terrorist akiscand further increases in
insurance costs or reductions in coverage could bavmaterial adverse impact on our business andrapeg results.

As a result of the terrorist attacks on Sefenil, 2001, aviation insurers significantly reelithe maximum amount of insurance coverage
available to commercial air carriers for liability persons (other than employees or passengerslgfors resulting from acts of terrorism, war
or similar events. At the same time, aviation iessisignificantly increased the premiums for sumbecage and for aviation insurance in
general. Since September 24, 2001, the U.S. govarhhas been providing U.S. airlines with war-iiskurance to cover losses, including
those resulting from terrorism, to passengersd tharties (ground damage) and the aircraft hule bverage currently extends through
August 31, 2010. The withdrawal of government suppbairline war-risk insurance would require osobtain war-risk insurance coverage
commercially, if available. Such commercial inswricould have substantially less desirable covetteyethat currently provided by the U.S.
government, may not be adequate to protect ounfighkss from future acts of terrorism, may resuld material increase to our operating
expenses or may not be obtainable at all, resuiltiragn interruption to our operations.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
Flight Equipment

Our active aircraft fleet at December 31, 2808ummarized in the following table:

Current Fleet

Capital Operating Average
Aircraft Type Owned Lease Lease Total Age
Passenger Aircraft

B-737-700 1C — — 10 0.9
B-737-800 71 — — 71 9.2
B-747-400 4 — 12 16 16.1
B-757-200 89 36 40 16t 16.€
B-757-300 16 — — 16 6.8
B-767-300 4 — 10 14 18.4
B-767-300ER 47 — 9 56 13.€
B-767-400ER 21 — — 21 8.8
B-777-200ER 8 — — 8 9.9
B-777-200LR 8 — — 8 1.C
A31¢-100 55 — 2 57 7.9
A32C-200 41 — 28 69 14.¢
A33C-200 11 — — 11 4.8
A33C-300 20 — — 20 4.3
MD-88 62 44 10 11¢€ 19.5
MD-90 16 — — 16 14.1
DC-9 66 — — 66 37.€
CR.-100 21 13 36 70 12.4
CR.-200 2 — 25 27 7.1
CR.-700 15 — — 15 6.1
CR.-900 54 — — 54 1.9
SAAB 340B+ — — 41 41 11.€
EMB 175 36 — — 36 1.7
Total 677 93 213 982 13.€

The above table:

. Excludes all grounded aircraft, including 1-757-200, 10 E-747-200F, eight SAAB 340B+, four-767-300, four CR-100, two CR-
200, one A330-300, one B-767-300ER, one DC-9 amd\D-88 aircraft, which were grounded during tharyended December 31,
2009; anc

. Excludes aircraft flown by our third party corgraarriers. For additional information, see Notef 8he Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statement

Aircraft Commitments

Future purchase commitments for aircraft aB@tember 31, 2009 are estimated to total apprdeigndl.1 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Approximately $800 million of ®iL.1 billion is associated with the purchase@B2737-800 aircraft for which we have
entered into definitive agreements to sell to tipiadties immediately following delivery of thoseaaft to us by the manufacturer. We have not
received any notice that these parties have defhol their purchase obligations. The remainingradments relate to the purchase of two B-
777-200LR aircraft, two B-737-800 aircraft and T&yously owned MD-90 aircraft. We have no airciaftchase commitments after
December 31, 2010.
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As of December 31, 2009, we have financingmitments from third parties or, with respect todt@he 22 B-737-800 aircraft referred to
above, definitive agreements to sell, all aircsafbject to purchase commitments, except for nirteefl1 previously owned MD-90 aircraft.
Under these financing commitments, third partiegehegreed to finance on a long-term basis a sutistaortion of the purchase price of the
covered aircraft.

Our aircraft purchase commitments describexvatlo not include our orders for:

. 18 B-787-8 aircraft. The Boeing Compan®Boein¢’) has informed us that Boeing will be unable to niketcontractual deliver
schedule for these aircraft. We are in discussidtts Boeing regarding this situatio

. five A31¢-100 aircraft and two A32-200 aircraft. We have the right to cancel theseim:

Aircraft on Option

Our options to purchase additional aircrafbBBecember 31, 2009 are shown in the followirtgea

Delivery in Calendar Years Ending

After Rolling

Aircraft on Option (1) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2013 Total Options
B-737-800 — 20 24 16 — 60 102
B-767-300ER — — — 1 4 5 —
B-767-400 — 1 1 2 7 11 —
B-777-200LR — 2 6 4 8 20 10
EMB 175 — 4 18 14 — 36 —
Total — 27 49 37 19 132 112

@ Aircraft options have scheduled delivery slothjle/rolling options replace options and are assibjdelivery slots as options expire or are
exercised

Ground Facilities

We lease most of the land and buildings trabacupy. Our largest aircraft maintenance basguscomputer, cargo, flight kitchen and
training facilities and most of our principal offis are located at or near the Atlanta airportaod leased from the City of Atlanta generally
under long-term leases. We own our Atlanta resematcenter, other real property in Atlanta andftvener NWA headquarters building and
flight training buildings, which are located nele tMinneapolis/St. Paul International Airport. Qtbg/ned facilities include reservations
centers in Tampa, Florida, Minot, North Dakota &tdsholm, Minnesota, and a data processing cemteagan, Minnesota. We also own
property in Tokyo, including a 1.3-acre site in ddown Tokyo and a 33-acre land parcel, 512-rooneltaotd flight kitchen located near
Tokyo’s Narita International Airport.

We lease ticket counter and other terminatspaperating areas and air cargo facilities introbthe airports that we serve. At most
airports, we have entered into use agreements vgnlide for the non-exclusive use of runways,weis, and other improvements and
facilities; landing fees under these agreementmally are based on the number of landings and weifyaircraft. These leases and use
agreements generally run for periods of less themyear to 30 years or more, and often containigians for periodic adjustments of lease
rates, landing fees and other charges applicalnleruhat type of agreement. Examples of major kease use agreements at hub or other
significant airports that will expire in the nex years include, among others: (1) our Salt Laike IGternational Airport use and lease
agreement, which expires in 2010; and (2) our Mdamptternational Airport use and lease agreemehighvexpires in 2010. We also lease
aircraft maintenance facilities and air cargo ftie# at certain airports, including, among oth€t3:our main Atlanta maintenance base; (2) our
Atlanta air cargo facilities and our hangar andcaigo facilities at the Cincinnati/Northern Kerkydnternational Airport, Salt Lake City
International Airport, Detroit Metropolitan Interti@nal Airport, Minneapolis/St. Paul Internatiorfsirport and Seattle-Tacoma International
Airport. Our aircraft maintenance facility leasengrally require us to pay the cost of providingemting and maintaining such facilities,
including, in some cases, amounts necessary togatyservice on special facility bonds issuednarice their construction. We also lease
marketing, ticketing and reservations offices irta@a locations for varying terms.
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In recent years, some airports have increassdught to increase the rates charged to airtmésvels that we believe are unreasonable.
extent to which such charges are limited by stadutegulation and the ability of airlines to catteuch charges has been subject to litigation
and to administrative proceedings before the D®thd limitations on such charges are relaxedherability of airlines to challenge such
proposed rate increases is restricted, the rataget by airports to airlines may increase suhistignt

The City of Atlanta is currently implementipgrtions of a 10 year capital improvement progréme (CIP”) at the Atlanta airport.
Implementation of the CIP should increase the nurobélights that may operate at the airport andluiee flight delays. The CIP includes,
among other things, a 9,000 foot full-service rupwzat opened in May 2006, related airfield impnoests, additional terminal and gate
capacity, new cargo and other support facilitied mradway and other infrastructure improvementg TH will not be complete until at least
2012, with individual projects scheduled to be ¢nrged at different times. A combination of fedegeants, passenger facility charge rever
increased user rentals and fees, and other afpais are expected to be used to pay CIP coststigiend through the payment of debt service
on bonds. Certain elements of the CIP have beayee] some may be eliminated and there is no assaithat the CIP will be fully
implemented. Failure to implement certain portiohthe CIP in a timely manner could adversely imigag operations at the Atlanta airport.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
First Bag Fee Antitrust Litigation

In May, June and July, 2009, a number of prgabclass action antitrust lawsuits were filedhia U.S. District Courts for the Northern
District of Georgia, the Middle District of Floridand the District of Nevada, against Delta andrfén Airways (“AirTran”).

In these cases, the plaintiffs originally géd that Delta and AirTran engaged in collusiveaw@r in violation of Section 1 of the Sherman
Act in November 2008 based upon certain publiestaints made in October 2008 by AirTran’s CEO araalyst conference concerning fees
for the first checked bag, Delta’s imposition dka for the first checked bag on November 4, 20@84irTran’s imposition of a similar fee on
November 12, 2008. The plaintiffs sought to asslaims on behalf of an alleged class consistingasisengers who paid the fist bag fee ¢
December 5, 2008 and seek injunctive relief angheciied treble damages. All of these cases haga bensolidated for pre-trial proceedings
in the Northern District of Georgia by the Multiddiict Litigation (“MDL") Panel.

In February 2010, the plaintiffs in the MDLogeeding filed a Consolidated Amended Class AdBomplaint which substantially expanded
the scope of the original complaint. In the cordatiéd amended complaint, the plaintiffs add neegallions concerning alleged signaling by
both Delta and AirTran based upon statements nmatteetinvestment community by both carriers retatmindustry capacity levels during
2008-2009. The plaintiffs also add a new causetida against Delta alleging attempted monopol@ath violation of Sherman Act § 2,
paralleling a claim previously asserted againsT#in but not Delta.

We believe the claims in these cases are witinerit and are vigorously defending these lavgsuit

Chapter 11 Proceedings

On September 14, 2005, Delta and substantdlllyf its subsidiaries (the “Delta Debtors”) fileoluntary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the Baptay Court. On April 25, 2007, the Bankruptcy Gaemtered an order approving and
confirming the Plan of Reorganization and the RiiReorganization became effective, allowing thét®Bebtors to emerge from bankruptcy
on April 30, 2007. The reorganization cases weirgljpadministered under the caption “In re Deltia ines, Inc., et al., Case No. 05-17923-
ASH.” As of the date of the Chapter 11 filing, theending litigation was generally stayed, and ab&ether order of the Bankruptcy Court,
most parties may not take any action to recovegrerpetition claims against the Delta Debtors.
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Delta Family-Care Savings Plan Litigation

On March 16, 2005, a retired Delta employbsfan amended class action complaint in the Uigritxt Court for the Northern District of
Georgia against Delta, and certain current and éoidrelta officers and directors on behalf of hirhseld other participants in the Delta Family-
Care Savings Plan (“Savings Plan”). The amendedtaint alleges that the defendants were fiduciasfegbe Savings Plan and, as such,
breached their fiduciary duties under ERISA toplantiff class by (1) allowing class members toedt their contributions under the Savings
Plan to a fund invested in Delta common stock; @aontinuing to hold Delta’s contributions to t8avings Plan in Delta’s common and
preferred stock. The amended complaint seeks damaggpecified in amount, but equal to the tota lafsvalue in the participants’ accounts
from September 2000 through September 2004 fronmtlestment in Delta stock. Defendants deny thatetwas any breach of fiduciary duty.
The District Court stayed the action against Délta to Delta’s Chapter 11 proceedings and grantedten to dismiss filed by the individual
defendants. The Bankruptcy Court has ruled théassclaim filed against Delta in its Chapter 1dgeedings will be subordinated to any cli
related to equity interests in Delta, which did resteive any distribution pursuant to the Plan ebfganization. The plaintiff has appealed this
order.

Canadian Passenger Surcharge Antitrust Litigation

On July 31, 2009, two parallel putative clasgons were filed against a number of CanadiammmdEuropean, and U.S. carriers (including
Delta) in the Ontario Superior Court of JusticetlBallege that the defendants colluded to fix thegoof passenger surcharges, in Canada-Asia
and Canada-Europe markets respectively. Theremaflegations in the complaints of any specificlacDelta in furtherance of either
conspiracy. The complaints seek damages in exé&00 million. We believe the allegations agaibstta are without merit and intend to
vigorously defend these cases.

*%k
For a discussion of certain environmental eraftsee “Business—Environmental Matters” in Item 1

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of ouusgcholders during the fourth quarter of the &isgear covered by this report.
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information

Our common stock is listed on the New YorkcBtexchange. The following table sets forth for gegiods indicated, the highest and lowest
sales price for our common stock as reported oMNMSE.

Common Stock

High Low
Fiscal 2008
First Quarte $18.9¢ $7.94
Second Quarte $10.8¢ $4.8(C
Third Quartel $10.2¢ $4.0C
Fourth Quarte $12.0C $5.1C
Fiscal 2009
First Quarte| $12.65 $3.51
Second Quarte $ 8.27 $5.31
Third Quartel $ 9.8¢ $5.5¢€
Fourth Quarte $12.0¢ $6.7¢
Holders

As of January 31, 2010, there were approxim@&®30 holders of record of our common stock.

Dividends

We expect to retain any future earnings talfaar operations and meet our cash and liquidigdeeln addition, our ability to pay dividends
or repurchase common stock is restricted undeiitdigdlities that we entered into in connectiorttwbur emergence from bankruptcy.
Therefore, we do not anticipate paying any dividead our common stock for the foreseeable future.

24




Table of Contents

Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulativalteeturns during the period from April 30, 20@/Qecember 31, 2009 of our common sf
to the Standard & Po@’500 Stock Index and the Amex Airline Index. Thenparison assumes $100 was invested on April 307 #each o
our common stock and the indices and assumesitliitidends were reinvested. Data for periods pt@April 30, 2007 is not shown because
of the period we were in bankruptcy and the lackarhparability of financial results before and afril 30, 2007.
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The Amex Airline Index (ticker symbol XAL) ceists of Alaska Air Group, Inc., AMR Corporationp@inental, Delta, GOL Linhas Areas
Inteligentes S.A., JetBlue Airways Corporation, LAitlines SA ADS, Ryanair Holdings plc, SkyWestcInSouthwest Airlines Company,
TAM S.A. ADS, UAL Corporation, and US Airways Groupc.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

We withheld the following shares of commonc&tto satisfy tax withholding obligations duringetbecember 2009 quarter from the
distributions described below. These shares majebened to be “issuer purchases” of shares thaegéred to be disclosed pursuant to this
Item.

Maximum Number of
Shares (or Approximate

Total Total Number of Shares Dollar Value) of Shares
Number of  Average Purchased as Part of That May Yet Be
Shares Price Paid Publicly Announced Purchased Under the
Period Purchased® Per Share Plans or Programs(®) Plan or Programs
October -31, 2008 1,130,511 $7.1¢ 1,130,511 @
November -30, 200¢ 177,83( $7.1¢ 177,83( @
December -31, 200¢ 9,47t  $9.67 9,47¢ @
Total 1,317,82; 1,317,82;

(M Shares were withheld from employees to satisfyagetax obligations due in connection with grarftstock under our 2007 Performar
Compensation Plan. The 2007 Performance Compend@lim and Delta’s Plan of Reorganization both jol@¥or the withholding of
shares to satisfy tax obligations. Neither spegifienaximum number of shares that can be withlwelthfs purpose. See Note 11 and
Note 12 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finarfsiatements elsewhere in this Forn-K for more information about Delta’s Plan of
Reorganization and the 2007 Performance Compensatém, respectivel)
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

On October 29, 2008, a wholly-owned subsid@rgurs merged with and into Northwest Airlinesr@aration. Our Consolidated Financial
Statements include the results of operations oftivaest and its wholly-owned subsidiaries for theguefrom October 30 to December 31,
2008. For additional information regarding purchaseounting, see Note 2 of the Notes to the Cotistad Financial Statements.

In September 2005, we and substantially afiwofsubsidiaries (the “Delta Debtors”) filed volary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. On April 3007 (the “Effective Date”), the Delta Debtorsexged from bankruptcy. Upon
emergence from Chapter 11, we adopted fresh gfaorting which resulted in our becoming a new giitt financial reporting purposes.
Accordingly, consolidated financial data on or afttay 1, 2007 is not comparable to the consolidéiteghcial data prior to that date.

References in this Form 10-K to “Successoféréo Delta on or after May 1, 2007, after givieffect to (1) the cancellation of Delta
common stock issued prior to the Effective Dat¢ tlf2 issuance of new Delta common stock and cedbt securities in accordance with the
Delta Debtors’ Joint Plan of Reorganization (“D&tBlan of Reorganization”), and (3) the applicataf fresh start reporting. References to
“Predecessor” refer to Delta prior to May 1, 2007.

The following table presents selected finarama operating data. We derived the ConsolidatedrBary of Operations and Other Financial
and Statistical Data for (1) the years ended Deeer@b, 2009 and 2008 of the Successor, (2) the sighths ended December 31, 2007 of the
Successor, (3) the four months ended April 30, 2ffie Predecessor and (4) the years ended Dec&hp2006 and 2005 of the Predecessor
from our audited consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Summary of Operations

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Ended Ended
Year Ended December 31, December 31, April 30, Year Ended December 31,

(in millions, except share dat 2009® 2008@ 2007 2007®) 2006™ 20056)
Operating revenu $28,06: $22,691 $13,35¢ $5,79¢ $17,53: $16,48(
Operating expens 28,38 31,011 12,56 5,49¢ 17,47¢ 18,48:
Operating (loss) incom (329 (8,319 79€ 30C 58 (2,002
Interest expense, n (1,257 (613) (27¢€) (24¢) (801) (973)
Miscellaneous, ne (6) (114 5 27 (19) (1)
(Loss) income before reorganization

items, ne! (1,587 (9,047 52t 79 (762) (2,975
Reorganization items, n — — — 1,21¢F (6,206) (8849
(Loss) income before income tay (1,587 (9,047 52E 1,294 (6,96¢) (3,859
Income tax benefit (provisior 344 11¢ (211) 4 76E 41
Net (loss) incom: (1,237 (8,922 314 1,29¢ (6,207) (3,81%)
Preferred stock dividenc — — — — 2 (18
Net (loss) income attributable

common stockholdet $(1,237) $(8,9229) $ 314 $1,29¢ $(6,205) $(3,836)
Basic (loss) earnings per shi $ (1.50 $(19.08) $ 0.8C $ 6.5¢ $(31.59 $(23.75
Diluted (loss) earnings per she $ (1.50 $(19.08 $ 0.7¢ $ 4.6° $(31.59 $(23.75
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@ Includes (a) $407 million, or $0.49 diluted lges share, in restructuring and merger-relatedggsaassociated with (i) integrating the
operations of Northwest into Delta, including cagiisited to information technology, employee relimraand training, and rbranding o
aircraft and stations and (ii) employee workforeduction programs, (b) an $83 million non-cash fosshe write-off of the unamortized
discount on the extinguishment of the Northwest@esecured exit financing facility and (c) a naash income tax benefit of $321
million from our consideration of all income souscéncluding other comprehensive incor

@ Includes a $7.3 billion non-cash charge, or $a8lifuted loss per share, from an impairment ofdyat and other intangible assets and
$1.1 billion, or $2.42 diluted loss per share, iimarily non-cash merger-related charges relatindpé issuance or vesting of employee

equity awards in connection with our merger withriavest.
®  Includes a $1.2 billion n-cash gain, or $5.20 diluted earnings per sharegfinganization item:

@ Includes a $6.2 billion n-cash charge, or $31.58 diluted earnings per sf@regorganization items, a $310 million r-cash charge, ¢
$1.58 diluted loss per share, associated with iceatzcounting adjustments and a $765 million inceaxebenefit, or $3.89 diluted EP

®  Includes an $888 million charge, or $5.49 dilutess| per share, for restructuring, asset writedopission settlements and related ite
net and an $884 million n-cash charge, or $5.47 diluted loss per sharegefinganization cost:

Other Financial and Statistical Data
(Unaudited)

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Year Ended Ended Ended Year Ended
December 31 December 31, April 30, December 31
2009 2008 2007 2007 2006 2005

Revenue passenger mi(millions) @ 188,94: 134,87¢ 85,02¢ 37,03¢ 116,13: 119,95
Available seat mile(millions) @ 230,33: 165,63¢ 104,42 47,33; 147,99 156,79:
Passenger mile yie/® 12.6(¢ 14.52¢ 13.8¢¢ 13.84¢ 13.34¢ 12.1€¢
Passenger revenue per available seat® 10.34¢ 11.82¢ 11.3(¢ 10.8%¢ 10.4%¢ 9.31¢
Operating cost per available seat n® 12.32¢ 18.72¢ 12.0%¢ 11.61¢ 11.8(¢ 11.7¢¢
Passenger load fact(®) 82.(% 81.4% 81.4% 78.2% 78.5% 76.5%
Fuel gallons consume(millions) @) 3,85: 2,74( 1,74z 792 2,48( 2,68
Average price per fuel gallon, net of

hedging® $ 2.1f $ 3.1¢ $ 2.3t $ 1.9t $ 21z $ 1.8¢
Full-time equivalent employees, end of

period 81,10¢ 84,30¢ 55,04« 52,70« 51,32: 55,65(

Successor Predecessor
December 31, December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005

Total assets millions) @ $43,53¢ $45,08¢ $32,42: $ 19,62: $20,03¢
Long-term debt and capital leases (including curren

maturities) (millions) @ $17,19¢ $16,57: $ 9,00( $ 8,01: $ 7,74
Stockholder’ equity (deficit) (millions) @) $ 24t $ 874 $10,11: $(13,597) $(9,895)
Common stock outstandir(millions) 784 69t 292 197 18¢

@ Includes the operations of our contract carriedenrtapacity purchase agreements, includin-owned carriers
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
General Information

We provide scheduled air transportation faseagers and cargo throughout the United State$ ("Jand around the world. On
October 29, 2008 (the “Closing Date”), a wholly-adsubsidiary of ours merged (the “Mergexijh and into Northwest Airlines Corporatic
On the Closing Date, Northwest Airlines Corporat#nd its wholly-owned subsidiaries, including Nevést Airlines, Inc. (collectively,
“Northwest”), became wholly-owned subsidiaries @flta. On December 31, 2009, Northwest Airlines, merged with and into Delta. As a
result of this merger, Northwest Airlines, Inc. sed to exist as a separate entity. We believe tar@df better positions us to manage through
economic cycles and volatile fuel prices, invesbum fleet, improve services for customers andeahpur strategic objectives.

Our Consolidated Financial Statements aregvezhin accordance with accounting principles gaheaccepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”). In
accordance with GAAP, our financial results incldkle results of Northwest for the periods after@esing Date, but not for periods on or
before the Closing Date. Our financial results ur@AAP for the year ended December 31, 2009 incthéeaesults of Northwest for the full
year. In contrast, our financial results under GAaPthe year ended December 31, 2008 includedkelts of Northwest only from October
to December 31, 2008. Accordingly, our financiaukés under GAAP for the years ended December @19 2nd 2008 are not comparable.

In the accompanying “Financial Highlights —0B0OGAAP Compared to 2008 Combined” and “Result®pérations — 2009 GAAP
Compared to 2008 Combined,” we sometimes use irdtiom that is derived from our Consolidated Finah8tatements, but that is not
presented in accordance with GAAP. Certain of ithfisrmation is considered “non-GAAP financial megsi under the U.S. Securities and
Exchange Commission rules. These non-GAAP finamidsures include financial information for theryeaded December 31, 2008
presented on a combined basis, which means thecfalaesults for pre-Merger Delta and pre-Mergerthwest are combined beginning
January 1, 2008. We believe this presentation@®®08 financial results provides a more meaninigésis for comparing Delta’s financial
performance in 2009 and 2008. See “Results of Gipasa— 2009 GAAP Compared to 2008 Combined” angpf8emental Information”
below for the reasons we use combined and otheiG#hP financial measures, as well as a reconciliatmthe corresponding measures ul
GAAP. The non-GAAP financial measures should besmared in addition to results prepared in accardamth GAAP, but should not be
considered a substitute for or superior to GAARIltss

Financial Highlights — 2009 GAAP Compared to 2008&@bined

For 2009, we reported a net loss of $1.2dmilliThese results reflect significant weaknesséndirline revenue environment due to the gl
recession and $1.4 billion in fuel hedge losses. @ loss for the year also includes a $407 nmltbarge for merger-related items, a
$321 million non-cash income tax benefit and an $8Bon non-cash loss on the extinguishment oftdeb

Total operating revenue declined $6.2 billion18%, in 2009 on a 6% decrease in system capaciavailable seat mile (“ASMs"),
compared with 2008 on a combined basis. Passeagenue accounted for $5.9 billion of the decreBsssenger revenue per ASM
(“PRASM”") declined 14% on a 14% decrease in passemle yield. The decrease in passenger mile yeflécts (1) significantly reduced
demand, particularly in international markets,d2¥duction in business demand, (3) competitiveingipressures and (4) lower fuel surcha
due to the year-over-year decline on fuel prices.

Volatile fuel prices continue to represenigmsgicant risk to our business and the airlineustty as a whole. While our fuel cost per gallon
declined 35% in 2009 compared to 2008 on a comibiasds, contributing to $5.4 billion in lower fuetpense excluding the mark-to-market
adjustments related to fuel hedges settling inrtuperiods, crude oil prices have risen 78% fromddeber 31, 2008 to December 31, 2009.

We have focused on maintaining a competitoa structure through disciplined spending, proiitgtinitiatives and accelerating Merger
synergies. Our consolidated operating cost per ASMSM”), excluding special items (as defined ind{gplemental Information” below) and
fuel expense, increased 4% on a 6% lower capati2p09 compared to 2008 on a combined basis. Tdnedne primarily reflects an increas
pension expense from a decrease in value in pefrsishassets due to declines in the financial etarduring 2008.
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At December 31, 2009, we had $4.7 billionastt, cash equivalents and short-term investmemtis$&35 million in undrawn revolving
credit facilities. In 2009, we completed $3.2 bifliin financing transactions. For additional infation regarding these financing transactions,
see Note 6 of the Notes to the Consolidated FimdStatements.

Business Overvie\

Recent InitiativesWe believe that our global network, hub structurd alliances with other airlines enables us toraffestomers a service
which results in a competitive advantage over otteenestic and international airlines. In 2009, melemented a joint venture with Air
France-KLM that further strengthens our transaitametwork, expanded our alliance agreement witliskh Airlines and Horizon Air to
enhance our West coast presence, and receiveddpartment of Transportation approval for a codespgagreement with Virgin Blue,
which will expand our network between the U.S. Andtralia and the South Pacific.

Expanding our presence in New York City througcreased corporate sales, improved facilitiesinoreased and new service from New
York is a key component of our network strategy. &mample, we continue to make investments in t@rnational operation at New York-
JFK and explore long-term options to upgrade tledifia In addition, in August 2009, we announcead itention to make New York’s
LaGuardia Airport a domestic hub through a slobgesction with US Airways. The agreement calls f& Alrways to transfer 125 operating
slot pairs to us at LaGuardia and for us to trard2eoperating slot pairs to US Airways at Reagatidthal Airport in Washington, D.C. We
also plan to swap gates at LaGuardia to consol@ht# our operations (including the Delta Shyttrgo an expanded main terminal facility
with 11 additional gates. The U.S. Department @riBportation has issued a tentative order on éimsaction that would require the divestiture
of 20 slot pairs at LaGuardia and 14 slot pailRedgan National. We and US Airways are reviewirgtémtative order to determine our next
steps.

We also plan to invest $1 billion through n2@13 to improve the customer experience and thieieity of our aircraft fleet. Planned
enhancements include installing full flat-bed séatBusinessElite on 90 trans-oceanic aircraft,igglih-seat audio and video throughout
Economy Class on 68 widebody aircraft, adding Fdisiss cabins to 66 CRJ-700 aircraft and instaliimnglets on more than 170 aircraft to
extend aircraft range and increase fuel efficiency.

Merger SynergiesAs a result of our integration efforts, we achiewedre than $700 million in Merger synergy benefit2009, and we are
targeting an additional $600 million in Merger sygyebenefits in 2010. In 2009, we completed a sigant portion of our Merger integration,
including combining frequent flyer programs, comgating and rebranding all airport facilities archeeving a single operating certificate from
the Federal Aviation Administration. Our ability fially realize targeted annual synergies of $2dmilloy 2012 is dependent on various factors,
including the integration of technologies of thetpre-Merger airlines, which we expect to occuthia first half of 2010. In January 2010, we
completed the integration of the Northwest resémnatsystem, including the transition of Northwilights and passenger reservations into the
Delta system.

Results of Operations — 2009 GAAP Compared to 200Bombined

In this section, we compare Delta’s resultspdrations under GAAP for the year ended Decer®@beP009 with Delta’s results on a
combined basis for the year ended December 31,.2008

As discussed in “General Information” aboveJtB's results of operations for 2008 on a combipasis add (1) Delta’s results of operations
under GAAP for 2008, which includes Northwest’sulesfrom October 30 to December 31, 2008; andN@}xhwest'’s results from January 1
to October 29, 2008. We believe this presentatfdhe2008 financial results provides a more megfirbasis for comparing Delta’s financial
performance in 2009 and 2008.
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Operating Revenue

GAAP 2008 2009 GAAP vs. 2008 Combine:
Year Ended GAAP Northwest Combined %
December 31, Year Ended January 1 to Year Ended Increase Increase
(in millions) 2009 December 31 October 29 December 31 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Operating Revenue:
Passenge
Domestic $10,86: $ 8,701 $ 4,87: $13,57¢ $(2,716) (20)%
Atlantic 4,357 4,39( 1,45( 5,84( (1,487 (25)%
Latin America 1,26¢ 1,36 131 1,49: (225) (15)%
Pacific 2,03¢ 67¢€ 2,02¢ 2,707 (677) (25)%
Total Mainline 18,52: 15,13: 8,48: 23,61¢ (5,097) (22)%
Regional carrier 5,28¢ 4,44¢€ 1,648 6,08¢ (804) (13)%
Total passenger reven 23,80 19,58 10,12¢ 29,70¢ (5,900 (20)%
Cargo 78¢€ 68E€ 667 1,35: (56E) (42)%
Other, ne 3,46¢ 2,42¢ 79¢ 3,221 241 7%
Total operating revent $28,06: $22,69: $11,59: $34,28t¢ $(6,225) (18)%
Increase (Decrease)
GAAP 2009 GAAP vs. 2008 Combined
Year Ended Passenger
December 31, Passenger ASMs Mile Load
(in millions) 2009 Revenue RPMs (Traffic) (Capacity) Yield PRASM Factor
Passenger Revenue
Domestic $10,86: (200% (8)% (8)% (14)% 149% —
Atlantic 4,357 (25)% (8)% (9)% (200% (19% 0.9 pts
Latin America 1,26¢ (15)% (4)% (2)% (12)% (14)% (1.5) pts
Pacific 2,03¢ (25)% (12% (8)% (14)% (17)% (3.5) pts
Total Mainline 18,52: (22)% (8)% (7% (15)% (15)% (0.3) pts
Regional carrier 5,28¢ (13)% D% —% (139)% (13)% (0.1) pts
Total passenger reven $23,80" (200% (1% (6)% (14% (14)% (0.4) pts

Mainline Passenger ReveniMainline passenger revenue decreased in 2009 cexhp@2008 on a combined basis primarily due to
weakened demand for air travel from the global ssimm, capacity reductions and the effects of thBlHvirus on passenger travel. Passenger
mile yield and PRASM both declined 15%.

. Domestic Passenger Rever. Domestic passenger revenue decreased 20% fra¥balécrease in PRASM on an 8% decline in
capacity. The passenger mile yield decreased 1dflécting (1) a reduction in business demand dubegjlobal recession, (2) an
overall decrease in average fares due to compettiicing pressures and (3) lower fuel surchargestd the year-over-year decline in

fuel prices.

. International Passenger Rever. International passenger revenue decreased 24#6anol8% decrease in PRASM on an 7% decline
in capacity. The passenger mile yield decreased, t&flecting (1) significantly reduced demand foteirnational travel, (2)
competitive pricing pressures (especially in thiaitic market, which experienced a 20% decreapadsenger mile yield), primarily
from a significant decrease in business demandaltiee global recession and (3) the impact of th&lHvirus, most notably in the
Pacific and Latin America markets. The decreaggmssenger mile yield in the Atlantic market aldtets unfavorable foreign
currency exchange rates and lower fuel surchargeddalthe yei-ovel-year decline in fuel price
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Regional carriers Passenger revenue of regional carriers decliBd #illion primarily as a result of a 13% decreaspassenger mile
yield while traffic and capacity remained flat. Tthecrease in passenger mile yield reflects (1paation in demand for air travel due to-
global recession and (2) an overall decrease iregeefares due to competitive pricing pressures.

Cargo. Cargo revenue decreased due to capacity redacsa@nificantly reduced cargo yields and intetorzdi volume as a result of the
global recession, and lower fuel surcharges duleegear-over-year decline in fuel prices. Duri@®®2, we retired our remaining 10 dedicated
freighter B-747-200F aircraft, which contributeda@d0% decline in capacity.

Other, net Other, net revenue increased $241 million primahiie to new or increased baggage handling feésmier SkyMiles
program revenue, partially offset by decreasedmegdrom our alliance agreements and a reducti@uiraircraft maintenance and repair
service.

Operating Expense

GAAP 2008 2009 GAAP vs. 2008 Combined
Year Ended GAAP Northwest Combined %
December 31, Year Ended January 1 to Year Ended Increase Increase
(in millions) 2009 December 31 October 29 December 31 (Decrease) (Decrease)
Operating Expense:
Aircraft fuel and related taxce $ 7,38¢ $ 7,34¢ $ 4,99¢ $12,34: $ (4,959 (400%
Salaries and related co: 6,83¢ 4,32¢ 2,22( 6,54¢ 28¢ 4%
Contract carrier arrangemel 3,82 3,76¢ 901 4,66 (844) (18)%
Contracted service 1,59t 1,06z 667 1,72¢ (1349 (8%
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,53¢ 1,26¢€ 1,05¢ 2,32( (784) (39)%
Aircraft maintenance materials an
outside repair 1,43¢ 1,16¢ 612 1,781 (347) (19)%
Passenger commissions and of
selling expense 1,40¢ 1,03( 737 1,761 (362) (20)%
Landing fees and other rer 1,28¢ 787 45€ 1,24: 46 1%
Passenger servit 63€ 44C 21C 65C (12 (2)%
Aircraft rent 48C 307 184 491 (11) (2)%
Impairment of goodwill and oth
intangible assel — 7,29¢ 3,841 11,137 (11,139 NM
Restructuring and merger-related
items 407 1,131 22t 1,35¢ (949) (70)%
Other 1,55¢ 1,082 644 1,72¢ (16§) (10)%
Total operating expen: $28,381 $31,01! $16,747 $47,75¢ $(19,37) (41)%
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Aircraft fuel and related taxesAircraft fuel and related taxes decreased $3l@hiin 2009 compared to 2008 on a combined basis
primarily due to (1) $4.8 billion associated witiwler average fuel prices and (2) $858 million frafi% decline in fuel consumption due to
capacity reductions. These decreases were pamifigt by $1.4 billion in fuel hedge losses fob20compared to $666 million in fuel hedge
losses for 2008. The fuel hedge losses in 2009pramerily from hedges purchased in 2008 duringpéeod fuel prices reached record highs
and were expected to continue to rise.

Salaries and related costSalaries and related costs increased $289 miliento (1) pay increases for pilot and non-pitohfline
employees, (2) higher pension expense from a deaiithe value of our defined benefit plan asseta eesult of market conditions and
(3) Delta airline tickets awarded to employeesas @f an employee recognition program. These asae were partially offset by a 5% avel
decrease in headcount primarily related to worldaeduction programs.

Contract carrier arrangementsContract carrier arrangements expense decre&drillion primarily due to decreases of (1)
$714 million associated with lower average fuetesiand (2) $119 million from a 7% decline in foehsumption due to capacity reductions.

Depreciation and amortizatiomepreciation and amortization decreased $784 mibii® a result of (1) $641 million in impairmentateld
charges recorded in the year ended December 38, péifharily related to certain definite-lived ing@ible assets and aircraft, and (2) $125
million related to the December 2008 multi-yearemsion of our co-brand credit card relationshighwitnerican Express (the “American
Express Agreement”), extending the useful lifehef American Express Agreement intangible assétealate the contract expires.

Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repafscraft maintenance materials and outside repgeased $347 million primarily
from capacity reductions.

Passenger commissions and other selling expeRsssenger commissions and other selling expensesaded $362 million primarily in
connection with the passenger revenue decrease.

Impairment of goodwill and other intangible ass&aring 2008, we experienced a significant declmenarket capitalization primarily
from record high fuel prices and overall airlinelustry conditions. In addition, the announcemerdwfintention to merge with Northwest
established a stock exchange ratio based on taveel/aluation of Delta and Northwest. We deterdigoodwill was impaired and recorded a
non-cash charge of $10.2 billion on a combinedsha#ke also recorded a non-cash charge of $95%mitlh a combined basis to reduce the
carrying value of certain intangible assets basetheir revised estimated fair values.

Restructuring and merger-related itenfRestructuring and merger-related items decreaséd $8llion, primarily due to the following:

. During 2009, we recorded a $288 million chargenfi@rge-related items associated with integrating the ajmera of Northwest int
Delta, including costs related to information teglogy, employee relocation and training, and reatinag of aircraft and stations. We
expect to incur total cash costs of approximat&@@million over approximately three years to imttg the two airlines

. For 2009, we recorded a $119 million charge in emtion with employee workforce reduction progra

. During 2008, we recorded $1.2 billion primarilynor-cash, mergerelated charges related to the issuance or vestiagployee
equity awards in connection with the Merger and4bdilllion in restructuring and related chargesammection with voluntary
workforce reduction programs. In addition, we refmat charges of $25 million related to the closureestain facilities and $14 millic
associated with the early termination of certaintcact carrier arrangemen
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Other (Expense) Income

GAAP 2008

Year Ended GAAP Northwest Combined

December 31, Year Ended January 1 to Year Ended Favorable
(in millions) 2009 December 31 October 29 December 31 (Unfavorable)
Interest expens $(1,27¢) $(705) $(373) $(1,07¢) $(200)
Interest incom: 27 92 86 17¢ (153)
Loss on extinguishment of de (83) — — — (83)
Miscellaneous, ne 77 (114) (230 (344 421

Total other expense, n $(1,25%) $(727) $(517) $(1,249 $ (13

Other expense, net for 2009 was $1.3 billlmmpared to $1.2 billion for 2008 on a combined$adkhis change is primarily attributable to
(2) a $200 million increase in interest expensenfincreased amortization of debt discount, (2) Bl%dillion decrease in interest income
primarily from significantly reduced short-termeéngest rates, (3) an $83 million non-cash lossHenvrite-off of the unamortized discount on
the extinguishment of the Northwest senior secesetifinancing facility (the “Bank Credit Facilityand (4) a $421 million favorable change
in miscellaneous, net due to the following:

Favorable
(Unfavorable)
2009 GAAP vs.

(in millions) 2008 Combinec
Miscellaneous, ne
Impairment in 2008 of minority ownership interast\idwest Air Partners, LL( $213
Foreign currency exchange ra 99
Mark-to-market adjustments on the ineffective portion @&l fuedge contrac 77
Loss on investments in The Reserve Primary Fundreswted auction rate securities in 2( 41
Other (9)
Total miscellaneous, n $421

Income Taxes

GAAP 2008
Year Ended GAAP Northwest Combined
December 31 Year Ended January 1 to Year Ended
(in millions) 2009 December 31 October 29 December 3: Increase
Income tax benef $344 $11¢ $211 $33C $14

We consider all income sources, including otleenprehensive income, in determining the amofitexobenefit that should be allocated to
continuing operations. For 2009, we recorded aariretax benefit of $344 million, including a norshancome tax benefit of $321 million on
the loss from continuing operations, with an otisgtnon€ash income tax expense of $321 million on othenmehensive income. We did |
record an income tax benefit for the remainderwfloss for 2009. The deferred tax asset resuftiomm such a net operating loss was fully
reserved by a valuation allowance.

We recorded an income tax benefit of $330iamlfor 2008 on a combined basis as a result ofrtipairment of our indefinite-lived
intangible assets. The impairment of goodwill did result in an income tax benefit as goodwill @ deductible for income tax purposes. We
did not record an income tax benefit as a resuttunfloss for 2008. The deferred tax asset reguftiom such a net operating loss is fully
reserved by a valuation allowance.
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Results of Operations—2008 GAAP Compared to 2007 Bdecessor plus Successor

In September 2005, we and substantially afiwwfsubsidiaries (the “Delta Debtors”) filed volary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. On April 3007 (the “Effective Date”), the Delta Debtorsesged from bankruptcy. References in
this Form 10-K to “Successor” refer to Delta orafter May 1, 2007, after giving effect to (1) thencellation of Delta common stock issued
prior to the Effective Date; (2) the issuance ofvrigelta common stock and certain debt securitiexctordance with the Delta Debtors’ Joint
Plan of Reorganization (“Delta’s Plan of Reorgatia®d); and (3) the application of fresh start refpey. References to “Predecessor” refer to
Delta prior to May 1, 2007.

We adopted fresh start reporting upon emergéoen Chapter 11, which resulted in our becomimgwa entity for financial reporting
purposes. Due to our adoption of fresh start réppdn April 30, 2007, the accompanying Consolidé&atements of Operations for 2007
include the results of operations for (1) the fowonths ended April 30, 2007 of the Predecessof2nithe eight months ended December 31,
2007 of the Successor.

In this section, we added the results of ojimra for the four months ended April 30, 2007 le# Predecessor with the eight months ended
December 31, 2007 of the Successor. We then coapay®elta’s results of operations for the yeatehDecember 31, 2008 under GAAP
with (2) the 2007 Predecessor plus Successor seSMi believe this presentation of the 2007 finaln@sults provides a more meaningful b
for comparing Delta’s financial performance in 2G0&1 2007.

Operating Revenue

Increase due

Predecessor A to Northwest Increase
GAAP Successor Operations (Decrease)
Year Ended Year Ended October 30 to Excluding
December 31, December 31, December 31, Northwest
(in millions) 2008 2007 Increase 2008 Operations
Operating Revenue:
Passenge
Mainline $15,13] $12,75¢ $2,37¢ $1,39¢ $ 98¢
Regional carrier 4,44¢ 4,17( 27€ 334 (58)
Total passenger reven 19,58: 16,92¢ 2,65¢ 1,73( 92t
Cargo 68€ 482 204 96 10€
Other, ne 2,42¢ 1,744 684 19¢ 48t
Total operating revent $22,69" $19,15¢ $3,54: $2,02¢ $1,51¢

Northwest Operation#As a result of the Merger, our results of operatiander GAAP for 2008 include Northwest’s operadidor the
period from October 30 to December 31, 2008, witicheased our operating revenue by $2.0 billioB068 compared to the 2007 Predece
plus Successor results. The addition of Northwesturr operations for that period increased ASMgapacity, 10% for the full year.
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Increase (Decrease)
2008 GAAP

GAAP vs. 2007 Predecessor + Successor
Year Ended Passenger
December 31 Mile Load
(in millions) 2008 Yield PRASM Factor
Passenger Revenue
Domestic $ 8,70% 4% 6% 2.1pts
Atlantic 4,39( 9% 7% (2.2)pts
Latin America 1,362 13% 16% 2.1pts
Pacific 67¢ 4% 4% 0.2pts
Total Mainline 15,137 6% 7% 1.0pts
Regional carrier 4,44¢ 5% 6% 0.8pts
Total passenger reven $ 19,58! 5% 6% 1.0pts

Mainline Passenger Revenuldainline passenger revenue increased in 2008 cardparthe 2007 Predecessor plus Successor results
primarily due to (1) the inclusion of Northwest’parations, (2) fare increases in response to isettuel charges, (3) pricing and scheduling
initiatives and (4) our increased service to indtional destinations. The increase in passengentevreflects a rise of 6% and 7% in passe

mile yield and PRASM, respectively.

. Domestic Passenger Rever. Domestic passenger revenue increased 8%, dug.fopmint increase in load factor and a 6% in@eas
in PRASM on a 1% increase in capacity. The passande yield increased 4%. The increases in passergyenue and PRASM
reflect (1) the inclusion of Northwest's operatiam (2) fare increases, higher yields and ouratéolu of domestic flights in response
to high fuel prices and the slowing economy. ExirigdNorthwes’s operations, we reduced domestic capacity by #héyear

. International Passenger Reven. International passenger revenue increased 38&ctoda 27% increase in capacity from growth ir
international operations and the inclusion of Nehkt's operations, and a 9% increase in PRASM.pEssenger mile yield increased
9% due to fuel surcharges and increases in setwicgernational destinations, primarily in the @itic and Latin America markets,
from the restructuring of our route network. ExéhgiNorthwes's operations, we increased international capagity486 for the yeal

Regional carriers Passenger revenue of regional affiliates incibdse to the inclusion of Northwest's operationscleding Northwest's
operations, regional carriers revenue declinedrii®on primarily due to an 8% decrease in capagityesponse to high fuel prices and the

slowing economy, as well as the termination ofaartontract carrier agreements.

Cargo. Cargo revenue increased due to the inclusionoofiiwest’s operations and an increase in fuel sugds, improved cargo yields,

and higher international volume.

Other, net Other, net revenue increased primarily due tdrtbkeision of Northwest’s operations. Excluding Movest’s operations, other,
net revenue increased $485 million primarily du€lfonew or increased administrative service chaegel baggage handling fees, (2) growth
in aircraft maintenance and staffing services ialtharties and (3) higher SkyMiles program revenue
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Operating Expense

Increase (Decrease) due ¢

Predecessor + Northwest
GAAP Successor Operations
Year Ended Year Ended October 30to  Restructuring
December 31, December 31, Increase December 31, and merger- Fuel

(in millions) 2008 2007 (Decrease’ 2008 related items Impairments Expense Other
Operating Expense:
Aircraft fuel and relate:

taxes $7,34¢ $4,68¢ $2,66( $71¢ $— $— $1,94:2 $—
Salaries and related co: 4,32¢ 3,75¢ 57C 504 — — — 66
Contract carrie

arrangement 3,76¢ 3,27t 491 144 — — 30z 44
Depreciation and

amortization 1,26¢ 1,16¢ 10z 91 — — — 11
Aircraft maintenance

materials and outside

repairs 1,16¢ 98¢ 18¢€ 11z — — — 73
Contracted service 1,062 91C 152 12¢ — — — 24
Passenger commissio

and other selling

expense: 1,03( 93¢ 97 13C — — — (33
Landing fees and oth

rents 787 72t 62 10€ — — — (44)
Passenger servi 44C 33¢ 10z 35 — — — 67
Aircraft rent 307 24¢ 61 40 — — — 21
Profit sharing — 15¢ (15¢) — — — — (15§
Impairment of goodwiill

and other intangible

asset: 7,29¢ — 7,29¢ — — 7,29¢ — —
Restructuring and merc-

related itemdd) 1,131 — 1,131 — 1,131 — — —
Other 1,082 881 201 88 — — — 113

Total operating

expense $31,01: $18,05¢ $12,95: $2,097 $1,131 $7,29¢ $ 2,248  $18¢

(M Restructuring and merger-related items includg3%aillion in one-time merger-related charges, iasussed below related to Northwest
for the period from October 30 to December 31, 2!

Northwest Operation#As a result of the Merger, our results of operatiander GAAP for 2008 include Northwest’s operadidor the
period from October 30 to December 31, 2008, whicheased operating expense by $2.1 billion in 28f8pared to the 2007 Predecessor
plus Successor results. The addition of Northwesttfat period increased capacity 10% for theyfadr.

Restructuring and merger-related itenfRestructuring and merger-related items totaled.a Billion charge, primarily consisting of the
following:

. Mergel-related charges$978 million in one-time primarily non-cash chargekating to the issuance or vesting of employasteq
awards in connection with the Merg

. Severance and related cos$114 million in restructuring and related chargesonnection with two voluntary workforce reduct
programs for U.S. n¢-pilot employees announced in March 2008 in whighrapimately 4,200 employees elected to particig

. Facilities and other$25 million in facilities charges primarily relatéalaccruals for future lease obligations for poergly announced
plans to close operations in Concourse C at thei@ati/Northern Kentucky International Airport &“Cincinnati Airpor™).
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. Contract carrier restructuring$14 million in charges associated with the eantyniaation of certain capacity purchase agreem
with regional air carriers

ImpairmentsDuring 2008, we experienced a significant declmenarket capitalization primarily from record hifytel prices and overall
airline industry conditions. In addition, the annoament of our intention to merge with Northwesabbshed a stock exchange ratio based on
the relative valuation of Delta and Northwest. Agsult, we determined goodwill was impaired armbrded a non-cash charge of $6.9 billion.
We also recorded a non-cash charge of $357 milbaeduce the carrying value of certain intangéseets based on their revised estimated fai
values.

Fuel expenseFuel expense, including contract carriers, ineeda$2.2 billion, primarily due to higher averagelfprices, which were
partially offset by fuel hedge gains and reduceasconption from lower capacity. Fuel prices avera$@d8 per gallon, including fuel hedge
gains of $134 million, for 2008, compared to $2p24 gallon, including fuel hedge gains of $51 naillj for 2007.

Salaries and related costSalaries and related costs increased $66 milliongyily from a 6% average increase in pilots amghtl
attendants to staff increased international flyemgnual pay increases for all pilot and non-pilotmanagement employees, and increases in
group insurance rates, partially offset by a 3%rage decrease in headcount primarily related tovsontary workforce reduction programs.

Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repakicraft maintenance materials and outside repatseased $73 million primarily due
to growth in our third party maintenance and repasiness.

Passenger servic®assenger service increased $67 million primasgpaiated with (1) the increased cost of cateriminternational
flights, (2) product upgrades in our Business Hlabins and (3) unfavorable foreign currency exgeanates.

Profit sharing.ln 2007, we recorded a $158 million charge rel&abedur broad-based employee profit sharing plan.dWlenot record any
profit sharing expense in 2008. This plan provitted, for each year in which we have an annuatgxeprofit (as defined), we will pay at least
15% of that profit to eligible employees.

Other (Expense) Income

Other expense, net for 2008 was $727 millaampared to $492 million for 2007. This changetiskautable to (1) a $53 million, or 8%,
increase in interest expense primarily due to adridevel of debt outstanding, including Northwesbt for the period from October 30 to
December 31, 2008 and the borrowing of the entitewant of our $1.0 billion exit revolving credit fiity, partially offset by the repayment of
our debtor-in-possession financing facilities (tBéP Facility”) and other higher floating rate dehtconnection with our emergence from
Chapter 11, (2) a $36 million decrease in inteiretme primarily from lower cash balances priottte Merger and lower interest rates
compared to 2007 and (3) a $146 million unfavorabi@nge in miscellaneous, net due to the following:

Unfavorable
2008 GAAP vs. 200°
Predecessor 4

(in millions) Successor
Miscellaneous, ne
Foreign currency exchange ra $ 72
Loss on investments in The Reserve Primary Fundreuded auction rate securiti 34
Mark-to-market adjustments on the ineffective portion @ fuedge contrac 21
Northwest no-operating expense from October 30 to December @18 12
Other 7
Total miscellaneous, n $14¢€
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Reorganization Items, Ne

Reorganization items, net totaled a $1.2dsllgain for 2007, primarily consisting of the fallmg:

Emergence gairA net $2.1 billion gain due to our emergence fraamlruptcy, comprised of (1) a $4.4 billion gairated to the
discharge of liabilities subject to compromise @mection with the settlement of claims, (2) a $#llon charge associated with the
revaluation of our SkyMiles frequent flyer obligatiand (3) a $238 million gain from the revaluat@rour remaining assets and
liabilities to fair value

Aircraft financing renegotiations and rejectio. A $440 million charge for estimated claims priityaassociated with the restructuri
of the financing arrangements for 143 aircraft adflistments to prior claims estimat

Contract carrier agreemen. A net charge of $163 million in connection witm@ndments to certain contract carrier agreem

Emergence compensati. In accordance with De’s Plan of Reorganization, we made $130 milliorumg-sum cash payments
approximately 39,000 eligible non-contract, non-agament employees. We also recorded an additibaatje of $32 million related
to our portion of payroll related taxes associat@tl the issuance, as contemplated by DslRlan of Reorganization, of approxima
14 million shares of common stock to those emplsy

Pilot collective bargaining agreeme. An $83 million allowed general, unsecured clamtonnection with the agreement betw
Comair, Inc., our wholly owned subsidiary (“Comajrand the Air Line Pilots Association (“ALPA”) teeduce Comair’s pilot labor
costs.

Facility leases. A net $43 million gain, which primarily reflec$) a $126 million net gain related to our settlatreegreement with tr
Massachusetts Port Authority partially offset by &het $80 million charge from an allowed genarakecured claim in connection
with the settlement relating to the restructurifigertain of our lease and other obligations atGhecinnati Airport.

Income Taxes

We recorded an income tax benefit of $119iamlfor 2008 due to the impairment of our indefriived intangible assets. The impairment
of goodwill did not result in an income tax benefit goodwill is not deductible for income tax pues. We did not record an income tax
benefit as a result of our loss for 2008. The defetax asset resulting from such a net operatisg is fully reserved by a valuation allowance.

For 2007, we recorded an income tax provisibaling $207 million. We recorded a full valuatiatiowance against our net deferred tax
assets, excluding the effect of the deferred &hilities that are unable to be used as a souroeome against these deferred tax assets, basec
on our belief that it is more likely than not thlaé asset will not be realized in the future. Unalgrounting guidance applicable in 2007, any
reduction in the valuation allowance as a resuthefrecognition of deferred tax assets was adjust@ugh goodwill, followed by other
indefinite-lived intangible assets until the netrgang cost of these assets was zero. Accordirdylying 2007, we reduced goodwill by
$211 million with respect to the realization of g@ergence deferred tax assets.
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Financial Condition and Liquidity

We expect to meet our cash needs for 2010 &ash flows from operations, cash and cash equitsglshorterm investments and financi
arrangements. Our cash and cash equivalents anstshno investments were $4.7 billion at DecembkrZ009. We also have $685 million of
additional cash available from undrawn credit ifies. As of December 31, 2009, we have financiogmitments from third parties, or
definitive agreements to sell, all aircraft subjecpurchase commitments, except for nine previoagined MD-90 aircraft. Under these
financing commitments third parties have agreefihance on a long-term basis a substantial poufaihe purchase price of the covered
aircraft. For additional information regarding @ircraft purchase commitments, see Note 8 of thied\iw the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

The global economic recession weakened derfwairadr travel, decreasing our revenue and neglgtimgpacting our liquidity. In an effort t
lessen the impact of the global recession, we implged initiatives to reduce costs, increase resgand preserve liquidity, primarily through
reducing capacity to align with demand, workforeduction programs and the acceleration of Mergeergy benefits.

Our ability to obtain additional financing,riteded, on acceptable terms could be affectedebfatt that substantially all of our assets are
subject to liens.

Significant Liquidity Events
Significant liquidity events during 2009 wexe follows:

. In September 2009, we borrowed a total of $2.1dsilunder three new financings, consisting of:¥230 million of senior secure
credit facilities, which include a $500 million dirlien revolving credit facility (the “Revolvingdgility”) and a $250 million first-lien
term loan facility; (2) $750 million of senior seed notes; and (3) $600 million of senior secord hotes. A portion of the net
proceeds was used to repay in full the Bank Cirealiflity due in 2010 with the remainder of the meds available for general
corporate purpose

. In November 2009, we issued $689 million of PHsough Certificates, Series 2009-1 through twaasafe trusts (the “2009-1
EETC"). We used $342 million of the net proceedthef 20091 EETC offering to prepay existing mortgage finawgsi for five aircraf
that were delivered and financed earlier in 2009 fan general corporate purposes. We intend tcheseemaining $347 million of the
net proceeds of the 2009-1 EETC, which are cudrld in escrow, to repay a portion of the reficiag of 22 aircraft that currently
secure our 20(-1 EETC.

. In 2009, we entered into two revolving creditiliies for a total of $250 million. We also reced the proceeds from the issuance of
$150 million in unsecured tax exempt bonds. In @aidi a $300 million revolving credit facility teiimated on its maturity dat

For additional information regarding these texatand other liquidity events, see Note 6 ofNlbées to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Sources and Uses of Ca:

In this section, we review the sources and a$eash for the years ended December 31, 2002@0®Iunder GAAP. For 2007, we added
Delta’s sources and uses of cash for the four monthdeigil 30, 2007 of the Predecessor with the eigbthths ended December 31, 200
the Successor. We believe the 2007 PredecessoBptcessor sources and uses of cash provides ameargngful perspective on Deltacas!
flows for 2007 than if we did not present this imf@tion in this manner.

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash provided by operating activities toted@d4 billion for 2009, primarily reflecting (1) threturn from counterparties of $1.1 billion of
hedge margin primarily used to settle hedge lossesgnized during the period and (2) $690 milliomeét income after adjusting for non-cash
items such as depreciation and amortization.
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Cash used in operating activities totaled $illion for 2008, primarily reflecting (1) an inease in aircraft fuel payments due to record high
fuel prices for most of the year, (2) the postifi@@&380 million in margin with counterparties pririgrfrom our estimated fair value loss
position on our fuel hedge contracts at DecembeRBQ8, (3) the payment of $438 million in premiufosfuel hedge derivatives entered into
during 2008, (4) a $374 million decrease in advdiuket sales due to the slowing economy and (&)pdayment of $158 million in 2008 under
our broad-based employee profit sharing plan rélaae€2007. Cash used in operating activities waisghlg offset by cash flows driven by a
$3.5 billion increase in operating revenue, $21obi of which is directly attributable to Northwis operations since the Closing Date.

Cash provided by operating activities totedéd4 billion for 2007, primarily reflecting $875 hion in cash used under Delta’s Plan of
Reorganization to satisfy bankruptcy-related oliliges under our comprehensive agreement with ALR& settlement agreement with the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation. Cash flowsfoperating activities during 2007 also reflegttfie release of $804 million from
restricted cash pursuant to an amendment to oa/Messtercard credit card processing agreementey2nue and network productivity
improvements, including right-sizing capacity tatbemeet customer demand and the continued résting of our route network to reduce
less productive short haul domestic flights andl@eate widebody aircraft to international routesld3) a $476 million decrease in short-term
investments primarily from sales of auction rateusiies.

Cash flows from investing activities

Cash used in investing activities totaled &iillion for 2009, primarily reflecting net invesamts of $951 million for flight equipment and
$251 million for ground property and equipment. Ii€ased in investing activities was partially offegt(1) a $142 million distribution of our
investment in The Reserve Primary Fund and (2) $iillibn of proceeds from the sale of flight equigmt.

Cash provided by investing activities tota$dd6 billion for 2008, primarily reflecting (1) theclusion of $2.4 billion in cash and cash
equivalents from Northwest in the Merger and (2)Sénillion in restricted cash and cash equivalemtsnarily related to $500 million of cash
from a Northwest borrowing that was released freer@w. These inflows were partially offset by inwvesnts of $1.3 billion for flight
equipment and $241 million for ground property agdipment.

Cash used in investing activities totaled $6flion for 2007, primarily reflecting investmentd $810 million for flight equipment and
advanced payments for aircraft commitments and $2iflon for ground property and equipment. Duri2@07, restricted cash decreased by
$185 million. In addition, we received $34 milliand $83 million from the sale of our investmentgiiteline.com Incorporated and ARINC
Incorporated, respectively.

Cash flows from financing activities

Cash used in financing activities totaled $iiBion for 2009, primarily reflecting $3.0 billiom proceeds from long-term debt and aircraft
financing, largely associated with the issuancépf2.1 billion under three new financings (acdssed above), (2) $342 million from the
2009-1 EETC offering (with the remaining proceeddhin escrow) and (3) $150 million of tax exemphls, mostly offset by the repayment
of $2.9 billion in long-term debt and capital lead#igations, including the Bank Credit Facilitychthe Revolving Facility.

Cash provided by financing activities tota$dd7 billion for 2008, primarily reflecting (1) ¥Lbillion in borrowings under a revolving credit
facility, (2) $1.0 billion received under the Ameain Express Agreement for an advance purchaseydfifgls, and (3) $1.0 billion from aircra
financing. Cash provided by financing activitiesswgartially offset by the repayment of $1.6 billiohlong-term debt and capital lease
obligations.
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Cash used in financing activities totaled $&#llion for 2007, primarily reflecting (1) the rapment of the DIP Facility with a portion of 1
proceeds available under the senior secured exsihéing facility and existing cash, (2) the prepeaptrof $863 million of secured debt with a
portion of the proceeds from the sale of enhanceipenent trust certificates and (3) scheduled paigpayments on long-term debt and
capital lease obligations. During 2007, we als@rezd $181 million in proceeds from an amendmemgettain financing arrangements in
which the outstanding principal amount was incrdase

Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our contractlalgations as of December 31, 2009. The tables do¢ include commitments that are
contingent on events or other factors that are mi@iceor unknown at this time, some of which argcdssed in footnotes to this table and in the
text immediately following the footnotes. Resuhattvary significantly from our assumptions couéyé a material impact on our contractual
obligations.

Contractual Obligations by Year

(in millions) 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Thereafter Total

Long-term debi® $2,69( $3,46( $4,20( $2,06( $3,44(C $ 7,69( $23,54(
Contract carrier obligatior(@ 1,87( 1,78( 1,77( 1,82( 1,90(¢ 7,55( 16,69(
Employee benefit obligatior® 86C 74C 79C 74C 74C 10,75( 14,62(
Operating lease paymer® 1,58¢ 1,407 1,29¢ 1,171 1,08t 5,24; 11,79(
Aircraft purchase commitmen® 1,08( — — — — — 1,08(
Capital lease obligatior® 14¢ 14€ 11¢ 87 67 337 904
Other purchase obligatiol() 40C 27C 26( 16C 90 90 1,27(
Total ® $8,637 $7,80:% $8,43¢ $6,03¢ $7,32:2 $31,65¢ $69,89¢

@ Includes the principal amount of our long-ternbtevhich is also included in our Consolidated Bak Sheet. The table also includes
interest payments related to long-term debt, balueles the impact of our interest rate hedgesntaséid amounts for future interest and
related payments in connection with our long-teehtdbligations are based on the fixed and varigiddgest rates specified in the
associated debt agreements. Estimates on vartelénterest were calculated using implied shortiteIBOR based on LIBOR at
December 31, 200!

The table also includes (a) payments for credlitancements required in conjunction with ceffia@ncing agreements and (b) debt
recorded in connection with the American Expresse&gent. As part of the American Express Agreenveatieceived $1.0 billion from
American Express for an advance purchase of SkgMair obligation to American Express will be d&i$ through use of SkyMiles by
American Express over an expected two year pehatliegins in December 201

@ Represents our minimum fixed obligations underamntract carrier agreements (excluding contraotier aircraft lease payments
accounted for as operating leas:

®  Represents minimum funding requirements undeegouent regulations for all of our qualified defineenefit pension plans based on
actuarially determined estimates and projectedéubenefit payments from all of our unfunded othestretirement and other
postemployment plans. For additional informatiogareling our qualified defined benefit pension plaes" Pension Obligatior” below.

@ Includes our noncancelable operating leases antbase payments related to aircraft under our eohtrarrier agreement

) Approximately $800 million of this amount is assaed with our orders to purchase 2-737-800 aircraft for which we have entered il
definitive agreements to sell to third parties india¢ely following delivery of these aircraft to bg the manufacturer. We have not
received any notice that these parties have defhol their purchase obligatiol

The table excludes our order of 18 B-787-8raftc The Boeing Company (“Boeing”) has informedtiiat Boeing will be unable to meet
the contractual delivery schedule for these aitck&e are in discussions with Boeing regarding liisation. The table also excludes our
order for five A31-100 aircraft and two A3:-200 aircraft since we have the right to canceldtmslers

® Includes interest payments related to capital Ieadigations. The present value of these obligati@xcluding interest, is included on «
Consolidated Balance Shee

(M Primarily includes purchase obligations pursuanwiich we are required to make minimum paymentgjfads and services, includi
but not limited to insurance, outsourced humanugsoservices, marketing, maintenance, technokgggnsorships and other third party
services and product
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® In addition to the contractual obligations inaddn the table, we have significant cash obligetithat are not included in the table. For
example, we will pay wages required under collectargaining agreements, purchase capacity undéacbcarrier arrangements (as
discussed below), settle tax contingency resemgsliscussed below), pay credit card processirgydied pay fees for other goods and
services, including those related to fuel, mainteeaand commissions. While we are parties to ledmfiding contracts regarding these
goods and services, the actual commitment is cgatihon certain factors such as volume and/or bigriates that are uncertain or
unknown at this time. Therefore, these items aténubuded in the table. In addition, purchase ocsdeade in the ordinary course of
business are excluded from the table and any ammevurith we are liable for under the purchase ordersncluded in current liabilities
on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Payments ondgrofit-sharing plan or pursuant to our 2007f@¥enance Compensation Plan are
contingent on factors unknown at this time andrdfare, are not included in this tab

Pension Obligations/Ne sponsor a defined benefit pension plan forlgigghon-pilot Delta employees and retirees (theltdDon-Pilot
Plan™) and defined benefit pension plans for elgidorthwest employees and retirees (the “Northwestsion Plans”), all of which have been
frozen for future benefit accruals. Our fundingigations for these plans are governed by the Engald3etirement Income Security Act.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows caroial airlines to elect alternative funding ru(&slternative Funding Rules”) for defined
benefit plans that are frozen. Under the Alterreaffunding Rules, the unfunded liability for a frozefined benefit plan may be funded over a
fixed 17-year period. The unfunded liability is thefd as the actuarial liability and is calculatethg an 8.85% interest rate. Delta elected the
Alternative Funding Rules for the Delta Non-Pilda, effective April 1, 2007; and Northwest electkd Alternative Funding Rules for the
Northwest Pension Plans, effective October 1, 2006 estimate that the funding requirements undeselplans will be approximate
$720 million in 2010.

While this legislation makes our funding ohliigns for these plans more predictable, factotside our control continue to have an impact
on the funding requirements. Estimates of futurelfog requirements are based on various assumg@iwhsan vary materially from actual
funding requirements. Assumptions include, amomgiothings, the actual and projected market perdoe of assets; statutory requirements;
and demographic data for participants.

The following items are not included in thbleaabove:

Contract Carrier AgreementsDuring the year ended December 31, 2009, sioregiair carriers (“Contract Carriers”) operatedds (in
addition to our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Com&iompass Airlines, Inc. (“Compass”) and Mesaba Aeigtinc. (“Mesaba”)) pursuant to
capacity purchase agreements. Under these agrezrttentegional air carriers operate some or aheif aircraft using our flight designator
codes, and we control the scheduling, pricing,med®ns, ticketing and seat inventories of thaseraft and retain the revenues associated
those flights. We pay those airlines an amountledimed in the applicable agreement, which is based determination of their cost of
operating those flights and other factors inteneabproximate market rates for those services.

The above table shows our minimum fixed olilayes under these capacity purchase agreementsid@xg Comair, Compass and Mesaba).
The obligations set forth in the table contemptateimum levels of flying by the Contract Carriensder the respective agreements and also
reflect assumptions regarding certain costs assatigith the minimum levels of flying such as faef, labor, maintenance, insurance, cate
property tax and landing fees. Accordingly, outuatpayments under these agreements could diffegrially from the minimum fixed
obligations set forth in the table above.

For information regarding payments we maydspiired to make in connection with certain termora of our capacity purchase agreem
with Chautauqua Airlines, Inc. and Shuttle Ame@arporation, see “Contingencies Related to Terrionatf Contract Carrier Agreementis’
Note 8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Finandiatenents

Uncertain Tax PositionsThe total amount of unrecognized tax benefits @x@bnsolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2009 i
$66 million. We are currently under audit by théemal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) for the 2008 2069 tax years.
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Legal ContingenciesWe are involved in various legal proceedingstidpto employment practices, environmental issbaskruptcy
matters, antitrust matters and other matters caimagour business. We cannot reasonably estimatpdtential loss for certain legal
proceedings because, for example, the litigation its early stages or the plaintiff does not sfyethe damages being sought.

Other Contingent Obligations under Contracis addition to the contractual obligations diseg above, we have certain contracts for
goods and services that require us to pay a peratire inventory specific to us or purchase @mtspecific equipment, as defined by each
respective contract, if we terminate the contratihout cause prior to its expiration date. Becahgse obligations are contingent on our
termination of the contract without cause prioitsoexpiration date, no obligation would exist wdesuch a termination occurs.

For additional information about other congngies not discussed above, as well as informagiated to general indemnifications, see !
8 of the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stategm

Application of Critical Accounting Policies
Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of financial statements infeonity with GAAP requires management to make deréstimates and assumptions. We
periodically evaluate these estimates and assungtiehich are based on historical experience, asirgthe business environment and other
factors that management believes to be reasonabkr the circumstances. Actual results may diffaterially from these estimates.

Frequent Flyer Program3Ne have a frequent flyer program (the “SkyMilesd?eon”) offering incentives to increase travel ontReThis
program allows participants to earn mileage crdulitflying on Delta, Contract Carriers and partatipg airlines, as well as through
participating companies such as credit card congzahiotels and car rental agencies. We also skelage credits to other airlines and to non-
airline businesses. Mileage credits can be rededandree or upgraded air travel on Delta and piptiting airlines, for membership in our Sky
Club and for other program awards.

In the Merger, we assumed Northwest's freqtigat program (the “WorldPerks Program”). In Océol2009, we completed the
consolidation of the SkyMiles and WorldPerks Proggawhich combined miles from each program at atorene ratio. The WorldPerks
Program was accounted for under the same methogdathe SkyMiles Program.

We use the residual method for revenue retiogndf mileage credits. The fair value of the rage credit component is determined base
prices at which we sell mileage credits to othdires, currently $0.0054 per mile, and is re-easdd at least annually. Under the residual
method, the portion of the revenue from the salmitdage credits and the mileage component of pgesaicket sales that approximates fair
value is deferred and recognized as passengeruewenen miles are redeemed and services are ptblked on the weighted- average price
of all miles that have been deferred. The portibthe revenue received in excess of the fair valumileage credits sold is recognized in
income when the related marketing services areigedvand classified as other, net revenue.

For mileage credits which we estimate ardikely to be redeemed (“Breakage”), we recogniz=dhsociated value proportionally during
the period in which the remaining mileage creditsexpected to be redeemed. The estimate of Breakdmpsed on historical redemption
patterns. A change in assumptions as to the pexiedwhich mileage credits are expected to be reddethe actual redemption activity for
mileage credits or the estimated fair value of etk credits expected to be redeemed could haveesiaidmpact on our revenue in the year in
which the change occurs and in future years. Ateldser 31, 2009, the aggregate deferred revenuedeatessociated with the SkyMiles
Program was $4.8 billion. A hypothetical 1% chaimgeur outstanding number of miles estimated todakemed would result in a $33 million
impact on our deferred revenue liability at Decengtfg 2009.
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Purchase Accounting Measuremei@s the Closing Date, Northwest revalued its assedsliabilities at fair value. This revaluation didt
impact earnings; it did impact the calculation obdwill related to the excess of purchase price twe fair value of the tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired and litib#i assumed from Northwest in the Merger. Addaiarhanges in the fair values of these assets
and liabilities from the current estimated valueswell as changes in other assumptions, couldfisigmtly impact earnings.

The fair value of Northwest’s debt and capiéalse obligations was determined by estimatingthsent value of amounts to be paid at
appropriate interest rates as of the Closing Didtese rates were determined with swap rates, LIB&&S and market spreads as of the Clc
Date. The market spreads, which were determindu tvé assistance of third party financial instiins, considered the credit risk and the
structure of the debt and capital lease obligataswell as the underlying collateral supporting dbligations.

Fair value measurements for goodwill and othiangible assets included significant unobsewrvaiputs, which generally include a five-
year business plan, 12 months of historical revereune expenses by city pair, projections of avhdlabat miles, revenue passenger miles,
factors, operating costs per available seat mitaadiscount rate.

One of the significant unobservable inputsarhyihg the intangible fair value measurementsgentd on the Closing Date is the discount
rate. We determined the discount rate using thghted average cost of capital of the airline indysthich was measured using a Capital
Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM”). The CAPM in the vakien of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangiblesilized a 50% debt and 50% equity
structure. The historical average debt-to-equitycstire of the major airlines since 1990 is alsprapimately 50% debt and 50% equity, which
was similar to Northwest’s debt-to-equity structateemergence from Chapter 11. The return on dabtmeasured using a bidyt@ld analysi
of major airline corporate bonds. The expected etarkte of return for equity was measured basdti@nisk free rate, the airline industry beta
and risk premiums based on the Federal Reservisti@tRelease H. 15 or Ibbots@rstocks, Bonds, Bills, and InflatidhValuation
Yearbook, Edition 2008. These factors resulted 13% discount rate.

The fair value of Northwest’s pension and petsement plans was determined by measuring thespfunded status as of the Closing Date.
Any excess projected benefit obligation over thevalue of plan assets was recognized as a ligbfline of the significant assumptions in
determining our projected benefit obligation is thgcount rate. We determined the discount rataamily by reference to annualized rates
earned on high quality fixed income investments yettl-to-maturity analysis specific to estimated future Bigpayments, which resulted ir
weighted average discount rate of 7.8%. Other Bggmit assumptions include the healthcare costitrate, retirement age, and mortality
assumptions.

Derivative InstrumentOur results of operations are significantly impddby changes in aircraft fuel prices, interestgated foreign
currency exchange rates. In an effort to managexposure to these risks, we periodically enter ddrivative instruments, including fuel,
interest rate and foreign currency hedges. Theseati®e instruments are comprised of contracts #ne privately negotiated with
counterparties without going through a public exade Accordingly, our fair value assessments goresitleration to the risk of counterparty
default (as well as our own credit risk).

. Aircraft Fuel DerivativesOur fuel derivative instruments consist of crude feéating oil and jet fuel swap, collar and cadtion
contracts. Swap contracts are valued under theria@pproach using a discounted cash flow modebbaiselata either readily
observable or derived from public markets. Optionttacts are valued under the income approach wgitign pricing models. We
have based our valuation assessments for our optioinacts on data either readily observable idipubarkets, derived from public
markets or provided by counterparties who regulxdge in public market:

. Interest Rate DerivativeOur interest rate derivative instruments consisvedip and call option contracts and are valueddbaselata
readily observable in public marke
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. Foreign Currency DerivativeOur foreign currency derivative instruments consfslapanese yen and Canadian dollar forward and
collar contracts and are valued based on datalyesuiervable in public market

We perform, at least quarterly, both a proipe@nd retrospective assessment of the effecsgof our derivative instruments designated
as hedges, including assessing the possibilitpohterparty default. If we determine that a denixats no longer expected to be highly
effective, we discontinue hedge accounting pro$pelgtand recognize subsequent changes in theddie of the hedge in earnings. As a re
of our effectiveness assessment at December 39, 2@0believe our derivative instruments designatetiedges will continue to be highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flow atitéble to the hedged risk.

Goodwill and Other Intangible AssetSoodwill reflects (1) the excess of the reorganizravalue of the Successor over the fair values of
tangible and identifiable intangible assets, nédiatifilities, from the adoption of fresh start refiog, adjusted for impairment and (2) the excess
of purchase price over the fair values of tangébid identifiable intangible assets acquired artalliiees assumed from Northwest in the
Merger. The following table reflects the changethim carrying amount of goodwill for the years eshn@ecember 31, 2008 and 2009:

Gross
Carrying
(in millions) Amount Impairment Net

Balance at January 1, 20 $12,10¢ $ — $12,10¢
Impairment — (6,939 (6,939
Northwest Merge 4,572 — 4,572
Other (6) — (6)
Balance at December 31, 20 16,67( (6,939 9,731
Northwest Merge 60 — 6C
Other (4 — (4)
Balance at December 31, 2C $16,72¢ $(6,939 $ 9,781

During 2008, we experienced a significant ohecin market capitalization primarily from recdnayh fuel prices and overall airline industry
conditions. In addition, the announcement of oterntion to merge with Northwest established a swakhange ratio based on the relative
valuation of Delta and Northwest (see Note 2 offtfates to the Consolidated Financial Statement®) détermined that these factors comb
with further increases in fuel prices were an iathec that a goodwill impairment test was requirksl a result, we estimated fair value based on
a discounted projection of future cash flows, sufgmbwith a market-based valuation. We determihed goodwill was impaired and recorded
a non-cash charge of $6.9 billion for the year éndecember 31, 2008. In estimating fair value, weddl our estimates and assumptions on the
same valuation techniques employed and levelspftgnused to estimate the fair value of goodwibrupdoption of fresh start reporting.

Identifiable intangible assets reflect intdnigiassets (1) recorded as a result of our adopfifresh start reporting upon emergence from
bankruptcy and (2) acquired in the Merger. Indédiived assets are not amortized. Definite-livengible assets are amortized on a straight-
line basis or under the undiscounted cash flowsiateover the estimated economic life of the respectgreements and contracts.
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In addition to the goodwill impairment chamjscussed above, we recorded a non-cash char@bafriillion ($238 million after tax) for
the year ended December 31, 2008 to reduce thgrogiralue of certain intangible assets based eir thvised estimated fair values.

We apply a fair value-based impairment tesh&net book value of goodwill and indefinite-livimtangible assets on an annual basis and, if
certain events or circumstances indicate that grairment loss may have been incurred, on an intbdsis. The annual impairment test date
for our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible sets is October 1.

In evaluating our goodwill for impairment, \iifest compare our one reporting unit’s fair valoets carrying value. We estimate the fair
value of our reporting unit by considering (1) ooairket capitalization, (2) any premium to our maapitalization an investor would pay fc
controlling interest, (3) the potential value ohsygies and other benefits that could result frashsnterest, (4) market multiple and recent
transaction values of peer companies and (5) pegetiscounted future cash flows, if reasonablyredile. If the reporting unit’s fair value
exceeds its carrying value, no further testingeguired. If, however, the reporting usitarrying value exceeds its fair value, we theerdene
the amount of the impairment charge, if any. Wegaize an impairment charge if the carrying valtithe reporting unit's goodwill exceeds
its implied fair value.

We perform the impairment test for our indéérived intangible assets by comparing the asdait value to its carrying value. Fair value
is estimated based on (1) recent market transactitvere available, (2) the lease savings methodifport slots (which reflects potential lease
savings from owning the slots rather than leadirgrt from another airline at market rates), (3)rthalty method for the Delta tradename
(which assumes hypothetical royalties generate fxsing our tradename) or (4) projected discoufitede cash flows. We recognize an
impairment charge if the asset’s carrying valuecexs its estimated fair value.

Changes in assumptions or circumstances ¢esldt in an additional impairment in the perioduhich the change occurs and in future
years. Factors which could cause impairment inglbdeare not limited to, (1) negative trends im oarket capitalization, (2) volatile fu
prices, (3) declining passenger mile yields, (#)dopassenger demand as a result of the weake®editld global economy, (5) interruption to
our operations due to an employee strike, terrattsick, or other reasons, (6) changes to the aggylenvironment and (7) consolidation of
competitors in the industry.

Long-Lived AssetsOur flight equipment and other long-lived assetse a recorded value of $20.4 billion on our Ctidated Balance
Sheet at December 31, 2009. This value is base@rous factors, including the assets’ estimatexgfuldives and their estimated salvage
values. We record impairment losses on long-liveskts used in operations when events and circucestamdicate the assets may be impaired
and the estimated future cash flows generateddsethssets are less than their carrying amoum® dtfecide to permanently remove flight
equipment or other long-lived assets from operatiore will evaluate those assets for impairment.léwg-lived assets held for sale, we record
impairment losses when the carrying amount is grahain the fair value less the cost to sell. Véeaitinue depreciation of long-lived assets
when these assets are classified as held for sale.

To determine impairments for aircraft usedperations, we group assets at the fleet-type Igellowest level for which there are
identifiable cash flows) and then estimate futushcflows based on projections of capacity, pasyemde yield, fuel costs, labor costs and
other relevant factors. If impairment occurs, th@airment loss recognized is the amount by whieheaiihcraft’s carrying amount exceeds its
estimated fair value. We estimate aircraft fairuesl using published sources, appraisals and hids/esl from third parties, as available. For
additional information about our accounting polfoy the impairment of londjved assets, see Note 1 of the Notes to the Cimtaget Financie
Statements.
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Income Tax Valuation Allowance and Contingenciég periodically assess whether it is more likblgn not that we will generate
sufficient taxable income to realize our defernecbime tax assets, and we establish valuation atioesif recovery is deemed not likely. In
making this determination, we consider all avaigbbsitive and negative evidence and make cersainnaptions. We consider, among other
things, our deferred tax liabilities, the overalsiness environment, our historical earnings asgds, our industrg’historically cyclical perioc
of earnings and losses and potential, current andd tax planning strategies. We cannot preselgigrmine when we will be able to generate
sufficient taxable income to realize our deferr@dassets. Accordingly, we have recorded a fullatidn allowance against our net deferrec
assets.

Our income tax provisions are based on cdlicuig and assumptions that are subject to exarnimély the IRS and other taxing authorities.
Although we believe that the positions taken orvimesly filed tax returns are reasonable, we hataldished tax and interest reserves in
recognition that taxing authorities may challenge positions we have taken, which could resuldiditional liabilities for taxes and interest.
We review the reserves as circumstances warranaa@djogt the reserves as events occur that affeqiatential liability, such as lapsing of
applicable statutes of limitations, conclusionax audits, a change in exposure based on currentiatons, identification of new issues,
release of administrative guidance or the rendesfragcourt decision affecting a particular isséke would adjust the income tax provision in
the period in which the facts that give rise to rtfxéision become known.

Prior to January 1, 2009, in the event thaadjnstment to the income tax provision related pre-emergence tax position or Northwest
Merger-related tax position, we adjusted goodwilldwed by other indefinite-lived intangible assetdil the net carrying value of those assets
was zero. Beginning January 1, 2009, any adjustrterthe income tax provision in regard to preergence tax positions are made throug
income tax provision.

For additional information about income tax@e Notes 1 and 9 of the Notes to the Consolidatethcial Statements.

Pension Plans We sponsor defined benefit pension plans (“DB&1gfor our eligible employees and retirees. Weently estimate that
expense for our DB Plans in 2010 will be approxeha$400 million. The effect of our DB Plans on @wnsolidated Financial Statements is
subject to many assumptions. We believe the mdsatairassumptions are (1) the weighted averageodist rate and (2) the expected Idegn
rate of return on the assets of our DB Plans.

We determine our weighted average discouptaatour measurement date primarily by referen@ntmalized rates earned on high quality
fixed income investments and yield-to-maturity s specific to our estimated future benefit pagtaeWe used a weighted average discount
rate of 5.93% and 6.49% at December 31, 2009 af8,28spectively. Additionally, our weighted avezatiscount rate for net periodic benefit
cost in each of the past three years has varied fhe rate selected on our measurement date, gafrgim 5.99% to 7.19% between 2007 and
2009, due to remeasurements throughout the yearinijpact of a 0.50% change in our weighted avediggount rate is shown in the table
below.
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The expected long-term rate of return on gsets of our DB Plans is based primarily on plagesje investment studies using historical
market returns and volatility data with forward kirog estimates based on existing financial marked@ions and forecasts. Modest excess
return expectations versus some market indicemeoeporated into the return projections basedhenactively managed structure of the
investment programs and their records of achiesumh returns historically. We review our rate dfire on plan asset assumptions annually.
These assumptions are largely based on the assgboarate-of-return assumptions developed ampwudath our pension investment advisors;
however, our annual investment performance forgarécular year does not, by itself, significantifluence our evaluation. The investment
strategy for DB Plan assets is to utilize a diviezdimix of global public and private equity potfs, public and private fixed income
portfolios, and private real estate and naturaluese investments to earn a long-term investmentmehat meets or exceeds a 9% annualized
return target. The impact of a 0.50% change ineogected long-term rate of return is shown in #iset below.

Effect on Accrued
Effect on 2010 Pension Liability at

Change in Assumption Pension Expenst December 31, 200
0.50% decrease in discount r +$ 8 million +$ 1.0 billion
0.50% increase in discount r: -$12 million -$978 million
0.50% decrease in expected return on a +$37 million —
0.50% increase in expected return on as -$37 million —

For additional information about our DB Plasse Note 10 of the Notes to the Consolidated EinaB8tatements.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncemel

In September 2009, the Financial Accountiren8ards Board (the “FASB”) issued “Revenue Arrangets with Multiple Deliverables.”
The standard revises guidance on (1) the deterimmaf when individual deliverables may be treadsdseparate units of accounting and (2
allocation of transaction consideration among s&pdyr identified deliverables. It also expands ldisare requirements regarding an entity’s
multiple element revenue arrangements. The standga&ffective for fiscal years beginning on or aftane 15, 2010, with early adoption
permitted. We are currently evaluating the imphetadoption of this standard will have on our Cdidated Financial Statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued “Interim Disslares about Fair Value of Financial Instrument$i& Standard amends required disclosures
about the fair value of financial instruments iteiim and annual financial statements. We adoptsdstandard on April 1, 2009.

In December 2008, the FASB issued “EmployBistlosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assitrequires additional annual
disclosures about assets held in an employer'se@fbenefit pension or other postretirement plamarily related to categories and fair value
measurements of plan assets. We adopted this sthoddanuary 1, 2009. For additional informatiegarding this standard, see Note 3 of the
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Stateme

In March 2008, the FASB issued “DisclosuresudtbDerivative Instruments and Hedging Activitie$hie standard requires enhanced
disclosures about (1) how and why an entity useivaté/e instruments, (2) how derivative instruneahd related hedged items are accounted
for and (3) how derivative instruments and reldtedged items affect an entity’s financial positifinancial performance and cash flows. This
standard is effective for interim and annual pesiof/e adopted this standard on January 1, 2009.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued “Businessi@ioations (revised 2007).” The standard providgégance for recognizing and
measuring goodwill acquired in a business comhinagind requires disclosure of information regardimgnature and financial effects of a
business combination. It also revises the treatmewaluation allowance adjustments related to inedax benefits in existence prior to a
business combination or prior to the adoption e$ffrstart reporting. Under the original standangt,r@duction in the valuation allowance from
the recognition of deferred tax assets is adjusteligh goodwill, followed by other indefinilered intangible assets until the net carrying s
of these assets is zero. In contrast, this re\stmtdard requires that any reduction in this védaadllowance be reflected through the income
tax provision. This standard is effective for fisgaars beginning on January 1, 2009.

Supplemental Information

Under GAAP, we do not include in our ConsdigdhFinancial Statements the results of Northwesirdbefore the Closing Date.
Accordingly, our financial results under GAAP ftietyear ended December 31, 2008, include the sesuNorthwest only for the period from
October 30 to December 31, 2008. This impacts tineparability of our financial statements under GAfaPthe years ended December 31,
2009 and 2008. Financial results on a combinedshasithe year ended December 31, 2008 includérinacial results for both Delta and
Northwest beginning January 1, 2008. We believegrtng the 2008 financial information on a comtdibasis provides useful information
comparing our financial performance in 2009 and&00

GAAP Combined

Year Ended Year Ended

December 31, December 31,
(in millions) 2009 2008
Aircraft fuel and related taxe $7,38¢ $ 7,34¢
Northwest results for the period January 1 to OCetd®, 200¢ — 4,99¢
Contract carrier aircraft fu 907 1,74C
Mark-to-market adjustments to fuel hedges settling in fiperiods — (410
Total fuel expense excluding mi-to-market adjustments to fuel hedges settling in giperiods $8,291 $13,67-
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GAAP 2009 vs
Combined 200t

2009 average price per fuel gallon, net of hedgiciiyity $ 2.1¢
2008 combined fuel gallons consumed (in millio 4,15¢
2008 combined average price per fuel gallon, nétealging activity $ 3.2¢
Change ye«overyear in fuel price per gallon, net of hedging aityi 35%

GAAP 2009 vs
Combined 200¢

2009 PRASN 10.34¢
2008 combined ASMs (in millions 246,16¢
2008 combined PRASI 12.07¢
Change ye«over-year in combined PRASI 14)%

GAAP 2009 vs
Combined 200t

2009 passenger mile yie 12.6(¢
2008 combined revenue passenger miles (in milli 202,72t
2008 combined passenger mile yi 14.6%¢
Change yei-ovel-year in combined passenger mile yi 149)%

We present CASM excluding fuel expense anatedltaxes because management believes the wplaxifuel prices impacts the
comparability of year-over-year financial perforrsanin addition, we exclude special items becauseagement believes the exclusion of
these items is helpful to investors to evaluatecttrapany’s recurring operational performance.

CASM and Combined CASM exclude ancillary besises which are not associated with the generatiarseat mile. These businesses
include aircraft maintenance and staffing servigh&h we provide to third parties, our dedicatezighter operations and our vacation
wholesale operations.

GAAP Combined
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2009 2008
CASM 12.32¢ 19.4(¢
Ancillary businesse (0.31) (0.4¢)
CASM excluding items not related to generation of &eat mile 12.01¢ 18.92¢
Items excluded
Impairment of goodwill and other ass — 4.79
Restructuring and merc-related item: (0.1¢) (0.59
Mark-to-market adjustments to fuel hedges settling in fiperiods — (0.17)
CASM excluding special items 11.8%¢ 13.37¢
Fuel expense and related ta (3.55) (5.39
CASM excluding fuel expense and related taxes angecial items 8.2&¢ 7.9¢¢
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Glossary of Defined Terms

ASM—Available Seat Mile. A measure of capacity. ASMsi@l the total number of seats available for trantépg passengers during a
reporting period multiplied by the total numbemailes flown during that period.

CASM—(Operating) Cost per Available Seat Mile. The antoaf operating cost incurred per ASM during a mpg period, also referred
to as “unit cost.”

Passenger Load FacterA measure of utilized available seating capacitigulated by dividing RPMs by ASMs for a reportipgriod.
Passenger Mile Yield or Yield-The amount of passenger revenue earned per RPRgdareporting period.

RASM or PRASM—(Operating or Passenger) Revenue per ASM. The atradwperating or passenger revenue earned per d8ig a
reporting period. Passenger RASM is also refervegst unit revenue.”

RPM—Revenue Passenger Mile. One revepaging passenger transported one mile. RPMs eh@alumber of revenue passengers di
a reporting period multiplied by the number of miflown by those passengers during that period. KRB also referred to as “traffic.”
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

We have significant market risk exposure eglab aircraft fuel prices, interest rates andifpreurrency exchange rates. Market risk is the
potential negative impact of adverse changes isetlpeices or rates on our Consolidated Financé&kBtents. To manage the volatility relating
to these exposures, we periodically enter intovaéisie transactions pursuant to stated policies.éifeect adjustments to the fair value of
financial instruments to result in ongoing volayilin earnings and stockholders’ equity.

The following sensitivity analyses do not ddes the effects of a change in demand for airdkahe economy as a whole or actions we
take to seek to mitigate our exposure to a paetraigk. For these and other reasons, the actsaltseof changes in these prices or rates may
differ materially from the following hypotheticatsults.

Aircraft Fuel Price Risk

Our results of operations are materially inipddyy changes in aircraft fuel prices. In an efformanage our exposure to this risk, we
periodically enter into derivative instruments dgsited as cash flow hedges, which are comprisedude oil, heating oil and jet fuel swap,
collar and call option contracts, to hedge a partbour projected aircraft fuel requirements, irtthg those of our Contract Carriers under
capacity purchase agreements.

As of January 31, 2010, our open fuel hedggtipo for the year ending December 31, 2010 ibews:

Contract Fair

Value at
Weighted Percentage oi  January 31, 201C
Average Contract Projected Fuel  Based Upon $7¢
Strike Price per Requirements per Barrel of
(in millions, unless otherwise state Gallon Hedged Crude Oil
2010
Crude Oil
Call options $ 1.7¢ 12% $ 81
Collar—capl/floor 1.90/1.6! 5 1
Swaps 1.87 3 (13
Jet Fuel
Swaps 2.0¢ 4 (13)
Total 24% $ 56

For 2009, aircraft fuel and related taxesludimg our Contract Carriers under capacity purehagreements, accounted for $8.3 billion, or
29%, of our total operating expense, including $iilkbn of fuel hedge losses. The following talleows the projected impact to aircraft fuel
expense and fuel hedge margin for 2010 based amibect of our open fuel hedge contracts at Jan8ay2010, assuming the following per
barrel prices of crude oil:

Fuel Hedge Margin

(Increase) Decrease ti Received from
Aircraft Fuel Hedge Gain (Posted to)
(in millions, except per barrel price Expense® (Loss)®@ Net impact Counterparties
$60 / barre $1,31F $(13E) $1,18( $(25)
$80 / barre (391 12¢ (262) 2
$100 / barre (2,09¢) 51¢ (1,579 23C
$120 / barre (3,805 93€ (2,869 58¢

(O Projection based upon the (increase) decreasekefpense as compared to the estimated crudeas! per barrel of $77 and estima
aircraft fuel consumption of 3.6 billion gallons fihe 11 months ending December 31, 2(

(@  Projection based upon average futures prices plainday contract settlement mont
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Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to market risk from adverse charig interest rates is primarily associated withlong-term debt obligations. Market risk
associated with our fixed and variable rate lorrgatdebt relates to the potential reduction in Yailue and negative impact to future earnings,
respectively, from an increase in interest rates.nHAd $9.6 billion of fixed-rate long-term debt &&15 billion of variable-rate long-term debt
at December 31, 2009. At December 31, 2009, araser of 100 basis points in average annual inteatest would have decreased the
estimated fair value of our fixed-rate long-ternbdiey $297 million and increased interest expemsew variable-rate long-term debt by
$82 million.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Our results of operations may be impactedoogifin exchange rate fluctuations on the U.S. deobdue of foreign currency-denominated
operating revenue and expense. Our largest exposanee from the Japanese yen and Canadian daollgeneral, a weakening yen or
Canadian dollar relative to the U.S. dollar resintgl) our operating income being unfavorably ictea to the extent net yen or Canadian
dollar-denominated revenues exceed expenses angc()nition of a non-operating foreign currencingiue to the remeasurement of net yen
or Canadian dollar-denominated liabilities. To ngaaxchange rate risk, we attempt to execute hatinternational revenue and expense
transactions in the same foreign currency to thergpracticable. We believe changes in foreigmenay exchange rates are not material tc
results of operations.

53




Table of Contents

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfiimg (Ernst & Young LLP;
Consolidated Balance She—December 31, 2009 and 20

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yeaadsd December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008ighemonths
ended December 31, 2007 and the four months endati3®, 2007

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraded December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008ighemonths
ended December 31, 2007 and the four months endati3®, 2007

Consolidated Statements of Stockhold&guity (Deficit) for the years ended December 31Q2and December 31, 2008,
eight months ended December 31, 2007 and the foathra ended April 30, 20(

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statem
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of DAlitaLines, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidaééghce sheets of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (the Comypas of December 31, 2009 (Successor)
and 2008 (Successor), and the related consolidtateiments of operations, stockholders’ equityi¢iefand cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2009 (Successor) and 2008 (Succesmpight-month period ended December 31, 200¢asor) and the four-month period
ended April 30, 2007 (Predecessor). These finastiaéments are the responsibility of the Compamadaagement. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemersiscban our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance wittstaadards of the Public Company Accounting Ovéaidgpard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet émdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenewntelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refdrto above present fairly, in all material respethe consolidated financial position of Delta
Air Lines, Inc. at December 31, 2009 (Successod) 2008 (Successor), and the consolidated resuits operations and its cash flows for the
years ended December 31, 2009 (Successor) and(3008essor), the eic-month period ended December 31, 2007 (Successdriha four-
month period ended April 30, 2007 (Predecessopiformity with U.S. generally accepted accountinigciples.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidatedrfaial statements, Delta Air Lines, Inc. and itsssdiaries which had filed voluntary petitions
for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the U.S.KBaptcy Code emerged from bankruptcy on April 3002. Accordingly, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements have been prdpareonformity with Accounting Standards Codificat (“ASC”) 852, “Reorganizations,”
for the Successor Company as a new entity withteydsabilities and a capital structure having garg values not comparable with prior
periods as described in Note 1.

We also have audited, in accordance with thiedards of the Public Company Accounting Oversipdrd (United States), Delta Air Lines,
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting @sDecember 31, 2009 (Successor), based on erigstablished in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imations of the Treadway Commission and our tegetted February 24, 2010
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Atlanta, Georgia
February 24, 2010
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

December 31,

(in millions, except share dat 2009 2008
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivale $ 4,601 $ 4,25t
Shor-term investment 71 21z
Restricted cash and cash equival 423 42¢
Accounts receivable, net of an allowance for ureddible accounts of $47 and $42 at December 319

and 2008, respective 1,35:¢ 1,51
Hedge margin receivab 7 1,13¢
Expendable parts and supplies inventories, neth @flawance for obsolescence of $75 and $:

December 31, 2009 and 2008, respecti 327 38¢
Deferred income taxes, n 107 401
Prepaid expenses and ot 84¢€ 637

Total current asse 7,741 8,974
Property and Equipment, Net:
Property and equipment, net of accumulated degfeciand amortization of $2,924 and $1,55!
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respecti' 20,43: 20,62°
Other Assets:
Goodwill 9,78 9,731
Identifiable intangibles, net of accumulated anzation of $451 and $354 at December 31, 2009 and
2008, respectivel 4,82¢ 4,944
Other noncurrent asse 74¢ 80¢
Total other asse! 15,36¢ 15,48
Total asset $43,53¢ $ 45,08
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current maturities of lor-term debt and capital leas $ 1,53¢ $ 1,16(
Air traffic liability 3,07 3,38t
Accounts payabl 1,24¢ 1,60¢
Frequent flyer deferred reven 1,614 1,624
Accrued salaries and related bene 1,03 972
Hedge derivatives liabilit 13¢ 1,24
Taxes payabl 52t 56&
Other accrued liabilitie 62€ 53t
Total current liabilities 9,79 11,09:
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Long-term debt and capital leas 15,66¢ 15,41:
Pension, postretirement and related ben 11,74¢ 10,89¢
Frequent flyer deferred reven 3,19¢ 3,48¢
Deferred income taxes, n 1,667 1,981
Other noncurrent liabilitie 1,22: 1,34
Total noncurrent liabilitie: 33,49] 33,11¢
Commitments and Contingencie
Stockholders Equity:
Common stock at $0.0001 par value; 1,500,000,0@€eshauthorized, 794,873,058 and 702,685

shares issued at December 31, 2009 and 2008, teshe — —
Additional paicin capital 13,827 13,71«
Accumulated defici (9,845 (8,60¢)
Accumulated other comprehensive I (3,567) (4,080
Treasury stock, at cost, 10,918,274 and 7,548,b4fes at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respec (179 (159

Total stockholder equity 24E 874
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $43,53¢ $ 45,08t



The accompanying notes are an integral part okt@solidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Ended Ended
Year Ended December 31, December 31 April 30,
(in millions, except per share da 2009 2008 2007 2007
Operating Revenue:
Passengel
Mainline $18,52: $15,137 $ 8,92¢ $ 3,82¢
Regional carrier 5,28¢ 4,44¢ 2,874 1,29¢
Total passenger reven 23,807 19,58: 11,80: 5,12¢
Cargo 78¢ 68€ 334 14¢
Other, ne 3,46¢ 2,42¢ 1,221 523
Total operating revent 28,06: 22,691 13,35¢ 5,79¢
Operating Expense:
Aircraft fuel and related taxe 7,38¢ 7,34¢€ 3,41¢ 1,27(C
Salaries and related co: 6,83¢ 4,32¢ 2,59 1,167
Contract carrier arrangemet 3,82¢ 3,76¢ 2,271 1,004
Contracted service 1,59¢ 1,062 611 29¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,53¢ 1,26¢ 77¢ 38¢€
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside ref 1,43¢ 1,16¢ 663 32C
Passenger commissions and other selling expt 1,40¢ 1,03( 63t 29¢
Landing fees and other rer 1,28¢ 787 47¢ 25C
Passenger servi 63€ 44C 24¢ 95
Aircraft rent 48C 307 15€ a0
Profit sharing — — 144 14
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible ass — 7,29¢ — —
Restructuring and merg-related item: 407 1,131 — —
Other 1,55¢ 1,082 57¢ 303
Total operating expen: 28,381 31,01: 12,56: 5,49¢
Operating (Loss) Income (329 (8,319 79€ 30C
Other (Expense) Income:
Interest expense (contractual interest expensketb&866 for the fou
months ended April 30, 200 (1,27¢%) (705) (390 (262)
Interest incom: 27 92 114 14
Loss on extinguishment of de (83) — — —
Miscellaneous, ne 77 (114 5 27
Total other expense, n (1,257) (727) (271) (221)
(Loss) Income Before Reorganization Items, Ne (1,587) (9,041 52t 79
Reorganization Items, Netl — — — 1,21F
(Loss) Income Before Income Taxe (1,587) (9,041 52t 1,29¢
Income Tax Benefit (Provision) 344 11¢ (211) 4
Net (Loss) Income $(1,237) $(8,927) $ 314 $  1,29¢
Basic (Loss) Income per Shar: $ (1.50 $(19.0¢) $ 0.8( $ 6.5¢
Diluted (Loss) Income per Share $ (1.50 $(19.0¢) $ 0.7¢ $ 4.6

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktlEmsolidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Ended Ended
Year Ended December 31, December 31 April 30,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2007
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net (loss) incom $(1,237) $(8,927) $ 314 $  1,29¢
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to @ehcprovided by (used
in) operating activities
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,53¢ 1,26¢ 77¢ 38¢€
Amortization of debt discount (premium), r 37C 20 (125) —
Loss on extinguishment of de 83 — — —
Fuel hedge derivative instrumel (14%) (443) 26 (46)
Deferred income taxe (329 (119 211 4
Pension, postretirement and postemployment exgareseess o
(less than) paymen 307 (27¢) (604) (20)
Equity-based compensation expel 10¢€ 54 112 —
Impairment of goodwill and other intangible ass — 7,29¢ — —
Restructuring and merc-related item: — 892 — —
Reorganization items, n — — — (1,215
Changes in certain current assets and liabili
Decrease in sheterm investment — 36 5C 42¢€
Decrease (increase) in receivat 147 194 10¢ (123
Decrease (increase) in hedge margin receivi 1,132 (680) — —
Decrease (increase) in restricted cash and cashadents 79 32C 47: (390
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and atirentasset (62) (18) (111 2
(Decrease) increase in air traffic liabil (28¢€) (374 (58%) 763
(Decrease) increase in frequent flyer deferredreg (29¢ (255) (149 46¢
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and ackabéities 145 (52€) (217 (263)
Other, ne (167) (170) 47 (2598)
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 1,37¢ (1,707 334 1,02t
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Property and equipment additiol
Flight equipment, including advance payme (957) (1,282 (643) (167)
Ground property and equipment, including technol (251) (242) (18%) (42)
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash and casvatents (59) 60¢ 12¢ 56
Decrease (increase) in st-term investment 14z (92 — —
Increase in cash in connection with the Mel — 2,441 — —
Proceeds from sales of flight equipm 10C 154 84 21
Proceeds from sales of investme 15 — 83 34
Other, ne (4) 8 4 —
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (2,009 1,59¢ (528¢) 97)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Payments on lor-term debt and capital lease obligatit (2,897 (1,296 (1,319 (2,242
Proceeds from lor-term obligations 2,96¢ 2,13 2,00t 1,50C
Proceeds from American Express Agreen — 1,00( — —
Payment of sha-term obligations, ne — (300 — —
Proceeds from sale of treasury stock, net of cosions — 192 — —
Other, ne (94) (12 (19) (50)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (29 1,71¢ 672 (792)
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalent 352 1,607 47¢ 13€
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢ 4,25k 2,64¢ 2,17( 2,034
Cash and cash equivalents at end of pe $ 4,607 $ 4,25¢ $ 2,64¢ $  2,17(
Supplemental disclosure of cash paid for interes $ 867 $ 74z $ 362 $ 243
Non-cash transactions:
Shares of Delta common stock issued or issualdennection with th
Merger $ — $ 3,251 $ — $ —



Aircraft delivered under seller financit 13¢ —

Flight equipmen — 13
Flight equipment under capital leas 57 32
Debt discount on American Express Agreern — 30¢<

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktlEmsolidated Financial Statements.
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DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Cfeit)

Accumulated

(Accumulated

Other

Additional Deficit) Comprehensive
Common Stock Paid-In Retained (Loss) Treasury Stock

(in millions, except per share da Shares Amount Capital Earnings Income Shares Amount Total
Balance at January 1, 2007 (Predecessc 202 $ 2 $ 1,561 $ (14,449 $ (51§ 5 $ (2249 $(13,629)
Comprehensive income
Net income from January 1 to April 30, 20 — — — 1,29¢ — — — 1,29¢
Other comprehensive incor — — — — 75 — — 75
Total comprehensive income 1,37:
Balance at April 30, 2007 (Predecesso 202 2 1,561 (13,146 (443) 5 (224) (12,250
Fresh start adjustments:
Cancellation of Predecessor common si (202) ) (1,56)) — — (5) 224 (1,339
Elimination of Predecessor accumulated deficit aoclimulated other

comprehensive los — — — 13,14¢ 44z — — 13,58¢
Reorganization value ascribed to Succe — — 9,40( — — — — 9,40(
Balance at May 1, 2007 (Successc — — 9,40( — — — — 9,40(
Comprehensive income
Net income from May 1 to December 31, 2( — — — 314 — — 314
Other comprehensive incor — — — — 43t — 43E
Total comprehensive income 74¢
Shares of common stock issued pursuant to Deltats &

Reorganization (Treasury shares withheld for payroéraxes,

$20.32 per shard®) 278 — — — — 1 (20) (20)
Shares of common stock issued and compensatiomsa@essociated

with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld forrpent of taxes,

$20.56 per shard®) 21 — 112 — — 6 (12¢) (16)
Balance at December 31, 2007 (Success 29¢ — 9,512 314 43E 7 (14¢) 10,11%
Comprehensive loss
Net loss — — — (8,927) — — — (8,927)
Other comprehensive lo — — — — (4,51%) — — (4,519
Total comprehensive los: — (13,43)
Shares of common stock issued pursuant to Deltats &

Reorganizatior 19 — — — — — — —
Shares of common stock issued and compensatiomsa@essociated

with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld formpant of taxes,

$10.73 per share®) 1 — 54 — — — 4 50
Stock options assumed in connection with the Me — — 18 — — — — 18
Shares of common stock issued or issuable in exghtor Northwest

common stock outstanding or issuable in connedtiitin the Mergel 33C — 3,251 — — — — 3,251
Shares of common stock issued or issuable in ctiemewith the Merge

(Treasury shares withheld for payment of taxes, %1 @er share® 52 — 802 — — 16 17y 632
Shares of common stock issued and compensatiomsa@essociated

with vesting equity awards in connection with therfer (Treasury

shares withheld for payment of taxes, $7.99 pereylt) 2 — 75 — — 3 (20 55
Sale of Treasury shares ($10.78 per st@® — — 1 — — (18 191 192
Balance at December 31, 2008 (Success 703 — 13,71« (8,60¢) (4,080 8 (152) 874
Comprehensive loss
Net loss — — — (1,239) — — — (1,239)
Other comprehensive incor — — — — 517 — — 517
Total comprehensive los: — (720)
Shares of common stock issued pursuant to Deltats &

Reorganizatior 36 — — — — — — —
Shares of common stock issued pursuant to Nortfsvektn of

Reorganizatior 3 — — — — — — —
Shares of common stock issued to Delta and Northpikess in

connection with the Merger (Treasury shares wittiiet payment o

taxes, $4.55 per shar®) 50 — — — — — 2 2
Shares of common stock issued and compensatiomsa@essociated

with equity awards (Treasury shares withheld formpant of taxes,

$6.77 per share® 3 — 10¢ — — 3 (20) 88
Stock options exercise — — 5 — — — — 5
Balance at December 31, 2009 (Success 798§ — 13,82 (9,845 (3,569 11 $ (1719 $ 24t

@®  Weighted average price per sh

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktlEssolidated Financial Statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. BACKGROUND AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOU NTING POLICIES
Background

Delta Air Lines, Inc., a Delaware corporatipngvides scheduled air transportation for passsnged cargo throughout the United States
(“U.S.”) and around the world.

On October 29, 2008 (the “Closing Date”), solijrowned subsidiary of Delta merged (the “Mergewrith and into Northwest Airlines
Corporation. On the Closing Date, (1) NorthwestiA@s Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiariasluding Northwest Airlines, Inc.
(collectively, “Northwest”), became wholly-ownedbsidiaries of Delta and (2) each share of Northwestmon stock outstanding on the
Closing Date or issuable under Northwest’s PlaR@brganization (as defined below) was converteal tim right to receive 1.25 shares of
Delta common stock.

On December 31, 2009, Northwest Airlines, merged with and into Delta. As a result of thiggeg, Northwest Airlines, Inc. ceased to
exist as a separate entity.

Unless otherwise indicated, Delta Air Linas;.land our wholly-owned subsidiaries are colledtiveferred to as “Delta,” “we,” “us,” and

“our.” Prior to October 30, 2008, these referemesot include Northwest.

In September 2005, we and substantially atlwfsubsidiaries (the “Delta Debtors”) filed votary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the “Baptey Code”). On April 30, 2007 (the “Effective Datethe Delta Debtors emerged from
bankruptcy. Upon emergence from Chapter 11, wetaddpesh start reporting, which resulted in ourdmeing a new entity for financial
reporting purposes. Accordingly, the ConsolidatedhRcial Statements on or after May 1, 2007 arecootparable to the Consolidated
Financial Statements prior to that date.

Fresh start reporting requires resetting felical net book value of assets and liabilitegair value by allocating the entity’s
reorganization value to its assets and liabilifiédse excess reorganization value over the fairevzafitangible and identifiable intangible assets
was recorded as goodwill on our Consolidated Ba&tteet. For additional information regarding theact of fresh start reporting on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet as of the Effective B&te Note 11.

References in this Form 10-K to “Successoféméo Delta on or after May 1, 2007, after givieffect to (1) the cancellation of Delta
common stock issued prior to the Effective Datg¢ tlf2 issuance of new Delta common stock and cedbt securities in accordance with the
Delta Debtors’ Joint Plan of Reorganization (“D&ltRlan of Reorganization”), and (3) the applicataf fresh start reporting. References to
“Predecessor” refer to Delta prior to May 1, 2007.

In September 2005, Northwest and substantlllgf its subsidiaries (the “Northwest Debtorfl@d voluntary petitions for reorganization
under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. On May2B80y7, the Northwest Debtors emerged from bankyuptesuant to the Northwest
Debtors’ First Amended Joint and Consolidated PlReorganization (“Northwest’s Plan of Reorganiza).

Basis of Presentatiol

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statésmhave been prepared in accordance with acoguptinciples generally accepted in the
U.S. (“GAAP”). Our Consolidated Financial Statenteiniclude the accounts of Delta Air Lines, Inc. aud wholly-owned subsidiaries. As a
result of the Merger, the accounts of Northwestimckided for all periods subsequent to the Closhade.

In preparing the Consolidated Financial Statets for the Predecessor, we distinguished trainsacind events that were directly associ
with the reorganization from the ongoing operatiohthe business. Accordingly, certain revenuepgeses, realized gains and losses and
provisions for losses that were realized or inaliirethe bankruptcy proceedings were recordedangamnization items, net on the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.

We eliminate all material intercompany transars in our Consolidated Financial Statements.d&@ot consolidate the financial statem
of any company in which we have an ownership isteo&50% or less unless we control that compariyiera variable interest entity for
which we are the primary beneficiary. We did notédéhe power to direct the activities of any compamwhich we had an ownership interest
of 50% or less, or have any material variable ggeentity, for any period presented in our Comsdéid Financial Statements.
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We have marketing alliances with other aidit@ enhance our access to domestic and interaativerkets. These arrangements can include
codesharing, reciprocal frequent flyer program fies)eshared or reciprocal access to passengegésjijoint promotions, common use of
airport gates and ticket counters, ticket officd@mation and other marketing agreements. We haseived antitrust immunity for certain of
our marketing arrangements, which enables us & affnore integrated route network and develop comsales, marketing and discount
programs for customers. Some of our marketing gearents provide for the sharing of revenues anéresgs. Revenues and expenses
associated with collaborative arrangements areepted on a gross basis in the applicable line i@maur Consolidated Statements of
Operations.

We evaluated the financial statements for eagbent events through the date of the filing of frorm 10-K, which is the date the financial
statements were issued.

Use of Estimates

We are required to make estimates and assongpithen preparing our Consolidated Financial Statgs in accordance with GAAP. These
estimates and assumptions affect the amounts egpioriour Consolidated Financial Statements and¢cempanying notes. Actual results
could differ materially from those estimates.

New Accounting Standard

In September 2009, the Financial Accountirap8ards Board (the “FASB”) issued “Revenue Arrangets with Multiple Deliverables.”
The standard revises guidance on (1) the deterimmaf when individual deliverables may be treadsdseparate units of accounting and (2
allocation of transaction consideration among satpdr identified deliverables. It also expands ldisare requirements regarding an entity’s
multiple element revenue arrangements. The starida&ffiective for fiscal years beginning on or aftane 15, 2010, with early adoption
permitted. We are currently evaluating the imphetadoption of this standard will have on our Cdidated Financial Statements.

In April 2009, the FASB issued “Interim Disslares about Fair Value of Financial Instrument$i& Standard amends required disclosures
about the fair value of financial instruments iteitim and annual financial statements. We adotisdstandard on April 1, 2009.

In December 2008, the FASB issued “EmployBistlosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assktrequires additional annual
disclosures about assets held in an employer'se@fbenefit pension or other postretirement plamarily related to categories and fair value
measurements of plan assets. We adopted this steadanuary 1, 2009. For additional informatiegarding this standard, see
Note 3.

In March 2008, the FASB issued “Disclosuresudtberivative Instruments and Hedging Activitie$hie standard requires enhanced
disclosures about (1) how and why an entity useivatéve instruments, (2) how derivative instrumreeand related hedged items are accounted
for and (3) how derivative instruments and reldtedged items affect an entity’s financial positifinancial performance and cash flows. This
standard is effective for interim and annual pesidfe adopted this standard on January 1, 2009.

In December 2007, the FASB issued “Businessi@ioations (revised 2007).” The standard providgégance for recognizing and
measuring goodwill acquired in a business comhinagind requires disclosure of information regardimgnature and financial effects of a
business combination. It also revises the treatmewaluation allowance adjustments related to inedax benefits in existence prior to a
business combination or prior to the adoption e$ffr start reporting. Under the original standangt,raduction in the valuation allowance from
the recognition of deferred tax assets is adjusteligh goodwill, followed by other indefinilered intangible assets until the net carrying s
of these assets is zero. In contrast, this re\stmadard requires that any reduction in this véduaadllowance be reflected through the income
tax provision. This standard is effective for fisgaars beginning on January 1, 2009.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Shortterm, highly liquid investments with maturitiestbfee months or less when purchased, which prigneoihsist of money market fun
and treasury bills, are classified as cash and egsivalents. These investments are recorded gtwbih approximates fair value.
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Short-Term Investments

Investments with maturities of less than oearywhen purchased are classified as short-teresiments. At December 31, 2009 and 2008,
our short-term investments were comprised of aestment in The Reserve Primary Fund (the “Primanyd®), a money market fund that is
undergoing an orderly liquidation. We record thesestments as available-for-sale securities awlue on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.
For additional information regarding the PrimarynBusee Note 3.

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivaler

Restricted cash and cash equivalents, whiichapily consist of money market funds and time dg{so included in current assets on our
Consolidated Balance Sheets totaled $423 millich$#29 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, rethgdy. Restricted cash recorded in
other noncurrent assets on our Consolidated Bal8heets totaled $16 million and $24 million at Daber 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
Restricted cash and cash equivalents are recotdmdtawhich approximates fair value.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, our restrictesh and cash equivalents primarily related to basihto meet certain projected self-
insurance obligations.

Accounts Receivabl

Accounts receivable primarily consist of amisuiue from credit card companies, customers oawoaraft maintenance and cargo
transportation services and other airlines assedtiaith frequent flyer programs. We provide anvallace for uncollectible accounts equal to
the estimated losses expected to be incurred lmashibtorical chargebacks, write-offs, bankrupt@ed other specific analyses. Bad debt
expense and write-offs were not material for thergeended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the eighthiiended December 31, 2007 and the
four months ended April 30, 2007.

Derivative Financial Instruments

Our results of operations are significantlypanted by changes in aircraft fuel prices, interatgts and foreign currency exchange rates.
effort to manage our exposure to these risks, wiegieally enter into derivative instruments, inding fuel, interest rate and foreign currency
hedges. We recognize all derivative instrumentsitagr assets or liabilities at fair value on own€olidated Balance Sheets and recognize
certain changes in the fair value of derivativarinments on our Consolidated Statements of Opemstio

We perform, at least quarterly, both a proipeand retrospective assessment of the effecsgof our derivative instruments designated
as hedges, including assessing the possibilitpohterparty default. If we determine that a denxats no longer expected to be highly
effective, we discontinue hedge accounting pro$pelgtand recognize subsequent changes in thedistie of the hedge in earnings. As a re
of our effectiveness assessment at December 39, 2@0believe our derivative instruments designatetiedges will continue to be highly
effective in offsetting changes in cash flow or faalue attributable to the hedged risk.
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Cash flow hedges

For derivative instruments that are designatedash flow hedges, the effective portion ofgaia or loss on the derivative is reported as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive lndsexlassified into earnings in the same periathduvhich the hedged transaction
affects earnings. The effective portion of the dstive represents the change in fair value of #dge that offsets the change in fair value o
hedged item. To the extent the change in the irevof the hedge does not perfectly offset thenghan the fair value of the hedged item, the
ineffective portion of the hedge is immediatelyaguized in other (expense) income on our Consadi&tatements of Operations. The
following table summarizes the accounting treatnaamt classification of our cash flow hedges on®@aomsolidated Financial Statements:

Impact of Unrealized Gains and Losses

Consolidated Consolidated
Balance Sheets Statements of Operations
Derivative Instrument (1) Hedged Risk Effective Portion Ineffective Portion
Designated as cash flow hedge
Fuel hedges consisting of crude oll, Volatility in jet Effective portion of hedge is Excess, if any, over effective
heating oil, and jet fuel swaps, coll fuel prices recorded in accumulated other  portion of hedge is recorded in
and call option{? comprehensive los other (expense) incon
Interest rate swaps and call optic Increase ir Entire hedge is recorded Expect hedge to fully offse
interest rates accumulated other hedged risk; no ineffectiveness
comprehensive los recordec
Foreign currency forwards and collars Fluctuations in Entire hedge is recorded in Expect hedge to fully offset
foreign currency accumulated other hedged risk; no ineffectiveness
exchange rate comprehensive los recordec
Not designated as hedge:!
Fuel contracts consisting of crude Volatility in jet Entire amount of change in fair value of hedgesorded in aircral
heating oil and jet fuel extendable fuel prices fuel expense and related taxes

swaps and thr-way collars

@ In the Merger, we assumed Northv's outstanding hedge contracts, which included fotgdyest rate and foreign currency cash f
hedges. On the Closing Date, we designated cestdlrese contracts as hedges. The remaining Nosthaegivative contracts did not
qualify for hedge accounting and settled as of Bhe€2009

@  Ineffectiveness on our fuel hedge option congréetalculated using a “perfectly effective” hylpetical derivative, which acts as a proxy
for the fair value of the change in expected cémshd from the purchase of aircraft fu

Fair value hedge

For derivative instruments that are designasethir value hedges, the gain or loss on thevative and the offsetting loss or gain on the
hedged item attributable to the hedged risk aregeized in current earnings. We include the gailoss on the hedged item in the same
account as the offsetting loss or gain on the edlderivative instrument, resulting in no impacbtw Consolidated Statements of Operations.
The following table summarizes the accounting tresatt and classification of our fair value hedge®onConsolidated Financial Statements:

Impact of Unrealized Gains and Losse

Consolidated Consolidated
Balance Sheets Statements of Operations
Derivative Instrument Hedged Risk Effective Portion Ineffective Portion
Designated as fair value hedge:
Interest rate swaps Reduction in fair Entire fair value of hedge is Expect hedge to be perfectly
value from an recorded in long-term debt and  effective at offsetting changes
increase in capital leases fair value of the related debt; no
interest rate ineffectiveness recorde
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Hedge Margir

In accordance with our fuel and interest tegdge agreements, (1) we may require counterpaotied the margin associated with our ¢
position on hedge contracts and/or (2) countemgrtiay require us to fund the margin associated ouit loss position on these contracts. The
amount of the margin, if any, is periodically adg@dbased on the fair value of the hedge contrabis.margin requirements are intended to
mitigate a party’s exposure to market volatilitydahe associated contracting party risk. We dooffset margin funded to counterparties or
margin funded to us by counterparties againstiaie amounts recorded for our hedge contracts.

The hedge margin we receive from counterpaitieéecorded, as appropriate, in cash and casthagets or restricted cash, with the
offsetting obligation in accounts payable on oungdidated Balance Sheets. The hedge margin weéderée counterparties is recorded in
hedge margin receivable or restricted cash on oms@lidated Balance Sheets. All cash flows assetiaith purchasing and settling fuel
hedge contracts are classified as operating casls ibn our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow.

Our foreign currency hedge agreements doewpiire the counterparties or us to fund margin@ated with our gain or loss position under
those contracts.

Revenue Recognitio
Passenger Reveni

Passenger Ticket®Ve record sales of passenger tickets in air tréifflality on our Consolidated Balance Sheets. Bagsr revenue is
recognized when we provide transportation or wherticket expires unused, reducing the relatettaiic liability. We periodically evaluate
the estimated air traffic liability and record amgulting adjustments in our Consolidated Statemeh©Operations in the period in which the
evaluations are completed. These adjustments m@fmbarily to refunds, exchanges, transactions witter airlines and other items for which
final settlement occurs in periods subsequentedcttie of the related tickets at amounts other tivariginal sales price.

Taxes and Fee¥Ve are required to charge certain taxes and fe@siopassenger tickets, including U.S. federaldpantation taxes, fedel
security charges, airport passenger facility chaeged foreign arrival and departure taxes. Thesestand fees are legal assessments on the
customer for which we have an obligation to ach @sllection agent. Because we are not entitledtain these taxes and fees, we do not
include such amounts in passenger revenue. Wededability when the amounts are collected ardlice the liability when payments are
made to the applicable government agency or opeyatrrier.

Frequent Flyer Programd/e have a frequent flyer program (the “SkyMilesdtemm”) offering incentives to increase travel ontBeThis
program allows participants to earn mileage crduljtflying on Delta, regional air carriers with whiwe have contract carrier agreements
(“Contract Carriers”) and participating airlines,&ell as through participating companies suchregiccard companies, hotels and car rental
agencies. We also sell mileage credits to othéneg and to non-airline businesses. Mileage csezdin be redeemed for free or upgraded air
travel on Delta and participating airlines, for ntership in our Sky Club and for other program award

In the Merger, we assumed Northwest’s freqtigat program (the “WorldPerks Program”). In Océol2009, we completed the
consolidation of the SkyMiles and WorldPerks Proggawhich combined miles from each program at atorene ratio. The WorldPerks
Program was accounted for under the same methodakthe SkyMiles Program.

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, we changeagotwounting policy to a deferred revenue modehfbirequent flyer miles. We account
all miles earned and sold as separate deliverabkesnultiple element revenue arrangement.

We use the residual method for revenue retiogndf mileage credits. The fair value of the rage credit component is determined base
prices at which we sell mileage credits to othdires, currently $0.0054 per mile, and is re-easdd at least annually. Under the residual
method, the portion of the revenue from the salmitdage credits and the mileage component of pgesaicket sales that approximates fair
value is deferred and recognized as passengeruewenen miles are redeemed and services are ptbaked on the weighted-average price
of all miles that have been deferred. The portibthe revenue received in excess of the fair valumileage credits sold (the “Marketing
Premium?”) is recognized in income when the relateaketing services are provided and classifiedtlasrpnet revenue.
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For mileage credits which we estimate ardlikely to be redeemed (“Breakage”), we recogniz=dbsociated value proportionally during
the period in which the remaining mileage creditsexpected to be redeemed. The estimate of Breakdmsed on historical redemption
patterns. A change in assumptions as to the periedwhich mileage credits are expected to be reddethe actual redemption activity for
mileage credits or the estimated fair value of agke credits expected to be redeemed could haveesiaidmpact on our revenue in the year in
which the change occurs and in future years.

Prior to the adoption of fresh start reportiwg accounted for frequent flyer miles earned eitdflights on an incremental cost basis as an
accrued liability and as operating expense, whilesysold to airline and non-airline businessesevagrcounted for on a deferred revenue basis.
For SkyMiles accounts with sufficient mileage ctedo qualify for a free travel award, we recor@ddhbility for the estimated incremental ¢
of flight awards that were earned and expectecteedeemed for travel on Delta or other airlinas: i@cremental costs included (1) our
system average cost per passenger for fuel, fodetner direct passenger costs for awards to =eradd on Delta and (2) contractual costs
for awards to be redeemed on other airlines. Wiegieally recorded adjustments to this liabilityather operating expense on our
Consolidated Statements of Operations and otheueddiabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheated on awards earned, awards
redeemed, changes in our estimated incremental aostchanges to the SkyMiles Program.

Regional Carriers RevenuBuring the year ended December 31, 2009, we hatlamircarrier agreements with 10 Contract Carriers,
including our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Comair.I{Comair”), Compass Airlines, Inc. (“CompasstjicaMesaba Aviation, Inc. (“Mesaba”).
Compass and Mesaba began operating as Contra@rSam the Closing Date. Our Contract Carrier egrents are structured as either
(1) capacity purchase agreements where we puretilasea portion of the Contract Carrier’'s capacityd are responsible for selling the seat
inventory we purchase or (2) revenue prorationegents, which are based on a fixed dollar or peagendivision of revenues for tickets sold
to passengers traveling on connecting flight itamigrs. We record revenue related to all of our @GmtCarrier agreements as regional carriers
passenger revenue. We record expenses related @oatract Carrier agreements, excluding Comaim@ass and Mesaba, as contract carrier
arrangements expense.

Cargo Revenue

Cargo revenue is recognized in our Consolii&tatements of Operations when we provide thespramation.

Other, net Revenue

Other, net revenue includes revenue fromh@)Marketing Premium component of the sale of rg#eeredits in the SkyMiles and
WorldPerks Programs discussed above, (2) our $aleats on other airlines’ flights under our alieragreements and (3) other miscellaneous
service revenue, including administrative servicarges, baggage handling fees and revenue froraapdiusinesses, including our aircraft
maintenance and repair and staffing services. &werrue from other airlines’ sale of seats on aghts under our alliance agreements is
recorded in passenger revenue on our Consolidaseensents of Operations.

Long-Lived Assets
The following table shows our property andipqent at December 31, 2009 and 2008:

December 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008
Flight equipmen $19,51¢ $18,23"
Accumulated depreciatic (1,73)) (828)
Flight equipment, ne 17,78: 17,40¢
Ground property and equipme 2,93¢ 2,71¢
Accumulated depreciatic (949 (578
Ground property and equipment, | 1,98 2,13i
Flight and ground equipment under capital le: 717 70¢
Accumulated amortizatio (249 (152)
Flight and ground equipment under capital leaset 473 55€
Advance payments for equipme 191 52t
Total property and equipment, r $20,43¢ $20,62}
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, WkIaircraft, including 10 B-757-200 aircraftufoATR-72 aircraft, one DC-9 aircraft and
one EMB-120 aircraft. We received $78 million iropeeds from these aircraft sales.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, WweZXbaircraft, including seven CRJ-100 aircraftefB-757-200 aircraft, four A320-200
aircraft and four DC-9-30 aircraft. In addition, weld two B-747-200F airframes and one EMB-120rairfe. As a result of these sales, we
received $123 million in proceeds and recordedlarfiflion gain.

We record property and equipment at cost apietiate or amortize these assets on a straighblsis to their estimated residual values
over their respective estimated useful lives. Residalues for owned spare parts and simulatorgemerally 5% of cost except when
guaranteed by a third party for a different amoimtonnection with our adoption of fresh startogimg, we increased our residual values for
flight equipment from 5% to 10% of cost. Additiolyalwe adjusted the net book values of property @guaipment to their estimated fair values
and adjusted the estimated useful lives of flightipment. The estimated useful lives for major eskessifications are as follows:

Estimated Useful Life

Asset Classification Successor Predecessor

Flight equipmen 21-30 years 25 years

Capitalized softwar® 3-7 years 5-7 years

Ground property and equipme 3-40 years 3-40 years

Leasehold improvemen{d Shorter of lease term or Shorter of lease term or
estimated useful lif estimated useful lif

Flight equipment under capital lease Shorter of lease term or Shorter of lease term or
estimated useful lif estimated useful lif

(I We capitalize certain internal and external castsiired to develop and implement inte-use software. For the years eni
December 31, 2009 and 2008, the eight months ebdedmber 31, 2007 and the four months ended A@riB07, we recorded $95
million, $99 million, $67 million and $34 milliorrespectively, for amortization of internal-use s@fte. The net book value of these
assets totaled $126 million and $229 million at &aber 31, 2009 and 2008, respectiv

(@  For leasehold improvements at certain airport itéesl, we apply estimated useful lives which exteegtond the contractual lease ter

We record impairment losses on long-lived &sssed in operations when events and circumstandiesite the assets may be impaired and
the estimated future cash flows generated by thesets are less than their carrying amounts. Heeéde to permanently remove flight
equipment or other long-lived assets from operatiore will evaluate those assets for impairment.léng-lived assets held for sale, we record
impairment losses when the carrying amount is grahtin the fair value less the cost to sell. éedaitinue depreciation of long-lived assets
when these assets are classified as held for sale.

To determine impairments for aircraft usedperations, we group assets at the fleet-type Ighellowest level for which there are
identifiable cash flows) and then estimate futushcflows based on projections of capacity, passemde yield, fuel costs, labor costs and
other relevant factors. If impairment occurs, ti@airment loss recognized is the amount by whietaihcraft’s carrying amount exceeds its
estimated fair value. We estimate aircraft fairuesl using published sources, appraisals and bids/esl from third parties, as available.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill reflects (1) the excess of the reaigation value of the Successor over the fair v@higtangible and identifiable intangible assets,
net of liabilities, from the adoption of fresh dtegporting, adjusted for impairment and (2) theesss of purchase price over the fair values of
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acaliéned liabilities assumed from Northwest in the dar

Identifiable intangible assets reflect intdoigiassets (1) recorded as a result of our adopfifresh start reporting upon emergence from
bankruptcy and (2) acquired in the Merger. Indéditived assets are not amortized. Definite-livetingible assets are amortized on a straight-
line basis or under the undiscounted cash flowhatebver the estimated economic life of the respeetgreements and contracts. Costs
incurred to renew or extend the term of an intalegéisset are expensed as incurred.

We apply a fair value-based impairment tesh&net book value of goodwill and indefinite-livntangible assets on an annual basis and, if
certain events or circumstances indicate that grairment loss may have been incurred, on an intbdsis. The annual impairment test date
for our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible seds is October 1.
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In evaluating our goodwill for impairment, \iifest compare our one reporting unit’s fair valoets carrying value. We estimate the fair
value of our reporting unit by considering (1) ooairket capitalization, (2) any premium to our maxapitalization an investor would pay fc
controlling interest, (3) the potential value ohsygies and other benefits that could result frashsnterest, (4) market multiple and recent
transaction values of peer companies and (5) pegjetiscounted future cash flows, if reasonablyesile. If the reporting unit’s fair value
exceeds its carrying value, no further testingegguired. If, however, the reporting usitarrying value exceeds its fair value, we thelerdene
the amount of the impairment charge, if any. Wegaize an impairment charge if the carrying valtithe reporting unit's goodwill exceeds
its implied fair value.

We perform the impairment test for our indéérived intangible assets by comparing the asdait value to its carrying value. Fair value
is estimated based on (1) recent market transactwimere available, (2) the lease savings methiodifport slots (which reflects potential le:
savings from owning the slots rather than leadirgrt from another airline at market rates), (3)rthalty method for the Delta tradename
(which assumes hypothetical royalties generaten fteing our tradename) or (4) projected discoufitede cash flows. We recognize an
impairment charge if the asset’s carrying valuecexs its estimated fair value.

Changes in assumptions or circumstances ¢esldt in an additional impairment in the perioduhich the change occurs and in future
years. Factors which could cause impairment inglbdeare not limited to, (1) negative trends im oarket capitalization, (2) volatile fu
prices, (3) declining passenger mile yields, (4)ydopassenger demand as a result of the weakeigedhld global economy, (5) interruption to
our operations due to an employee strike, terrattsick, or other reasons, (6) changes to the aggylenvironment and (7) consolidation of
competitors in the industry.

Interest Expenst

Interest expense recorded on our Consolidatements of Operations totaled $1.3 billion an@Ssmillion for the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, $390amifbr the eight months ended December 31, 2007$262 million for the four months
ended April 30, 2007. Contractual interest expdimssuding interest expense that was associate eltigations classified as liabilities subj
to compromise) totaled $366 million for the fourmties ended April 30, 2007. While operating as aatein-possession under Chapter 11 of
the Bankruptcy Code, we recorded interest expenbeto the extent (1) interest would be paid during Chapter 11 proceedings or (2) it was
probable interest would be an allowed priority,used or unsecured claim.

Income Taxes

We account for deferred income taxes undelizbdity method. Under this method, we recognilegerred tax assets and liabilities based on
the tax effects of temporary differences betweerfithancial statement and tax bases of assetsahilities, as measured by current enactec
rates. A valuation allowance is recorded to redieferred tax assets when necessary. Deferred $aksaand liabilities are recorded net as
current and noncurrent deferred income taxes orCoussolidated Balance Sheets.

Our income tax provisions are based on cdiicuig and assumptions that are subject to exaroimély the Internal Revenue Service (the
“IRS”) and other taxing authorities. Although welibee that the positions taken on previously fited returns are reasonable, we have
established tax and interest reserves in recogritiat taxing authorities may challenge the posgtie have taken, which could result in
additional liabilities for taxes and interest. \wiew the reserves as circumstances warrant andtatip reserves as events occur that affect
our potential liability, such as lapsing of appbé&astatutes of limitations, conclusion of tax dsida change in exposure based on current
calculations, identification of new issues, releasadministrative guidance or the rendering obart decision affecting a particular issue. We
would adjust the income tax provision in the peiioavhich the facts that give rise to the revisimtome known.

Long-Term Investments

Investments with maturities of greater thar gaar when purchased are recorded at fair valothgr noncurrent assets on our Consolidatec
Balance Sheets. Our long-term investments are deathof student loan backed auction rate secuctéssified as available-for-sale and
insured auction rate securities classified as tigadiecurities. Any change in the fair value of ¢hescurities is recorded in accumulated other
comprehensive loss or earnings, as appropriateadiitional information regarding our auction rageurities, see Note 3.

Deferred Gains on Sale and Leaseback Transacti

We amortize deferred gains on the sale arsklesck of property and equipment under operatagete over the lives of these leases. The
amortization of these gains is recorded as a regutd rent expense. Gains on the sale and leakelbgroperty and equipment under capital
leases reduce the carrying value of the relategtass
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Manufacturers’ Credits

We periodically receive credits in connectwith the acquisition of aircraft and engines. Thesalits are deferred until the aircraft and
engines are delivered, and then applied on a padoasis as a reduction to the cost of the relegeibment.

Maintenance Cost:

We record maintenance costs to aircraft maariee materials and outside repairs on our CoraelidStatements of Operations.
Maintenance costs are expensed as incurred, efaragists incurred under power-by-the-hour congiaghich are expensed based on actual
hours flown. Power-by-the-hour contracts transéetain risk to third party service providers andtfie amount we pay per flight hour to the
service provider in exchange for maintenance apdire under a predefined maintenance program. Nadiibns that enhance the operating
performance or extend the useful lives of airframesngines are capitalized and amortized overdhmining estimated useful life of the asset
or the remaining lease term, whichever is shorter.

Inventories

Inventories of expendable parts related tghflequipment are carried at moving average castharged to operations as consumed. An
allowance for obsolescence is provided over theaneimg useful life of the related fleet for spagts expected to be available at the date
aircraft are retired from service. We also provatlewances for parts identified as excess or obsdtereduce the carrying costs to the lower of
cost or net realizable value. These parts are asdtimmhave an estimated residual value of 5% obtlggnal cost. In connection with our
adoption of fresh start reporting upon emergenae foankruptcy, we recorded our expendable parenitovies at fair value.

Advertising Cost:

We expense advertising costs as other sabpgnses in the year incurred. Advertising exparae$176 million and $114 million for the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respgctdiet1 million for the eight months ended Decengier2007 and $51 million for tt
four months ended April 30, 2007.

Commissions

We record passenger commissions in prepaidresgs and other on our Consolidated Balance Shbetsthe related passenger tickets are
sold. Passenger commissions are recognized intopeexpense on our Consolidated Statements ofd@ipas when the related revenue is
recognized.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure the cost of employee servicesdhamge for an award of equity instruments baseth@grant-date fair value of the award.
The fair value of our stock options is estimateithgign option pricing model. The cost of equity adgagranted to employees is recognized
over the period during which an employee is reguiceprovide service in exchange for the award dligthe vesting period of the award).

Reclassifications

We reclassified certain prior period amountme of which were material, to conform to our euatrperiod presentation. The
reclassifications to the Consolidated Statemen@ash Flow were within cash flows from operating\vdites and do not impact total net cash
provided by or used in operating activities for geyiod. The adjustments to the Consolidated Statésrof Operations do not impact total
operating expense or net income for any period.

We reclassified travel and incidental expenpdamarily crew meals and lodging expenses, fraharges and related costs to other operating
expense. These expenses amount to $308 milliaiméoyear ended December 31, 2008, $173 milliortifereight months ended December 31,
2007 and $82 million for the four months ended AB®Bi, 2007. We also adjusted our Consolidated Biatés of Operations for certain costs
incurred to provide services to our Contract Castiexcluding Comair, Compass and Mesaba; theds atsrecorded as a reduction to sale
and related costs and contracted services, as@gde rather than as a reduction to other opegakpense. These costs amount to
$256 million for the year ended December 31, 28281 million for the eight months ended December2BD7 and $80 million for the four
months ended April 30, 2007.
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NOTE 2. NORTHWEST MERGER

On the Closing Date, Northwest became a whmliyed subsidiary of Delta. Northwest was a maijocarrier that provided scheduled air
transportation for passengers and cargo througheut).S. and around the world.

We believe the Merger better positions us émage through economic cycles and volatile fuelgs:iinvest in our fleet, improve services
for customers and achieve our strategic objectiésalso believe the Merger will generate significannual revenue and cost synergies from
more effective aircraft utilization, a more compeabive and diversified route system and reducecheag and improved operational
efficiency.

As a result of the Merger, each share of Neet common stock outstanding on the Closing Datesoiable under Northwest's Plan of
Reorganization was converted into the right toirecé.25 shares of Delta common stock. We issuedxpect to issue, a total of 339 million
shares of Delta common stock for these purposespmoximately 41% of the sum of the shares ofdettmmon stock (1) outstanding on the
Closing Date (including shares issued to Northwestkholders in the Merger), (2) issuable in exgeafor shares of Northwest common stock
reserved for issuance under Northwest's Plan ofdanzation, (3) reserved for issuance under DeRdan of Reorganization and (4) issuable
to our employees in connection with the Merger.

The purchase price paid to effect the Mergas @llocated to the tangible and identifiable igthle assets acquired and liabilities assumed
from Northwest based on their estimated fair vamgsf the Closing Date. The Merger was valuedBat Billion. This amount was derived
from (1) the 339 million shares of Delta commorcktwe issued or expect to issue, as discussed abbagrice of $9.60 per share, the
average closing price of our common stock on the Merk Stock Exchange for the five consecutive itngddays that include the two trading
days before, the day of and the two trading dates &fie public announcement on April 14, 2008 eftifien planned Merger and (2) capitalized
Merger-related transaction costs. The purchase pitgp included the fair value of Delta stock opsi@and other equity awards issued on the
Closing Date in exchange for similar securitie®Nofthwest. Northwest stock options and other egantards vested on the Closing Date and
were assumed by Delta and modified to providetiergurchase of Delta common stock. The numberareshand, if applicable, the price per
share were adjusted for the 1.25 exchange ratistedestock options held by employees of Northweseveonsidered part of the purchase
price.

The purchase price was calculated as follows:

(in millions, except per share da

Shares of Northwest common stock exchar 271
Exchange ratit 1.2t
Shares of Delta common stock issued or issu 33¢
Price per shar $ 9.6C
Fair value of Delta common stock issued or issu $3,251
Fair value of outstanding Northwest stock opti 18
Delta transaction cos 84

Total purchase pric $3,35¢
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The table below represents the allocatiomeftotal consideration to tangible and intangilsigets acquired and liabilities assumed from

Northwest in the Merger based on our estimate @if tespective fair values on the Closing D

(in millions)
Cash and cash equivalel $ 2,441
Other current asse 2,73
Property and equipme 8,53¢
Goodwill 4,632
Identifiable intangible asse 2,701
Other noncurrent asse 29z
Long-term debt and capital leas (6,239
Pension and postretirement related ben (4,010
Air traffic liability and frequent flyer deferrecvenue (3,8072)
Other liabilities assume (3,930
Total purchase pric $ 3,35¢

The excess of the purchase price over thev&ires of the tangible and identifiable intangia$sets acquired and liabilities assumed from
Northwest in the Merger was allocated to goodWilk believe that the portion of the purchase pritibatable to goodwill represents t
benefits expected to be realized from the Mergediscussed above. This goodwill is not deductiinlamortizable for tax purposes.

The following table summarizes the identifebitangible assets acquired:

Weighted-
Average Life in Gross Carrying

(in millions) Years Amount
Indefinite -lived intangible assets
International routes and slc N/A $ 2,14(
SkyTeam allianc N/A 38C
Domestic routes and slc N/A 11C
Other N/A 1

Total indefinite-lived intangible asse: $ 2,631
Definite-lived intangible assets
Northwest tradenan 1.t 40
Marketing agreemen 14 26
Domestic routes and slc 1 4

Total definite-lived intangible asse: 6 $ 70
Total identifiable intangible asse $ 2,701

The following unaudited pro forma combinedulesof operations give effect to the Merger aslifad occurred at the beginning of the
periods presented. The unaudited pro forma combiesadts of operations do not purport to reprefmita’s consolidated results of operations
had the Merger occurred on the dates assumedratinese results necessarily indicative of Delfiatsre consolidated results of operations.
We expect to realize significant benefits from grtging the operations of Delta and Northwest,issussed above, and to incur certain one-
time cash costs. The unaudited pro forma combiaesdlts of operations do not reflect these benefitsts. Additionally, to improve the
comparability of the information presented, theudited pro forma combined results of operationgtieryear ended December 31, 2007
include pro forma historical results of operatiofi®©elta and Northwest adjusted to reflect (1)ithpact of fresh start reporting as if both
companies had emerged from bankruptcy on Janu&9Qr, and (2) changes in accounting principle$ addaption had occurred on January 1,
2007.
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Year Ended

December 31,
(in millions, except per share da 200812 2007
Operating revenu $34,28¢ $31,78:
Net (loss) incomi (14,70¢) 601
Basic and diluted (loss) earnings per st (18.19) 0.74
@ Includes a $1.1 billion oi-time primarily noi-cash charge related to the issuance or vestinmpfoyee equity awards in connection w

the Merger
@ Includes $11.6 billion in nc-cash charges from impairments of goodwill and othngible assets for Delta and Northwest priathie

Closing Date. For additional information, see Not
NOTE 3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as an exit price, repnéing the amount that would be received to seligset or paid to transfer a liability in an org
transaction between market participants. Fair vauwemarket-based measurement that is determisetibon assumptions that market
participants would use in pricing an asset or lighiA three-tier fair value hierarchy is usedpgnoritize the inputs in measuring fair value as
follows:

. Level 1.0bservable inputs such as quoted prices in actaets;
. Level 2. Inputs, other than quoted prices in active maiKkéiat are observable either directly or indiseahd

. Level 3. Unobservable inputs in which there is little ormarket data, which require the reporting entitdévelop its ow!
assumptions

Assets and liabilities measured at fair valtebased on one or more of three valuation teaesigientified in the tables below. Where n
than one technique is noted, individual assetgbilities were valued using one or more of theeddechniques. The valuation techniques are
as follows:

(@) Market approact. Prices and other relevant information generateoharket transactions involving identical or congide assets or
liabilities;

(b) Cost approachAmount that would be required to replace the sereapacity of an asset (replacement cost);

(c) Income approactTechniques to convert future amounts to a singéegmt amount based on market expectations (ingumiesent
value techniques, opti-pricing and excess earnings mode

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value orRecurring Basis

Significant
Quoted Other Significant
Prices In Observable Unobservable
December 31, Active Markets Inputs Inputs Valuation
(in millions) 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Technique
Cash equivalent $4,33¢ $4,33¢ $— $— (@)
Shor-term investment 71 — — 71 (©)
Restricted cash equivaler 43t 43t — — €)
Long-term investment 12¢ — — 12¢ (©)
Hedge derivatives asset, | 10¢€ — 10¢€ — (a)(c)
Significant
Quoted Other Significant
Prices In Observable  Unobservable
December 31, Active Markets Inputs Inputs Valuation
(in millions) 2008 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Technique
Cash equivalent $4,02( $4,02( $— $ — (@)
Shor-term investment 212 — — 212 (c)
Restricted cash equivaler 12¢ 12¢ — — (€)
Long-term investment 121 — — 121 (c)
Hedge derivatives liability, n¢ (1,109 — (18) (1,090 (a)(c)
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Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash Equivaléitsrt-term, highly liquid investments with matuegiof three months or less when
purchased, which primarily consist of money mafkets, treasury bills and time deposits, are digsbas cash equivalents. These investr
are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value

Short-Term Investment&t December 31, 2009 and 2008, our sherta investments were comprised of an investmetitérPrimary Func
a money market fund that is undergoing an ordéglyidation. We record these investments as avaitédit-sale securities at fair value.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair valueur investment in the Primary Fund was $71 willand $212 million, respectively. At
December 31, 2009, the cost of our remaining imaest was $84 million. In mid-September 2008, theasset value of the Primary Fund
decreased below $1 per share because the Primadyalued at zero its holdings of debt securitsssied by Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc.
(“Lehman Brothers”), which filed for bankruptcy &eptember 15, 2008. Accordingly, we recorded aardttan temporary impairment of
$13 million as an unrealized loss to the cost bafsisir pro rata share of the estimated loss mithiestment.

During 2008, due to uncertainty regardingtthreng of the distribution of our holdings in theifdary Fund and the amount expected to be
received from the distribution, we changed our &ion technique for the Primary Fund to an incomgraach using a discounted cash flow
model. Accordingly, our short-term investments atBmber 31, 2008, comprised of these securitiesyggd from Level 1 to Level 3 since
initial valuation upon acquisition.

On January 29, 2010, we received $73 millioprincipal from the Primary Fund under a courtrappd plan of distribution. Combined w
previous distributions from the Primary Fund, wedaow received 99% of our original investment.

Long-Term Investmenté/e record our investments in student loan backetiaurate securities as available-&ale securities at fair valt
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair value ofstudent loan backed auction rate securities wasdillion and $38 million, respectively.
The cost of these investments was $45 million.

We record our investments in insured auctaie securities as trading securities at fair vaitddecember 31, 2009 and 2008, the fair value
of our insured auction rate securities was $83ionillThe cost of these investments was $110 million

Due to the protracted failure in the auctioogess and contractual maturities averaging 31syfearour student loan backed auction rate
securities and 26 years for our insured auctiom saturities, we have classified our auction rateisties as long-term within other noncurrent
assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Because auction rate securities are not dgtikeded, fair values were estimated by discountire cash flows expected to be received over
the remaining maturities of the underlying secesitiWe based the valuations on our assessmensefvaible yields on instruments bearing
comparable risks and consider the creditworthinésise underlying debt issuer. Changes in marketlitions could result in further
adjustments to the fair value of these securities.

Hedge DerivativeOur results of operations are significantly impddby changes in aircraft fuel prices, interestsated foreign currency
exchange rates. In an effort to manage our expdsutese risks, we periodically enter into defiwainstruments, including fuel, interest rate
and foreign currency hedges. These derivativeungnts are comprised of contracts that are priyatedotiated with counterparties without
going through a public exchange. Accordingly, air ¥alue assessments give consideration to tkefisounterparty default (as well as our
own credit risk).

. Aircraft Fuel DerivativesOur aircraft fuel derivative instruments consistafde oil, heating oil and jet fuel swap, colknd call
option contracts. Swap contracts are valued urfgeincome approach using a discounted cash flonehimased on data either readily
observable or derived from public markets. Accogtiinwe have classified these contracts in Lev

Option contracts are valued under the income agpraaing option pricing models. Historically, wevbéased our valuatic
assessments for our option contracts on data eihelily observable in public markets, derived fnpublic markets or provided by
counterparties who regularly trade in public mask&uring 2008, we reevaluated certain valuatigruia used for our option contra
As a result, we reclassified these contracts frawel 2 to Level 3 since valuation at December 80,72 During 2009, we
implemented systems that better provide for théuatimn of these inputs against market data andevienger rely on data provided
by counterparties as a source for our valuatioasssaents. Accordingly, we believe a reclassificatibour option contracts to Leve
is appropriate

. Interest Rate DerivativeOur interest rate derivative instruments consisivedip and call option contracts and are valuedaptiyn
based on data readily observable in public mar
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. Foreign Currency DerivativeOur foreign currency derivative instruments consfslapanese yen and Canadian dollar forward and
collar contracts and are valued based on datalyesuiervable in public market

Plan Asset:
Significant
Quoted Other Significant
Prices In Observable Unobservable
December 31, Active Markets Inputs Inputs Valuation
(in millions) 2009 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Technique
Common stocl
u.s. $1,661 $1,661 $ — $ — €)
Non-U.S. 842 842 — — (®
Mutual funds
u.sS. 851 2 84¢ — (€)
Non-U.S. 251 — 251 — (®)
Non-U.S. emerging marke 33t 55 28C — (€)
Diversified fixed income 31C — 31C — €)
High yield 317 — 271 46 (@)(c)
Commingled fund:
u.S. 891 — 891 — (€)
Non-U.S. 187 — 187 — (®)
Non-U.S. emerging marke 86 — 86 — €)
Diversified fixed income 34¢€ — 34¢€ — €)
High yield 50 — 50 — @
Alternative investment
Limited partnership 1,257 — — 1,251 (a)(c)
Real estate and natural resour 33€ — — 33€ (a)(c)
Fixed income 38¢ — 38¢ — (@(c)
Cash equivalents and ott 64¢ 43 60€ — €)
Total plan assel $8,75¢ $2,60: $4,51¢ $1,63¢

Common StockCommon stock is valued at the closing price regbote the active market on which the individual sés are traded.

Mutual and Commingled Fundghese funds are valued using the net asset vahiehws based on quoted market prices of the uyitherl
assets owned by the fund minus its liabilities #reh divided by the number of shares outstanding.

Alternative Investment3he valuation of alternative investments requiigaificant judgment due to the absence of quotetketarices,
the inherent lack of liquidity and the long-termura of such assets; therefore these assets ageafjgrtlassified in Level 3. Alternative
investments include limited partnerships, realtestail and gas and timberland. Investments areechbased upon recommendations of our
investment managers. The investment managers’ valieefrom valuation models where one or more @ftgnificant inputs into the model
cannot be observed and which require the developoferlevant assumptions. We also assess thetmdtior adjustment to the fair value of
these investments due to the lag in the availghifitdata. In these cases, we solicit preliminaalpation updates at year-end from the
investment managers and use that information armdlworating data from public markets to determing aeeded adjustments to fair value.

Fixed Incomelnvestments include corporate bonds, governmend$arollateralized mortgage obligations, and o#fs=set backed
securities. These investments are generally vedtitiie bid price or the average of the bid anddgkize. Prices are obtained from indepen
pricing services and are based on pricing modelstegl prices of securities with similar characterss or broker quotes.

Cash Equivalents and Othérhese investments primarily consist of short temrestment funds, which are valued using the nettasdue
based on the value of the underlying assets mhmufigbilities and then divided by the number ddirgs outstanding. Cash is not included ir
table above.
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Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Baklsing Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level

December 31

December 31

2009 2008
Hedge Hedge
Derivatives Plan Derivatives
(in millions) Asset, Net Assets Liability, Net
Balance at beginning of peri $(1,097) $1,797 $ —
Liabilities assumed from Northwe — — (567)
Change in fair value included in earnir (2,239 — (209)
Change in fair value included in other comprehemgicome (loss 1,23( (56) (1,29¢)
Purchases and settlements, 1,19¢ (20¢) 924
Transfers from/to Level (10€) — 53
Balance at end of peric $ — $1,63¢ $(1,097)

(Losses) gains included in earnings abovénéalge derivatives for the years ended Decembe2(® and 2008 are recorded on our
Consolidated Statements of Operations as follows:

December 31, December 31,

2009 2008
Aircraft Aircraft
Fuel Expense Other Fuel Expense Other
and Related (Expense) and Related (Expense)
(in millions) Taxes Income Taxes Income
Total (losses) gains included in earni $(1,267) $31 $(176€) $(27)
Change in unrealized gains (losses) relating tetasmd liabilities still held at end
period $ — $26 $ (97 $ (5

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value orNonrecurring Basis
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

December 31, December 31,

2009 2008
Significant Significant
Unobservable Unobservable Total Valuation
(in millions) Inputs (Level 3)  Inputs (Level 3) Impairment  Technique
Goodwill $9,781 $9,731 $6,93¢ (@)(b)(c
Indefinite-lived intangible asse(2 (3) 4,30¢ 4,31¢ 314 (a)(c)
Definite-lived intangible asse(® 52E 63C 43 (c)

(M In evaluating our goodwill for impairment, wedircompare our one reporting unit's fair valuetsociarrying value. We estimate the fair
value of our reporting unit by considering (1) ooarket capitalization, (2) any premium to our madagitalization an investor would
pay for a controlling interest, (3) the potentialue of synergies and other benefits that couldlr&®m such interest, (4) market multig
and recent transaction values of peer companiegmojected discounted future cash flows, iS@ably estimable

@ We perform the impairment test for our indefiditeed intangible assets by comparing the assattsvalue to its carrying value. Fair
value is estimated based on (1) recent marketarcdions, where available, (2) the lease savingsodefor airport slots (which reflects
potential lease savings from owning slots rathantleasing them from another airline at marketsjaf@) the royalty method for the
Delta tradename (which assumes hypothetical r@gafienerated from using our tradename) or (4) gegediscounted future cash flov

®  We valued our identified intangible assets uponrgerece from bankruptcy primarily using the incorppraach valuation technique. K
assumptions used in this valuation include: (1) agg@ment’s projections of Delta’s revenues, expeasdsash flows for future years;
(2) an estimated weighted average cost of capith0%; (3) assumed discount rates ranging from 12%56%, depending on the naturt
the asset; and (4) a tax rate of 39.2%. Accordintly fair values are estimates, which are inhgreuabject to significant uncertainties,
and actual results could vary significantly fronedk estimate:
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Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed from Nogtt

Significant Significant
Other Unobservable

October 29, Observable Inputs Valuation
(in millions) 2008 Inputs (Level 2) (Level 3)® Technique
Flight equipmen $7,94¢ $7,94¢ $ — a
Other property and equipme 59C 59C — (a)(b)
Goodwill @ 4,63: — 4,63 (a)(b)(c
Indefinite-lived intangible asse® 2,631 — 2,631 (a)(c)
Definite-lived intangible asse(@ 70 — 70 (c)
Other noncurrent asse 261 181 80 (a@)(b)
Debt and capital leas: 6,23¢ 6,23¢ — (a)(c)
WorldPerks deferred reven® 2,03¢ — 2,034 (a)
Other noncurrent liabilitie 224 224 — (a)

(M These valuations were based on the present vafuéure cash flows for specific assets derivedrfrour projections of future revenue,
expense and airline market conditions. These dasls fwere discounted to their present value usirgfeof return that considers the
relative risk of not realizing the estimated anrasgh flows and time value of monu

(@ Goodwill represents the excess of purchase priee the fair value of the tangible and identifialiangible assets acquired and liabili
assumed from Northwest in the Merger. Indefiniteedi and definite-lived intangible assets are idiextiby type in Note 5. Fair value
measurements for goodwill and other intangible tasseluded significant unobservable inputs, whiemerally include a five-year
business plan, 12 months of historical revenueseapenses by city pair, projections of availablat seiles, revenue passenger miles,
load factors, operating costs per available sekt amd a discount rat

One of the significant unobservable inputs undegythe intangible fair value measurements perfororethe Closing Date is tt
discount rate. We determined the discount rategusia weighted average cost of capital of therarlndustry, which was measured u
a Capital Asset Pricing Model (“CAPM"). The CAPM tihe valuation of goodwill and indefinitered intangibles utilized a 50% debt a
50% equity structure. The historical average dekeeuity structure of the major airlines since 1898lso approximately 50% debt and
50% equity, which was similar to Northwest’s defpteqjuity structure at emergence from Chapter 1&.r€turn on debt was measured
using a bid-toyield analysis of major airline corporate bondse Bxpected market rate of return for equity wassuesl based on the r
free rate, the airline industry beta and risk prems based on the Federal Reserve Statistical Rel&ak5 or Ibbotsof Stocks, Bonds,
Bills, and Inflation® Valuation Yearbook, Edition 2008. These factorsiites in a 13% discount rat

(®  The fair value of Northwest’'WorldPerks Program liability was determined bawmethe estimated price that third parties woutplinee us
to pay for them to assume the obligation for mé@epected to be redeemed under the WorldPerks Prnodiais estimated price was
determined based on the weighted-average equiviid&st value of a WorldPerks award, which is reded for travel on Northwest,
Delta or a participating airline. The weighted-age equivalent ticket value contemplates diffedlagses of service, domestic and
international itineraries and the carrier providthg award trave

Fair Value of Debt

Market risk associated with our fixed and ahté rate long-term debt relates to the potengidliction in fair value and negative impact to
future earnings, respectively, from an increasiatierest rates. The following table presents infation about our debt:

December 31, December 31,
(in millions) 2009 2008
Total debt at par valu $18,06¢ $17,86¢
Unamortized discount, n (1,403 (1,859
Net carrying amour $16,66¢ $16,00¢
Fair value® $15,427 $12,69¢

(M The aggregate fair value of debt was based priynanilreported market values and recently completarket transaction:
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NOTE 4. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following tables reflect the estimated failue asset (liability) position of our hedge trants:

December 31, 200!

Hedge Other Hedge
Notional Maturity Derivatives Noncurrent Margin
(in millions, unless otherwise state Balance Date Assets Liability Liabilities Payable, ne
Designated as hedge
795 million gallons -
Fuel hedge swaps, collars and crude oil, heating oil, January 201~
options jet fuel December 201 $18C $ (89) $ —
Interest rate swaps and c
options designated as cash f September 2010
hedge: $1,47¢ May 2019 2 (39 9)
55.8 billion Japanese
Foreign currency exchani Yen; 295 million January 201-
forwards Canadian Dollar September 201 1 (12 (12
Total derivative instruments $182 $ (139 $ (2 $ (10
December 31, 2008
Hedge Other Hedge
Notional Maturity Accounts Derivatives Noncurrent Margin
(in millions, unless otherwise state Balance Date Assets Payable Liability Liabilities Receivable
Designated as hedge
1.9 billion gallons -
Fuel hedge swaps, collars & crude oil, heating January 200-
call options® oil, jet fuel December 201 $ 26 $ (66) $ (849 $ —
Interest rate swaps designa September 201
as fair value hedge®@ $1,00( - July 2012 91 — — —
Interest rate swaps and c
options designated as cash December 200
flow hedge<® $1,70( - May 2019 — — (32 (63)
Foreign currency exchange 45.0 billion January -
forwards and collar® Japanese Ye December 200 — — (48 —
Total designated 117 (66) (929) (63)
Not designated as hedge
180 million gallon:
Fuel swap and coll¢ - crude oil, heatiny January-
contracts® oil, jet fuel June 200¢ — (119 (31€) —
Total not designated — (119 (31¢) —
Total derivative instruments $117 $(185) $(1,247) $ (63 $1,13¢

@ Includes $163 million in hedges assumed from Noettvin the Merge!

@ Includes $17 million in accrued interest receivabiglated to these interest rate swaps. In accoedaith fair value hedge accounting,
carrying value of our lor-term debt at December 31, 2008 included $74 milibfair value adjustment

(®  Represents derivative contracts assumed from Neghim the Merge!
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Aircraft Fuel Price Risk
Hedge Positior

Our results of operations are materially inipdddy changes in aircraft fuel prices. In an eéfformanage our exposure to this risk, we
periodically enter into derivative instruments caised of crude oil, heating oil and jet fuel swagpllar and call option contracts to hedge a
portion of our projected aircraft fuel requiremeritgluding those of our Contract Carriers undgracdty purchase agreements. As of
December 31, 2009, our open fuel hedge contractsihastimated fair value asset position of $178amj which is recorded in prepaid
expenses and other on our Consolidated Balance.Stseef December 31, 2009, we have hedged appieig20% of our projected fuel
consumption for 2010.

In the Merger, we assumed all of Northwestitstanding fuel hedge contracts. On the ClosingDaé designated certain of Northwest’s
derivative instruments, comprised of crude oil @olind swap contracts, as hedges. All Northwesthiedge contracts settled as of June 30,
2009.

Hedge Gains (Losse
Gains (losses) recorded on our Consolidatedrfgial Statements related to our fuel hedge cotstaxe as follows:

Effective Portion Reclassified from Accumulated Otler

Effective Portion Recognized in Other Comprehensivéncome (Loss) Comprehensive Loss to Earning:
Successol Predecessol Successol Predecesso
Eight Months Eight Months
Year Ended Ended Four Months Year Ended Ended Four Months
December 31 December 31 Ended April 30, December 31 December 31 Ended April 30,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2007 2009 20084 2007 2007

Designated as hedges
Fuel hedge swaps, collars and

call options® $1,26¢ $(1,26¢) $27 $69 $(1,34¢) $2€ $59 $(8)
Interest rate swaps and call

options designated as cash

flow hedges® 51 (94) — — — — — —
Foreign currency exchange

forwards and collar®) 11 (33) — — (6) — — —
Total designated $1,33( $(1,395) $27 $69 $(1,350 $2€ $59 $(8)

(I Gains and losses on fuel hedge contracts reftasfiom accumulated other comprehensive lossewerded in aircraft fuel and related
taxes.

@ Losses on interest rate swaps and call optionagsified from accumulated other comprehensivedossecorded in interest expen

(®  Losses on foreign currency exchange contractassified from accumulated other comprehensive dnssecorded in passenger and
cargo revenue

@ We recorded a mark-to-market adjustment of $9liamirelated to Northwest derivative contractslé®g in 2009 that were not
designated as hedges for the year ended Decemp2033.

Ineffectiveness gains (losses) recognizeduriuel hedge contracts in other (expense) incomeur Consolidated Statements of Opera:
was $57 million and $(20) million for the years eddDecember 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, $(l8pn for the eight months ended
December 31, 2007 and $14 million for the four nharended April 30, 2007.

We recorded a loss of $15 million to aircrfatl and related taxes on our Consolidated StatesrarOperations for the year ended
December 31, 2009 related to Northwest derivatorgracts that were not designated as hedges. Beaémber 31, 2009, we recorded in o
comprehensive loss on our Consolidated Balancet$i&emillion of net gains on our hedge contractsesluled to settle in the next 12 mon
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In September 2008, one of our fuel hedge eshttounterparties, Lehman Brothers, filed for baptcy. As a result, we terminated our fuel
hedge contracts with Lehman Brothers prior to thefreduled settlement dates. Additionally, durtmgDecember 2008 quarter, we terminated
certain fuel hedge contracts with other countergsito reduce our exposure to projected fuel héaigges due to the decrease in crude oil
prices. We recorded an unrealized loss of $324anjlwhich represents the effective portion of thieexminated contracts at the date of
settlement, in accumulated other comprehensivednssur Consolidated Balance Sheet. These lossesredassified in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations in accordance with thrégiral contract settlement dates through Decer@b@8. The ineffective portion of these
contracts at the date of settlement resulted ifldanmillion charge, which we recorded to other @nge) income on our Consolidated
Statement of Operations for the year ended DeceBthe2008.

Prior to the adoption of fresh start reportiwg recorded as a component of stockholders’ idefi46 million unrealized gain related to our
fuel hedging program. This gain would have beengezed as an offset to aircraft fuel expense efated taxes as the underlying fuel hedge
contracts were settled. However, as required tshfetart reporting, our accumulated stockholdegficd and accumulated other
comprehensive loss were reset to zero. Accordirfitgdgh start reporting adjustments eliminated thieealized gain and increased aircraft fuel
expense and related taxes by $46 million for tigdtainonths ended December 31, 2007.

Interest Rate Risl

Our exposure to market risk from adverse chkarig interest rates is associated with our lomgrdebt obligations, cash portfolio, workers’
compensation obligations and pension, postemployareth postretirement benefits. Market risk assediatith our fixed and variable rate
long-term debt relates to the potential reductiofair value and negative impact to future earnimgspectively, from an increase in interest
rates.

Cash Flow Hedgedn the Merger, we assumed Northwest’'s outstanditeyést rate swap and call option agreements. ©€bsing Date,
we designated these derivative instruments asftasthedges for purposes of converting our interatt exposure on a portion of our debt
portfolio from a floating rate to a fixed rate. Theating rates are based on three month LIBOR plugargin. These interest rate swap and call
option agreements had a net fair value loss ofrfflon at December 31, 2009.

Fair Value HedgesDuring the June 2008 quarter, we entered intoéstaerate swap agreements designated as fair vatigeh with an
aggregate notional amount of $1.0 billion to comeer interest rate exposure on a portion of olnt gertfolio from a fixed rate to a floating
rate. These interest rate swap agreements hadwafaé gain of $74 million and a correspondingiest receivable of $17 million, which were
recorded in other noncurrent assets and accowgs/able, respectively, on our Consolidated Bale®loeet at December 31, 2008. In
accordance with fair value accounting, the carryialye of our long-term debt at December 31, 20@8ided $74 million of fair value
adjustments.

During the June 2009 quarter, we terminatedrierest rate swaps designated as fair valuedwdgsulting in $65 million in cash proceeds
from counterparties. Due to the fair value gainitims of these swaps at the date of terminationree®rded a deferred gain of $44 million.
This gain will be amortized through 2012, the remra life of the debt, using an effective-interestthod and recorded to interest expense. As
of December 31, 2009, $35 million of this gain lyatito be amortized.

Other MattersMarket risk associated with our cash portfolio tedato the potential decline in interest incomerfr@ decrease in interest
rates. Workers’ compensation obligation risk reddtethe potential increase in our future obligagiand expenses from a decrease in interest
rates used to discount these obligations. Pengastemployment and postretirement benefits riskteslto the potential increase in our benefit
obligations, funding and expenses from a decreassérest rates.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

We are subject to foreign currency exchangeniak because we have revenue and expense deatechin foreign currencies, primarily the
Japanese yen and the Canadian dollar. To managar@e rate risk, we attempt to execute both oerniational revenue and expense
transactions in the same foreign currency to therdpracticable. From time to time, we may alse@eimto foreign currency options and
forward contracts.

In the Merger, we assumed Northwest's outstenfibreign currency derivative instruments. On @lesing Date, we designated certain of
these derivative instruments, comprised of Japayesdorward and collar contracts, as cash flonglesd All Northwest foreign currency
derivative instruments settled as of December 8092
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As of December 31, 2009, we have hedged appedgly 29%, 21% and 5% of Japanese yen-denominated24%, 15% and 4% of
anticipated Canadian dollar-denominated, cash ffoara sales in 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectivetgse€ foreign currency derivative
instruments had a net fair value loss of $23 miillid December 31, 2009.

Credit Risk

To manage credit risk associated with ourraftduel price, interest rate and foreign curreheylging programs, we select counterparties
based on their credit ratings and limit our expedorany one counterparty. We also monitor the etgpksition of these programs and our
relative market position with each counterparty.

Due to the estimated fair value position of fuel hedge contracts, we received $17 milliofuiel hedge margin from counterparties and
provided $7 million in fuel hedge margin to coupi@ties as of December 31, 2009.

Our accounts receivable are generated lafgathy the sale of passenger airline tickets andatmansportation services. The majority of
these sales are processed through major creditoanganies, resulting in accounts receivable theat be subject to certain holdbacks by the
credit card processors.

We also have receivables from the sale ofagiecredits under our SkyMiles Program to partifiggairlines and non-airline businesses
such as credit card companies, hotels and car i@ygacies. We believe the credit risk associatithl thhese receivables is minimal and that the
allowance for uncollectible accounts that we hanevigled is appropriate.

SelfInsurance Risk

We self-insure a portion of our losses fromiroks related to workers’ compensation, environmessaes, property damage, medical
insurance for employees and general liability. lessare accrued based on an estimate of the ulteggregate liability for claims incurred,
using independent actuarial reviews based on stdnadustry practices and our historical experiescgortion of our projected workers’
compensation liability is secured with restrictedlt collateral.

NOTE 5. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The following table reflects the changes ia tlarrying amount of goodwill for the years endest®mber 31, 2008 and 2009:

Gross
Carrying
(in millions) Amount Impairment Net

Balance at January 1, 20 $12,10¢ $ — $12,10¢
Impairment — (6,939 (6,939
Northwest Merge 4,572 — 4,572
Other (6) — (6)
Balance at December 31, 20 16,67( (6,939 9,731
Northwest Merge 60 — 60
Other (4) — (4)
Balance at December 31, 2C $16,72¢ $(6,939) $ 9,781

During 2008, we experienced a significant oiecin market capitalization primarily from recdniyh fuel prices and overall airline industry
conditions. In addition, the announcement of oterntion to merge with Northwest established a swakhange ratio based on the relative
valuation of Delta and Northwest (see Note 2). Widnined that these factors combined with furthereases in fuel prices were an indicator
that a goodwill impairment test was required. Assult, we estimated fair value based on a disesliptojection of future cash flows,
supported with a market-based valuation. We detexththat goodwill was impaired and recorded a rasticharge of $6.9 billion for the year
ended December 31, 2008. In estimating fair vakeebased our estimates and assumptions on thevednagion techniques employed and
levels of inputs used to estimate the fair valugadwill upon adoption of fresh start reporting.
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We also recorded a non-cash charge of $359ibm{{$238 million after tax) for the year endeddeenber 31, 2008 to reduce the carrying
value of certain intangible assets based on tegised estimated fair values. This charge was dezdun impairment of goodwill and other
intangible assets on our Consolidated Stateme@pefations for the year ended December 31, 2008.

The following tables reflect the carrying ambaof intangible assets at December 31, 2009 a08:20

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Carrying Carrying
Amount Amount
December 31 December 31

(in millions) 2009 2008
International routes and slc $2,29( $2,30(
Delta tradenam 85( 85C
SkyTeam allianc 661 661
Domestic routes and slc 50C 50C
Other 3 3

Total $4,30¢ $4,31¢
Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

December 31, 2009 December 31, 2008
Estimated Gross Gross
Life in Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated

(in millions) Year(s) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
Marketing agreemen 1 to 1¢ $73C $(370) $737 $(312)
Contracts 17 to 3¢ 19z (36) 19z (29
Northwest tradenarnr 2 40 (32 40 @)
Customer relationshir 4 9 9 9 9
Domestic routes and slc 1 4 4 4 Q)
Other 1 — — 1 (1)

Total $97¢€ $(451) $984 $(354)

Total amortization expense recognized fory@rs ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the emthsrended December 31, 2007 and the
four months ended April 30, 2007 was $97 millioB0$® million, $147 million and $1 million, respeatiy. The following table summarizes the
expected amortization expense for our definitediirdangible assets:

Years Ending December 31

(in millions)
2010 $ 79
2011 70
2012 69
2013 68
2014 67
Thereaftel 172
Total $52E
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NOTE 6. DEBT
In 2009, we entered into the following finamgitransactions:
. Senior Secured Credit Facilities due 20
. Senior Secured Notes due 20
. Senior Second Lien Notes due 20
. Bank Revolving Credit Facilities due 2010 and 2(
. 200¢-1 EETC,; anc
. Clayton County Bonds, Series 20!

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities due 2818 Senior Secured Notes due 2014 and the Seadan8 Lien Notes due 2015 are
guaranteed by substantially all of our domesticsgiiaries and are secured by our Pacific routeaailitbs and certain related assets. A portion
of the net proceeds from these transactions waktosepay in full the Bank Credit Facility due 204ith the remainder of the proceeds used
for general corporate purposes. The Bank Revol@reglit Facilities due 2010 and 2012 are also gueeahby substantially all of our domestic
subsidiaries and secured by certain aircraft, ersgand related assets.

The 2009-1 EETC was used to prepay $342 millibexisting mortgage financings with respectwo B-737-700 aircraft and three B-777-
200LR aircraft that were delivered and finance@@®9 (the “2009 Aircraft”) and for general corp@aurposes. The remaining $347 million
will be used to repay a portion of the refinancaid 0 B-737-800 aircraft, nine B-757-200 aircraftahree 767-300ER aircraft that currently
secure our 2000-1 EETC (the “2001 Aircraft”) aflee maturity of the 2000-1 EETC in November 2016cérdingly, we reclassified
$347 million of the 2000-1 EETC principal from cemnt maturities to long-term.

Our obligations in connection with the Clay®@aunty Bonds, Series 2009 are not secured. Theepds from this transaction are available
to be used for general corporate purposes.

The following table summarizes our debt até&wsber 31, 2009 and 2008:

December 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008
Senior Secured Exit Financing Facilities due 204¢ 2014 $ 2,444 $ 2,44¢
Senior Secured Credit Facilities due 2! 24¢ —
Senior Secured Notes due 2( 75C —
Senior Second Lien Notes due 2( 60C —
Bank Revolving Credit Facilities due 2010 and 2 — —
Bank Credit Facility due 201 — 904
Other Financing Arrangemer
Certificates due in installments from 2010 to 2 5,70¢ 5,84¢
Aircraft financings due in installments from 20102025 6,00¢ 6,224
Other secured financings due in installments fr@h®to 2031 911 1,18(
Total secured del 16,66¢ 16,60(
American Express Agreeme 1,00( 1,00(
Clayton County Bonds, Series 2009 due in installsiéiom 2014 to 203 15C —
Other unsecured debt due in installments from 2012D30 25C 265
Total unsecured del 1,40( 1,26¢
Total secured and unsecured ¢ 18,06¢ 17,86¢
Unamortized discount, n®) (1,409 (1,859
Total debi 16,66¢ 16,00¢
Less: current maturitie (1,445 (1,069
Total lon¢-term debt $15,22( $14,93¢

@ This item includes a reduction in the carryindueaof (1) Northwest's debt as a result of purchaseounting related to the Merger and
(2) the debt recorded in connection with a mulyextension of our co-brand credit card relatigms¥ith American Express (the
“American Express Agreement”). This item also imtda fair value adjustments to our long-term delainnection with our adoption of
fresh start reporting upon emergence from bankydthese adjustments will be amortized to inteeggtense over the remaining
maturities of the respective de
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Senior Secured Exit Financing Facilities due 2012d 2014

In connection with Delta’s emergence from brapkcy in April 2007, we entered into a senior seduexit financing facility (the “Senior
Secured Exit Financing Facilities”) to borrow up®®.5 billion. The Senior Secured Exit Financingilfges consist of a $1.0 billion first-lien
revolving credit facility (the “Exit Revolving Fdiy”), a $600 million first-lien synthetic revolwg facility (the “Synthetic Facility”) (together
with the Exit Revolving Facility, the “First-Liendgilities”), and a $900 million second-lien ternafofacility (the “Term Loan” or the “Second-
Lien Facility”). During 2008, we borrowed the eet@amount of the Exit Revolving Facility. Borrowingsder the First-Lien Facilities are due
in April 2012 and borrowings under the Second-Lkeility are due in April 2014. As of December 2009, the Senior Secured Exit
Financing Facilities had interest rates rangingnf@3% to 3.5% per annum.

Our obligations under the Senior Secured Eixiancing Facilities are guaranteed by substaptéllof our domestic subsidiaries (the
“Guarantors”). The Senior Secured Exit Financingiltges and the related guarantees are securdiéiy on substantially all of our and the
Guarantors’ present and future assets that doatotre other financings (the “Collateral”). The Ficgen Facilities are secured by a first prio
security interest in the Collateral. The Secondalkacility is secured by a second priority securitgrest in the Collateral.

The Senior Secured Exit Financing Facilitiedude affirmative, negative and financial covesahat restrict our ability to, among other
things, incur additional secured indebtedness, nralestments, sell or otherwise dispose of as$etstiin compliance with the collateral
coverage ratio tests, pay dividends or repurchiaak.sThese covenants may have a material advasact on our operations. The Senior
Secured Exit Financing Facilities contain financaVenants that require us to:

. maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage ratioi(def as the ratio of (1) earnings before intefasies, depreciation, amortizati
and aircraft rent, and subject to other adjustmentet income (“EBITDAR”) to (2) the sum of grosash interest expense, cash
aircraft rent expense and the interest portionunfaapitalized lease obligations, for successiagitig 12-month periods ending at ea
quarter-end date through the maturity date of éspective Senior Secured Exit Financing Facilitieglich minimum ratio is 1.20:1 in
the case of the Fir-Lien Facilities and 1.02:1 in the case of the Sd-Lien Facility;

. maintain unrestricted cash, cash equivalentpanahitted investments of not less than $750 milliothe case of the First-Lien
Facilities and $650 million in the case of the S®-Lien Facility;

. maintain a minimum total collateral coverage rdtiefined as the ratio of (1) certain of the Collat¢hat meets specified eligibili
standards (“Eligible Collateral”) to (2) the sumtbé aggregate outstanding exposure under thelk@stFacilities and the Second-
Lien Facility and the aggregate termination valtieastain hedging agreements) of 125% at all tina@st

. in the case of the Fil-Lien Facilities, also maintain a minimum f-lien collateral coverage ratio (together with totat collatera
coverage ratio described above, the “collaterabcage ratios”) (defined as the ratio of (1) Eligiliollateral to (2) the sum of the
aggregate outstanding exposure under the FirstRagilities and the aggregate termination valueeofain hedging agreements) of
175% at all times

If the collateral coverage ratios are not rteired, we must either provide additional collatéwasecure our obligations, or we must repay
the loans under the Senior Secured Exit Financawailiies by an amount necessary to maintain ccempk with the collateral coverage ratios.

The Senior Secured Exit Financing Facilitieatain events of default customary for senior sedw@xit financings, including cross-defaults
to other material indebtedness and certain chahgentrol events. The Senior Secured Exit Finané&iagilities also include events of default
specific to our business, including the suspenefall or substantially all of our flights and otheperations for more than two consecutive «
(other than as a result of a Federal Aviation Adstiation suspension due to extraordinary eventdaily affecting other major U.S. air
carriers). Upon the occurrence of an event of dgfthe outstanding obligations under the Seniaruged Exit Financing Facilities may be
accelerated and become due and payable immedéatdigpur cash may become restricted.

Senior Secured Credit Facilities due 20.

In 2009, we entered into a first-lien revolyicredit facility in the aggregate principal amooh$500 million (the “Revolving Facility”) and
a first-lien term loan facility in the aggregaténgipal amount of $250 million (the “Term Facilitghd collectively with the Revolving Facility,
the “Senior Secured Credit Facilities”). The Ser8ecured Credit Facilities are guaranteed by ther&uors and are secured by a first lien on
our Pacific route authorities and certain relatesess (the “Pacific Collateral”). Lenders under $amior Secured Credit Facilities and holders
of the Senior Secured Notes (as described belove bqual rights to payment and collateral.
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Borrowings under the Term Facility must beaiddn an amount equal to 1% of the original piatiamount of the term loans annually (to
be paid in equal quarterly installments), with liadance of the term loans due and payable in Sépief013. Borrowings under the Term
Facility bear interest at a variable rate equallBOR or another index rate, in each case plusegifipd margin. As of December 31, 2009, the
Term Facility had an interest rate of 8.8% per amnu

In 2009, we borrowed and subsequently regagcentire amount of the Revolving Facility, whichtores in March 2013. Borrowings under
the Revolving Facility can be prepaid without p&nahnd amounts prepaid can be reborrowed. Borrosvimgler the Revolving Facility bear
interest at a variable rate equal to LIBOR or aaothdex rate, in each case plus a specified mafgirof December 31, 2009, the Revolving
Facility was undrawn.

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities contdfinraative and negative covenants and default piovis that are substantially similar to the
ones described under “Senior Secured Exit Finangaulities” above. The Senior Secured Credit Réesl also contain financial covenants
that require us to:

. maintain a minimum fixed charge coverage rat&fi(ced as the ratio of (1) EBITDAR (excluding gaard losses arising under fuel
hedging arrangements incurred prior to the clodag of the Senior Secured Credit Facilities) jaii2 sum of cash interest expense
plus cash aircraft rent expense plus the inter@sigm of Delta’s capitalized lease obligationskech case for the 12-month period
ending as of the last day of each fiscal quarterotfless than 1.20 to

. maintain a minimum collateral coverage ratio (dediras the ratio of aggregate current fair markletevaf the collateral to the sum
the aggregate outstanding exposure under the Seaaured Credit Facilities and certain obligatiasith equal rights to payment and
collateral and the aggregate principal amount efahitstanding Senior Secured Notes) of 1.60:1;

. maintain unrestricted cash, cash equivalents aod-term investments of not less than $2 billi

The Senior Secured Credit Facilities also @ontandatory prepayment provisions that requiri egrtain instances to prepay obligations
under the Senior Secured Credit Facilities in cotior with dispositions of collateral. In additiahthe collateral coverage ratio is less than
1.60:1, we must either provide additional collat@rahe form of cash or additional routes andsstotsecure our obligations, or we must repay
the loans under the Senior Secured Credit Fasilitiean amount necessary to comply with the colihtoverage ratio.

Senior Secured Notes due 20

Also in 2009, we issued $750 million of Serfs@mcured Notes (the “Senior Secured Notes”). TiloB&ecured Notes mature in
September 2014 and have a fixed interest rates8b @er annum. We may redeem some or all of theoB&aicured Notes at any time on or
after September 15, 2011 at specified redemptimeprif we sell certain of our assets or if weengnce specific kinds of changes in control,
we must offer to repurchase the Senior SecuredsNote

Our obligations under the Senior Secured Nategjuaranteed by the Guarantors. The Senior &dlotes and related guarantees are
secured on a senior basis equally and ratably twéhindebtedness incurred under our Senior SecTiredit Facilities by security interests in
the Pacific Collateral.

The Senior Secured Notes include covenantsahaong other things, restrict our ability to sedkets, incur additional indebtedness, issue
preferred stock, make investments or pay dividehmdaddition, in the event the collateral coveragtgo, which has the same definition as the
Senior Secured Credit Facilities, is less than:1,60e must pay additional interest on the Senemuged Notes at the rate of 2% per annum
until the collateral coverage ratio equals at |6260:1.

The Senior Secured Notes contain events afultefustomary for similar financings, includingss-defaults to other material indebtedness.
Upon the occurrence of an event of default, thetantding obligations under the Senior Secured Nuotssbe accelerated and become due and
payable immediately.

Senior Second Lien Notes due 20

In conjunction with the issuance of the Seiecured Notes, we issued $600 million of Senia@o8é Lien Notes (the “Senior Second Lien
Note¢”). The Senior Second Lien Notes mature in March38nd have a fixed interest rate of 12.25% peuamnie may redeem some or all
of the Senior Second Lien Notes at any time orfter March 15, 2012 at specified redemption pri¢teae sell certain of our assets or if we
experience specific kinds of changes in controlmest offer to repurchase the Senior Second LietedNo

Our obligations under the Senior Second LieteN are guaranteed by the Guarantors. The Seadong Lien Notes and related guarantees
are secured on a junior basis by security inteiagtse Pacific Collateral.
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The Senior Second Lien Notes include covenamtsdefault provisions that are substantially kintb the ones described under “Senior
Secured Notes due 2014” above. In addition, iretrent (1) the collateral coverage ratio (definethasratio of aggregate current market value
of the collateral to the sum of the aggregate antiihng exposure under the Senior Secured Crediitlescand certain obligations with equal
rights to payment and collateral, the aggregatecgral amount of the outstanding Senior Secure@®atnd the aggregate principal amount of
the outstanding Senior Second Lien Notes and amr germitted junior indebtedness that is secuyetthd collateral) is less than 1.00:1 or
(2) we are required to pay additional interestlm $enior Secured Notes, we must pay additionatdéat on the Senior Second Lien Notes at
the rate of 2% per annum until the later of (a)dbkateral coverage ratio equals at least 1.00{b)special interest on the Senior Secured
Notes ceases to accri

Bank Revolving Credit Facilities due 2010 and 20

In December 2009, we entered into a $100 eniffirst-lien revolving credit facility, which isugranteed by the Guarantors and is secured b
a first lien on certain aircraft, engines and mdaassets owned by Mesaba and us. Borrowings timddacility are due in December 2012, can
be repaid and reborrowed without penalty and b@arést at a variable rate equal to LIBOR or anoittidex rate, in each case plus a specified
margin. As of December 31, 2009, the facility wasinawn.

In December 2009, we also entered into a $i#lidn first-lien revolving credit facility, whichs guaranteed by the Guarantors and is
secured by a first lien on certain aircraft, enginad related assets owned by Delta and ComairoBiorgs under the facility are due in
December 2010; however, we may request additiomalye@ar renewals of the facility thereafter. Boriroys can be repaid and reborrowed
without penalty and bear interest at a variable eafual to LIBOR or another index rate, in eacle gdss a specified margin. As of
December 31, 2009, the facility was undrawn.

Under both of these facilities, we must mameminimum balance of cash, permitted investmantbavailable borrowing capacity under
committed facilities at a specified level. We alsoaequired to maintain a minimum collateral cagg ratio under both facilities. If the
collateral coverage ratio is not maintained, we tneitber provide additional collateral to secure obligations or repay the relevant facility by
an amount necessary to maintain compliance witlcttlateral coverage ratio. Both facilities contather covenants and events of default,
including cross-defaults to other material indebtess, that are substantially similar to the onesriteed under “Senior Secured Exit Financing
Facilities due 2012 and 2014” above.

Other Financing Agreements

Certificates.Pass-Through Trust Certificates and Enhanced Eaeripifrust Certificates (collectively, the “Cert#ies”)are secured by 2¢
aircraft. As of December 31, 2009, the Certificdtiad interest rates ranging from 0.8% to 9.8%. ¥geeéd $689 million of Class A and Clas
Pass Through Certificates, Series 2009-1 in Nover2®@9 through two separate pass through trusts“g®09-1 EETC”). The trusts hold
equipment notes for, and are secured by, the 20@9aft and are expected, after the maturity of 2000-1 EETC in November 2010, to hold
equipment notes for, and be secured by, the 208@etaft. The equipment notes have a weighted ayefixed interest rate of 8.1%.

Aircraft Financing.We have $6.0 billion of loans secured by 300 aftcret including aircraft securing the Certificat hese loans had
interest rates ranging from 0.7% to 7.2% at DecerBhe2009. During 2008, we entered into agreemianv®rrow up to $1.6 billion to finance
the purchase of 35 aircraft. In 2009, we took aelvof and financed 20 aircraft, five of which weie 2009 Aircraft which were refinanced in
connection with the 2009-1 EETC.

Other Secured Financing®ther secured financings primarily include (1) miacturer term loans, secured by spare parts, graji@es an
aircraft and (2) real estate loans. The financhmg annual interest rates ranging from 1.5% to &b%ecember 31, 2009.

American Express Agreemerih December 2008, we announced a multi-year sidarof the American Express Agreement. As pathef
American Express Agreement, we received $1.0 hiflfom American Express for an advance purchagkpMiles, which amount is
classified as long-term debt. This obligation waitit be satisfied by cash payments, but throughisieeof SkyMiles by American Express over
an expected two year period beginning in Decemb&02
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Clayton County Bonds, Series 2008 December 2009, the Development Authority aiy@n County (the “Development Authority”)
issued bonds with principal of $150 million, in tweries, maturing in 2029 and 2035 (the “Claytomds3). The Clayton Bonds have a
weighted average fixed interest rate of 8.9% aedsabject to mandatory sinking fund redemption irequients. The proceeds of this sale were
loaned to us to refund bonds that previously hahhbgsued to refinance certain of our facilitied#énta’s Hartsfield-Jackson International
Airport. The bonds are secured solely by the Dgwalent Authoritys pledge of the revenues payable to it under Iga@esnents between De
and the Development Authority. Our obligations untthe loan agreements are not secured.

Northwest Revolving Credit Facility due 2008 2009, we amended the Northwest Revolving Greacility to, among other things, redt
its borrowing limit from $500 million to $300 miin and change its maturity date to December 309.2B6rrowings under the Northwest
Revolving Credit Facility were guaranteed by NoréstvAirlines Corporation and certain of its subeiidis. The Northwest Revolving Credit
Facility and related guarantees were secured bstantially all of Northwest’'s unencumbered assetsfaDctober 29, 2008. The Northwest
Revolving Credit Facility terminated in Decembef2M®n its maturity date.

Covenants

We were in compliance with all covenants im fimancing agreements at December 31, 2009.

Future Maturities

The following table summarizes scheduled nitigrof our debt, including current maturities Dcember 31, 2009:

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions) Total
2010 $ 1,70¢
2011 2,57t
2012 3,44(
2013 1,382
2014 2,86t
Thereaftel 6,09¢
18,06¢
Unamortized discount, n (1,409
Total $16,66¢

NOTE 7. LEASE OBLIGATIONS

We lease aircraft, airport terminals and meiance facilities, ticket offices and other propamd equipment from third parties. Rental
expense for operating leases, which is recordeal giraight-line basis over the life of the leasetdotaled $1.3 billion and $798 million for
the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, reapgc$470 million for the eight months ended Dedxer 31, 2007 and $261 million for
the four months ended April 30, 2007. Amounts dudear capital leases are recorded as liabilitieswrConsolidated Balance Sheets. Assets
acquired under capital leases are recorded as nyapel equipment on our Consolidated Balance Shéahortization of assets recorded ur
capital leases is included in depreciation and éimadion expense on our Consolidated Statemen@pefations. Many of our facility, aircraft
and equipment leases include rental escalatiorsetaand/or renewal options. Our leases do notdedlesidual value guarantees.
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The following tables summarize, as of Decen#igr2009, our minimum rental commitments undeitahfeases and noncancelable
operating leases (including certain aircraft un@dentract Carrier agreements) with initial or reni@gnterms in excess of one year:

Capital Leases

Years Ending December 31,

(in millions)
2010 $14¢
2011 14¢€
2012 11¢
2013 87
2014 67
Thereaftel 337
Total minimum lease paymer 904
Less: amount of lease payments representing it (396
Present value of future minimum capital lease pays 50¢
Plus: unamortized premium, r 25
Less: current obligations under capital lee (88)
Long-term capital lease obligatiol $44¢
Operating Leases
Contract
Carrier
Delta Aircraft
Years Ending December 31 Lease Lease
(in millions) Payments Payments®) Total
2010 $1,08: $ 507 $ 1,58¢
2011 91C 497 1,407
2012 80¢€ 49C 1,29¢
2013 711 46C 1,171
2014 634 451 1,08t
Thereaftel 3,70C 1,54 5,242
Total minimum lease paymer $7,84: $3,941 $11,79(

(1) These amounts represent the minimum lease obligatinder our Contract Carrier agreements with Aite®outheast Airlines, Ine
(“ASA"), Chautauqua Airlines, Inc. (“ChautauquaPreedom Airlines, Inc. (“Freedom”), Pinnacle Aidig, Inc. (“Pinnacle”), Shuttle
America Corporation“Shuttle Americ”) and SkyWest Airlines, Inc* SkyWest Airline™).

At December 31, 2009, we operated 213 aircradier operating leases and 93 aircraft underadpases. Our Contract Carriers under
capacity purchase agreements operated 450 aimrdér operating leases. Leases for aircraft opiatels and our Contract Carriers have
expiration dates ranging from 2010 to 2025. Dutimg four months ended April 30, 2007, we recordsirated claims relating to the
restructuring of the financing arrangements for ynahour aircraft and the rejection of certain of deases in connection with our bankruptcy
proceedings.
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NOTE 8. PURCHASE COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Aircraft Commitments

Future purchase commitments for aircraft aBedember 31, 2009 are estimated to total apprdeisn&1.1 billion for the year ended
December 31, 2010. Approximately $800 million of $iL.1 billion is associated with the purchase@B2737-800 aircraft for which we have
entered into definitive agreements to sell to tipiadties immediately following delivery of thoseaaft to us by the manufacturer. We have not
received any notice that these parties have defholt their purchase obligations. The remainingrod@ments relate to the purchase of two B-
777-200LR aircraft, two B-737-800 aircraft and T&yously owned MD-90 aircraft. We have no airciaftchase commitments after
December 31, 2010.

As of December 31, 2009, we have financingmitments from third parties or, with respect todt@he 22 B-737-800 aircraft referred to
above, definitive agreements to sell all aircraftject to purchase commitments, except for ninthefl1 previously owned MD-90 aircraft.
Under these financing commitments, third partiegehegreed to finance on a long-term basis a sutistaortion of the purchase price of the
covered aircraft.

Our aircraft purchase commitments describexvatlo not include our orders for:

. 18 B-787-8 aircraft. The Boeing Company (“Boeingas informed us that Boeing will be unable to tike contractual delivery
schedule for these aircraft. We are in discussidtts Boeing regarding this situatio

. five A31¢-100 aircraft and two A3Z-200 aircraft. We have the right to cancel these:

Contract Carrier Agreements

During the year ended December 31, 2009, wieQumtract Carrier agreements with 10 Contracti€arrincluding our wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Comair, Compass and Mesaba.

Capacity Purchase Agreementduring the year ended December 31, 2009, sixi@onh€Carriers operated for us (in addition to Cammai
Compass and Mesaba) pursuant to capacity purclgasenaents. Under these agreements, the ContraieiGaiperate some or all of their
aircraft using our flight designator codes, andogetrol the scheduling, pricing, reservations, gtokg and seat inventories of those aircraft and
retain the revenues associated with those flighits pay those airlines an amount, as defined imgipdicable agreement, which is based on a
determination of their cost of operating thosertggand other factors intended to approximate maeles for those services.

The following table shows our minimum fixedlightions under these capacity purchase agreenfexitkiding Comair, Compass and
Mesaba). The obligations set forth in the tabletemplate minimum levels of flying by the Contracr@ers under the respective agreements
and also reflect assumptions regarding certairs@sgtociated with the minimum levels of flying sastfor fuel, labor, maintenance, insurar
catering, property tax and landing fees. Accordingur actual payments under these agreements ddtéd materially from the minimum
fixed obligations set forth in the table below.

Year Ending December 31

(in millions) Amount ()
2010 $1,87(
2011 1,78(C
2012 1,77(C
2013 1,82(C
2014 1,90(
Thereaftel 7,55(
Total $16,69(

(M These amounts exclude contract carrier lease pagraenounted for as operating leases, which aitled in Note 7. The contingenc
described below und“Contingencies Related to Termination of Contraati€aAgreement’ are not included in this tabl
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The following table shows by Contract Caraed contract (1) the number of aircraft in operatis of December 31, 2009, (2) the number
of aircraft scheduled to be in operation as of Dawer 31, 2010, (3) the number of aircraft schedtdduk in operation immediately prior to the
expiration date of the agreement and (4) the etipiralate of the agreement:

Number of
Aircraft
Number of Scheduled
Aircraft to be in
Number of Scheduled tc Operation
Aircraft in be in Immediately
Operation Operation Prior to the
as of as of Expiration Expiration
December 31 December 31 of the Date of
Carrier 2009 2010 Agreement Agreement
ASA 152 132 16 202(
SkyWest Airlines 82 82 37 202(
ASA/SkyWest Airlines®) 12 12 12 201z
Chautauqui 24 24 24 201¢
Freedom (EFR-145 aircraft)@ 22 22 22 201z
Shuttle Americe 16 16 16 201¢
Pinnacle (CR-900 aircraft) 16 16 16 201¢
Pinnacle (CR-200 aircraft) 12€ 12¢€ 124 2017
Total 45(C 43(C 267

The table above was not subject to the auditgriures of our Independent Registered Public éaibog Firm.

1 We have an agreement with ASA, SkyWest Airlines 8kgWest, Inc.“ SkyWes"), the parent company of ASA and SkyWest Airlir
under which the parties collectively determine vileetthe aircraft are operated by ASA or SkyWeslides.

(@ We are in litigation with Freedom and its parenhpany, Mesa Air Group, Inc*Mes¢’) regarding our ability to terminate our agreen
with Freedom prior to its expiration date in 20

The following table shows the available sedésn(*ASMs”) and revenue passenger miles (“RPMyigrated for us under capacity purct
agreements with our regional air carriers (exclgddomair, Compass and Mesaba) for the years endedriiber 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:

(in millions, except for number of aircraft opem): 2009 2008 2007

ASMs 20,85: 17,42°¢ 17,88:
RPMs 16,42 13,89¢ 14,00¢
Number of aircraft operated, end of per 45C 443 34¢

The table above was not subject to the auditgrlures of our Independent Registered Public éaiiog Firm.

Revenue Proration Agreementas of December 31, 2009, we had a revenue pooratireement with American Eagle Airlines, Inc. In
addition, a portion of our contract carrier agreatneith SkyWest Airlines is structured as a revept@ration agreement. These agreements
establish a fixed dollar or percentage divisiomesfenues for tickets sold to passengers travelingomnecting flight itineraries.
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Contingencies Related to Termination of Contractriea Agreements

We may terminate the Chautauqua and Shuttlerfsa agreements without cause at any time aftgr 2040 and January 2016, respectiv
by providing certain advance notice. If we terméeither the Chautauqua or Shuttle America agretswathout cause, Chautauqua or Shuttle
America, respectively, has the right to (1) as$@us leased aircraft that the airline operatesifpiprovided we are able to continue the leases
on the same terms the airline had prior to thegagsént and (2) require us to purchase or leasefiie aircraft that the airline owns and
operates for us at the time of the terminationvdfare required to purchase aircraft owned by Ghayuta or Shuttle America, the purchase
price would be equal to the amount necessary tee{djburse Chautauqua or Shuttle America for theétedf provided to purchase the aircraft
and (2) repay in full any debt outstanding at stircte that is not being assumed in connection witthspurchase. If we are required to lease
aircraft owned by Chautauqua or Shuttle America,l#ase would have (1) a rate equal to the debrhpats of Chautauqua or Shuttle America
for the debt financing of the aircraft calculatexifsl90% of the aircraft was debt financed by Chagua or Shuttle America and (2) other
specified terms and conditions.

We estimate that the total fair values, deteeth as of December 31, 2009, of the aircraft @zutauqua or Shuttle America could assig¢
us or require that we purchase if we terminate auitittause our contract carrier agreements withethatines (the “Put Right”) are
approximately $200 million and $440 million, resppeely. The actual amount that we may be requicepdy in these circumstances may be
materially different from these estimates. If theaGtauqua or Shuttle America Put Right is exercisgdmust also pay the exercising carrier
10% interest (compounded monthly) on the equityctiveier provided when it purchased the put aitcifiese equity amounts for Chautauqua
and Shuttle America total $25 million and $52 roitij respectively.

Legal Contingencie:

We are involved in various legal proceedirglating to employment practices, environmentaléssbankruptcy matters, antitrust matters
and other matters concerning our business. We taeasonably estimate the potential loss for cefsgal proceedings because, for example,
the litigation is in its early stages or the pldfrdoes not specify the damages being sought.

Credit Card Processing Agreements
Visa/MasterCard Processing Agreement

Our Visa/MasterCard credit card processingaigrent provides that no cash reserve (“Reservegpsired except in certain circumstances,
including when we do not maintain a required ledfalinrestricted cash. In circumstances in whichpitteessor can establish a Reserve, the
amount of the Reserve would be equal to the patelibility of the credit card processor for titkgurchased with Visa or MasterCard that
had not yet been used for travel. There was norReses of December 31, 2009 and 2008.

American Expres

Our American Express credit card processingergent provides that no withholding of our recblga will occur except in certain
circumstances, including when we do not maintaiacaired level of unrestricted cash. In circumsésnio which American Express is
permitted to withhold our receivables, the amobat tan be withheld is an amount up to Americanr&sg potential liability for tickets
purchased with the American Express credit cartitthd not yet been used for travel. No amounts wétigheld as of December 31, 2009 and
2008.

Other Contingencies
General Indemnifications

We are the lessee under many commercial staflecleases. It is common in these transactionssfcas the lessee, to agree to indemnify the
lessor and the lessor’s related parties for tontjrenmental and other liabilities that arise ofibpbrelate to our use or occupancy of the leased
premises. This type of indemnity would typically keaus responsible to indemnified parties for ligieis arising out of the conduct of, among
others, contractors, licensees and invitees at, connection with, the use or occupancy of thedelgpremises. This indemnity often extends to
related liabilities arising from the negligencetioé indemnified parties, but usually excludes aapilities caused by either their sole or gross
negligence and their willful misconduct.

Our aircraft and other equipment lease anahfiing agreements typically contain provisions néiogi us, as the lessee or obligor, to
indemnify the other parties to those agreementdding certain of those parties’ related persagginst virtually any liabilities that might
arise from the condition, use or operation of tineraft or such other equipment.
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We believe that our insurance would cover nobstur exposure to such liabilities and relatedeimnities associated with the types of lease
and financing agreements described above, includiabestate leases. However, our insurance dddgpically cover environmental
liabilities, although we have certain policies iage to meet the requirements of applicable enwiramtal laws.

Certain of our aircraft and other financingrnsactions include provisions which require us &kenpayments to preserve an expected
economic return to the lenders if that economiarrets diminished due to certain changes in lawegulations. In certain of these financing
transactions, we also bear the risk of certain ghain tax laws that would subject payments to ddd-lenders to withholding taxes.

We cannot reasonably estimate our potenttatéupayments under the indemnities and relatedgioms described above because we
cannot predict (1) when and under what circumstatioese provisions may be triggered and (2) theuattbat would be payable if the
provisions were triggered because the amounts wueilthsed on facts and circumstances existingchttgue.

Employees Under Collective Bargaining Agreem:

At December 31, 2009, we had 81,106 full-timgelivalent employees. Approximately 39% of thesplegees were represented by unions,
including the following domestic employee groups.

Approximate

Number of
Active Date on which Collectiv¢
Employees Bargaining Agreement
Employee Group Represented Union Becomes Amendable
Delta Pilots 10,79( ALPA December 31, 20:
Delta Flight Superintendents (Dispatche 31¢ PAFCA December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Fleet Service, Passenger Service, afidelElerical 9,407 IAM December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Simulator Technicial 38 IAM December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Stock Clerk 24z IAM December 31, 20:
Pre-merger NWA Flight Attendant 5,97( AFA-CWA December 31, 20:
Comair Pilots 1,31¢ ALPA March 2, 201
Comair Maintenance Employe 40C IAM December 31, 20:
Comair Flight Attendant 764 IBT December 31, 20:
Compass Pilot 373 ALPA April 10, 201
Mesaba Pilot: 1,01¢ ALPA June 1, 201
Mesaba Flight Attendan 623 AFA-CWA May 31, 201.
Mesaba Mechanics and Related Employ 353 AMFA May 31, 201
Mesaba Dispatche 28 TWU May 31, 201

War-Risk Insurance Contingency

As a result of the terrorist attacks on Sefenil, 2001, aviation insurers significantly reglilithe maximum amount of insurance coverage
available to commercial air carriers for liability persons (other than employees or passengerslgfors resulting from acts of terrorism, war
or similar events. At the same time, aviation iessiisignificantly increased the premiums for sumbecage and for aviation insurance in
general. Since September 24, 2001, the U.S. gowarnhas been providing U.S. airlines with war-iiskurance to cover losses, including
those resulting from terrorism, to passengersd tharties (ground damage) and the aircraft hule OLS. Secretary of Transportation has
extended coverage through August 31, 2010. Thedvdtkal of government support of airline war-riskunance would require us to obtain
war-risk insurance coverage commercially, if adalga Such commercial insurance could have subsiankess desirable coverage than
currently provided by the U.S. government, mayb®adequate to protect our risk of loss from fugts of terrorism, may result in a material
increase to our operating expense or may not tergaiile at all, resulting in an interruption to operations.
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Other

We have certain contracts for goods and seswicat require us to pay a penalty, acquire irorgrepecific to us or purchase contract spe
equipment, as defined by each respective conifagg terminate the contract without cause prioitscexpiration date. Because these
obligations are contingent on our termination @& tontract without cause prior to its expiratiotedao obligation would exist unless such a
termination occurs.

NOTE 9. INCOME TAXES

Income Tax (Benefit) Provisior

We consider all income sources, including otteenprehensive income, in determining the amotitdobenefit allocated to continuing
operations (the “Income Tax Allocation”). Accordipgfor the year ended December 31, 2009, we regbedh income tax benefit of $344
million, including a non-cash income tax benefi821 million on the loss from continuing operapwith an offsetting non-cash income tax
expense of $321 million on other comprehensiverimeoOur overall tax provision is not impacted big tiax allocation.

Our income tax benefit (provision) for the geeanded December 31, 2009 and 2008, the eighthw@ntded December 31, 2007 and the
months ended April 30, 2007 consisted of:

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31 April 30,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2007
Current tax benef $ 15 $ — $ — $ —
Deferred tax benefit (provision) exclusive of thther components liste
below 85C 86€ (211 (505)
(Increase) decrease in valuation allowa (521) (747) — 50¢
Income tax benefit (provisiot $ 344 $ 11¢ $(211) $ 4

The following table presents the principals@as for the difference between the effective tda& and the U.S. federal statutory income tax
rate for the years ended December 31, 2009 and, 209@&ight months ended December 31, 2007 anfbtinenonths ended April 30, 2007:

Successol Predecessol

Eight Months Four Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, April 30,
2009 2008 2007 2007

U.S. federal statutory income tax ri (35.00% (35.0% 35.(% 35.(%
State taxes, net of federal income tax ef (1.8 (0.6) 3.7 3.€
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowa® 32.¢ 8.3 — (39.9
Income Tax Allocatior (20.2) — — —
Goodwill impairment — 26.¢ — —
Other, ne 2.4 (0.9) 15 0.4

Effective income tax rat (21.9% (1.9% 40.2% (0.9%

(@ For the four months ended April 30, 2007, the desedn the valuation allowance reflects fresh segorting adjustment
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Deferred Taxes

Deferred income taxes reflect the net taxatftd temporary differences between the carryingamts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting and income tax purposes. The followingeahows significant components of our deferredassets and liabilities at December 31,
2009 and 2008:

(in millions) 2009 2008
Deferred tax assets
Net operating loss carryforwar $6,41¢ $5,45(
Pension, postretirement and other ben: 4,661 4,491
AMT credit carryforwarc 452 50&
Deferred revenu 2,28: 2,33¢
Rent expens 272 291
Reorganization items, n 1,03¢ 1,37¢
Fuel hedge derivative 30 662
Other temporary difference 415 56E
Valuation allowanct (9,899 (9,830
Total deferred tax asse $5,66¢ $5,84¢
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciatior $4,85¢ $4,85¢
Debt valuatior 431 627
Intangible assel 1,757 1,79t
Other 17¢ 151
Total deferred tax liabilitie $7,22¢ $7,42¢

The following table shows the current and norent deferred tax assets (liabilities), recordedur Consolidated Balance Sheets at
December 31, 2009 and 2008:

(in millions) 2009 2008

Current deferred tax assets, $ 107 $ 401

Noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, r (1,667 (1,98)
Total deferred tax liabilities, ni $(1,560 $(1,580

The current and noncurrent components of eterded tax balances are generally based on thadmbkheet classification of the asset or
liability creating the temporary difference. If tHeferred tax asset or liability is not based @omponent of our balance sheet, such as our net
operating loss (“NOL") carryforwards, the classifiion is presented based on the expected reveatabfithe temporary difference. Our
valuation allowance has been classified as cumenbncurrent based on the percentages of curnehbhancurrent deferred tax assets to total
deferred tax assets.

At December 31, 2009, we had (1) $452 miliidriederal alternative minimum tax (“AMT”) creditoryforwards, which do not expire and
(2) $17.3 billion of federal and state pretax NGitrgforwards, substantially all of which will noegin to expire until 2022.

Both Delta and Northwest experienced an owngrshange in 2007 as a result of their respegtisas of reorganization under Chapter 11
of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. As a result of the géer Northwest experienced a subsequent ownershipge. Delta also experienced a
subsequent ownership change on December 17, 2008essllt of the Merger, the issuance of equitgrtployees in connection with the
Merger and other transactions involving the saleashmon stock within the testing period. We curseakpect these ownership changes will
not significantly limit our ability to utilize ouAMT credit or NOLs in the carryforward period.

Uncertain Tax Positions

Unrecognized tax benefits totaled $66 millaord $29 million on our Consolidated Balance ShaeBecember 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively. This includes $47 million of tax bétseas of December 31, 2009 and $10 million of t@xefits as of December 31, 2008, that
will affect the effective tax rate when recognized.
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We accrue interest and penalties related teamgnized tax benefits in interest expense andatipg expense, respectively. The impact
related to interest and penalties on our Consaiti&tatements of Operations for the years endedrbleer 31, 2009 and 2008 was not
material.

We are currently under audit by the IRS fa #0908 and 2009 tax years.

The following table summarizes the changaféocamount of unrecognized tax benefits for thesyeaded December 31, 2008 and 2009:

(in millions)

Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, 2 $14:
Gross increas-tax positions in prior perio 2
Gross decreas-tax positions in prior perio (92)
Settlement: (25)

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, - 29
Gross increas+tax positions in prior perio 3
Gross decreas-tax positions in prior perio (D)
Gross increas-tax positions in current peric 38
Settlement: 3

Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, $ 66

Valuation Allowance

We periodically assess whether it is moreljikban not that we will generate sufficient taxabicome to realize our deferred income tax
assets, and we establish valuation allowancesdvery is deemed not likely. In making this detaration, we consider all available positive
and negative evidence and make certain assumpiéasonsider, among other things, our deferredigdnities, the overall business
environment, our historical earnings and lossesjraiustry’s historically cyclical periods of eangis and losses and potential, current and
future tax planning strategies. We cannot presefgtgrmine when we will be able to generate sfictaxable income to realize our deferred
tax assets. Accordingly, we have recorded a fullation allowance against our net deferred taxtasse

Prior to January 1, 2009, any reduction invhleiation allowance as a result of the recognitibdeferred tax assets was adjusted first
through goodwill followed by other indefinite-livedtangible assets until the net carrying valuéhoke assets was zero. Beginning January 1,
2009, any reduction in the valuation allowanceeffected through the income tax provision.

NOTE 10. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

We sponsor defined benefit and defined coutidim pension plans, healthcare plans, and disgplailid survivorship plans for eligible
employees and retirees, and their eligible famignmbers.

Defined Benefit Pension, Other Postretirement and$lemployment Benefit Plar

Defined Benefit Pension Plan&le sponsor a defined benefit pension plan forldiégnon-pilot Delta employees and retirees (theltde
Non-Pilot Plan”) and defined benefit pension plansetigible Northwest employees and retirees (therthisest Pension Plans”). These plans
have been closed to new entrants and frozen fordiienefit accruals.

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 allows caroial airlines to elect alternative funding ru(&slternative Funding Rules”) for defined
benefit plans that are frozen. Under the Alterreaffunding Rules, the unfunded liability for a frozefined benefit plan may be amortized
over a fixed 17-year period and is calculated usin@.85% interest rate. Delta elected the Altéradtunding Rules for the Delta Non-Pilot
Plan, effective April 1, 2007, and Northwest elelctiee Alternative Funding Rules for the Northwesh&ion Plans, effective October 1, 2006.
We estimate that the funding requirements undesetiptans will be approximately $720 million in 2010

Defined Contribution Pension Pland/e sponsor several defined contribution plans. &lmans generally cover different employee groups
and employer contributions vary by plan. The cesbaiated with our defined contribution pensiomplss reflected in the tables below.
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Postretirement Healthcare Pland/e sponsor healthcare plans that provide benefigdigible retirees and their dependents who adeun
age 65. During bankruptcy, we generally eliminatethpany-paid post age 65 healthcare coverage, efargfl) subsidies available to a
limited group of retirees and their dependents @) group of retirees who retired prior to 19Bénefits under these plans are funded from
current assets and are subject to co-paymentsctielés and other limits as described in the plans.

Postemployment Plang/e provide certain other welfare benefits to eligitormer or inactive employees after employmeunt,tefore
retirement, primarily as part of the disability aswtvivorship plans. Substantially all employees eligible for benefits under these disability
and survivorship plans in the event of a particifzadeath or disability.

Obligations, Fair Value of Plan Assets, anddad Status (measured at December 31, 2009 an{ 2@08:

Other Other
Postretirement Postemployment
Pension Benefits Benefits Benefits
December 31 December 31 December 31

(in millions) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Benefit obligation at beginning of peri®  $15,92¢ $ 7,38¢ $ 1,30¢ $ 96F $ 1,97( $2,02¢
Obligations assumed in Merg — 7,46¢ — 501 — 58
Service cos — — 20 10 33 28
Interest cos 1,002 55C 82 65 12t 127
Actuarial loss (gain 1,17( 1,16¢ 39 (147) 12t (132
Benefits paid, including lump sums and

annuities (1,027 (637) (18¢6) (142) (142) (139
Participant contribution — — 56 54 — —
Plan amendmen — — (62) — 54 —
Special termination benefi — — 6 — — —
Settlement: (49 — — — — —
Benefit obligation at end of peric®) $17,03: $15,92¢ $ 1,262 $ 1,30¢ $ 2,16¢ $1,97C
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of

period $ 7,29¢ $ 4,88 $ 4 $ — $ 1,04¢ $1,764
Assets acquired in Merg — 4,01 — 4 — —
Actual gain (loss) on plan ass: 1,19¢ (1,090 — — 291 (497)
Employer contribution: 20C 12t 12¢ 88 29 1
Participant contribution — — 56 54 — —
Benefits paid, including lump sums and

annuities (2,027) (637) (186€) (142) (219) (220)
Settlement: (49 — — — — —
Fair value of plan assets at end of pe $ 7,62¢ $ 7,29t $ 3 $ 4 $ 1,15( $1,04¢
Funded status at end of peri $(9,40¢) $(8,639) $(1,259 $(1,302) $(1,015) $ (922
(1) At each perio-end presented above, our accumulated benefit diligafor our pension plans are equal to the benbfigations showi

above.
Amounts recognized on our Consolidated Bal&@toeets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 consist of
Other Other
Postretirement Postemployment
Pension Benefits Benefits Benefits
December 31, December 31, December 31,

(in millions) 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
Liabilities

Current liabilities $ (19 $ (19 $ (110 $ (119 $ (32 $ (14)

Noncurrent liabilities (9,395 (8,615) (1,149 (1,18¢) (983) (90€)

Total Liabilities $(9,408 $(8,639 $(1,259 $(1,302) $(1,015) $(922)
Accumulated other comprehensive

(loss) income, preta

Net (loss) gair $(3,089) $(2,54¢) $ 26z $ 32C $ (379 $(484)

Prior service cos — — 61 (€8] (59 —
Total other comprehensive (loss) inco $(3,089 $(2,54€) $ 328 $ 31¢ $ (433 $(484)
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Estimated amounts that will be amortized fracoumulated other comprehensive income into néogierbenefit cost in 2010 are
$48 million and $14 million in pension benefits aottier postemployment benefits, respectively, andauarial gain of $22 million relating to
other postretirement benefits. Amounts are geneaatiortized into accumulated other comprehensigerire over the expected future lifetime
of plan participants.

Net periodic cost (benefit) for the years ehBecember 31, 2009 and 2008, the eight monthsdedeember 31, 2007 and the four months
ended April 30, 2007 included the following compotse

Pension Benefits

Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, April 30,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2007
Service cos $ — $ — $ — $ —
Interest cos 1,00z 55C 29¢€ 14E
Expected return on plan ass (615) (479 (2871) (229
Recognized net actuarial lo 33 — — 19
Settlement charge (gain), r 9 3 — (30
Revaluation of liability — — — (143
Net periodic cost (benefi $ 42¢ $ 74 $ 15 $(13¢)
Defined contribution plan cos 30€ 211 12¢ 36
Total cost (benefit $ 73E $ 28¢ $ 143 $(102)
Other Postretirement Benefits
Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31 April 30,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2007
Service cos $20 $1C $ 8 $ 4
Interest cos 82 65 42 21
Amortization of prior service bene — — — (32)
Recognized net actuarial (gain) I¢ (18) (6) — 8
Special termination benefi 6 — — —
Revaluation of liability — — — 49
Net periodic cos $ 90 $69 $5C $51
Other Postemployment Benefits
Successor Predecessor
Eight Months Four Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, April 30,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2007
Service cos $ 33 $ 28 $ 21 $ 8
Interest cos 12t 127 82 41
Expected return on plan ass (79 (152) (104 (52)
Amortization of prior service cost (benel 18 — — ()]
Recognized net actuarial lo — — — 5
Revaluation of liability — — — (273)
Net periodic cost (benefi $ 97 $ 4 $ (O $(272)
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Assumption:

We used the following actuarial assumptionddtermine our benefit obligations at December2BD9 and December 31, 2008 and our net
periodic (benefit) cost for the periods presented:

December 31,

Benefit Obligations 1)) 2009 2008
Weighted average discount r: 5.91% 6.4%%
Assumed healthcare cost trend 13) 7.5(% 8.0(%
Successo Predecesso
Year Eight Months
Ended Ended Four Months
December 31, December 31, Ended April 30,
Net Periodic Benefit Cost2®) 2009 2008 2007 2007
Weighted average discount —pension benefi 6.4<% 7.1% 6.01% 5.9%
Weighted average discount r—other postretirement bene 6.4€% 6.4€6% 5.62% 5.62%
Weighted average discount —other postemployment bene 6.5(% 6.95% 6.0(% 5.65%
Weighted average expected l-term rate of return on plan ass 8.8:% 8.9¢% 8.97% 8.9¢%
Assumed healthcare cost trend 3 8.0(% 8.0(% 8.5(% 8.5(%

@ Our 2009 and 2008 benefit obligations are measusat) the RP 2000 combined healthy mortality taiplgected to 201<

@  Rate of increase in future compensation levetmtsapplicable for our frozen defined benefit penplans and other postretirement plans
and is only applicable to a small portion of ourestpostemployment liability

®  The assumed healthcare cost trend rate at Dece3hp2009 is assumed to decline gradually to 5.09%2015 and remain level
thereafter

@ Our 2009, 2008 and 2007 assumptions reflect uaniemeasurements of certain portions of our otitiga and represent the weighted
average of the assumptions used for each measutrelater

Assumed healthcare cost trend rates havefect eh the amounts reported for the other postratent benefit plans. A 1% change in the
healthcare cost trend rate used in measuring thaadated plan benefit obligation (“APBO”) for tleeplans at December 31, 2009, would
have the following effects:

1% 1%
(in millions) Increase Decrease
Increase (decrease) in total service and interest $7 $ ()
Increase (decrease) in the API 55 (65)

The expected long-term rate of return on plssets is based primarily on plgpecific investment studies using historical markéirns ant
volatility data with forward looking estimates bdsen existing financial market conditions and fagts. Modest excess return expectations
versus some market indices are incorporated i@dturn projections based on the actively managedture of the investment programs and
their records of achieving such returns historicalVe review our rate of return on plan asset aggioms annually. These assumptions are
largely based on the asset category rate-of-retssnmptions developed annually with our pensioastment advisors. The advisors’ asset
category return assumptions are based in partrewiew of historical asset returns, but also emjzleasurrent market conditions to develop
estimates of future risk and return.
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Plan Asset:

We have adopted and implemented investmeitipsifor our defined benefit pension plans andhiigy and survivorship plan for pilots
that incorporate strategic asset allocation mirésnided to best meet their long-term obligatiorgs Bisset allocation policy mix is reviewed
every two to five years or earlier as deemed nacgsg/e regularly rebalance asset allocations tdwe prevailing targets. The weighted-
average target and actual asset allocations fqultmes at December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2@0&sdollows:

Weighted-Average

Target
(in millions, except target allocation Allocations 2009 2008
Domestic equity securitie 40% $3,43¢ $2,831
Non-U.S. developed equity securiti 18 1,38¢ 1,354
Non-U.S. emerging equity securiti 5 422 222
Private equity / real estate / natural resou 14 1,552 1,60t
Diversified fixed income 18 1,372 1,58¢
High yield fixed income 5 37z 413
Cash equivalent — 23€ 33C
Total 10C% $8,77: $8,34:

The plan assets investment strategies utllidiversified mix of global public and private eyuportfolios, public and private fixed income
portfolios, and private real estate and naturalwese investments. The overall asset mix of théfplars is more heavily weighted in equity-
like investments, including portions of the bondtfmio, which consist of convertible and high ydedecurities. Active management strategies
are utilized where feasible in an effort to realirgestment returns in excess of market indicesrewy overlay strategy is also used in an
effort to generate modest amounts of additionadnime. A bond duration extension program utilizingefi income derivatives is employed in
effort to better align the market value movemeiffits portion of the plan assets to the related pédoilities. For additional information
regarding the fair value of pension assets, see Blot

Benefit Payment

Benefit payments in the table below are basgethe same assumptions used to measure the rbkatefit obligations and are paid from b
funded benefit plan trusts and current assets.a\@tenefit payments may vary significantly fromgbesstimates. Benefits earned under our
pension plans and certain postemployment benefitsphre expected to be paid from funded benefit fplests, while our other postretirement
benefits are funded from current assets.

The following table summarizes, as of Decen81gr2009, the benefit payments that are schedaled paid in the following years ending
December 31:

Other Other
Pension Postretirement Postemployment

(in millions) Benefits Benefits Benefits
2010 $ 1,041 $11€ $ 14¢
2011 1,01¢ 11€ 15¢
2012 1,02 10€ 161
2013 1,03¢ 98 16€
2014 1,052 93 17t
201£-2019 5,60z 43¢ 97t

Total $10,77( $97C $1,771

Other Plans

We also sponsor defined benefit pension plansligible employees in certain foreign countri€bese plans did not have a material impact
on our Consolidated Financial Statements in anipggresented.

97




Table of Contents

Profit Sharing Program

Our broad based employee profit sharing progseovides that, for each year in which we havammual pre-tax profit, as defined, we will
pay at least 15% of that profit to employees. & #mnual pre-tax profit is greater than $2.5 hillive will pay 20% of the amount that exceeds
$2.5 billion. We did not record an accrual under pinofit sharing program in 2009 or 2008.

NOTE 11. CHAPTER 11 PROCEEDINGS
Bankruptcy Claims Resolutiol

Under Delta’s Plan of Reorganization, mostleas of allowed general, unsecured claims agdiesDelta Debtors received or will receive
Delta common stock in satisfaction of their claiglta’s Plan of Reorganization contemplates tis&rithution of 400 million shares of
common stock, consisting of 386 million sharesdtwhrs of allowed, general, unsecured claims anohilldbn shares to eligible non-contract,
non-management employees. As of February 12, 20ider Delta’s Plan of Reorganization, we have {@itbuted 333 million shares of
common stock to holders of $14.0 billion of allowgeheral, unsecured claims, (2) issued 14 milllmares of common stock to eligible non-
contract, non-management employees and (3) reséf/edllion shares of common stock for issuanckdlaers of allowed general, unsecured
claims.

Northwest’s Plan of Reorganization generatigvides for the distribution of Northwest commoadt to the Northwest Debtors’ creditors,
employees and others in satisfaction of allowedeganunsecured claims. Pursuant to the Mergerésgeat, and as discussed in Note 2, each
outstanding share of Northwest common stock (irolyidhares issuable pursuant to NorthvgeBtan of Reorganization) was converted intc
right to receive 1.25 shares of Delta common stéskof February 12, 2010, five million shares oftBe&eommon stock were reserved for
issuance in exchange for shares of Northwest constumk that, but for the Merger, would have besnésl under Northwest’s Plan of
Reorganization.

The Delta Debtors and the Northwest Debtotkomntinue to settle claims and file objectiongwthe bankruptcy courts regarding claims.
In light of the substantial number and amount afrak filed, we expect the claims resolution proceitigake additional time to complete. We
believe there will be no further material impacthe Consolidated Statements of Operations fronséitlement of claims because the holders
of such claims will receive under Delta’s and Nergist’'s Plan of Reorganization, as the case magrig their pro rata share of the
distributions of common stock contemplated by thpliaable Plan of Reorganization.
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Reorganization Items, ne

The following table summarizes the componeffiteorganization items, net on our Consolidateate®hent of Operations for the four
months ended April 30, 2007:

Predecessor
Four Months
Ended
April 30,
(in millions) 2007
Discharge of claims and liabilitie®) $4,42¢
Revaluation of frequent flyer obligati(2 (2,58¢)
Revaluation of other assets and liabilit®) 23¢
Aircraft financing renegotiations, rejections aepaossessior® (440
Contract carrier agreemer®) (163)
Emergence compensati(®) (162)
Professional fee (88)
Pilot collective bargaining agreeme® (83)
Interest incom«® 50
Facility lease<®) 43
Vendor waived pr-petition deb 29
Retiree healthcare clain0) (26)
Other (22)
Total reorganization items, n $1,21¢

@ The discharge of claims and liabilities primariglates to allowed general, unsecured claims irChapter 11 proceedings, such as (a
Air Line Pilots Association, International’s (“ALPAclaim under our comprehensive agreement redugilag labor costs; (b) the
Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation’s (the “PBGEI&im relating to the termination of the Deltad®iPlan; (c) claims relating to
changes in postretirement healthcare benefitstandejection of our non-qualified retirement plafth; claims associated with debt and
certain municipal bond obligations based upon tregéction; (e) claims relating to the restructgrof financing arrangements or the
rejection of leases for aircraft; and (f) otheriwla due to the rejection or modification of certaiecutory contracts, unexpired leases and
contract carrier agreemen

In accordance with Del's Plan of Reorganization, we discharged our obbtigatto holders of allowed general, unsecured daim
exchange for the distribution of 386 million nevidgued shares of common stock and the issuanetairc debt securities and
obligations. Accordingly, in discharging our liabés subject to compromise, we recognized a ravrgéion gain of $4.4 billion as

follows:

(in millions)

Liabilities subject to compromis $19,34¢
Reorganization valu (9,400
Liabilities reinstatec (4,429
Issuance of new debt securities and obligatiortsphdiscounts of $2. (93¢)
Other (159
Discharge of claims and liabilitie $ 4,42¢

(@ We revalued our SkyMiles frequent flyer obligatatnfair value as a result of fresh start reportimgich resulted in a $2.6 billic
reorganization charg

(®  We revalued our assets and liabilities at estimfgigdralue as a result of fresh start reportingisTresulted in a $238 million gai
primarily reflecting the fair value of newly recdged intangible assets, which was partially offseteductions in the fair value of
tangible property and equipme

@ Estimated claims for the four months ended ApBil 2007 relate to the restructuring of the finagarrangements for 143 aircraft, the
rejection of two aircraft leases and adjustmentxior claims estimate:

®)  In connection with amendments to our Contract @aagreements with Chautaugua and Shuttle Amebrath, subsidiaries of Republ
Airways Holdings, Inc. (“Republic Holdings”), whiclhmong other things, reduced the rates we pagtbasiers, we recorded (a) a $91
million allowed general, unsecured claim and (B8& million net charge related to our surrenderafrants to purchase up to 3.5 mill
shares of Republic Holdings common stock. Addititypén connection with an amendment to our Contkaarrier agreement with
Freedom, a subsidiary of Mesa, which, among othiags, reduced the rates we pay that carrier, werded a $35 million allowed
general, unsecured clail

®  In accordance with Delta’s Plan of Reorganizatisa made $130 million in lump-sum cash paymentgparoximately 39,000 eligible
non-contract, non-management employees. We alsoded an additional charge of $32 million relatear portion of payroll related
taxes associated with the issuance, as contempigtBelta’s Plan of Reorganization, of approximated million shares of common
stock to these employee

(M Allowed general, unsecured claims of $83 millfonthe four months ended April 30, 2007 in coniwtivith the comprehensive
agreements of Comair with ALPA reducing pilot lalcosts.

®  Reflects interest earned due to the preservatimast during our Chapter 11 proceedit
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©®  For the four months ended April 30, 2007, we rded a net $43 million gain, primarily reflectingga26 million net gain in connection
with our settlement agreement with the Massachugwdtit Authority, which was partially offset by atr$80 million charge from an
allowed general, unsecured claim in connection withsettlement agreement with the Kenton Countpdst Board (the “Cincinnati
Airport Settlement Agreeme”).

(10)  Allowed general, unsecured claims in connectiith wgreements reached with committees represeptiogand non-pilot retired
employees reducing their postretirement healthbarefits.

Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheet

Upon emergence from Chapter 11, we adoptesth §s&art reporting, which required us to revalueamsets and liabilities to fair value. Fair
value is defined as an exit price, representingatheunt that would be received to sell an asspaif to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants. Accorgin@giir value is a market-based measurement trdgtermined based on assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing an assdibility.

To facilitate the calculation of the reorgaatian value of the Successor, management develapsettial projections for the Successor us
a number of estimates and assumptions. The reaag@n value of the Successor was primarily basefinancial projections using various
valuation methods, including (1) a comparison af pnojected performance to the market values ofpamaible companies and (2) a calculation
of the present value of future cash flows basedwrprojections. Utilizing these methodologies, téerganization value of the Successor was
estimated to be in the range of $9.4 billion and.8billion. The reorganization value was dependgn achieving the future financial results
set forth in our projections, as well as the resalon of certain other assumptions. There can bassarance the projections will be achieved or
the assumptions will be realized. The excess redzgton value (using the low end of the range)rdkie fair value of tangible and identifiable
intangible assets, net of liabilities, was reflelcés goodwill in the Fresh Start Consolidated BedaBheet. The financial projections and
estimates of reorganization value are not incoreara this Form 10-K.

The methodologies used to calculate reorgéniz&alue primarily include (1) a 60% weightingmards a discounted cash flow (“DCF”)
analysis, which measures the projected multi-yfeee, cash flows of the Successor to arrive at egagvzation value and (2) a 40% weighting
towards a comparable company analysis based oncfalaatios and multiples of comparable companig¢sch were then applied to our
financial projections to arrive at a reorganizati@tue.

DCF AnalysisThe DCF calculations were performed for the peliedinning May 1, 2007 through December 31, 201@of#etion
Period”) discounted to April 30, 2007, the datetBeimerged from bankruptcy. The cash flow estimiaidade projected changes associated
with our reorganization initiatives, anticipatecadlges in general market conditions and other facidre DCF analysis includes assumptions
for (1) the weighted average cost of capital, whichsed to calculate the present value of futaghdlows and (2) the terminal EBITDAR
multiple, used to determine the value after thgdetmn Period. A range of discount rates from 1t2%4% was used, reflecting a number of
company and market specific factors, as well astis¢ of capital for comparable companies. The itahEBITDAR multiple of 5.50x —
6.25x is consistent with the ranges used in thepeoable company analysis.

Variations in the valuation assumptions caitphificantly affect the cash flow estimates. Tlssuanptions for which there is a reasonable
possibility of variation include, but are not limit to, assumptions regarding (1) revenues, (2)dosts, (3) achievement of cost reductions,
(4) discount rates, (5) international expansion @)dhe overall condition of the U.S. and globilime industries.

Comparable Company Analysighe comparable company analysis identified a gafugpmpanies with similar lines of business, busine
risk, growth prospects, maturity, market presesizs and scale of operations. Revenue and EBITDARiptes were deemed to be the most
relevant when analyzing the peer group. A rangeabfation multiples was then identified and applie@dur projections to determine an
estimate of reorganization values. The multiplegesnused were 0.93x - 1.02x times 2007 estimateshue of $18.5 billion and 5.50x - 6.25x
times 2007 estimated EBITDAR of $2.9 billion.

All estimates, assumptions and financial ptgas, including the fair value adjustments, timafcial projections and the reorganization
value projections, are subject to significant utaiaties and the resolution of contingencies beyammdcontrol. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance the estimates, assumptions and fingmojakttions will be realized, and actual resultsldo/ary materially.

The adjustments set forth in the followingdtré&tart Consolidated Balance Sheet in the colurapsoned “Debt Discharge,
Reclassifications and Distribution to CreditorsRepayment of Debtor-in-Possession (“DIP”) Facilityd New Exit Financing” and
“Revaluation of Assets and Liabilities” reflect thect of the consummation of the transactiongemplated by Delta’s Plan of
Reorganization, including the settlement of varibaiilities, securities issuances, incurrence ef/indebtedness and cash payments.
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The effects of Delta’s Plan of Reorganizationl fresh start reporting on our Consolidated Bada®heet at April 30, 2007 are as follows:

Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheet

Debt Discharge
Reclassification:

Repayment o

Successor
Reorganized

Predecessc and DIP Facility Revaluation of Balance Shee
April 30, Distribution and New Exit Assets and May 1,
(in millions) 2007 to Creditors Financing Liabilities 2007
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $ 2,91¢ $ — $ (557 % — $ 2,35¢
Restricted cas 1,06¢ — — — 1,06¢
Accounts receivable, n 1,08¢ — — — 1,08¢
Expendable parts and supplies inventories 182 — — 58 241
Deferred income taxes, n 441 — — 31C 751
Prepaid expenses and ot 437 (19 — (75) 343
Total current asse 6,131 (29 (557) 29z 5,84¢
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Net flight equipment and net flight equipment under
capital leas: 11,08 — — (1,245 9,84:
Other property and equipment, 1 1,49¢ — — 21¢ 1,71¢
Total property and equipment, r 12,58¢ — — (1,027 11,55¢
OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill 227 — — 12,10( 12,32}
Intangibles, ne 88 — — 2,86t 2,95¢
Other noncurrent asse 74C — 48 68 85¢€
Total other assel 1,05¢ — 48 15,03: 16,13¢
Total assets $ 19,77! $ (19 $ (509) $  14,29¢ $ 33,540
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Current maturities of long-term debt and capital
leases $ 1,292 $ 5 $ — $ 35 $ 1,332
DIP Facility 1,95¢ — (2,959 — —
Accounts payable, accrued salaries and related
benefits 1,39¢ 561 (50 15¢& 2,062
SkyMiles deferred revent 602 — 62C 1,225
Air traffic liability 2,567 — — — 2,56
Taxes payabl 423 — — (2 421
Total current liabilities 8,23¢ 56€ (2,009 80¢ 7,60¢
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
Long-term debt and capital leas 5,132 37 — 39¢ 5,56
Exit Facilities — — 1,50( — 1,50(
SkyMiles deferred revent 294 — — 1,95¢ 2,25
Other notes payab — 697 — — 697
Pension, postretirement and related ben 62 4,20z — 7 4,271
Other 1,02¢ — — 1,22¢ 2,251
Total noncurrent liabilitie: 6,51¢ 4,93¢ 1,50( 3,58¢ 16,53¢
Liabilities subject to compromis 19,34t (19,345 — — —
STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
Delta Debtors
Common stock and additional p-in capital 1,56: — — (1,569 —
Retained deficit and oth (15,890 4,42¢ — 11,46¢ —
Reorganized Delta Debto
Common stock and additional p-in capital — 9,40( — — 9,40(
Total liabilities and stockholders’ (deficit) equity $ 19,77! $ 199 % (50¢) $  14,29¢ $ 33,54.
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. Debt Discharge, Reclassifications and DistributtorCreditors. Adjustments reflect the elimination of liabilifiesubject tc
compromise totaling $19.3 billion on our ConsolethBalance Sheet immediately prior to the Effeciage. Excluding certain
liabilities assumed by the Successor, liabilitieljsct to compromise of $13.8 billion were discletgn the Chapter 11 cases.
Adjustments include

(&) The recognition or reinstatement of $561 millioratwounts payable, accrued salaries and relatefitsecomprised o
(1) a $225 million obligation to the PBGC relatitogthe termination of the Delta Pilot Plan (whishréflected on the
Consolidated Balance Sheet net of a $3 millionalist) and (2) $339 million to reinstate or accragain liabilities relate:
to the current portion of our pension and postetient benefit plans and for certain administratieéms and cure cost

(b) The recognition of $697 million in othertas payable comprised of (1) a $650 million obigatelating to our
comprehensive agreement with ALPA reducing pilbblacosts (which is reflected on the ConsolidatathBce Sheet net
of a $19 million discount) and (2) $66 million peipal amount of senior unsecured notes (followimg rtieduction of the
$85 million face value of the notes for the apglima of certain payments made by us in 2006 andp0fder the
Cincinnati Airport Settlement Agreeme

(c) The reinstatement of $4.2 billion to pension, petiiement and related benefits comprised of (12 $8lion associated wi
the Delta No-Pilot Plan and other loi-term accrued benefits and (2) $1.0 billion assediatith postretirement benefi

. Repayment of DIP Facility and New Exit Financ. Adjustments reflect the repayment of the DIP kgchind borrowing under th
Exit Facilities. Financing fees related to (1) Dk Facility were written off at the Effective Daaad (2) fees related to the Exit
Facilities were capitalized and will be amortizegothe term of the facility

. Revaluation of Assets and Liabiliti. Significant adjustments reflected in the FresdrtSEonsolidated Balance Sheet based ol
revaluation of assets and liabilities are summdraefollows:

(a) Property and equipment, n. A net adjustment of $1.0 billion to reduce thé¢ Imeok value of fixed assets to their estimated
fair value.

(b) Goodwill. An adjustment of $12.1 billion to reflect reorgaation value of the Successor in excess of thevidue of
tangible and identifiable intangible assets, ndiattilities. During 2007, goodwill decreased by®Imillion as a result of
net adjustments in the fair value of certain asaetsliabilities. These adjustments were recordethe Successor’'s
opening balance sheet at May 1, 2(

(c) Intangibles. An adjustment of $2.9 billion to recognize idé&atile intangible assets. These intangible asséisct the
estimated fair value of our trade name, takeoff amival slots, SkyTeam alliance agreements, mar§getgreements,
customer relationships and certain contracts. @eofathese assets will be subject to an annualimpent review

(d) Longterm debt and capital leas. An adjustment of $398 million primarily to refleg $223 million net premiur
associated with long-term debt and a $138 milliehpremium associated with capital lease obligattorbe amortized to
interest expense over the life of such debt anétaldpase obligations

(e) SkyMiles deferred revenuén adjustment to revalue our obligation under$kgMiles Program to reflect the estimated
fair value of miles to be redeemed in the futurdjustments of $620 million and $2.0 billion werdleeted for the fair
value of these miles in current and long-term df@sdions, respectively. Effective with our emenge from bankruptcy,
we changed our accounting policy from an incrememdst basis to a deferred revenue model for neiggsed through
travel. The fair value of our SkyMiles frequentdtyaward liability was determined based on thevested price that third
parties would require us to pay for them to asstireeobligation for miles expected to be redeematkuthe SkyMiles
Program. This estimated price was determined basede weighted-average equivalent ticket valua 8kyMiles award
redeemed for travel on Delta or a patrticipatingreér The weighted-average equivalent ticket valoetemplates differing
classes of service, domestic and internationaitiries and the carrier providing the award tras&eBpril 30, 2007, we
recorded deferred revenue equal to $0.0083 for eslehwe estimate will ultimately be redeemed urttier SkyMiles
Program
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(fH  Noncurrent liabilitie—other. An adjustment of $1.2 billion primarily relatead the tax effect of fresh start valuati
adjustments

(g) Total stockholders’ deficitThe adoption of fresh start reporting resulted imew reporting entity with no beginning
retained earnings or accumulated deficit. All commstock of the Predecessor was eliminated andaeglay the new
equity structure of the Successor based on DdMa's of Reorganization. The Fresh Start ConsoliiBeance Sheet
reflects initial stockholdergquity value of $9.4 billion, representing the lend in the range of $9.4 billion to $12.0 bill
estimated in our financial projections developedonnection with Delta’s Plan of ReorganizationeTéw end of the
range is estimated to reflect market conditionsfake Effective Date and therefore was used taldish initial
stockholder' equity value

NOTE 12. EQUITY AND EQUITY-BASED COMPENSATION
Equity

Common StoclOn the Effective Date, all common stock issuedhgyRredecessor was cancelled. We began issuingsstfamew common
stock at emergence from bankruptcy pursuant tcal3eRlan of Reorganization. The new common stockiigect to the terms of our Amended
and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (the “Neairtificate”), which supersedes the Certificaténaforporation in effect prior to the
Effective Date.

The New Certificate authorizes us to issueta bf 2.0 billion shares of capital stock, of wiil.5 billion may be shares of common stock,
par value $0.0001 per share, and 500 million maghaees of preferred stock. Delta’s Plan of Redmgdion contemplates the issuance of 400
million shares of common stock, consisting of 388iom shares to holders of allowed general, unsedclaims and up to 14 million shares to
approximately 39,000 non-contract, non-managenapieyees under the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Penfance Compensation Plan (the
“2007 Plan”). Our Plan of Reorganization also caméates the issuance of common stock under the RGOVfor management employees.

In connection with the Merger, we issued, ezt to issue, a total of 339 million shares oft®eommon stock in exchange for the
Northwest common stock outstanding on the Closiate®r issuable under Northw's Plan of Reorganization. Additionally, in connieat
with the Merger, we (1) issued 50 million sharesa@imon stock to eligible Delta and Northwest gil¢2) granted 34 million shares of
common stock to substantially all U.S. based ndoipimployees of Delta and Northwest; and (3) grdrit7 million shares of restricted stock
and nongualified stock options to purchase 12 million lsanf common stock to management personnel. Thedaw@amanagement person
will fully vest over approximately three years, gdi to the participant’s continued employment.

Preferred StockThe New Certificate permits us to issue prefertedksin one or more series. It authorizes the Badifdirectors (1) to fix
the descriptions, powers (including voting powepsgferences, rights, qualifications, limitatiomglaestrictions with respect to any series of
preferred stock and (2) to specify the number afab of any series of preferred stock. As of Deaarlh, 2009 and 2008, no preferred stock
had been issued.

Treasury StockWe generally withhold shares of Delta common stockover employees’ portion of required tax withdings when
employee equity awards are issued or vest. Thegeshre valued at cost, which equals the marks pf the common stock on the date of
issuance or vesting. There were approximately dflomishares of common stock held in treasury weaghted average cost of $15.89 per
share at December 31, 2009. In December 2008, lddrson treasury approximately 18 million shareaf common stock that were
previously withheld as the employee portion of wathholdings on the issuance and vesting of emp@euity awards in connection with the
Merger. The $192 million of net proceeds from tiffering was available for general corporate purgo3éere were approximately eight
million shares of common stock held in treasurg ateighted average cost of $20.11 per share atrilsere31, 2008. Substantially all of these
shares were withheld to cover the employees’ pomiorequired tax withholdings on equity awards.
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Equity-Based Compensation
Successor

Upon emergence from Chapter 11, we adopted Bankruptcy Court approval the 2007 Plan, a blweskd equity and cash compensation
plan. The 2007 Plan provides for grants of resdcttock, stock options, stock appreciation righgstricted stock units, performance awards,
including cash incentive awards, and other stodetbawards. Shares of common stock issued unded@®Plan may be made available fi
authorized but unissued common stock or commorkstecacquire. If any shares of our common stoclkcakered by an award that is
cancelled, forfeited or otherwise terminates withaelivery of shares (including shares surrenderadithheld for payment of the exercise
price of an award or taxes related to an aware)) guch shares will again be available for issuancier the 2007 Plan.

In connection with the Merger, we amended2®@7 Plan with stockholder approval to increasentiaber of shares of Delta common si
issuable under the plan from 30 million to 157 ioill The purpose of this amendment was to permitalle grant equity to substantially all
employees of the combined company in connectioh thi¢ Merger. There were 35 million shares avadldibi future grants under the 2007
Plan as of December 31, 2009.

Non-cash compensation expense for equity aiarcecognized over the employgeéquisite service period (generally, the vestiegod o
the award). We use straight-line recognition fomedg with installment vesting. During the yearsezhecember 31, 2009 and 2008, we
recognized expense associated with restricted ssbokk option, and performance share grants o8 $dillion and $66 million in salaries and
related costs, respectively. The closing of thedéerconstituted a change in control under the Z8ar, which caused the vesting of
substantially all previously unvested equity awaadd resulted in the recording of an additional Silion in 2008 in expense to restructuring
and merger-related items. These expenses do mesey cash payments actually made to employeésgyriarepresents non-cash
compensation expense recognition. The actual vafltleese awards to the recipients depends on tbe pf Delta common stock when the
awards vest.

As of December 31, 2009, approximately $108ioni of total unrecognized costs related to unedsthares and options are expected to be
recognized over the remaining weighted-averageg@eari 0.9 years. Approximately $69 million is exfmtto be recognized in 2010.

Stock Grantsln connection with the Merger, we granted equitgibstantially all employees of Delta and NorthwesE. based non-pilot,
nonmanagement employees received 34 million sharesramon stock. Pilot employees received 50 millibares of common stock. The f
value of these grants was based on the closing pfithe common stock on the date of grant andtezsin a $791 million charge in
restructuring and merger-related items. In 2006nupmergence from Chapter 11, we issued 14 midlimres of common stock to non-
contract, non-management employees. Employees oidyhsell these shares without restriction.

Merger Awardsln connection with the Merger, we made grants sfrieted stock and stock options to approximat@§ mhanagement
level employees under the 2007 Plan. As discusskdvbthese grants vest over three years, sulgjgbetemployee’s continued employment.

Restricted StockRestricted stock is common stock that may natdde or otherwise transferred for a period of tamel that is subject to
forfeiture in certain circumstances. The fair vadfiehe restricted stock awards is based on tharayoprice of the common stock on the date of
grant. In connection with the Merger, we grantedviilfion shares of restricted stock, which, subjiecthe employee’s continued employment,
vest over three years in four installments (209%/ay 1, 2009, 20% on November 1, 2009, 20% on M&010, and 40% on November 1,
2011). Upon emergence from Chapter 11, we grantgd million shares of restricted stock to eligileimployees. Substantially all of these
awards, to the extent not previously vested, vegpenh the closing of the Merger. We expect subgtiynall unvested restricted stock awards
at December 31, 2009 to vest during the vestingpger

The following table summarizes restricted ktactivity for the year ended December 31, 2009:

Weighted

Average

Shares Grant Date

(000) Fair Value
Unvested at January 1, 20 17,65( $ 8.11
Granted 3,69 6.71
Vested (8,36%) 8.0¢
Forfeited (459) 7.62
Unvested at December 31, 2C 12,52 $ 7.7¢
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The total fair value of shares vested durlmgytears ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was i@t mnd $107 million, respectively.

Stock OptionsStock option awards are granted with an exercige ggual to the closing price of Delta common Istoig the date of grant.
Generally, outstanding employee options vest ogeeal years and have a 10-year term, subjecetertiployee’s continued employment.

The fair value of stock options is determimtdhe grant date using an option pricing modeébam several assumptions. The risk-free rate
is based on the U.S. Treasury yield in effect ier éxpected term of the options at the time oftgfEime dividend yield on our common stock is
assumed to be zero since we do not pay dividendifiave no current plans to do so. The expecteafifee options was developed assuming
that the options will be exercised evenly from tihee they become exercisable to expiration dudeéddck of exercise history. We base our
volatility assumptions on historical volatilitie$ the stock of comparable publicly-traded airlinesing daily stock price returns equal to our
expected option lives. We have used this volatdggumption due to the lack of trading history eft common stock since emergence from
Chapter 11.

We granted stock options to purchase 12 millibares of common stock in connection with thegderThese options become exercisak
four installments (20% on May 1, 2009, 20% on Nokeml, 2009, 20% on May 1, 2010, and 40% on Noverhp2011), subject to the
employee’s continued employment. We granted optioqmirchase four million shares of common stockligible employees upon emergence
from Chapter 11. Substantially all of these awatalshe extent not previously exercisable, becaxeeogsable upon the closing of the Merger.
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement, outstanding stptions under the Northwest 2007 Stock Incentilas Were assumed by Delta and
modified to provide for the purchase of Delta comnstock. Accordingly, the number of shares andettexcise price were adjusted for the
1.25 exchange ratio. We have not granted any siptikns subsequent to those granted in 2008 inestdiiom with the Merger.

The weighted average fair value of optionstgd in 2008 was determined based on the followsgymptions:

Risk-free interest rat 2.6-3.4%
Expected life of stock options (in yea 5.€-6.C
Expected volatility of common stot 63-79%

The following table summarizes stock optiotivéty for the year ended December 31, 2009:

Weighted
Weighted Average Aggregate
Average Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Contractual Value (in
(000) Price Life (in years) millions)
Outstanding at January 1, 20 23,54« $12.6¢
Granted — —
Exercisec (683) 8.01
Forfeited or expires (55)) 15.1%
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 22,31( $12.7¢ 6.€ $39
Vested or expected to ve 22,31( $12.7¢ 6.€ $3¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 15,77¢ $14.71 5.7 $17

The weighted-average grant-date fair valueptions granted during the year ended Decembe2®18 was $4.86.

Performance Share®erformance shares are long-term incentive oppii¢arwhich are payable in common stock and are gy
contingent upon our achieving certain financiallgoBuring 2008, we granted performance shares avithggregate target payout opportunity
covering approximately two million shares of comnsbock. The closing of the Merger caused the vgstirtarget of substantially all
previously unvested performance shares.

Other.There was no corresponding tax benefit in 20098282007 related to the stock-based compensa®we record a full valuation
allowance against our deferred tax assets dueetartbertainty regarding the ultimate realizatiothofse assets. For additional information, see
Note 9.
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NOTE 13. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INC OME

The following table shows the components aluatulated other comprehensive (loss) income fofabemonths ended April 30, 2007, the
eight months ended December 31, 2007 and the geded December 31, 2008 and 2009:

Unrecognized Marketable
Pension Derivative Equity Valuation
(in millions) Liability Instruments Securities Allowance Total
Balance at January 1, 2007 (Predeces $ (727) $ (23 $2 $ 23C $ (51§
Pension adjustme! 6 — — — 6
Changes in fair valu — 61 — — 61
Reclassification to earning — 8 — — 8
Balance at April 30, 2007 (Predecess (721 46 2 23C (443
Elimination of Predecessor other comprehensive 721 (46) 2 (230 443
Pension adjustme! 40¢ — — — 40¢€
Changes in fair valu — 86 — — 86
Reclassification to earning — (59 — — (59
Tax effect (155) (12) — 16€ —
Balance at December 31, 2007 (Succes 253 16 — 16€ 43E
Pension adjustme! (3,11) — — — (3,11))
Changes in fair valu — (1,369 9 — (1,379
Reclassification to earning — (26) — — (26)
Tax effect 1,162 51€ 3 (1,687 —
Balance at December 31, 2008 (Succes (1,696 (8639) (6) (1,515 (4,080
Pension adjustmel (502) — — — (502
Changes in fair valu — (20) 10 — (10)
Reclassification to earning — 1,35(C — — 1,35(C
Income Tax Allocatior — (327) — — (321
Tax effect 18€ (497 (©)] 30¢ —
Balance at December 31, 2009 (Succes $(2,012) $ (345 $1 $(1,207% $(3,563)

NOTE 14. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

Operating segments are defined as componéats enterprise with separate financial informatihich are evaluated regularly by the ¢
operating decision maker and are used in resollomaton and performance assessments.

We are managed as a single business uniptbaides air transportation for passengers andocdrigis allows us to benefit from an
integrated revenue pricing and route network. Qghtf equipment forms one fleet, which is deployleugh a single route scheduling system.
When making resource allocation decisions, ourfaperating decision maker evaluates flight prdifiity data, which considers aircraft type
and route economics, but gives no weight to tharfamal impact of the resource allocation decisioran individual carrier basis. Our objective
in making resource allocation decisions is to op@rur consolidated financial results.
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Operating revenue is assigned to a specifigigghic region based on the origin, flight patt dastination of each flight segment. Our
operating revenue by geographic region for thegyeaded December 31, 2009 and 2008, the eight mentiied December 31, 2007 and the
four months ended April 30, 2007 are summarizethénfollowing table:

Successor Predecessor

Eight Months Four Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, April 30,
(in millions) 2009 2008 2007 2007
Domestic $19,17! $15,06¢ $9,38( $4,31¢
Atlantic 4,97(C 5,14¢ 2,88¢ 947
Latin America 1,437 1,61¢ 923 47¢
Pacific 2,48¢ 867 171 57
Total $28,06:¢ $22,697 $13,35¢ $5,79¢

Our tangible assets consist primarily of ftiguipment, which is mobile across geographic etatkAccordingly, assets are not allocated to
specific geographic regions.
NOTE 15. RESTRUCTURING AND MERGER-RELATED ITEMS

The following table shows charges recordekstructuring and merger-related items on our Clideted Statements of Operations for the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2

Year Ended

December 31
(in millions) 2009 2008
Severance and related ca $11¢ $11¢
Contract Carrier restructurir — 14
Facilities and othe 13 25
Mergel-related item: 27E 97€
Total restructuring and mer¢-related item: $407 $1,131

Severance and related costs primarily retatetuntary workforce reduction programs for U.8ipdoyees. In 2009, we recorded
$119 million associated with workforce reductioogmrams, including $6 million of special terminatibenefits related to retiree healthcare.
expect any additional charges incurred under thesgrams will not be material. In 2008, we recor8&d4 million associated with workforce
reduction programs.

Contract Carrier restructuring costs relateprily to the early termination of certain capggurchase agreements with our Contract
Carriers.

Facilities and other costs primarily relatdrte closing operations in airports. In 2008, thsts primarily relate to the closing of operatiar
Concourse C at the Cincinnati/Northern Kentuckginational Airport. Upon our exit from Concoursew® recorded a one-time charge of
$18 million based on the estimated present valdatafe rents.

Merger-related items relate to costs assatiaith integrating the operations of Northwest ibtelta, including costs related to information
technology, employee relocation and training, atnanding of aircraft and stations.

We did not have any restructuring and mergéated items in 2007.
The following table shows the balances fotrtesuring charges as of December 31, 2009, anddtieity for the year then ended:

Liability Liability
Balance at Additional Purchase Balance at
December 31, Costs and Accounting December 31,
(in millions) 2008 Expenses Adjustments Payments 2009
Severance and related co®) $ 50 $112 $— $ (94) $ 69
Facilities and othe(®) 54 13 19 (12) 74
Total $104 $12¢€ $19 $(106) $14z

@ The liability balance at December 31, 2008 inekitiabilities assumed in the Merger of $47 milliarseverance and related costs and
$32 million in restructuring of facility leases aather charges
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We acquired a B-74Z00F dedicated cargo freighter fleet in our Mengigh Northwest and recorded the fair value of tleeff at the Closin
Date. We grounded the entire fleet by DecembeB8@9 due to its age and inefficiency. We revieweslfteet and related spare engines for
impairment during the year ended December 31, 20@9concluded that no material impairment existed.

NOTE 16. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

We calculate basic (loss) earnings per shadividing the net (loss) income by the weighteérmage number of common shares
outstanding. Shares issuable upon the satisfasfioartain conditions are considered outstandirdjiaoluded in the computation of basic
(loss) earnings per share. Accordingly, the catauteof basic (loss) earnings per share for thesgyeaded December 31, 2009 and 2008 an
eight months ended December 31, 2007 assumeswhsreutstanding at the beginning of each of thesegs all 386 million shares
contemplated by Delta’s Plan of Reorganizationdalistributed to holders of allowed general, unsettelaims. Similarly, the calculation of
basic loss per share for the years ended Decembh@089 and 2008 assumes there was outstandilmg@ary 1, 2009 and the Closing Date,
respectively, the following shares in connectiothwhe Merger: (1) 50 million shares of Delta conmstock we agreed to issue on behalf of
Delta and Northwest pilots and (2) nine million s#sof Delta common stock reserved for issuanexamange for shares of Northwest
common stock that, but for the Merger, would hagerbissued under Northwest’s Plan of Reorganization

The following table shows the reconciliatidractual shares issued and outstanding to thossidemed outstanding for purposes of the
calculation of basic loss per share as of Decer@bg?009:

(in millions) Shares®
Common stock issued and outstanc 784
Less:

Unvested restricted stor (13
Add:

Shares reserved for future issuance under ’s Plan of Reorganizatic 53

Shares reserved for future issuance relating tdhM@st's Plan of Reorganization, after giving effecthe 1.25 exchange

ratio 6

Common stock considered outstanding for purposésssefper share calculatit 83C

@O These shares have not been weighted to reflegtetied of time they were considered outstand
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The following table shows our computation aéic and diluted (loss) earnings per share foy#aes ended December 31, 2009 and 2008,
the eight months ended December 31, 2007 and thenrfonths ended April 30, 2007:

Successor Predecessor
Eight Four
Months Months
Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31 December 31, April 30,
(in millions, except per share da 2009 2008 2007 2007
Basic:
Net (loss) incomt $(1,237) $(8,927) $ 314 $1,29¢
Basic weighted average shares outstan 827 46¢ 394 197
Basic (loss) earnings per shi $ (1.50 $(19.0¢) $0.8C $ 6.5¢
Diluted:
Net (loss) incom $(1,237) $(8,927) $ 314 $1,29¢
Gain recognized on the forgiveness of convertilelet — — — (216)
Net (loss) income assuming convers $(1,2379) $(8,927) $ 314 $1,08:2
Basic weighted average shares outstan 827 46€ 394 197
Dilutive effects of:
Restricted share — — 1 —
Convertible deb — — — 37
Weighted average shares outstanding, as adj 8271 46€(2) 39EG) 2344)
Dilutive (loss) earnings per she $ (1.50 $(19.09 $0.7¢ $ 4.6

@ Excludes 35 million common stock equivalents beedbsir effect was ar-dilutive.
(@ Excludes 41 million common stock equivalents beeahsir effect was ar-dilutive.
®  Excludes nine million common stock equivalents liseatheir effect was a-dilutive.

@ Upon emergence from bankruptcy, we dischargedialitities subject to compromise, which includemhvertible debt. As a result, we
recognized a gain of $216 million for the four mumtnded April 30, 2007. In connection with thisotiarge, 37 million shares of
common stock were assumed issued for purposedanfiating diluted earnings per sha
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NOTE 17. VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

The following table shows our valuation an@lifying accounts for the four months ended Apfll 2007, the eight months ended
December 31, 2007 and the years ended Decemb2038,and 2009, and the associated activity foy#aes then ended:

Allowance for:
Obsolescence of

Expendable
Restructuring Uncollectible Parts &

and Other Accounts Supplies Valuation
(in millions) Charges®) Receivable) Inventory Allowance
Balance at January 1, 2007 (Predeces $ 5 $21 $ 161 $ 5,166
Additional costs and expens 1 5 13 1,092
Payments and deductio (2 (5) (43 (1,207
Balance at April 30, 2007 (Predeces: 4 21 131 5,06(()
Valuation adjustmer — — (237) (230
Additional costs and expens — 15 11 66¢
Payments and deductio (D (10) — (65€)
Balance at December 31, 2007 (Succes 3 26 11 4,8444)
Liabilities assumed from Northwe — 6 — 3,38¢
Purchase accounting adjustme 94 — — 184
Additional costs and expens 152 31 23 1,86¢
Payments and deductio (14€) (21) (2 (452)
Balance at December 31, 2008 (Succes 104 42 32 9,83(®)
Purchase accounting adjustme 19 — 14 —
Additional costs and expens 12¢ 23 34 343
Payments and deductio (10€) (18) (5) (27€)
Balance at December 31, 2009 (Succes $ 143 $ 47 $ 75 $9,8916)

@ Primarily related to severance and related cosssructuring of facility leases and other char:

@  The payments and deductions related to the atloeéor uncollectible accounts receivable repretientvrite-off of accounts considered
to be uncollectible, less recoveri

3 $230 million of this amount is recorded in accuabed other comprehensive loss on our Consolidatdadnce Sheet at January 1, 2007
and our Fresh Start Consolidated Balance Sheept30, 2007.

@ $166 million of this amount is recorded in acclaed other comprehensive income on our ConsolidBtdance Sheet at December 31,
2007. This balance reflects a $230 million writé+ecorded upon the adoption of fresh start repgrto eliminate the Predecessor’s
accumulated other comprehensive I

®)  $1.5 billion of this amount is recorded in accuntedbother comprehensive loss on our ConsolidatéanBa Sheet at December 31, 2(
®  $1.2 billion of this amount is recorded in accuntedtrother comprehensive loss on our ConsolidatégnBa Sheet at December 31, 2(
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NOTE 18. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table summarizes our unauditeslitts of operations for the 2009 and 2008 quarfestiods. The quarterly loss per share
amounts for a year will not add to the loss persliar that year due to the weighting of shareslusealculating per share data.

2009 Three Months Ended

(in millions, except per share da March 31 June 30 September 3( December 313)
Operating revenu $ 6,68¢ $ 7,00( $ 7,57 $ 6,80¢
Operating (lossincome (48%) 1 204 (46)
Net loss (794) (257) (162) (25)
Basic and diluted loss per sh: (0.96) (0.3)) (0.19) (0.09)
2008 Three Months Ended

(in millions, except per share da March 31 (@ June 30 September 3! December 31
Operating revenu $ 4,76¢ $ 5,49¢ $ 571¢ $ 6,713
Operating (loss) incom (6,267) (2,087 131 (1,097%)
Net loss (6,390 (1,044 (50) (1,439
Basic and diluted loss per sh: (16.15) (2.64) (0.19) (2.11)

@ During the March 2008 quarter, we determined golbgvas impaired and recorded a non-cash chardg6df billion based on a
preliminary assessment. We finalized the impairntesit during the June 2008 quarter and recordediditional non-cash charge of
$839 million. In the June 2008 quarter, we als@réed a non-cash charge of $357 million to redheectarrying value of certain
intangible assets based on their revised estinfatedalues.

@ Our results of operations for the December 20@gtgr include Northwest for the period from OctoBe to December 31, 2008. In
connection with the Merger, during the December&@@arter, we recorded a one-time primarily mash charge of $969 million relati
to the issuance or vesting of employee equity asvar@onnection with the Merge

(®  During the December 2009 quarter, as a resultefrtbome Tax Allocation, we recorded a -cash income tax benefit of $321 millii
on the loss from continuing operations, with arseffing no-cash income tax expense of $321 million on othemgrehensive incom:
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, including our Chief Execu@féicer and Chief Financial Officer, performed arakiation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, which have been designed to permd afdctively identify and timely disclose importanformation. Our management, includ
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial iOéfr, concluded that the controls and procedures wiective as of December 31, 2009 to
ensure that material information was accumulateticammunicated to our management, including ouefdBxecutive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timekcisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control

Except as set forth below, during the threatin® ended December 31, 2009, we did not make f@@yges in our internal control over
financial reporting that have materially affectedare reasonably likely to materially affect, internal control over financial reporting.

On October 29, 2008, a wholly-owned subsid@frgurs merged with and into Northwest. On Decen®ie 2009, NWA merged with and
into Delta, ending NWA'’s separate existence. Wecareently integrating policies, processes, peadglehnology and operations for the
combined company. Management will continue to eatglwur internal control over financial reportirggvee execute Merger integration
activities.

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishingraathtaining adequate internal control over finahoéporting, as such term is defined in
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securlieshange Act of 1934. Our internal control ovegficial reporting is designed to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynafiicial reporting and the preparation of finanstatements for external purposes in
accordance with accounting principles generallyeptad in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, interoahtrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods afgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies may ril@tate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the®fkness of our internal control over financigdogting as of December 31, 2009 using the
criteria issued by the Committee of Sponsoring @Qizrtions of the Treadway Commission (COSO) inrimaé Control—Integrated
Framework. Based on that evaluation, managemeigvesl that our internal control over financial repm was effective as of December 31,
20009.

The effectiveness of our internal control ofreancial reporting as of December 31, 2009 hakudited by Ernst & Young LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, Wtatso audited our Consolidated Financial Statestentthe year ended December 31, 2(
Ernst & Young LLP’s report on our internal contmer financial reporting is set forth below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindgrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Delta Air Lines, Inc.

We have audited Delta Air Lines, Inc.’s intglrnontrol over financial reporting as of DecemB#&y 2009, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued byGoenmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the TweadCommission (the COSO
criteria). Delta Air Lines, Inc.’s management ispensible for maintaining effective internal cohwwer financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accompagyReport of Management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Canyps internal control over financial reporting beson our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withstedards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdgtard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigienternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe®tsr audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etésting and evaluating the design and operatifeg®@feness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsreg considered necessary in the circumstanceseliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financiapogting is a process designed to provide reasoregserance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip
A company’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thgté€ftain to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@awih generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®itbmpany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteafainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lrareterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, interoahtrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods agjext to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdates may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Delta Air Lines, Inc. maintaith, in all material respects, effective internaitcol over financial reporting as of December
2009, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with taedards of the Public Company Accounting Oversiyard (United States), the consolida
balance sheets of Delta Air Lines, Inc. as of Ddamen31, 2009 (Successor) and 2008 (Successor}harrdlated consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), andtcéiews for the years ended December 31, 2009 @sar) and 2008 (Successor), the eight-
month period ended December 31, 2007 (Successotharfour-month period ended April 30, 2007 (Poedsor) of Delta Air Lines, Inc. and
our report dated February 24, 2010 expressed amalifigd opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 24, 2010
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORAT E GOVERNANCE OF THE REGISTRANT

Information required by this item is set fodthder the headings “Corporate Governance Matte€gftain Information About Nominees”
and “Section 16 Beneficial Ownership Reporting Cbamze” in our Proxy Statement to be filed with themmission related to our Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (“Proxy Statement”), anthisorporated by reference. Pursuant to instrucdiom paragraph (b) of ltem 401 of
Regulation S-K, certain information regarding exeaiofficers is contained in Part | of this Forf-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information required by this item is set fouhder the headings “Director Compensation,” “Cogp® Governance Matters—Compensation
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” dRatecutive Compensation” in our Proxy Statemerd enincorporated by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

The following table provides information abdlie number of shares of common stock that magdeed under the 2007 Performance Plan,
Delta’s only equity compensation plan, as of Deceng@i, 2009.

©

(b) No. of Securitie:
(a) Weightec- Remaining Available fo
No. of Securitie: Average Exercis Future Issuance Und
to be Issued Upo Price of Equity Compensation Pla
Exercise of Outstandin Outstanding (Excluding Securitie
Options, Warrants ar Options, Warrant Reflected ir
Plan Categonr Rights (1) and Rights Column (a)) (2
Equity compensation plans approved by securitiédens 15,184,90 $10.6¢ 35,420,19
Equity compensation plans not approved by secarft@ders — — —
Total 15,184,90 $10.6¢ 35,420,19

(@ Includes stock options granted under Delta’s 2P8iformance Plan. The 2007 Performance Plan waewegd by the Bankruptcy Court
as part of our Plan of Reorganization. Accordingdguances under the 2007 Performance Plan areedeenbe approved by stockhold
under Delaware General Corporation Law. In conpectvith the Merger, Delta stockholders approvedmendment to the 2007
Performance Plan to increase the number of sh&i@smmon stock issuable under the P

@  Upto 157 million shares of common stock are lat#e for issuance under the 2007 Performance Flany shares of our common stock
are covered by an award under the 2007 PerformRlacethat is cancelled, forfeited or otherwise feates without delivery of shares
(including shares surrendered or withheld for paynoé the exercise price of an award or taxes edl& an award), then such shares will
again be available for issuance under the 200bReance Plan. In addition to the 15,184,907 optmutstanding, 12,523,891 shares of
restricted stock remain unvested and a maximum4#9,123 shares of common stock may be issued tiygoachievement of certain
performance conditions under outstanding perforraamare awards as of December 31, 2
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Other information required by this item is &®th under the heading “Beneficial Ownership et6rities” in our Proxy Statement and is
incorporated by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACT IONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required by this item is set fothder the headings “Corporate Governance Mattemsrpdaate Governance Overview—
Director Independence—Independence of Audit, C@agoGovernance and Personnel & Compensation Coesitembers,” “Executive
Compensation—Post-Employment Compensation—Potdntist-Employment Benefits Upon Termination or CleaimgControl—PreExisting
Medical Benefits Agreement Between Northwest and Afiderson,” “Proposal 1—Election of Directors” atitte-Existing Agreements with
Northwes” in our Proxy Statement and is incorporated byrefice.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required by this item is set fodahder the heading “Proposal 2—Ratification of peledent Auditors” in our Proxy Statement
and is incorporated by reference.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(@) (1). The following is an index of the firdal statements required by this item that artughed in this Form 10-K:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accourfimm (Ernst & Young LLP)
Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31, 2009G0®I 2

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the yerded December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008ighemonths ended
December 31, 2007 and the four months ended A@yiB07

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the yeraded December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2008ighemonths ended
December 31, 2007 and the four months ended A@yiB07

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equityfifiiig for the years ended December 31, 2009 ancebber 31, 2008, the eight
months ended December 31, 2007 and the four mentthesd April 30, 2007

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(2). The schedule required by this itermtcluded in the Notes to the Consolidated Firgrgiatements. All other financial statement
schedules are not required or are inapplicabletlzefore have been omitted.

(3). The exhibits required by this itere dsted in the Exhibit Index to this Form 10-kKh&d management contracts and compensatory
plans or arrangements required to be filed as hib&xo this Form 10-K are listed as Exhibits 1€hfough 10.26 in the Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, #gistrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredulp authorized, on the 24th day of February, 2010.
DELTA AIR LINES, INC

By: /s/ Richard H. Andersao
Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Secuitiehange Act of 1934, this report has been sidradolw on the 24th day of February, 2010 by
the following persons on behalf of the registramd & the capacities indicated.

Signature Title
/s/ Richard H. Anderson Chief Executive Officer and Director
Richard H. Anderso (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ Hank Halte| Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi
Hank Halter (Principal Financial Officer and

Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ Edward H. Bastia President and Directc
Edward H. Bastial

/s/ Roy J. Bostoc Director
Roy J. Bostocl

/s/ John S. Brinz Director
John S. Brinz¢

/s/ Daniel A. Carg Chairman of the Boar
Daniel A. Carg

/s/ John M. Engle Director
John M. Engle

/sl Mickey P. Fore Director

Mickey P. Fore

/s/ David R. Good Director
David R. Goode

/s/ Paula Rosput Reynol Director
Paula Rosput Reynolc

/s/ Kenneth C. Roge Director
Kenneth C. Roger

/s/ Rodney E. Slate Director
Rodney E. Slate

/s/ Douglas M. Steenlar Director
Douglas M. Steenlan

/s/ Kenneth B. Woodro\ Director
Kenneth B. Woodrov
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Note to Exhibits: Any representations and warrastié a party set forth in any agreement (includatigexhibits and schedules thereto) fil

with this Annual Report on Form 10-K have been nsadely for the benefit of the other party to tlggesement. Some of those representations
and warranties were made only as of the date o&tireement or such other date as specified in freement, may be subject to a contractual
standard of materiality different from what maywewed as material to stockholders, or may havenhesed for the purpose of allocating risk
between the parties rather than establishing matéer facts. Such agreements are included witHitimg only to provide investors with
information regarding the terms of the agreemeaits] not to provide investors with any other factoatlisclosure information regarding the
registrant or its business.

3.1 Delte's Certificate of Incorporation (Filed as Exhibil 3o Deltes Current Report on Forn-K as filed on April 30, 2007).

3.2 Delte’s By-Laws (Filed as Exhibit 3.1 to De’s Current Report on Forn-K as filed on May 22, 2008).

Delta is not filing any instruments evidencing angebtedness because the total amount of secuailitb®rized under any single such
instrument does not exceed 10% of the total agdddelta and its subsidiaries on a consolidatedsb&opies of such instruments will be
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commisgiam request.

10.1 Purchase Agreement No. 2022 between Boeing ana Bedéiting to Boeing Model 7-632-732,-832 Aircraft (Filed a
Exhibit 10.3 to Delt's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended December 31, 1997).

10.2 Purchase Agreement No. 2025 between Boeing and Ded#iting to Boeing Model 7-432ER Aircraft (Filed as Exhibit 10.4
Delte's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended December 31, 1997).

10.3 Letter Agreements related to Purchase Agreement20&? and/or No. 2025 between Boeing and DeltedFis Exhibit 10.5 t
Delte’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended December 31, 1997).

104 Aircraft General Terms Agreement between Boeing@elda (Filed as Exhibit 10.6 to De’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q
for the quarter ended December 31, 1997).

10.5(a) First Lien Revolving Credit and Guaranty Agreemelatted as of April 30, 2007, among Delta Air Links,., as Borrower, the
subsidiaries of the Borrower named, as Guarangéah of the Lenders from time to time party, JPMarGhase Bank, N.A., as
administrative agent and as collateral agent,MdPgan Securities, Inc. and Lehman Brothers Irec@lead arrangers and joint
bookrunners, UBS Securities LLC, as syndicatiomaged as joint bookrunner, and Calyon New YorkrBrand RBS Securiti
Corporation, as co-documentation agents (Filedxéébi 10.1(a) to Delta’s Quarterly Report on Fot®Q for the quarter endt
June 30, 2009).

10.5(b) Second Lien Term Loan and Guaranty Agreement, dageaf April 30, 2007, among Delta Air Lines, Inas, Borrower, th
subsidiaries of the Borrower named, as Guaranta) of the Lenders from time to time party, GoldrBachs Credit Partners
L.P. (“GSCP"), as administrative agent and as telid agent, GSCP and Merrill Lynch Commercial RirenCorp., as co-lead
arrangers and joint bookrunners, Barclays Captakyndication agent and as joint bookrunner, aediCSuisse Securities
(USA) LLC and C.I.T. Leasing Corporation, as co-amentation agents (Filed as Exhibit 10.1(b) to &slQuarterly Report on
Form 1(-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

10.6 Transaction Framework Agreement among Delta, DMbtater Executive Council, Northwest Master ExeaitBouncil and Air
Line Pilots Association, International dated adwfe 26, 2008 (Filed as Exhibit 10 to Delta’s QerytReport on Form 10-Q
filed on July 17, 2008).

10.7 Letter Agreement, dated April 14, 2008, by an amDetfa Air Lines, Inc., the Master Executive CoumdiDelta, and Air Line

Pilots Association, International dated April 1008 (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Delta’s Quarterly Bepn Form 10-Q filed on
April 25, 2008).*
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10.8(a)

10.8(b)

10.8(c)

10.9(a)

10.9(b)

10.9(c)

10.9(d)

10.10(a)

10.10(b)

10.11(a)

10.11(b)

10.12

10.13(a)

10.13(b)

10.14(a)

10.14(b)

10.15(a)
10.15(b)

10.16

10.17

10.18(a)

Offer of Employment dated August 28, 2007 betweettdAir Lines, Inc. and Richard H. Anderson (FikeslExhibit 10.2 t(
Delte’'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

Benefit waiver agreement dated October 29, 2008dwt Delta Air Lines, Inc. and Richard H. Andergbited as Exhibit 10.1
(b) to Delt¢ s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 200!

Benefit waiver agreement dated October 20, 200@dwt Delta Air Lines, Inc. and Richard H. Anders

Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performance CompensaBtan (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to De’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on
March 22, 2007).:

First Amendment to the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2008tBrmance Compensation Plan (Filed as Exhibit2@)lto Delt’s Annual
Report on Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 200:

Form of Delta 2007 Performance Compensation Plaardvhgreement for Officers (Filed as Exhibit 1001Delte’s Current
Report on Form-K filed on April 30, 2007).*

Delta 2007 Performance Compensation Plan Award égemnt between Delta Air Lines, Inc. and Edward Hstizan date:
August 28, 2007 (Filed as Exhibit 10.3 to D’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Officer and Director Seance Plan, as amended October 14, 2007 (FilEdtgbit 10.1 to Delt’'s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

Form of Separation Agreement and General Rele@ta-Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Officer and Director &eance Plan for Office
(Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to Del's Current Report on Forn-K filed on April 30, 2007).?

Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer and Director Severarielan, as amended and restated as of JanuarQ®,@dfurther amended
October 20, 200¢

Amendment to the Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer aDdector Severance Plan, as amended and restatddlasuary 2, 2009, as
further amended October 20, 20

Description of Certain Benefits of Members of thealBd of Directors and Executive Office

The Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2008 Long Term Incent®egram (Filed as Exhibit 99.1 to Delta’s CurreepBrt on Form 8-K filed
on February 8, 2008).

Model Award Agreement for the Delta Air Lines, Ir&)08 Long Term Incentive Program (Filed as ExHi8i2 to Delta’s
Current Report on Forrr-K filed on February 8, 2008).

Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2009 Long Term Incentive Pran (Filed as Exhibit 10.17(a) to Delta’s Annualpl@g on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 200!

Model Award Agreement for the Delta Air Lines, Ir&#)09 Long Term Incentive Program (Filed as ExHiBitl7(b) to Delta’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 200!

Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2010 Long Term Incentive Prag.
Model Award Agreement for the Delta Air Lines, Ir&#010 Long Term Incentive Progra

Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2009 Management Incentived?eon (Filed as Exhibit 10.19 to De’'s Annual Report on Form -K for the
year ended December 31, 200¢

Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2010 Management Incentived?amn.

Delta Air Lines, Inc. Merger Award Program (Filesl Bxhibit 10.20(a) to Del's Annual Report on Form -K for the yeal
ended December 31, 2008
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10.18(b)

10.19(a)

10.19(b)

10.20

10.21(a)

10.21(b)

10.21(c)

10.22(a)

10.22(b)

10.22(c)

10.22(d)

10.22(e)

10.22(f)

10.22(g)

10.23

12.1

211

23.1

Model Award Agreement for Delta Air Lines, Inc. Mgr Award Program (Filed as Exhibit 10.20(b) tot®sl Annual Report o
Form 1(-K for the year ended December 31, 200:

Management Compensation Agreement dated as ofr8betel4, 2005 between Northwest Airlines, Inc. Bodiglas M.
Steenland (Filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Northv's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

Retention Agreement and Amendment to Managementp@osation Agreement dated as of April 14, 2008 betwNorthwest
Airlines, Inc. and Douglas M. Steenland (Filed a&ibit 10.13 to Northwest's Quarterly Report on fot0-Q for the quarter
ended March 31, 2008)

Letter Agreement dated as of June 11, 2008 betweansel for and on behalf of Mickey P. Foret andafion Consultants, LL(
and counsel for and on behalf of Northwest Airlines. (Filed as Exhibit 10.22 to Delta’s Annualg®et on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 200¢

Northwest Airlines, Inc. Excess Pension Plan fdaBad Employees (2001 Restatement) (Filed as Hxh@h28 to Northwe''s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 200!

First Amendment of Northwest Airlines Excess Pengitan for Salaried Employees (2001 Restatemei@d(Bs Exhibit 10.3 t
Northwes’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended September 30, 20(

Third Amendment of Northwest Airlines Excess Pengian for Salaried Employees (2001 Restatemei€d(Bs Exhibit 10.:
to Northwes's Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 200¢

2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 99.Atmthwes’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 29, 2007).

Amendment No. 1 to the Northwest Airlines Corparat?007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.Rlorthwest’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Amendment No. 2 to the Northwest Airlines Corparat?007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.Blorthwest’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended March 31, 200¢

Form of Award Agreement for Nr-Qualified Stock Options Granted to Employees utideNorthwest Airlines Corporatic
2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 99.5twmthwes’s Current Report on Forn-K filed on May 29, 2007).

Amendment No. 1 to Form of Award Agreement for -Qualified Stock Options Granted to Employees urnkdeNorthwes
Airlines Corporation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan €Blilas Exhibit 10.7 to Northwest’s Quarterly Remort-orm 10-Q for the
qguarter ended March 31, 2008

Form of Award Agreement for Non-Qualified Stock @ps Granted to Directors under the Northwest A@t Corporation 2007
Stock Incentive Plan (Filed as Exhibit 10.4 to Nerés’s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Amendment No. 1 to Form of Award Agreement for N@nalified Stock Options Granted to Directors unither Northwest
Airlines Corporation 2007 Stock Incentive Plan éBlilas Exhibit 10.6 to Northwest’s Quarterly Remort~orm 10-Q for the
quarter ended March 31, 2008

Form of Offer of Employment dated October 31, 2668veen Delta Air Lines, Inc. and Michael J. Becked Richard B. Hirs!
respectively (Filed as Exhibit 10.2 to D¢'s Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the quarter ended June 30, 200

Statement regarding computation of ratio of earmitogfixed charges for each fiscal year in the-year period ende
December 31, 200!

Subsidiaries of the Registra

Consent of Ernst & Young LLF
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311 Rule 13i-14(a)/15¢-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Office

31.2 Rule 13i-14(a)/15+-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Office

32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act 2002
* Incorporated by referenc

**  Portions of this exhibit have been omitted andifgeparately with the Securities and Exchange Casian pursuant to requests
confidential treatmen
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EXHIBIT 10.8(c)
ADELTA %

Richard H. Anderson
Chief Executive Officer

October 20, 2009

Mr. David R. Goode

Chairman, Personnel & Compensation Committee
of the Board of Directors

Delta Air Lines, Inc.

World Headquarters

Atlanta, Georgia 30320

Dear David:

Today we decided to eliminate from all future avgacthuses providing for payment of excise tax atated gross-up provisions imposed by
Section 4999 of the Internal Revenue Code.

As you know, | do not have an employment agreenfewever, | would like to waive all such provisiansmy current Award Agreements as
well as the Officer and Director Severance Plapalize that by taking this action, | am voluntadiving up any protection from excise taxes |
currently have in the event of a change in contralso understand and agree that by so doingyé hat triggered the “Good Reason” clause in
any Plan or Award Agreement.

Sincerely,
/s/ Richard H. Anderson



EXHIBIT 10.11(a)

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
OFFICER AND DIRECTOR SEVERANCE PLAN
As Amended and Restated as of January 2, 2009
As Further Amended October 20, 2009

1. INTRODUCTION

Delta Air Lines, Inc. (the Company” or “ Delta”) adopted the 2007 Officer and Director Severdrlza (the “Prior Plan ") for eligible
Officer and Director level employees of the Compédbglta hereby amends and restates the Prior Bl#mes2009 Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer
and Director Severance Plan (th2009 Plan”) effective as of January 2, 2009. The Plan hanlarther amended as of October 20, 2009.
Participants in the Prior Plan whose employmemhiestes on or prior to January 2, 2009 shall natliggble for benefits under the 2009 Plan,
but shall only be eligible for benefits under th@PPlan, subject to any other separately grantedractual rights they may have. Except as
provided in the previous sentence and as proviéémbwith respect to certain Officers and Directot® were actively employed by Delta as
of October 28, 2008, the terms of the Prior Plaadlsto longer be in effect as of January 2, 2009.

Capitalized terms that are not otherwise definetthéntext of this 2009 Plan are defined in Seclibrbelow.
2. PARTICIPATION

(a) General Any employee of the Company who on or after Jan@a2009 is paid through the U.S. payroll andl&ssified as a full-time
Director (a “Director ") or Officer (an “Officer ") of the Company according to the Company’s HurRasources records (&Participant

") is eligible to participate in this Plan in acdance with the terms described below. In additiomofficer or director of an Affiliate may be
designated as a Participant by the Plan Admindtiathis sole discretion if (i) the Affiliate doe®t offer a severance plan or program to its
executive employees; or (ii) the officer or dired®not eligible to participate in the severan@npmr program the Affiliate does offer. In
these circumstances, the Plan Administrator skedérdhine in his sole discretion the level at witiod officer or director may participate in
the 2009 Plan. For example, an employee of aniatiiilmay be a Vice President of an Affiliate, bugynbe designated by the Plan
Administrator to participate in the 2009 Plan a Director level.

(b) Former Northwest Officers and Directofdotwithstanding anything in the 2009 Plan tod¢batrary, any Officer or Director who (i) on
October 28, 2008 was either (A) an officer of Nar#ist Airlines, Inc. or (B) a managing director,aditor or other employee of Northwest
Airlines, Inc. who participated in the Northwestliies, Inc. Non-Officer Change of Control Sevemraftan, and (ii) became an Officer or
Director of Delta on or after October 29, 2008, Ishat participate in the 2009 Plan until Octob8&r 2010 unless such person was a Senior
Vice President or higher of Delta on October 29)&0n which case such person shall not participatee 2009 Plan until October 29,
2011. After such dates, any such Officer or Direstwall be eligible for all benefits hereunder.

(c) Pre Merger Officer or Director and Prior Plaarigfits. An Officer or Director employed by Delta as afia#r or director on October 28,
2008 who was not advised by




Delta that his or her employment would be termidate or before January 1, 2009 (a “Pre Merger @ffar Director”) shall be eligible to
receive benefits under the Prior Plan until Octd®#r2010. During such time, a Pre Merger OffiaceDaector shall also be eligible for
benefits under the 2009 Plan, but will not be eligifor duplicate benefits under both plans. A@etober 29, 2010, any Pre Merger Officer
or Director who remains employed by Delta (or arifiliate) as an Officer or Director shall be eli¢ggtfor benefits under the 2009 Plan, but
not the Prior Plan.

3. TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT AND ELIGIBILITY

(a) Severance EvenSubject to Section 2, a Participant shall belldkgto receive the benefits described in Sectidrefter January 2, 2009
he incurs a ‘Severance Event which shall be defined as any of the following:

() the Participant’s employment is terminated lsitB other than for Causéf a Participant who is eligible for early, specgarly or
normal retirement under the Company’s retiremean @r policy is, or would be, terminated by the @amy without Cause, such
Participant shall be considered to have been tat®ihby the Company without Cause for purposelBeo2009 Plan rather than having
retired, but only if the Participant acknowledglestt absent retirement, the Participant would Hseen terminated by the Company
without Cause. If, however, the employment of diBigant who is eligible for retirement is termiedtby the Company for Cause, then
regardless of whether the Participant is considased retiree for purposes of any other prograam pt policy of the Company, for
purposes of the 2009 Plan, the Participant’'s empéoyt shall be considered to have been terminatedeb@€ompany for Cause;

(ii) the Participant (other than the Chief Execat®fficer and the President of the Company as obla 29, 2008) (A) resigns from
employment with Delta for Good Reason during thegaebeginning on a Change in Control Date andemdn the second anniversary
thereof (provided that the event that constitutes@sReason must occur after the Change in Corgral)(B) was employed by Delta a:
the Change in Control Date; or

(iii) with respect to either the Chief Executivefioér or the President of the Company as of Oct@%12008, the Participant resigns for
Good Reason.

(b) Condition Precedent to Receipt of Any Bendiitaler the Plan In order to receive the benefits of the 2009 Péigible Participants
must first sign a Separation Agreement and Gerigbdase prepared by Delta (thAgreement”) within 45 days of the date that the
Agreement is presented to the Participant. Paditgpwho fail to sign the Agreement within 45 daysvho rescind the Agreement within
the applicable Revocation Period are not eligibleeceive benefits under the 2009 Plan. The Agreemealesigned to ensure that both D
and the Participant have their rights and obligetim connection with the termination of employmestiablished with certainty and finality.
Delta is offering benefits under this 2009 Plamxechange for the execution of the Agreement. Theedment shall be in a form provided
and satisfactory to Delta and may include, withonitation, a release in favor of Delta and its doyees, directors and Affiliates and cert
non-competition, non-solicitation and non-recruitine




agreements for the benefit of Delfapvided, however, that for the two year period following a ChangeCiontrol, the Agreement shall be
in substantially the same form as the form of Agrert used immediately prior to the Change in Cdntro

. DESCRIPTION OF SPECIFIC BENEFITS

Upon a Severance Event, each Participant will lgghég for the following benefits:

(a) Severance PayA Participant will be eligible for Severance Pay, in an amount determined as described below baséd on the
Participant’s job level at the time of the SevemBwent. If however, the Severance Event is desdrilh Section 3(a)(ii) or (iii) above and
the event which constitutes Good Reason is a sognif diminution of the Participant’s position, pessibilities or duties, Severance Pay
shall be based on the Participant’'s MIP Target Alnaior to the diminution which gave rise to thatR#pant’s resignation. Severance Pay
will be paid as a one-time lump-sum payment proynfallowing the Participant’s Severance Event (takinto account however, sufficient
time to perform the calculations, if any, necessargler Section 4(e) and fulfillment of the othagidlility criteria including compliance wit
Section 3(b) above, but in no event shall be paddenthan two and one half months following the efthe year in which the Severance
Event occurs. All applicable federal, state, arwhldaxes will be withheld from all Severance Pagverance Pay will not be considered as
earnings under any qualified or non qualified pdaprogram sponsored by Delta or any Affiliate. E&articipant will be eligible for
Severance Pay in an amount equal to:

(i) 6 months Base Salary for Directors, plus 50%u§ applicable MIP Target Amount;

(ii) 9 months Base Salary for Managing Directolssp/5% of any applicable MIP Target Amount;

(i) 12 months Base Salary for Vice Presidentsisgd00% of any applicable MIP Target Amount;

(iv) 15 months Base Salary for Senior Vice Predislgius 125% of any applicable MIP Target Amount;

(v) 18 months Base Salary for Executive Vice Prasig, plus 150% of any applicable MIP Target Amqguarid

(vi) 24 months Base Salary for the President oeClkecutive Officer, plus 200% of any applicabléPNMarget Amount.

(b) Extension of Benefits During Severance PeriddParticipant shall be eligible for the followirxtended benefits for the periods noted
below.

(i) Medical/Dental and Life Insurance Benefits.

(A) Payment of COBRA Premiun. Delta will pay the premiums for medical, dentatiéor vision COBRA coverage (but not for &
portion of the COBRA premium for any Healthcarexiie
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Spending Account) for which a Participant and tigilde dependents may be eligible, provided su€hBRA coverage i:
properly elected by the Participant or his eligidégpendents. Eligibility for such payments shafitowe until the earlier of:

(i) the end of the Severance Period; or (ii) theedle Participant’s or the Participant’s depenslesiigibility for COBRA
coverage ceases as provided under COBRA and ting tafrthe Delta Account-Based Healthcare Plan daresponding pilot or
Affiliate plan, if applicable)

(B) Payment of Retiree Medical Premiurfie.the extent applicable, if a Participant is digifor special early, early or normal
retirement under the Compagy’etirement plan or policy at the time of the Sanee Event, and the Participant or one or mc
his eligible dependents elects COBRA coverage austd retiree medical and/or dental coverage, bowvea section entitled
“Payment of COBRA Premiums” will apply with respeatany Delta-paid COBRA premium. If the Participanan eligible
dependent instead elects retiree medical and/dadeoverage, Delta will, in lieu of paying COBRAgmiums as described
above, pay the retiree medical and/or dental premfar the Participant and/or his eligible dependehiring the Severance
Period, provided that the Participant and/or higilele dependents properly enroll for such coverdige Participant or his
dependents become ineligible for Delta retiree cage for any reason or opt out of such coveragi®edta paid coverage for
that person (or group of persons) will cease arith¥éll have no responsibility to pay any furttretiree medical and/or dental
premiums under the 2009 Plan; however the Partitipahis dependents shall retain whatever righgy tnay have under any
other applicable Delta sponsored retiree medical pk program

(ii) Basic Life Insurance Participants will also have their basic life irsce coverage under the Delta Family-Care Digglalid
Survivorship Plan (or corresponding pilot or Affile plan, if applicable) continued for the SeveeaReriod at Delta’s expense; provided
the Participant shall be responsible for any tassociated with such continuation. The amount eérage continued will be equal to the
amount of basic life insurance coverage in effechediately prior to separation. This continued cage shall not affect any other death
benefit for which the Participant is eligible.




(i) Travel Privileges.

(A) During the Severance Period, a Participatitbe eligible for continued travel privilegegigerally comparable to those under
Delta’s travel policy as in effect for an active@oyee at the Participant’s job level at the tinfi¢he Severance Event. If however, the
Severance Event is described in Section 3(a)(ijipabove and the event which constitutes Goeé$dn is a significant diminution of
the Participant’s position, responsibilities oridaf any Travel Privileges shall be based on thiédjznt’s job level prior to the
diminution which gave rise to the Participant’sigeation. In addition, with respect to any Partaipwho (i) incurs a termination that
constitutes a Severance Event during the periothbeg on a Change in Control Date and ending ensttond anniversary thereof and
(i) is a Vice President or more senior Officertiié Company at the time of the Change in ContraePsuch Participant shall after the
expiration of the Travel Privileges described ia firevious sentence, be treated as a retired ofeicpurposes of the Company’s travel
policy regardless of the Participant’s actual aggears of service. Following the expiration of Beverance Period, the Participant’s
travel benefits will be based on the Company traedicy for retired officers at the level at whitte Participant was employed
immediately prior to the Change in Control Dateo\Rded however, anything in the 2009 Plan to thetreoy notwithstanding, any pers
who first becomes an Officer or Director after J8n2009 shall not receive any Tax Allowance (ad tarm is defined in the Delta Air
Lines, Inc. UATP Travel Program) during the SevemPReriod or following his or her termination ofime employment.

(B) All Travel Privileges shall be governed @lyapplicable rules and procedures which are igdiyeapplicable at the time the Travel
Privileges are used, except as expressly modifielis 2009 Plan. Travel Privileges may be usegfeasure, vacation, or personal
emergency, but may not be used for any type ofnessi or professional activity. Any violation of theées governing non-revenue and
reduced rate travel may result in the suspensidearorination of all Travel Privileges for the Papiant and/or his family members (or
friends and family travelers).

(C) Family status changes (such as marriagerat, adoption or birth of child) that occur chgithe Severance Period must be
reported to the Delta Employee Service Center ¢arsponding Affiliate administrator) within 30 dagf the status change. Failure to do
so will result in the ineligibility of the new fafgimember for Travel Privileges described undes 009 Plan.

(D) This section shall not create any contrattights, and the Travel Privileges provided par¥ to this provision shall remain
subject to Delta’s right to apply all applicabléesias they exist from time to time and to modifyeyminate such privileges at any time,
including after termination of employment, in itdes discretion.

(E) If a Participant has contractual rightéravel privileges that are provided in anothereagnent that are different or not as favorable
as the Travel Privileges provided under this se¢tsnich Participant shall also be eligible for
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the Travel Privileges granted hereunder, but steale no contractual rights to such different orenffawvorable Travel Privileges. In that
case, the reservation of rights in (D) above <atlly only to the Travel Privileges that are pr@ddunder this section, and not to any
other contractual travel privileges the Participawaty have. A Participant that has separately gdacnatractual rights may use his
contractually granted rights or the Travel Privdsgranted under the 2009 Plan, but not both. ¥ample, if under both the 2009 Plan
and any contractual agreement, the Participarigibke under each for an allowance of $10,000,Raeticipant may use one such
allowance of $10,000, and the two allowances cabaatombined into a total allowance of $20,000.

(c) Career Transition ServiceRarticipants are eligible to receive career trémsiservices valued at up to $5,000 at a caressitian

services firm chosen by Delta. Delta shall pay diran directly for such services. The career triasiservices may include seminars, job
search work teams, productivity clinic, resumé prafion, assessments, resource library, on-lingbdat, job lead development, individual
counseling, administrative support, computer ladg, @orkspace phone/fax. The eligibility to recefliese services will expire upon the first
of (x) the Participant becoming employed; (y) thpigation of the Severance Period; or (z) the d&st of the second year following the
taxable year in which the Participant separatechfservice for purposes of Section 409A of the maéRevenue Code, as amended (the
“Code")..

(d) Financial Planning ServiceRarticipants are eligible for continuation of tiahcial planning services for which they are dligiat the
time of their separation from Delta. A Participahgtll be reimbursed for any covered expenses; BbHH not provide direct payments to
vendor for such services. The eligibility to reeesuch reimbursement will expire at the conclusibthe calendar year in which the
Participant separates from Delta, even if that ceduring the Severance Period. All reimbursemfamtsuch services must be made by the
end of the third year following the taxable yeawihich the Participant separated from service foppses of Section 409A of the Code.

(e) Certain Reductions in Payments

(i) In the event that a Participant becomegled to benefits under the 2009 Plan, and Deltat its direction, the Accounting Firm (as
defined below), determines that the payments andfiie provided under the 2009 Plan, together @it payment or consideration in the
nature of value or compensation to or for Particfjzabenefit under any other agreement with, onf Delta that the Accounting Firm
determines should be included as a parachute payaeedefined in Section 280G of the Code) (inabgregate, “Total Payments”) would
(after taking into account any value attributalol@hy payment (or portion thereof) which Delta bishes by clear and convincing evidence
is reasonable compensation for personal servicks tendered by the Participant on or after the dathe change in ownership or control
within the meaning of Section 280g(b)(4)(A) of tBede, such payment hereinafter referred to as ‘fumtge reasonable compensation”),
subject Participant to the excise tax under Seet99 of the Code, the Accounting Firm shall deteemwhether to reduce the Total
Payments to the Reduced Amount (as defined belblwg.Total Payments shall be reduced to the Reddoexlint only if the Accounting
Firm determines that Participant would have a greldet After-Tax Receipt (as defined
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below) of aggregate Payments if Participant’s TB@yments were reduced to the Reduced Amountstéaa the Accounting Firm
determines that Participant would not have a gréde¢ After-Tax Receipt of aggregate payments itiBi@ant’s Total Payments were
reduced to the Reduced Amount, Participant shedlive all Total Payments to which Participant istesd. Any valuation of any post
change reasonable compensation shall be deterrojntiet Accounting Firm (or, if the Accounting Fifisinot able to make such
determination, an independent third-party valuasipacialist, selected by Delta), and Delta shalpevate in good faith in connection with
any such valuation process.

(ii) If the Accounting Firm determines thatgaggate Total Payments should be reduced to thadeedAmount, Delta shall promptly gi
Participant notice to that effect and a copy ofdk&iled calculation thereof. All determinationade by the Accounting Firm (or, with
respect to the valuation of the post change redd@mampensation, or to the extent applicablejrtdependent third-party valuation
specialist) under this section shall be bindingrupelta and Participant and shall be made withirytl30) days after a termination of
Participant’s employment. The reduction of the TB@yments to the Reduced Amount, if applicablelldie made by reducing the Total
Payments under the following types of compensatiovalue in the following order: (i) Stock Optior(8) Restricted Stock,

(iii) Performance Shares, and (iv) Cash. All ferd axpenses of the Accounting Firm and the indegeiithird-party valuation specialist (if
any) shall be borne solely by Delta.

(iii) As a result of the uncertainty in thepdipation of Sections 280G and 4999 of the Codbatime of the initial determination by the
Accounting Firm hereunder, it is possible that anmtswvill have been paid or distributed by Deltatdor the benefit of Participant pursuant
to the 2009 Plan which should not have been sograilistributed (“Overpaymentdr that additional amounts which will have not beaid
or distributed by Delta to or for the benefit ofrffRa@pant pursuant to the 2009 Plan could have lseepaid or distributed (“Underpayment”),
in each case, consistent with the calculation efReduced Amount hereunder. In the event that toaunting Firm, based upon the
assertion of a deficiency by the Internal ReveneiSe against either Delta or Participant whiah Afitcounting Firm believes has a high
probability of success determines that an Overpayinas been made, Participant shall pay any suengayment to Delta together with at
the applicable federal rate provided for in Sec#8i@2(f)(2) of the Code; provided, however, thaanwount shall be payable by Participant
to Delta if and to the extent such payment woulteither reduce the amount on which Participastlgject to tax under Sections 1, 3101
and 4999 of the Code or generate a refund of suast In the event that the Accounting Firm, bagezh controlling precedent or
substantial authority, determines that an Underpayrhas occurred, any such Underpayment shalldragity paid by Delta to or for the
benefit of Participant together with interest & #pplicable federal rate provided for in Secti8@(f)(2) of the Code. In all events, any
Overpayment or Underpayment shall be paid no thar December 31 of the year after the year in kwttie Overpayment or
Underpayment is determined to exist.

(iv) For purposes hereof, the following terhave the meanings set forth below:
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(A) “Net After-Tax Receiptshall mean the present value (as determined inrdanoe with Sections 280G (b)(2)(A)(ii) and 280G4dl)f
the Code) of a payment net of all taxes imposeBamnticipant with respect thereto under Sectior&l01 and 4999 of the Code and under
applicable state and local laws, determined byyapglthe highest marginal rate under Section hefGode and under state and local laws
which applied to Participant’s taxable income fog tmmediately preceding taxable year, or suchrotite(s) as Participant certifies, in his
or her sole discretion, as likely to apply to himher in the relevant tax year(s), and 1.45% uis#mtion 3101. If applicable, the phase ot
itemized deductions and personal exemptions slsallze taken into consideration.

(B) “Reduced Amount” shall mean the greatesbvant of Total Payments that can be paid that wooldesult in the imposition of the
excise tax under Section 4999 of the Code if theoliating Firm determines to reduce Total Paymeuatsyant this Section.

(C) “Accounting Firm” shall mean the natiolyalecognized accounting firm generally used by ®ak its financial auditor. In the event
that the Accounting Firm is serving as accountargudlitor for a person effecting the Change in @ardr is otherwise unavailable, the
Participant may appoint another nationally recogdiaccounting firm to make the determinations neglihereunder (which accounting fi
shall then be referred to as the Accounting Firmetweder).

(f) Severance Period’ Severance Period shall mean with respect to any Severance Evhatperiod beginning on the Participant’s
employment termination date from Delta and ending:

(i) 6 months after the termination date for Directi

(i) 9 months after the termination date for ManagingeEtors;

(i) 12 months after the termination date for Vice Riests;

(iv) 15 months after the termination date for Seniore\feesidents

(v) 18 months after the termination date for Executiiee Presidents; an

(vi) 24 months after the termination date for the Peattidr Chief Executive Office

The Severance Period will be based on the Partitippb level at the time of the Severance EvHrtowever, the Severance Event is
described in Section 3(a)(ii) or (iii) above and #hvent which constitutes Good Reason is a sigmifidiminution of the Participant’s
position, responsibilities or duties, the Severahedod shall be based on the Participajab level prior to the diminution which gave ris
the Participant’s resignation




5. PLAN ADMINISTRATION AND INTERPRETATION

The “Plan Administrator ” is the Executive Vice President — Human Resou&ésibor Relations (or any other Officer of the Cuany
designated by the Personnel & Compensation Comenitt¢he Board). The Plan Year” is January 1 to December 31. Benefits from the0
Plan are paid from the general assets of Delta.

The Plan Administrator, or his delegate, has tiiegpfawer and authority, in his sole discretion tmstrue, interpret and administer the 2009
Plan and his decisions shall be final and bindiriee Plan Administrator shall have the broadestrdigmary authority permitted under law in
the exercise of all its functions including, but timited to, deciding questions of eligibility,terpretation and the right to benefits hereunder.

6. PLAN CLAIMS AND APPEALS

Any Participant who upon the termination of his émyment does not receive the benefits under th® Z)@n to which he believes he is
entitled may file a claim for such benefits in wrg to the Vice President — Compensation, Benefits Services of the Company (or such
other officer as may be designated by the Comp&uygh claim must be received by the Vice Presidet@ompensation, Benefits and
Services within 60 days of the Participant’s teration of employment. If the claim is denied, the&/President -€ompensation, Benefits a
Services will send written notification of the dahivithin 90 days after the claim is properly amanpletely filed. Special circumstances may
require an additional period of no more than 90sd&y that event, the Participant will be sent &tam notice of the special circumstances
requiring the extension and the date when a decwmiothe claim can be expected. If the claim idetbrthe Participant will be so advised and
informed of the reason, the provisions of the 2BGfh upon which the denial was based, and, if epblé, an explanation of other relevant
material or information necessary to perfect ttanel If the claim is denied or if the Participastiot furnished with written notification of the
decision on the claim within 90 days (or within 1®8ys if an extension is necessary) after the cigipmoperly and completely filed, the
Participant or his authorized representative mgyest a review of the claim under the appeal praeeddescribed below.

If a Participant is dissatisfied with a denial aflaim under the 2009 Plan, the Participant mupeapthe denial in writing before pursuing any
other remedy. All appeals must be addressed tprthyger party in a timely mannekll appeal time deadlines will be strictly enforced

If a Participant desires a review of a denial,Plagticipant or his representative designated itivgrimust submit a written request to the Plan
Administrator that is received by the Plan Admiragtr within 90 days of the date of the letter dagybenefits. The date of the denial indice
on the denial letter counts as day one in detenyithiis 90-day period and the Plan Administratgressly reserves the right to refuse to
consider tardy appeals.

The Plan Administrator will notify the Participamt his designated representative in writing ofdkeeision on review within 60 days after the
Plan Administrator receives the review requedhéfclaim denial is upheld, the Participant willdmeadvised and informed of the reason and
the provisions of the 2009 Plan document upon wthiehdenial was based. The Plan Administrator rakg &in additional 60 days to inform
Participant of a decision if special circumstan@gglire an extension of processing time and the Rtiministrator has notified the Participant
in writing that there will be a delay, the reaséorsneeding more time, and the date by which thalfdlecision will be made.
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Review by the Plan Administrator is made only upmawritten record. The Participant or his représtive designated in writing may review
pertinent documents relating to the denial and suymit comments, a statement of issues, and/otiadali documentary evidence if desired.
Personal appearances are not permitted.

A Participant must timely exhaust the administratigmedies allowed under the 2009 Plan as desaibeee before filing any legal action o
claim. The previously described procedure is theuestve administrative claims procedure providedemthe 2009 Plan.
7. AMENDMENT

Except as expressly set forth herein, the Compaeny amend or terminate the 2009 Plan at any tpreyided, however, that as of a Change
Control Date, no amendment to or termination of28@9 Plan that is adverse to any person who engrloyee of Delta on the Change in
Control Date shall be effective until after the @ anniversary of such Change in Control Date.

8. SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS

The 2009 Plan shall be binding upon Delta’s suarssand assigns.

9. GOVERNING LAW

The 2009 Plan is governed by the Employee Retiréimenome Security Act of 1974, as amende@&RISA "), but it is intended to qualify as a
plan maintained for the purpose of providing besdb a select group of management or highly corsgtenl employees. As such, it is exempt
from certain provisions of ERISA pursuant to ERISActions 201(2), 301(a)(3), 401(a)(1) and 4021l applicable regulations (including
U.S. Department of Labor Regulation 2520.104-23)wkver, some of the underlying benefits providedufader the terms of the 2009 Plan,
such as travel privileges, financial planning aateer transition services are not governed by ERE their inclusion in the 2009 Plan does
not deem them subject to ERISA. To the extent npesseded by ERISA, the 2009 Plan and all detetioimemade and actions taken
thereunder shall be governed by the internal snbigtalaws of the State of Georgia and construedmtingly.

10. SECTION 409A OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE

To the extent required to be in compliance witht®aci09A of the Internal Revenue Code of 198&mgnded, and the regulations
promulgated thereunder (togethe&éction 409A"), notwithstanding any other provision of this R]4da) any payment or benefit to which a
Participant is eligible under this Plan, includadarticipant who is a “specified employee” asmdiin Section 409A, shall be adjusted or
delayed and (b) any term of the Plan may be adjustesuch manner as to comply with Section 409é @xaintain the intent of this Plan to the
maximum extent possible. More specifically, to éx¢ent any payment or benefit provided to a Paict under the 2009 Plan constitutes non
excepted deferred compensation under Section 468Ahe Participant is at the time of his terminatid employment considered to be a
“specified employee” pursuant to the Company’s@ofor determining such employees, the paymentgfsaich non excepted amount and the
provision of such non excepted benefits will beagtetl for six months following the Participant’s aggtion from service. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Delta shall not have any liability toydParticipant or any other person if any paymertenefit is determined to constitute
“nonqualified deferred compensation” within the
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meaning of Section 409A and does not satisfy thiitiadal conditions applicable to nonqualified deéel compensation under Section 409A.
11. DEFINITIONS
The following definitions shall apply for purposefsthe 2009 Plan:

(a) “ Affiliate ” means any entity that directly or indirectly canis or is controlled by or under common contralhithe Company.

(b) “ Base Salary’ means the Participant’s monthly base salary atithe of separation, excluding expense reimbursésrand
supplemental salary payments, and any items naidered by the Plan Administrator to be a componéntgular monthly base earnings;
provided, however, that, as of a Change in Control Date, in the eeéa termination of employment by the Participhatause of a
reduction in the Participant’s pay, “Base Salargans the Participant's monthly base salary prigh¢oreduction in pay which gave rise to
the Participant’s termination of employment.

(c) “ Board " means the Board of Directors of the Company.
(d) “ Cause” means the Participant’s

(i) continued, substantial failure to perform higids with Delta (other than any such failure résglfrom incapacity due to physical or
mental iliness) after a written demand for subsghperformance is delivered to the Participantehhidentifies the manner in which De
believes that the Participant has not performedihigs, or

(i) misconduct which is economically injurious Belta, or

(i) conviction of, or plea of guilty or no contet®, a felony or any other crime involving moratgitude, fraud, theft, embezzlement or
dishonesty, or

(iv) material violation of any material Delta palior rule regarding conduct, which policy or rukeshbeen communicated in writing to
Participant.

A Participant shall have at least ten (10) busiess to cure, if curable, any of the events (othan Section 11(d)(iii)) which could lead to
his termination of Cause. For any Participant whari Executive Vice President or more senior exeeaff the Company, a termination for
Cause must be approved by a 2/3 vote of the eBtieed.

(e) “Change in Control” means the occurrence after January 2, 2009 obéttye following:

(i) any “person” (as defined in Section 13(d) of Becurities Exchange Act of 1934A¢t 7)) other than the Company, its Affiliates or an
employee benefit plan or trust maintained by then@any or its Affiliates, becoming the “beneficialoer” (as defined in Rule 13d-3
under the Act), directly or indirectly, of more thd85% of the combined voting power of the Comparlyén outstanding Voting Stock
(excluding any “person” who becomes such a
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beneficial owner in connection with a transacti@satibed in Section 11(e)(iii)(A) of paragraph)(below), unless such person acquires
beneficial ownership of more than 35% of the corablimoting power of the Company’s Voting Stock tleeistanding solely as a result
of an acquisition of Company Voting Stock by then@any which, by reducing the Company Voting Stoststanding, increases the
proportionate Company Voting Stock beneficially @arby such person to more than 35% of the combingdg power of the
Company’s Voting Stock then outstandipgovided, that if a person shall become the beneficial ovafienore than 35% of the
combined voting power of the Company’s Voting Sttoén outstanding by reason of such Voting Stocjuisition by the Company and
shall thereafter become the beneficial owner ofadgitional Company Voting Stock which causes ttopprtionate voting power of su
Company Voting Stock beneficially owned by suchsperto increase to more than 35% of the combinéidy@ower of such Voting
Stock then outstanding, such person shall, upoarbigry the beneficial owner of such additional Comp¥oting Stock, be deemed to
have become the beneficial owner of more than 3b8teocombined voting power of the Company’s VotBigck then outstanding other
than solely as a result of such Voting Stock adtjoisby the Company;

(i) at any time during a period of twelve conségeitmonths (but not including any period beforeutay 2, 2009) individuals who at the
beginning of such period constituted the Board (@mgnew member of the Board, whose election byBiterd or nomination for electit
by the Company’s shareowners was approved by aof@teleast two-thirds of the members of the Baaeh still in office who either
were member of the Board at the beginning of threodeor whose election or nomination for electioasaso approved), cease for any
reason to constitute a majority of members therstitming the Board; or

(iii) the consummation of (A) a reorganization, igperor consolidation of the Company or any diregdhdirect subsidiary of the
Company with any other corporation, other thancaganization, merger or consolidation which resultthhe Company’s Voting Stock
outstanding immediately prior to such merger orsaiidation continuing to represent (either by remraj outstanding or being converted
into Voting Stock of the surviving entity or anyrpat thereof) more than 65% of the voting powethef Voting Stock or the total fair
market value of the securities of the Company chsurviving entity or any parent thereof outstagdimmediately after such merger or
consolidation, or (B) any sale, lease, exchang#tter transfer (in one transaction or a seriesasfsactions) of assets of the Company
having a total gross fair market value equal toertban 40% of the total gross fair market valualbéssets of the Company immediately
prior to such transaction or transactions othen tnay such sale to an Affiliate.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shalllelange in Control be deemed to have occurred withact to a Participant if the
Participant is part of a “group”, within the meagiof Section 13(d)(3) of the Act, which consummadtesChange in Control transaction. In
addition, for purposes of the definition of Chamg&ontrol, a person engaged in business as amwritkr of securities shall not be deen
to be the beneficial owner of, or to beneficiallyrg any securities acquired through such person’s
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participation in good faith in a firm commitmentderwriting until the expiration of forty days aftére date of such acquisition.
(f) “Change in Control Date” means the date on which a Change in Control occurs.
(9) “ Good Reasori’ means any of the following that occurs withowRarticipant’s express written consent:

(i) in the case of any Participant, a material dimtion or other reduction of such Participant’shauities, duties or responsibilities, other
than an inadvertent act that is promptly remedig®eélta after written notice by such Participanttte Chief Executive Officer of the
Company;

(ii) the Participant’s office is relocated by mdhan 50 miles;

(iii) a material reduction of Participant’'s Basd&®wg or incentive compensation opportunities, thei case other than pursuant to a
uniform percentage salary reduction for all futhé domestic employees not subject to a collectargdining agreement;

(iv) the Company does not keep in effect compeosatetirement, health and welfare benefits, ogpisite programs under which the
Participant receives benefits substantially similathe aggregate, to those in effect prior teduction (other than a reduction pursuar
an equivalent reduction in such benefits for dlHime domestic employees who are not subject ¢oliective bargaining agreement); or

(v) a material breach by Delta of any binding o#sitign to the Participant relating to a materiaitef the Participant's employment,
including, but not limited to, indemnification dre terms of an award under the Delta Air Lines, RG07 Performance Compensation
Plan, or any failure of a successor to the Compamssume and agree to perform such obligation.

Notwithstanding the foregoing:

(A) (i) any award made to a Partigipunder the Delta Air Lines, Inc. Merger Award@mam, (ii) any other equity-based awards or
other incentive compensation awards made to adjsatit by any of Delta (or any Affiliate) or Nortlest Airlines Corporation (or any
subsidiary) either on or before January 1, 2008, (@i any equity-based awards, incentive comp#&araretention payment, special travel or
other benefits provided to a Participant solelaassult of his or her initial employment with Detir any Affiliate, will be ignored for purpos
of determining whether a Participant has suffereeldaiction that constitutes Good Reason;

(B) with respect to any Participarito was employed by Northwest Airlines Corporatisrany subsidiary thereof immediately prior
to October 29, 2008, all compensation and bensfigrams provided to such Participant prior to tiete by Northwest or any subsidiary
thereof, including, without limitation, the Parfieint's base salary, will be ignored for purposegetérmining whether a Participant has
suffered a
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reduction that constitutes Good Reason;

(C) as to any Participant, an evdmdcribed above shall constitute Good Reason balych Participant gives the Company written
notice of intent to resign and the facts that dtutst Good Reason within ninety (90) days of theuwsence of such event;

(D) no event described above whichurable shall constitute Good Reason if suchtéserured by the Company or an Affiliate
within thirty-one (31) days of the Participant’stice, given in accordance with (C) above; and

(E) absent a cure by the CompargnoAffiliate as described in (D) above, the Paptitit must separate from service prior to the end
of the 180 day period beginning with the event tmatstituted Good Reason.

(h) “ MIP Target Amount " means as to any Participant, such Participaatget award amount under the Company’s Managemeantive
Plan (or any similar plan) in effect at the timelsdParticipant has a termination of employment émditles the Participant to benefits hereur
(except as provided in Section 4(a)).

(i) “Revocation Period” means the period of time immediately following thete a Participant signs an Agreement that hechias/bke such
Agreement, with such period of time specified ia fkgreement.

() “ Voting Stock” means securities entitled to vote generally andlection of members of the board of directors.
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Exhibit 10.11(b)

AMENDMENT TO THE DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
OFFICER AND DIRECTOR SEVERANCE PLAN
As Amended and Restated as of January 2, 2009
As Further Amended October 20, 2009

The Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer and Director Seaece Plan, as amended and restated as of Janl2092 and as further amended
October 20, 2009 (thePlan ") is hereby amended as follows:

1. Section 11(g) of the Plan (definition of “Goodd®on”) is amended by deleting subsection (A) tféreits entirety and inserting the
following new subsection (A) (as marked) in itsqaa

“(A) (i) any long-term award made to a Pap@mt under the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Perfonoe Compensation Plan, (i) any other
equity-based awards or other incentive compensatiards made to a Participant by any of Delta grAffiliate) or Northwest
Airlines Corporation (or any subsidiary) either@mbefore January 1, 2009, (iii) any equity-basedras, incentive compensation,
retention payment, special travel or other benefitsided to a Participant solely as a result sfdri her initial employment with Delta
or any Affiliate and (iv) the elimination of posttirement coverage under Delta’s executive lifeiinace program, will be ignored for
purposes of determining whether a Participant bffered a reduction that constitutes Good Re¢”

2. Except as expressly amended herein, the Plamarded, shall remain otherwise without change.



EXHIBIT 10.12

Description of Certain Benefits
of Members of the Board of Directors and Executivéfficers

Delta provides certain flight benefits to membefrgoBoard of Directors and provides certain béseb its executive officers. Delta reserves
the right to change, amend or terminate these anogrconsistent with their terms, at any time for eeason for both active and retired
directors and employees.

Flight Benefits : As is common in the airline industry, Delta prd&$ complimentary travel and certain Delta Sky Qitbileges for members

of the Board of Directors; executive officers; thieector’s or officer’s spouse, domestic partnedesignated companion; the director’s or
officer’s children and parents; and, to a limitedeat, other persons designated by the directoffarer (“Flight Benefits”). Complimentary

travel for such other persons is limited to an eggte imputed value of $20,000 per year for dimscthe CEO and President; $15,000 per year
for executive vice presidents; and $12,500 per faasenior vice presidents. Delta reimburses dimscand officers for associated taxes on
complimentary travel with an imputed tax value pfta $25,000 per year for directors, the CEO araiflent; $20,000 per year for executive
vice presidents; and $17,500 per year for senie presidents. Unused portions of the annual allees described in the previous two
sentences accumulate and may be carried into sdiogegears during Board service or employment.

A director who retires from the Board at or aftge&2 with at least 10 years of service as a dirgat or after age 68 with at least five years of
service as a director, or at his mandatory retirgrdate, may continue to receive Flight Benefitdrduretirement, except the unused portion of
the annual allowances does not accumulate intcegaiicg years (“Retired Director Flight BenefitsA)director who served on the Board of
Directors during the period beginning on the dagdtdentered into the merger agreement with Norghwed ending on the date on which the
merger occurred, or who joined the Board of Dirextan the date the merger occurred, will receivéhe@completion of his Board service
(other than due to death or due to removal by $toldlers for cause), a vested right to Retired DineElight Benefits, regardless of the
director’s age and years of service when his Beardice ends. The director designated by the Dvdtster Executive Council, the governing
body of the Delta unit of the Air Line Pilots Assation, International, does not receive Flight Bigeeor Retired Director Flight Benefits.

An executive officer who retires from Delta at dfteaage 52 with at least 10 years of service tar after age 62 with at least five years of
service, may continue to receive Flight Benefitamtyretirement, except the unused portion of teual allowances does not accumulate into
succeeding years (“Retired Officer Flight Benefitsh exchange for certain non-competition, noriestaltion and confidentiality covenants for
the benefit of Delta and a general release of daiguainst Delta, an officer who served in that capaluring the period beginning on the date
Delta entered into the merger agreement with Naggiwand ending on the date on which the mergemmtuor who joined Delta from
Northwest on the date the merger occurred,




receive, on his termination of employment (othamntby death or by Delta for cause), a vested tmRetired Officer Flight Benefits,
regardless of the officer’'s age and years of seraichis termination of employment.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a person who ig fected to the Board of Directors or an executifficer on or after June 8, 2009, will r
receive reimbursement for taxes for Retired DireElght Benefits or Retired Officer Flight Benefjtrespectively.

Life Insurance : Delta provides life insurance coverage of twoetinbase salary to executive officers during empkaym

Financial Planning Services The CEO, the President and Executive Vice Pressdare eligible for reimbursement of up to $15,p80year,
and Senior Vice Presidents are eligible for reirsbaorent of up to $8,500 per year, for tax prepamatégal and financial planning services.

Home Security Services Executive officers are eligible for reimbursemémtinstallation and monthly monitoring of homecsgty systems.

Annual Physicals:Delta requires executive officers to obtain a coghpnsive annual physical examination. Delta pag<tst of this required
examination, which is limited to a prescribed dgtr@ventive procedures based on the person’s rdjgender.

Pre-existing Medical Benefits Agreement Between Ndrwest Airlines and Richard Anderson:In 2001, Northwest Airlines entered into an
agreement with its then Chief Executive Officerchiird Anderson, agreeing to provide Mr. Anders@mshouse and eligible dependents with
medical and dental coverage at the levels thenigedvto Mr. Anderson under the Northwest Airlinesdital plans for the life of Mr. Anders
and his spouse. This coverage is secondary to aaycal coverage Mr. Anderson receives while heripleyed by another company. The
agreement with Mr. Anderson was reviewed and agatdyy the compensation committee of Northwest,veasi consistent with Northwest's
then existing practices. As a result of the merBeita is required to honor this agreement. Mr. @éisdn has voluntarily waived the benefits
under this agreement while he is employed with@elt

-2-



EXHIBIT 10.15(a)

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
2010 LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PROGRAM

1. Purpose.The 2010 Long-Term Incentive Program (th2010 LTIP ") is a long term incentive program sponsored bjtdAir Lines, Inc. (“
Delta” or the “Company”) that is intended to: (a) closely link pay and perfance by providing management employees with gpemisatior
opportunity based on Delta’s achieving key busiragsctives; and (b) align the interests of manag®rmemployees with the Company’s other
employees and stakeholders.

The 2010 LTIP is being adopted under the DeltalAies, Inc. 2007 Performance Compensation Pl&0(07 Performance Plar?). It is
subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Ridrea individual's 2010 LTIP Award AgreementAtvard Agreement” ).

Capitalized terms that are used but not definglér2010 LTIP shall have the meaning ascribedeémt the 2007 Performance Plan. For
purposes of the 2010 LTIP, the definitions @Zliange in Control,” “ Good Reason” and “Retirement” as set forth in the 2007
Performance Plan are hereby replaced or modifieiéu8ection 6 below, and shall apply as set fortBdction 6 in lieu of the definitions of
these terms in the 2007 Performance Plan or asfimddas applicable.

2. Plan Administration . (a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee oBibard of Directors (the Committee”) shall be responsible for
the general administration and interpretation ef2010 LTIP and for carrying out its provisionseT®ommittee shall have such powers as
be necessary to discharge its duties hereunddéuding, without limitation, the following powers druties, but subject to the terms of the
2010 LTIP:

(i) authority to construe and interpret therte of the 2010 LTIP, and to determine eligibiliagyards and the amount, manner and time of
payment of any awards hereunder;

(i) authority to prescribe forms and proceshufor purposes of the 2010 LTIP participation distribution of awards; and

(iif) authority to adopt rules and regulaticared to take such actions as it deems necessdgsoable for the proper administration of the
2010 LTIP.

(b) Any rule or decision by the Committee tizabot inconsistent with the provisions of the QQITIP shall be conclusive and binding on all
persons, and shall be given the maximum defereacuaitied by law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything contained in #8607 Performance Plan to the contrary, the Comenghall not have the authority to increase
or decrease the actual payout of any Performancard\as defined below) granted to any Participansyant to Section 4(b) hereunder.

3. Individual Award Agreements. Any person offered an Award under the 2010 LTIH &l required to sign an individual Award Agreem:
Execution by such person of his or her Award Agreenwill be a prerequisite to the effectivenesthef Award under the 2010 LTIP and to
person’s becoming a Participant in the 2010 LTIP.




4. Awards.
(a) Restricted Stock.

() Award Grant. A Participant may receive Restricted Stock as $igecin the Participant’s Award Agreement (thRéstricted Stock
H).

(ii) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Restricted Stock will be dateed by the Committee in accordance with the Camyfs Equity
Award Grant Policy, as in effect from time to tined set forth in a Participant’s Award Agreement.

(i) Restrictions Until the restrictions imposed by this Section 4fag “ Restrictions”) have lapsed pursuant to Section 4(a)(iv), (v) or
(vi) below, a Participant will not be permitteddell, exchange, assign, transfer, pledge or otlserdispose of the Restricted Stock and the
Restricted Stock will be subject to forfeiture as forth below.

(iv) Lapse of RestrictiorsContinued EmploymentSubject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Ridrtlze 2010 LTIP, the
Restrictions shall lapse and be of no further fanceffect with respect to one-half of the ShareRestricted Stock on February 1, 2011 (*
First Installment Date ") and the remaining one-half on February 1, 2018dcond Installment Date€’). 1

(v) Lapse of Restrictions/Forfeiture upon Terminatiéfiemployment The Restricted Stock and the Restrictions set fiarthis Section 4
(a) are subject to the following terms and cond#io

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasdipon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg Company without Cause or by the
Participant for Good Reason (including the Termarabf Employment of the Participant if he is emyd by an Affiliate at the time the
Company sells or otherwise divests itself of suéfiliate), with respect to any portion of the Réstied Stock subject to the Restrictions,
the Restrictions shall immediately lapse on theRRaita RS Portion as of the date of such Terminatfdmployment. Upon a
Participant’s Termination of Employment by the C@np without Cause or by the Participant for Good$®a, any Restricted Stock that
remains subject to the Restrictions, other tharPteeRata RS Portion, shall be immediately forfkite

“Pro Rata RS Portion” means, with respect to any portion of Restricsdck that is subject to the Restrictions at theetof a
Participant’s Termination of Employment, the numbgEhares with respect to which the Restrictionsid have lapsed on each future
Installment Date multiplied by a fraction (i) themerator of which is the number of calendar moAfhsm the Grant Date to the date of
such Termination of

1 If this formula results in any fractional Shatieation to any Installment Date, the number cd®is with respect to which the
Restrictions lapse on the First Installment Dati e rounded up, and the number of shares withbe@tsto which the Restrictions lapse
on the Second Installment Date will be rounded dawihe nearest whole Share so that only full &hare covered by each Installment
Date.

2 For purposes of the 2010 LTIP, one calendar misnthlculated from the date of measurement te#mee or closest numerical date
occurring during the following month. For exampege calendar month from January 31, 2010 will edagssof February 28, 2010, two
months will elapse on March 31, 2010, and sc




Employment, rounded up for any partial month aijdtfe denominator of which is twelve (12) for thigst Installment Date and twenty-
four (24) for the Second Installment Date.

(B) Voluntary ResignatiorlJpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bggon of a voluntary resignation (other than foo&o
Reason or Retirement), any portion of the Resti&@®ck subject to the Restrictions shall be immatedly forfeited.

(C)RetirementSubject to Section 4(a)(v)(F) below, upon a Pgrtint’s Termination of Employment by reason of Retient, with
respect to any portion of the Restricted Stockesttlip the Restrictions, the Restrictions shall edrately lapse on the Pro Rata RS
Portion as of the date of such Termination of Emplent. Pro Rata RS Portion has the meaning sét ifoi$ection 4(a)(v)(A) above.
Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bgason of Retirement, any Restricted Stock that irsrsubject to the Restrictions,
other than the Pro Rata RS Portion, shall be imatelyi forfeited.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment doieleath or Disability, the Restrictions shall indizely
lapse and be of no further force or effect as efdate of such Termination of Employment.

(E)For CauseUpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg Company for Cause, any portion of the RestriStedk
subject to the Restrictions shall be immediateleited.

(F)Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasolis Participant who is eligible for
Retirement is, or would be, terminated by the Comypaithout Cause, such Participant shall be comsiieo have been terminated by
Company without Cause for purposes of the 2010 lratRer than having retired, but only if the Papémt acknowledges that, absent
Retirement, the Participant would have been tertathay the Company without Cause. If, however gimployment of a Participant who
is eligible for Retirement is terminated by the Qamy for Cause, then regardless of whether théchenmt is considered as a retiree for
purposes of any other program, plan or policy ef@ompany, for purposes of the 2010 LTIP, the Eipeint’'s employment shall be
considered to have been terminated by the Compar@duse.

(vi) Change in Control Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Setb below, upon a ParticipastlTermination of Employment |

the Company without Cause or by the ParticipanGood Reason (including the Termination of Emplogtref the Participant if he is
employed by an Affiliate at the time the Companisser otherwise divests itself of such Affiliateh or after a Change in Control but prior
to the second anniversary of such Change in Coranyl Restrictions in effect shall immediately laps the date of such Termination of
Employment and be of no further force or effecofisuch date.

3

If this formula results in any fractional Shareg fAro Rata RS Portion will be rounded up to theestavhole Share

3




(vii) Dividends. In the event a cash dividend shall be paid witppeesto Shares at a time the Restrictions on ttstriReed Stock have n
lapsed, the Participant shall be eligible to reeg¢he dividend upon the lapse of the Restrictidhg Restrictions shall apply to any such
dividend.

(b) Performance Awards.

(i) Award Grant. A Participant may receive a Performance Award fepecified target cash amount as set forth in Hrédpant’s
Award Agreement (a Performance Award").

(ii) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the Performance Award will beedained by the Committee and set forth in the Bigdnt's Award
Agreement.

(iif) Payout Criteria and Form of PaymenExcept as otherwise expressly set forth in tlisti®n 4(b), payment, if any, of a Performance
Award will be based on the following factors asatésed and defined below: (A) the Cumulative Reve@rowth during the Performance
Period of the Company relative to the members @fAhline Peer Group; and (B) the Average Annua-Pax Income Margin during the
Performance Period of the Company relative to teentyers of the Airline Peer Group.

The payout, if any, of a Performance Award willrhade (A) in Shares, calculated based on the CaoweFermula (as defined below), to
each Participant who is employed by the Compargnaaxecutive vice president or more senior offarenolds the position of general
counsel or chief financial officer of the CompaftiyEkecutive Officer Participant ”) at the time of such payout; and (B) in cashllrother
circumstances.

(iv) Definitions.

(A) “ Airline Peer Group ” means AMR Corporation, Continental Airlines, InBouthwest Airlines Co., UAL Corporation and US
Airways Group, Inc.

(B) The “Average Annual Pre-Tax Income Margin” for Delta and each member of the Airline Peer @rshall be calculated by
using the subject company’s Pre-Tax Income andl Taparating Revenue for the applicable periodstaadollowing formula: (A + B),
where:

A = Pre-Tax Income for 2010 and 2011; and
B = Total Operating Revenue for 2010 and 2011.

(C) The “Conversion Formula” will apply to convert from cash to Shares the payidany, of a Performance Award to a person
is an Executive Officer Participant at the timeso€h payout. First, the cash amount of the payocdliculated in the same manner as if
the payout is being made in cash. Next, the cagfuatris converted into a number of Shares basdtiefollowing formula: A + B,
where:

A = the amount of the payout for the Performanceafdnif it is paid in cash; and

B = the closing price of a Share on the New Yorc&tExchange on the later of (1) date that the Citteenapproves the payouts, if any,
of the Performance Awards to the Executive Offiearticipants following the Committee’s determinataf the achievement of the
payout criteria described in Section 4(b)(iii) g2l the third business
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day following the date on which the Company pullimhnounces its annual financial results if thiteda scheduled in the same month
that the Committee approves such payouts, if any.

(D) The “Cumulative Revenue Growth” for Delta and each member of the Airline Peer@rghall be calculated by using the
subject company’s Total Operating Revenue for phgieable periods and the following formula: (A +)B C, where:

A = Total Operating Revenue for 2010 minus Totaéfging Revenue for 2009;
B = Total Operating Revenue for 2011 minus Totaéffing Revenue for 2010; and
C = Total Operating Revenue for 2009.

(E) “GAAP " means accounting principles generally acceptetiénUnited States of America.
(F) “Performance Period” means the period beginning on January 1, 201Ceadé¢hg on and including December 31, 2011.

(G) “Pre-Tax Income” means, subject to Section 4(c)(v)(B) below, thbjsct company’s consolidated pre-tax income fer th
applicable periods based on its regularly preparetipublicly available statements of operationpared in accordance with GAAP, but
excluding: (i) any material asset write downs; €Xpenses associated with employee equity se@jrtigp gains or losses with respect to
unusual or non-recurring events, including, withiimitation, changes in accounting principles, baptcy-related reorganization items
and other out of period adjustments; and (iv) espsraccrued with respect to any annual profit sggian, program or arrangement.

(H) “ Total Operating Revenue” means, subject to Section 4(c)(v)(B) below, thbject company'’s total operating revenue for the
applicable periods based on its regularly preparetipublicly available statements of operationpared in accordance with GAAP.

(v) Vesting.

(A) General.Subject to the terms of the 2007 Performance Pidra#l other conditions included in any applicaBlgard Agreement,
the Performance Award shall vest, as describelisnSection 4(b)(v), as of the end of the PerforoeaReriod to the extent that the
Company ranks number five (5) or better in compuari® the Airline Peer Group with respect to CurtiueaRevenue Growth and/or
Average Annual Pr@ax Income Margin, as applicable and as descriledalb For purposes of Cumulative Revenue GrowthAaretage
Annual Pre-Tax Income Margin, a rank of one (1) b the highest and best ranking and a rank of&iwill be the lowest and worst
ranking.

(B) Committee’s Authorityin determining the Cumulative Revenue Growth ardAkerage Annual Pre-Tax Income Margin for Delta
and each member of the Airline Peer Group, the Cittmenshall make such adjustments with respechyosabject company as is
necessary to ensure the results are comparableobYiimiting the generality of the forgoing, the@mittee shall (i) make such
determinations based on financial data filed bystigiect company with the U.S. Department of Transpion or otherwise, and (ii)
exclude from any calculation any item of gain, losgxpense to be extraordinary or unusual in eaduinfrequent in occurrence.
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(C)Impact of Certain Event& company shall be automatically ranked as numixe63 in the event that any of the following occur
during or with respect to the Performance Perigduch company ceases to maintain or does notytiprepare publicly available
statements of operations prepared in accordan®eGWAP; (ii) such company is not the surviving gnth any merger, consolidation, or
other non-bankruptcy reorganization (or survively @s a subsidiary of an entity other than a presfip wholly owned subsidiary of such
company); (iii) such company sells, leases, or argls all or substantially all of its assets to atimer person or entity (other than a
previously wholly owned subsidiary of such compaiti) such company is dissolved and liquidated{)more than 20% of such
companys revenues (determined on a consolidated basisl lnaisthe regularly prepared and publicly availadtégements of operations
such company prepared in accordance with GAAPafyrfiscal year of such company are attributablééooperation of businesses o
than such company’s airline business and such coyngh@es not provide publicly available statemefitsp@rations with respect to its
airline business that are separate from the statsnoé operations provided with respect to its othgsinesses.

(D) Transactions Between Airlinego the extent reasonably practicable, in the es&éatmerger, consolidation or similar transaction
during the Performance Period between Delta andb#rer airline, including a member of the Airlined? Group, or between any
member of the Airline Peer Group and any otheiregrlincluding another member of the Airline Peeo@ (an “Airline Merger "),
Cumulative Revenue Growth for the surviving compuaiily be calculated on a combined basis as if tidine Merger had occurred on
January 1, 2009 and Average Annual Pre-Tax IncoraggM for such company will be calculated on a corath basis as if the Airline

Merger had occurred on January 1, 2010.

(E)Vesting/RankingThe payment, if any, a Participant will receiveconnection with the vesting of the Performance Alwaill be
based on the following:

Cumulative Average Annual
Rank Revenue Rank Pre-Tax Income
Vs. Growth + Vs. Margin
Airline % of Target Airline % of Target
Peer Grouj Earned x Weigh Peer Groug Earned x Weigh
1 200% x 509 1 200% x 509
2 150% x 509 2 150% x 509
3 100% x 509 3 100% x 509
4 75% x 509 4 75% x 509
5 25% x 509 5 25% x 509
6 0% 6 0%

Any

portion of a Performance Award that does nat &t the end of the Performance Period will imratady lapse and become void.
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Examples:

1. Assume a Participant who is a not an Executived®ffParticipant receives a Performance Award of(8®bat the target level al
that, as of the end of the Performance Period aDatliks number four (4) in Cumulative Revenue Ghofrgsulting in a payout at 75%
of the weighted target under that measure) and euthipee (3) in Average Annual Pre-Tax Income Maigésulting in a payout at
100% of the weighted target under that measura¥. Farticipant will be eligible to receive a payofit$21,875, which is the result of
the following formula: (($25,000 x 75%) x 50%) $25,000 x 100%) x 50%

2. Using the same Participant in Example 1 abassume that, as of the end of the PerformamiedPBelta ranks number two (2) in
Cumulative Revenue Growth (resulting in a payolit#1% of the weighted target under that measuréhamber one (1) in Average
Annual Pre-Tax Income Margin (resulting in a payau200% of the weighted target under that measuire$ Participant will be
eligible to receive a payout of $43,750, whichhis tesult of the following formula: (($25,000 x 26Dx 50%) + (($25,000 x 200%) x
50%).

(vi)Timing of PaymentThe payout, if any, of any Performance Awards test under Section 4(b)(v) will be made as sooer aft
the end of the Performance Period as the paymentiaincan be finally determined, but in no evergddhan March 15, 2012, unless it is
administratively impracticable to do so, and sunbriacticability was not foreseeable at the end0dfi2 in which case such payment shal
made as soon as administratively practicable dtech 15, 2012.

(vi)Accelerated Vesting/Forfeiture upon Terminatiofeafployment The Performance Awards are subject to the follovtérgs
and conditions.

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasdipon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg Company without Cause or by
the Participant for Good Reason (including the Tieation of Employment of the Participant if he imgoyed by an Affiliate at the
time the Company sells or otherwise divests itseffuch Affiliate), the Participant’s target Perftance Award will be recalculated
and will be the result of the following formula éH Adjusted Performance Award”): S x (T + 24) where,

S =the Participant’s target Performance Awardfdbke Grant Date; and

T = the number of calendar months from January102o the date of such Termination of Employmemtiided up for any partial
month).

Thereafter, the Participant will be eligible toeae a payment, if any, in cash based on the AgflBerformance Award which w
vest and become payable under Section 4(b)(v)drsime manner and to the same extent as if thieipant’s employment had
continued.

(B) Voluntary ResignatiorlJpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bgison of a voluntary resignation (other than for
Good Reason or Retirement), the Participant withiedliately forfeit any unpaid portion of the Perfamoe Award as of the date of
such Termination of Employment.

(C)RetirementSubject to Section 4(b)(vii)(F) below, upon a Rap@ant’s Termination of Employment due to Retireméme
Participant’s target Performance




Award will be recalculated in accordance with thenfula set forth in Section 4(b)(vii)(A) above. Teafter, the Participant will be
eligible to receive a payment, if any, in cash base the Adjusted Performance Award which will vast become payable under
Section 4(b)(v) in the same manner and to the satsant as if the Participant’s employment had cured.

(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment doi€leath or Disability, the Participant’s
Performance Award will immediately become vestethattarget level and such amount will be paidadsitas soon as practicable
thereafter to the Participant or the Participaastate, as applicable.

(E)For CauseUpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg Company for Cause, the Participant will immesdiat
forfeit any unpaid portion of the Performance Awagdof the date of such Termination of Employment.

(F)Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasolis Participant who is eligible
for Retirement is, or would be, terminated by tlempany without Cause, such Participant shall besidened to have been
terminated by the Company without Cause for purpasehe 2010 LTIP rather than having retired, dnly if the Participant
acknowledges that, absent Retirement, the Pantitipauld have been terminated by the Company wit@@wuse. If, however, the
employment of a Participant who is eligible for Ranent is terminated by the Company for Cause) tegardless of whether the
Participant is considered as a retiree for purposesy other program, plan or policy of the Compdor purposes of the 2010
LTIP, the Participant’s employment shall be consddeo have been terminated by the Company for €aus

(viii) Change in Control Notwithstanding the forgoing and subject to Seth below, upon a Participant’s Termination of
Employment by the Company without Cause or by ti¢tpant for Good Reason (including the Termioatbf Employment of the
Participant if he is employed by an Affiliate aettime the Company sells or otherwise divestsfitfeduch Affiliate) on or after a Change in
Control but prior to the second anniversary of sgGblange in Control, the Participant’s outstandiegfdtmance Award shall immediately
become vested at the target level and such amadlifteapaid in cash to the Participant as soonrastjrable. With respect to any
Participant who incurs a Termination of Employmeythe Company without Cause or who resigns ford3Reason prior to a Change in
Control, if a Change in Control occurs thereafteriry the Performance Period, such Participant’gstéd Performance Award will
immediately become vested and be paid in cashet®#iticipant as soon as practicable.

(c) Restricted Stock Units
(i) Award Grant. A Participant may receive Restricted Stock Unitsgecified in the Participant’s Award Agreemeng(ttiRSU”).

(ii) Grant Date. The Grant Date of the RSUs will be determined iooadance with the Company’s Equity Award Grant 8glas in
effect from time to time, and set forth in the Rapant’'s Award Agreement.

(i) Risk of Forfeiture Until an RSU becomes vested, a Participant willb®permitted to sell, exchange, assign, tranpfedge or
otherwise dispose of the RSU and the RSU will lgesut to forfeiture as set forth below.
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(iv) Vesting. Subject to the terms of 2007 Performance Plan lam@®10 LTIP, the RSUs will vest with respect te-dmalf of the
RSUs on February 1, 2011 First RSU Installment *) and the remaining one-half on February 1, 2013dcond RSU Installment). 4
As soon as practicable after any RSUs become vabie€ompany shall pay to Participant in cashngplsum amount equal to the
number of RSUs vesting multiplied by the closinggrof a Share of Common Stock on the NYSE on #sing date or, if the Common
Stock was not traded on the NYSE on the vesting,dhe last date prior to the vesting date thaCthemmon Stock was traded on the
NYSE.

(v) Accelerated Vesting; ForfeitureThe RSUs and the vesting provisions set forth i Section 4(c) are subject to the following
terms and conditions:

(A) Without Cause or For Good Reasdipon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg Company without Cause or by the
Participant for Good Reason (including the Termarabf Employment of the Participant if he is emy#d by an Affiliate at the time the
Company sells or otherwise divests itself of suéfiliate), a number of RSUs equal to the Pro Ra&UJRPortion will become
immediately vested as of the date of such termanatdpon a Participarg’Termination of Employment by the Company withGause o
by the Participant for Good Reason, any unvestddsR8ther than the Pro Rata RSU Portion, shaliiraédiately forfeited.

“Pro Rata RSU Portion” means, with respect to any RSU Installment thatdt vested at the time of a Participant’s Termibmaof
Employment, the number of RSUs covered by such RStallment multiplied by a fraction (i) the numemaof which is the number of
calendar monthsfrom the Grant Date to the date of such TerminadbEmployment, rounded up for any partial monthd &) the
denominator of which is twelve (12) for the Fir$® Installment and twenty-four (24) for the Sec&8U Installment®

(B) Voluntary ResignatiorlJpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bgson of a voluntary resignation (other than fooo
Reason or Retirement), any unvested portion oRBEs shall be immediately forfeited.

(C)RetirementSubject to Section (4)(d)(v) below, upon a Par#aifs Termination of Employment by reason of Retiremamtumbe
of RSUs equal to the Pro Rata RSU Portion will Imeeommediately vested as of the date of such Textioin of Employment. Pro Rata
RSU Portion has the meaning set forth in Sectigk(a@8.above. Upon a Participamflermination of Employment by reason of Retirery
any unvested RSUs, other than the Pro Rata RSlibRoshall be immediately forfeited.

If this formula results in any fractional RSUadation to any RSU Installment, the number of R8libe First RSU Installment will be
rounded up, and the number of RSUs in the Secondl IR§allment will be rounded down, to the nearelsble RSU, so that only full
RSUs are covered by each Installmi

For purposes of this Agreement, one calendar Imigntalculated from the date of measurement tc#énee or closest numerical date
occurring during the following month. For exampdege calendar month from January 31, 2010 will edagssof February 28, 2010, two
months will elapse on March 31, 2010, as sc

If this formula results in any fractional RSUs, #® Rata RSU Portion will be rounded up to therestavhole RSU
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(D) Death or Disability.Upon a Participant’s Termination of Employment doieleath or Disability, all unvested RSUs will imaiegtely
vest as of the date of such Termination of Emplaytne

(E)For CauseUpon a Participant’s Termination of Employment bg Company for Cause, any unvested portion of ®ldsshall be
immediately forfeited.

(F)Retirement-Eligible Participants Who Incur a Teration of Employment for Other Reasorsa Participant who is eligible for
Retirement, is, or would be, terminated by the Canypwithout Cause, such participant shall be careidito have been terminated by the
Company without Cause for purposes of this Agred¢magher than having retired, but only if the Rapant acknowledges, that absent
Retirement, the Participant would have been tertathy the Company without Cause. If, however gimployment of a Participant who is
eligible for Retirement is terminated by the Compéor Cause, then regardless of whether the Ppatitiis considered a retiree for purpc
of any other program, plan or policy of the Compdny purposes of this Agreement, the Participaatigployment shall be considered to
have been terminated by the Company for Cause.

(vi) Change in Control Notwithstanding the foregoing and subject to Bect below, upon a Participant’s Termination of fifoyment by
the Company without Cause or by the Participantfood Reason (including the Termination of Emplogtra the Participant if he is
employed by an Affiliate at the time the Companisser otherwise divests itself of such Affiliateh or after a Change in Control, but prior to
the second anniversary of such Change in Contngluavested portion of the RSUs will immediatelgtvas of the date of such Termination of
Employment.

5. Potential Reduction in Payments Due to Excise Xaln the event that a Participant becomes entitldueteefits under the 2010 LTIP, then
such benefits, together with any payment or comattn in the nature of value or compensation tépothe Participant’s benefit under any
other agreement with or plan of Delta, shall bgestttio reduction as set forth in Section 4(e)haf 2009 Delta Air Lines, Inc. Officer and
Director Severance Plan, which relates to the exteis under Section 4999 of the Code. Nothing i $ection 5 is intended to amend or
modify the excise tax provisions applicable to anystanding awards under the 2007 Performancedréaried to a Participant, to the extent
applicable, prior to October 20, 2009.

6. Definitions. For purposes of the 2010 LTIP, the following defons are hereby modified as set forth below arntlagply in lieu of the
definitions set forth in the 2007 Performance Rlaas modified, as applicable.

(@) For purposes of the 2010 LTI* Change in Control” shall have the meaning set forth in the 2007 Perdmice Plan except that t
merger of a subsidiary of Delta with and into Narést Airlines Corporation on October 29, 2008 (thderger "), will not be
considered a Change in Contr

(b) For purposes of the 2010 LTIPGbod Reaso” shall have the meaning set forth in the 2007 Perdmrice Plan except: (i) any long-
term award made to a Participant under the 200fofPeaince Plan, (ii) any other equity-based awardstloer incentive compensation
awards made to a Participant by any of Delta (grAsfiliate) or Northwest (or any subsidiary) at prior to the closing of the Merger,
(i) any retention payment or special travel batsgfrovided to a Participant as a result of his@rinitial employment with Delta or
any Affiliate and (iv) the elimination of pc-retirement
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coverage under the Compi's executive life insurance program, will be ignofedpurposes of determining whether a Participeas
suffered a reduction that constitutes Good Reasdenthe 2010 LTIP. Furthermore, with respect tp Rarticipant who was employ
by Northwest or any subsidiary thereof immediafeipr to the closing of the Merger, all compensatimd benefit programs provided
to such Participant prior to the Merger by Northin@asany subsidiary thereof, including, without tiaiion, the Participant’s base
salary, will be ignored for purposes of determinimigether a Participant has suffered a reductiondbiastitutes Good Reason under
the 2010 LTIP

(c) For purposes of the 2010 LTI* Retirement” means a Termination of Employment (other than fausg or death) either: (i) on
after a Participant’s 6% birthday provided that such Participant has coneplett least 5 years service with the Company (or an
Affiliate) or Northwest (or a subsidiary); or (idn or after a Participant’'s $2birthday provided that such Participant has coneglett
least 10 years service with the Company (or anliAfé) or Northwest (or a subsidian

7. Clawback. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the @QT P, if the Committee determines that a vicesjtent or more senior
officer level Participant has engaged in fraud @aonduct that caused, in whole or in part, thedrfeea required restatement of Delta’s
financial statements filed with the Securities &x¢hange Commission, the Committee will reviewiradkentive compensation awarded to or
earned by the Participant, including, without liation, any Award under the 2010 LTIP, with resgediscal periods materially affected by 1
restatement and may recover from the Participdisuah incentive compensation to the extent thatGbhmmittee deems appropriate after
taking into account the relevant facts and circamsgs. Any recoupment hereunder may be in addibi@my other remedies that may be
available to Delta under applicable law, includidigciplinary action up to and including terminatiof employment.
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EXHIBIT 10.15(b)

DELTA AIR LINES, INC. 2009 MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLA N RESTRICTED
STOCK AWARD AGREEMENT

Date of this Agreement:
Grant Date:

[Name]

This Award Agreement (the “ Agreeméftdescribes some of the terms of your award (thevard”) under the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2009
Management Incentive Plan (which is subject toRk#a Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performance Compensaitan) (the “ 2009 MIP). Your
Award is subject to the terms of the 2009 MIP drid Agreement. Capitalized terms that are usechdubtherwise defined in this Agreement
have the meaning set forth in the 2009 MIP. In pfdethis Award to remain effective, you must gaicthe Award in accordance with
Section 9 below on or before the date that is 3&nckar days after the date of this Agreement (tAeceptance Dat8. If you do not accept tt
Award as required, the Award and this Agreemenitldtome void and of no further effect as of 5:80 pastern Time on the Acceptance
Date.

1. Summary of Award. You are hereby awarded, on the Grant Date aboee' @rant Dat€), Restricted Stock for NUMBER] shares of
Delta Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per shamn3 applicable to your Award, including the lapsofdhe Restrictions on your Restricted
Stock and the forfeitability of your Award, are inded in the 2009 MIP.

2. Restrictive Covenants In exchange for the Award, you hereby agree asviall

(a) Trade SecretsYou hereby acknowledge that during the term of y@aployment with Delta Air Lines, Inc., its subsides and
affiliates (“ Delta”), you have acquired and will continue to acqwirowledge of secret, confidential and proprietafgimation regarding
Delta and its business that fits within the defaritof “trade secrets” under the law of the Stdt&eorgia, including, without limitation,
information regarding Delta’s present and futureragions, its financial operations, marketing pland strategies, alliance agreements and
relationships, its compensation and incentive @ogy for employees, and the business methods usBdltayand its employees, and other
information which derives economic value, actugpotential, from not being generally known to, avud being readily ascertainable by
proper means by, other persons who can obtain etsicn@lue from its disclosure or use, and is thgjestt of efforts that are reasonable
under the circumstances to maintain its secreagh(em” Trade Secré}. You hereby agree that for so long as such mftion remains a
Trade Secret as defined by Georgia law, you wildifio a fiduciary capacity for the benefit of Deliad shall not directly or indirectly make
use of, on your own behalf or on behalf of othars; Trade Secret, or transmit, reveal or disclogeTaade Secret to any person, concern or
entity. Nothing in this Agreement is intended, balkbe construed, to limit the protections of amplicable law protecting trade secrets.

(b) Confidential or Proprietary Information. You further agree that you will hold in a fiduciacgpacity for the benefit of Delta, and,
during the term of your employment with Delta andthe two year period after such employment teat@s, shall not directly or indirectly
use or disclose, any Confidential or Proprietafpimation, as defined hereinafter, that you acq(irdeether or not developed or compiled
by you and whether or not you were authorized teelaccess to such Confidential or Proprietary miotion) during the term of, in the
course of, or as a result of your employment bytdeubject to the provisions set forth below,tdren “ Confidential or Proprietary
Information” as used in this Agreement means the followingeteconfidential and proprietary information ofli2enot otherwise included
in the definition of Trade




Secret: all marketing, alliance, advertising arldsalans and strategies; all pricing informatialhfinancial, advertising and product
development plans and strategies; all compensatidrincentive programs for employees; all alliaageeements, plans and processes; all
plans, strategies, and agreements related to hefassets; all third party provider agreememtgtionships, and strategies; all business
methods and processes used by Delta and its engglogkt personally identifiable information regangliDelta employees, contractors, and
applicants; and all lists of actual or potentiastaumers or suppliers maintained by Delta. The t&onfidential or Proprietary Information”
does not include information that has become gdlgexaailable to the public by the act of one wtastihe right to disclose such
information. Nothing in this Agreement is intended shall be construed, to limit the protectionsny applicable law protecting
confidential or proprietary information.

(c) Employee Non-Solicitation Agreemeriduring the term of your employment with Delta andidg the one-year period following the
termination of such employment, you will not dilgatr indirectly (on your own behalf or on behaffany other person, company,
partnership, corporation or other entity), emplowalicit for employment any individual who is a neement or professional employee of
Delta for employment with any entity or person otthen Delta or solicit, encourage or induce arghguerson to terminate their
employment with Delta. The restrictions set fortthis Section shall be limited to those Delta nggamaent or professional employees who:
(i) were employed by Delta during your employmemaisupervisory or administrative job; and (ii)iwithom you had material professional
contact during your employment with Delta.

(d) Non-Competition AgreementYou acknowledge that Delta competes in a worldvgdesenger air travel market, and Delta’s
business plan is increasingly international in gcofou also acknowledge that although Delta’s bessmlan focuses on international air
travel as a growing and important component, doimesttravel service will continue to be critidal Delta’s success and will remain a
primary focus of its overall air travel businessuyacknowledge that the airlines listed below aiqular competitors to Delta in the
domestic or international market, and employmertomsulting with any of the listed carriers woutéa@e more harm to Delta than relative
to your possible employment or consulting with othie passenger carriers or air cargo carriers. &gnee that the restrictions placed on you
under this paragraph will not prevent you from @agra livelihood, given the large number of worldeiand domestic passenger and cargo
air carriers not included in the list below. Durithg term of your employment with Delta and for tmee-year period following the
termination of such employment, you will not on yawn behalf or on behalf of any person, firm, parship, association, corporation or
business organization, entity or enterprise, p@tite same or substantially similar services, asnaployee, consultant, partner, or in any
other capacity, to any of the following entitiedhieh you hereby acknowledge are all competito®eita: AMR Corporation, American
Airlines, Inc., Continental Airlines, Inc., SouthstéAirlines Co., UAL Corporation, United Air LineBjc., US Airways Group, Inc., US
Airways, Inc., JetBlue Airways Corporation, AirTrétoldings, Inc., or AirTran Airways, Inc. (indiviélly and collectively, the Competito
™). This restriction shall only apply to the extehat you may not provide services to the Compet{a while working within a fifty (50)
mile radius of the city limits of Atlanta, Georgiar, (b) while working out of or within a fifty (5Qnile radius of the corporate headquartel
a major hub operation of the Competitor.

(e) Return of Property You hereby agree that all property belonging tot®ehcluding records, files, memoranda, reporesspnnel
information (including benefit files, training rets, customer lists, operating procedure manuafsetysmanuals, financial statements, price
lists and the like), relating to the business ok@eavith which you come in contact in the cour§gaur
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employment (hereinafter “ DeltaMaterials’) shall, as between the parties hereto, remain tlegpsoperty of Delta. You hereby warrant 1
you shall promptly return all originals and cop@éDelta’s Materials to Delta at the time your emyphent terminates.

() Cooperation.You hereby agree that you shall, both during aber gour employment with Delta, to the extent resiad in writing
and reasonable under the circumstances, coopeitatamd serve in any capacity requested by Deltninpending or future litigation in
which Delta has an interest, and regarding whialn Yy virtue of your employment with Delta, haveolriedge or information relevant to
the litigation.

(g) Clawback. If you are an officer of Delta at or above the VRmsident level, you hereby agree that if the Cdteendetermines that
you have engaged in fraud or misconduct that causedole or in part, the need for a requiredatsnent of Delta’s financial statements
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiba,Committee will review all incentive compensatawarded to or earned by you,
including, without limitation, your Award, with rpect to fiscal periods materially affected by thstatement and may recover from you all
such incentive compensation to the extent the Cdteendeems appropriate after taking into accowntelevant facts and circumstances.
Any recoupment hereunder may be in addition toathgr remedies that may be available to Delta uagplicable law, including,
disciplinary action up to and including terminatiohemployment.

. Dispute Resolution.

(a) Arbitration. You hereby agree that except as expressly setliettw, all disputes and any claims arising oubrofinder or relating -
the Award or this Agreement, including without Itation any dispute or controversy as to the valjditterpretation, construction,
application, performance, breach or enforcemettisfAgreement, shall be submitted for, and setifgdnandatory, final and binding
arbitration in accordance with the Commercial Adtibn Rules then prevailing of the American Arhifton Association. Unless an
alternative locale is otherwise agreed in writiygthe parties to this Agreement, the arbitratioallshe conducted in the City of Wilmington,
Delaware. The arbitrator will apply Delaware lawthe merits of any dispute or claim without referemo rules of conflicts of law. Any
award rendered by the arbitrator shall provideftileemedies available to the parties under thgliagble law and shall be final and binding
on each of the parties hereto and their heirs, @res, administrators, successors and assignsudgdient may be entered thereon in any
court having jurisdiction. You hereby consent te gersonal jurisdiction of the state and federalisoin the State of Delaware, with venue
in Wilmington, for any action or proceeding arisifngm or relating to any arbitration under this Agment. The prevailing party in any such
arbitration shall be entitled to an award by thgteator of all reasonable attorneys’ fees and agpe incurred in connection with the
arbitration. However, Delta will pay all fees assbed with the American Arbitration Association ahé arbitrator. All parties must initial
here for this Section 3 to be effective:

[NAME]
Robert L. Kigh—Vice Preside—Compensation, Benefits and Services Delta Air Lithes.

(b) Injunctive Relief in Aid of Arbitration; ForumSelection.You hereby
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acknowledge and agree that the provisions contam8&ection 2 of this Agreement are reasonably ssary to protect the legitimate
business interests of Delta, and that any breaampbf these provisions will result in immediatedarreparable injury to Delta for which
monetary damages will not be an adequate remedy fifther acknowledge that if any such provisiobrsached or threatened to be
breached, Delta will be entitled to seek a temporastraining order, preliminary injunction or ottegjuitable relief in aid of arbitration in
any court of competent jurisdiction without the eggity of posting a bond, restraining you from guarihg to commit any violation of the
covenants, and you hereby irrevocably consenteaqguitisdiction of the state and federal courtshef $tate of Delaware, with venue in
Wilmington, which shall have jurisdiction to heardadetermine any claim for a temporary restrairdrder, preliminary injunction or other
equitable relief brought against you by Delta ith @i arbitration.

(c) Consequences of Breackurthermore, you acknowledge that, in partial coesition for the Award described in the 2009 Ml an
this Agreement, Delta is requiring that you agiearid comply with the terms of Section 2 and yoebg agree that without limiting any of
the foregoing, should you violate any of the covesancluded in Section 2 above, you will not bétkd to and shall not receive any
Awards under the 2009 MIP and this Agreement arydoaristanding Awards will be forfeited.

(d) Tolling . You further agree that in the event the enforcéstoF any of the restrictions as set forth in $aet2 of this Agreement are
challenged and you are not preliminarily or otheevénjoined from breaching such restriction(s) pend final determination of the issues,
then, if an arbitrator finds that the challengestnietion(s) is enforceable, the time period settfin such Section shall be deemed tolled
upon the filing of the arbitration or action seekinjunctive or other equitable relief in aid obération, whichever is first in time, until the
dispute is finally resolved and all periods of agldeave expired.

(e) Governing Law Unless governed by federal law, this Agreementl &ieagjoverned by and construed in accordance Wwéhaws of
the State of Delaware, without regard to princiésonflicts of laws of that State.

(f) Waiver of Jury Trial. TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY LAW, YOU HEREB Y KNOWINGLY,
VOLUNTARILY, AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVE THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN CONNECTION WITH ANY
MATTER ARISING OUT OF, UNDER, IN CONNECTION WITH, O R IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS AGREEMENT. THIS
INCLUDES, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY DISPUTE CONCERNIN G ANY COURSE OF CONDUCT, COURSE OF DEALING,
STATEMENT (WHETHER VERBAL OR WRITTEN), OR ACTION OF DELTA OR YOU, OR ANY EXERCISE BY DELTA OR
YOU OF OUR RESPECTIVE RIGHTS UNDER THIS AGREEMENT O R IN ANY WAY RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT.
YOU FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THIS WAIVER IS A MATER |AL INDUCEMENT FOR DELTA TO ISSUE AND
ACCEPT THIS AGREEMENT.

4. Validity; Severability . In the event that one or more of the provisiondaioed in this Agreement shall for any reason hd mwalid,
illegal, or unenforceable in any respect, suchingldhall not affect any other provisions in thigréement, but this Agreement shall be
construed as if such invalid, illegal, or unenfatgle provisions had never been contained herei@.iMfalidity, illegality or unenforceability ¢
any provision or provisions of this Agreement widit affect the validity or enforceability of anyhet provision of this Agreement, which will
remain in full force and effect.




5. Authority of the Committee . You acknowledge and agree that the Committe¢heasole and complete authority and discretion to
construe and interpret the terms of the 2009 MiéPthis Agreement. All determinations of the Comestshall be final and binding for all
purposes and upon all persons, including, withiooitation, you and Delta, and your heirs and susoes The Committee shall be under no
obligation to construe this Agreement or treatAleard in a manner consistent with the treatmenvigied with respect to other Awards or
Participants.

6. Amendment. This Agreement may not be amended or modified edagpvritten agreement signed by you and Delta.

7. Acknowledgement By signing this Agreement: (a) you acknowledge tfat have had a full and adequate opportunity &ad tais
Agreement and you agree with every term and prowikierein, including without limitation, the terr&Sections 2, 3, 4, and 5; (b) you
acknowledge that you have received and had afidllsalequate opportunity to read the 2009 MIP; ¢éc) ggree, on behalf of yourself and on
behalf of any designated beneficiary and your heixecutors, administrators and personal repretbeggato all of the terms and conditions
contained in this Agreement and the 2009 MIP; a)d/¢u consent to receive all material regarding amards under the 2009 MIP, including
any prospectuses, electronically with an e-mailfigation to your work e-mail address.

8. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the 2009 MIP (then®of which are made a part of this Agreement aed a
incorporated into this Agreement by reference) stitute the entire agreement between you and Defkarespect to the Award.

9. Acceptance of this Award If you agree to all of the terms of this Agreemantl would like to accept this Award, you must saga
date the Agreement where indicated below and,ufdo not accept this Award electronically, retunnoaiginal signed version of this
Agreement to Mary Steele, either by hand or by teaidepartment 936, P.O. Box 20706, Atlanta, GeoB§i320, as set forth on page 1 of this
Agreement. If you have any questions regarding tioaccept your Award, please contact Ms. SteeféGt) 715-6333. Delta hereby
acknowledges and agrees that its legal obligatondke the Award to you shall become effective wyamnsign this Agreement.

10. Electronic Signature. All references to signatures and delivery of docoisién this Agreement can be satisfied by procesithat the
Company has established or may establish for atretéc signature system for delivery and accemarfany such documents, including this
Agreement. Your electronic signature is the sameard shall have the same force and effect as,ipamual signature. Any such procedures
and delivery may be effected by a third party emgldgy the Company to provide administrative ses/iegated to the 2009 MIP.
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You and Delta, each intending to be bound legallyee to the matters set forth above by signirgAlgreement, all as of the date set forth
below.

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
By:

Name: Robert L. Kight
Title: Vice President Compensation, Benefits

Services
PARTICIPANT
[NAME]
Date:
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Exhibit 10.17

DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
2010 MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purpose.The 2010 Management Incentive Plan (thdIP ) is an annual incentive program sponsored bydalt Lines, Inc. (“Delta” or
the “Company”) that is intended to: (a) closely link pay andfpemance by providing management employees withrapensation
opportunity based on Delta’s achieving key busimas goals in 2010; and (b) align the interestmahagement employees with the
Company’s other employees and stakeholders. TheidthRing adopted under, and is subject to thegerfinthe Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007
Performance Compensation Plan (tH2007 Plan”). Capitalized terms that are used but not defiimetthe MIP shall have the meaning ascribed

to them in the 2007 Plan.

2. Plan Administration . (a) The Personnel & Compensation Committee oBth&rd of Directors (the Committee ") shall be responsible for
the general administration and interpretation efMiP and for carrying out its provisions. The Coittee shall have such powers as may be
necessary to discharge its duties hereunder, imgudithout limitation, the following powers andities, but subject to the terms of the MIP:

(i) authority to construe and interpret thente of the MIP, and to determine eligibility, awarhd the amount, manner and time of
payment of any awards hereunder;

(i) authority to prescribe forms and procestufor purposes of MIP participation and distribntof awards;

(iif) authority to adopt rules and regulaticargd to take such actions as it deems necessdgsoable for the proper administration of the
MIP; and

(iv) authority at any time prior to a Changedontrol to eliminate or reduce the actual payowtny Participant in the MIP.,

(b) Any rule or decision by the Committee tisamot inconsistent with the provisions of the Mirall be conclusive and binding on all
persons, and shall be given the maximum defereeceified by law.

(c) Notwithstanding anything contained in #3897 Plan to the contrary, the Committee shallhase the authority to increase the actual
payout to any Participant in the MIP.

3. Eligibility. All Delta employees worldwide who are officers, ragimg directors, directors, grade 11, grade 10ade8 (other than
employees who participate in a sales incentive)@am eligible to participate in the MIP Participants ).

4. MIP Awards.

1 For purposes of the MIP, the merger of a subsidiDelta with and into Northwest Airlines Corpdion on October 29, 2008 shall not
be considered a Change in Cont




(a) General.The MIP award (the MIP Award ") each Participant receives, if any, will be based (i) the Participant’s Target MIP
Award, as defined below; (ii) the level of achievarhwithin each applicable performance measure{i@jthe occurrence of a payout for 2(
under the Company’s broad-based employee profiirgharogram (the Profit Sharing Program "), as described below. Certain additional
requirements will apply to any Participant who ismoyed by the Company as an executive vice prasiglemore senior officer or holds the
position of general counsel or chief financial oéfi of the Company Executive Officer Participant "), as discussed in Section 7(b) below.

(b) Performance MeasuresThe performance measures used will be one or pfdieancial (“Financial Performance”), operational (“
Operational Performance”), merger integration (Merger Integration Performance "), leadership effectiveness (‘eadership
Effectiveness Performancé) and individual performance (hdividual Performance ”). Achievement under each performance measure may
range from below threshold, at which there is ngopd, to the maximum performance level, at whioh playout will be greater than the target
level, subject to Section 4(c) below.

(c) Interaction with Profit Sharing Prograntf. there is no payout under the Profit Sharing Paagfor 2010, (i) no amount will be paid with
respect to Financial Performance to any Participagérdless of whether Delta meets or exceedgp#réirmance measure and (i) the actual
MIP Award, if any, will not exceed the Participafarget MIP Award (as defined below).

(d) Target MIP AwardsThe Target MIP Award for each Participant will bgpeessed as a percentage of the Participant’s AiBase
Salary (the “Target MIP Award ") as determined by the Committee and will be comitated to Participants in such manner as the
Committee deems appropriate. Subject to Sectiogl@\h “ Annual Base Salary”means the Participant’s 2010 annual base salaryeffect
on December 31, 2010.

5. Weighting of Performance MeasuresSubject to Section 8 below, a percentage of eadicipant’'s Target MIP Award is allocated to one
or more of Financial Performance, Operational Rerémce, Merger Integration Performance, Leadersffgctiveness Performance and/or
Individual Performance based on the Participantipleyment level, as follows:
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Performance Measures and Weighting

% of Target

% of Target

MIP Award MIP Award

allocated tc allocated tc
Employment Financial Operationa
Level Performanc Performanc
(A) (B) ©)
CEO 33% 33%
Presiden 33% 33%
COO 33% 33%
EVP 33% 33%
CFO and General Couns 33% 33%
SVP 30% 30%
VP 30% 30%
Managing Directo 30% 30%
Director 30% 30%
Grade 11 25% 25%
Grade 1( 0% 0%
Grade € 0% 0%

% of Target
MIP Award
Allocated to
Merger
Integration
Performanc

D)
34%
34%
34%
34%
34%
30%
30%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

% of Target
MIP Award
allocated tc
Leadershif
Effectivenes
Performance

(E)
0%
0%
0%
0%
0%

10%

10%
0%
0%

0%
0%
0%

% of Target
MIP Award
allocated tc
Individual

Performanc

(I

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%

0%
40%
40%

50%
100%
100%

6. The Performance Measures—Threshold, Target and Bkimum Payout Levels.The Target MIP Award, and the amounts paid in
connection with target levels of Financial, Operaé#l, Merger Integration, Leadership Effectivenassl Individual Performance, are based on
the achievement of the target performance level véispect to each applicable performance measxeceethat Financial Performance also
requires a payout under the Profit Sharing Progmar010). A Participant’s actual MIP Award may dpeater or less than the target amount
based on whether performance under one or moteegigrformance measures applicable to the Panticgaeeds or is below target
performance, subject to Section 4(c) above. Thexgained in more detail below.

(a) Financial Performance Measure§ he Financial Performance measures for 2010asedon Delta’s Pre-Tax Income, as defined
below. The following table describes the perforneranges and award payout levels for 2010 FinaRe&gbrmance, subject to Section 4(c)

above:




Threshold Target Maximum
% of Target Financial Performance Measure P 50% 100% 200%

Required 2010 P-Tax Income $328 million $489 million $650 million

Payouts will be straight-line interpolated when-FPex Income results fall above Threshold and belanget or above Target and below
Maximum.

“Pre-Tax Income” will be the amount of Pre-Tax Income, if any, detigred under the Profit Sharing Program for 2¢10.

(b) Operational Performance Measurdhe Operational Performance measures for 2010asedon both Delta and Delta Connection
operational performance, with (i) Delta’s operatibperformance accounting for 75% of the measude(@nDelta Connection performance
accounting for 25% of the measure. Delta’s Openafi®erformance is based on the number of timaag@010 that Delta meets or exceeds
its monthly goals under the broad-based employaeesirewards program (theShared Rewards Progran’). Delta Connection’s
Operational Performance is based on the numbémektduring 2010 that the Delta Connection carmeegt or exceed their monthly
operational goals for (x) completion factor and ggp}time performance (theDelta Connection Goals’). The Delta Connection Goals and the
methodology for determining whether these goalsvatare described xhibit A hereto. The following table describes the perforogan
ranges and award payout levels for 2010 Operatidegbrmance, subject to Section 4(c) above:

2 The Profit Sharing Program for 2010 defii“ Pre-Tax Incom( as follows: for any calendar year, the Comy’s consolidated p-tax
income calculated in accordance with Generally fteg Accounting Principles in the United States asideported in the Company’s
public securities filings but excluding: (a) allsas write downs related to long term assets, (In)sgar losses with respect to employee
equity securities, (c) gains or losses with respeeixtraordinary, one-time or non-recurring evemntsluding without limitation one-time
transition or integration costs incurred in conf@twith the merger of the Company and Northweslidés Corporation during the two
year period following the merger), and (d) expesserued with respect to the profit sharing p
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Below Threshold Threshold Target Maximum

Shared RewardsProgram

% of Target Payout for this Performance Measure/75
Weighting) 0% 37.50% 75% 150%

Number of monthly Shared Rewards Program g
actually met during 201 15 or less 16 21 26 or more

Delta Connection Goals

% of Target Payout for this Performance Measure/:
Weighting) 0% 12.50% 25% 50%

Number of Delta Connection Goals actually met dy
2010 8 or less 9 14 19 or more

Payouts based on the Shared Rewards Program ated@minection Goals will be straight-line intergethwhen actual performance results
fall above Threshold and below Target or above @aagd below Maximum.

(c) Merger Integration Performance Measur@fie Merger Integration Performance measures fo@ 20l be measured based on the
achievement of quantifiable synergies as a refulteomerger of a wholly owned subsidiary of Delfigh and into Northwest Airlines
Corporation on October 29, 2008 (th&érger ), including, without limitation, expense reduat® (including a decrease in cost per available
seat mile); an increase in revenue or revenue gr@wtluding an increase in revenue per availabs mile); and productivity and process
improvement. Company management will periodicadigart to the Company’s Board of Directors regarditerger synergies. The following
table describes the performance ranges and awgadipevels for 2010 Merger Integration Performarstéject to Section 4(c) above:

Below Threshold Threshold Target Maximum
% of Target Merger Integratio
Measure Paic 0% 50% 100% 200%
Quantifiable Merger Synergit Less than $1,434 millio $1,434 million $1,600 million $1,766 million

Payouts based on Merger Integration Performandéwistraight-line interpolated when actual perfante results fall above Threshold and
below Target or above Target and below Maximum.

(d) Leadership Effectiveness Performance Measiiiee Leadership Effectiveness Performance medapmicable to Participants who are
Vice Presidents or Senior Vice Presidents (othan #my Executive Officer Participants) for 2010/ w# based on an evaluation of whether a
Participant has demonstrated leadership attritartdsresults during 2010 including, among otherghjrsupporting diversity, providing talent
management, meeting financial budget, and beimyeanodel for the Rules of the Road.
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The performance ranges and award payout leveldwitletermined by the Committee, subject to Sed{opabove.

(e) Individual Performance Measur&he Individual Performance measure (applicableaxi@pants who are not officers) is generally
determined by each Participant’s Leader Performae@agement evaluation (PM ") at the end of 2010. The performance ranges andd:
payout levels will be determined by the Commitaehject to Section 4(c) above.

7. Timing of Award Payments.

(a) In General.Subject to Sections 7(b) and 8(a) below, any paytua Participant under the MIP for 2010 will badwe in cash, as soon as
practicable after (i) the Committee certifies tlehiavement of the required Financial Performangegr@ional Performance and Merger
Integration Performance results and (ii) where igpple, Leadership Effectiveness Performance resalte been determined and an LPM
evaluation has been completed, but in no eventtlatgen March 15, 2011, unless it is administratiieipracticable to do so, and such
impracticability was unforeseeable at the end df®®0n which case such payment shall be made asaoadministratively practicable after
March 15, 2011. Further, unless a payout for 20ideuthe Profit Sharing Program occurs after Margh2011, any payout under the 2010
MIP will not be made prior to a payout for 2010 enthe Profit Sharing Programprovided, howeverif it is determined there will be no pay:
for 2010 under the Profit Sharing Program, any Mifards that are payable based on Operational Peafioce, Merger Integration
Performance, Leader Effectiveness Performancedivittual Performance will be paid as soon as pcable thereafter, but in no event later
than March 15, 2011, unless it is administrativedpracticable to do so, and such impracticabiligswnforeseeable at the end of 2010, in
which case such payment shall be made as soonrasisilatively practicable after March 15, 2011.

(b) Executive Officer Participant®ayouts under the MIP to Participants who, as afeber 31, 2010, are Executive Officer Participants
will be subject to the following terms and conditso

(i) Payment in Restricted Stacl there is no payout under the Profit SharinggPam for 2010, any payout under the MIP to an
Executive Officer Participant will be made in shaof Restricted Stock rather than in cash, withrtliber of shares of Restricted Stock
being equal to the result of the following form{laMIP Restricted Stock”): A + B, where3:

A = the amount of the payout to the Executive GifiParticipant under the MIP had the payout beetlenracash; and

B = the closing price of a Share on the New Yorhc&tExchange on the later of (1) the date thatbmmittee approves the payouts,
if any, to the Executive Officer Participants unter MIP following the Committee’s certification tife achievement of the required
performance measures as described in Section ifda(Pa the third business day following the date on

3 If this formula results in any fractional shareg MIP Restricted Stock will be rounded up to tharest whole shar
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which the Company publicly announces its annuarfiial results if this date is scheduled in theesamonth that the Committee appro
such payouts, if any.

(i) Lapsing of Restrictions; ForfeituraJntil the restrictions imposed by this Sectiob){i{) (the “ Restrictions”) have lapsed pursuant
to the terms below, an Executive Officer Partictpaitl not be permitted to sell, exchange, asstgmsfer, pledge or otherwise dispose of
the MIP Restricted Stock and the MIP Restrictedtlstwill be subject to forfeiture as set forth below

(A) The Restrictions shall lapse #edof no further force or effect on the earlieths date (1) there is a payout under the Profit
Sharing Program unless, prior to such payout, ttexttive Officer Participant incurs a Disqualifyifigrmination of Employment or
(2) an Executive Officer Participant incurs a Qfyatig Termination of Employment. The MIP Restrict8tbck will be immediately
forfeited if, prior to the lapsing of the Restramis, the Executive Officer Participant incurs addalifying Termination of Employment.

(B) “Disqualifying Termination of Employment ” means an Executive Officer Participant’s Termioatof Employment by
the Company for Cause.

(C) "‘Qualifying Termination of Employment ” means an Executive Officer Participant’s Termioatof Employment (1) by
the Company without Cause; or (2) due to deathisalility.

(D) For purposes of this Section){@{y if an Executive Officer Participant incursT@rmination of Employment by reason of
(1) a voluntary resignation (including the Terminatof Employment by the Participant if he is enyad by an Affiliate at the time the
Company sells or otherwise divests itself of suéfiliate); or (2) Retirement, the Restrictions dHapse and be of no further force or
effect on the date there is a payout under thetFhéring Program as if such Executive Officertiegrant’s employment had continued
through such date.

(E) For purposes of the MIFRétirement” means a Termination of Employment (other thanGause or death) either: (1) on
or after a Participant’s 62 birthday provided that such Participant has coneplett least 5 years service with the Company (or an
Affiliate) or Northwest (or a subsidiary); or (2hor after a Participant’s 82 birthday provided that such Participant has coneplett
least 10 years service with the Company (or anliafé) or Northwest (or a subsidiary).

(ii)_Dividends In the event a cash dividend shall be paid ipeesof Shares at a time the Restrictions on thie Ristricted
Stock have not lapsed, the Participant shall lughddi to receive the dividend upon the lapse ofRkstrictions. The Restrictions shall
apply to any such dividend.




(iv) 2007 Plan; Written NoticeThe MIP Restricted Stock will otherwise be subjeche terms of the 2007 Plan. In the event any
Executive Officer Participant’s MIP Award is contet to MIP Restricted Stock, such Participant vétteive a written notice of such
conversion with the details thereof as soon astipedie after the MIP Payment Date.

8. Change in Employment Status.

(a) Termination of Employment .

(A Termination Event in 2010—Generakcept as expressly set forth in this Section 8héevent a Participant's employment with
Delta terminates for any reason prior to the enthefworkday on December 31, 2010, such Participéhbe ineligible for any award und
the MIP. In other words, if a Participant is emmdyaccording to Company records through the erldeofvorkday on December 31, 2010,
the Participant will be eligible for any award eadrunder the MIP for 2010, including, if applicatlélP Restricted Stock.

(i) Termination on or after January 1, 2013ubject to Section 7(b) above, a Participant witaiig a Termination of Employment for
any reason other than for Cause on or after Jariy&@911 will remain eligible for any unpaid MIP &wd, which award will be paid
according to the terms of Section 7(a) above. Ai€pant who is terminated by the Company for Camser after January 1, 2011 will
forfeit any unpaid MIP Award.

(iii) Pro Rata MIP Payment.

(A)Death, Disability or RetirementThis Section 8(a)(iii)(A) applies to any Partiaig who incurs a Termination of
Employment prior to January 1, 2011 due to theiétpant’'s death, Disability or Retirement (as stetm is defined in Section 7(b)(ii)
(D)). Subject to the Participant’s execution of @iwer and release of claims in a form and mannisfaatory to the Company, such
Participant, or his estate, will be eligible toeae a MIP Award based on an adjusted annual keaeysamount, but otherwise in the
same manner, to the same extent and at the samasithe Participant would have received such MM if such Participant’s
employment had continued through December 31, 20&0, based on achievement of applicable performanaesures). The most
recent LPM prior to the Termination of Employmerill wenerally apply to the Individual Performanceasure, if any, applicable to
the Participant. The Participant’s Annual Base §aléll be the result of the following formula: X ¥/12, where:

X = the Participant’s annual base salary as incetis of the date of Termination of Employment; and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participaas actively employed by Delta during 2010 in a MiRjible position,
rounded up for any partial month.

4 For purposes of the MIP, one calendar month isutatied from the date of measurement to the ¢
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(B)Termination of Employment Without Cause or ReqyitirBenefits under the Severance Plan

(1) In Genera. This Section 8(a)(iii)(B)(1) applies to any Paiiiant (other than an Executive Officer Participamto incurs ¢
Termination of Employment prior to January 1, 2@l to either (1) a Termination of Employment bg tbompany without
Cause, or (ll) for any other reason that entitleshsParticipant to benefits under the Delta Airdsninc. 2007 or 2009 Officer
and Director Severance Plan (thBéverance Plarf). Subject to the Participant’s execution of awesiand release of claims
in a form and manner satisfactory to the Compangh $articipant will be eligible to receive a Prat&MIP Payment made
cash as soon as practicable after a Participaetiifiation of Employment, but in no event latemt2&/ 2 months following
the end of the year in which the Termination of Esgment occurs. Pro Rata MIP Payment” means the result of the
following formula: W x Z/12, where

W = the Participar's Target MIP Award; an

Z = the number of calendar months the Participaa# actively employed by Delta during 2010 in a -eligible position,
rounded up for any partial mont

(2) Executive Officer ParticipantsThis Section 8(a)(iii)(B)(2) applies to any Exé&ea Officer Participant who incurs a
Termination of Employment prior to January 1, 2@l to either (1) a Termination of Employment bg tBompany without
Cause, or (ll) for any other reason that entitleshsExecutive Officer Participant to benefits unther Severance Plan. Subject
to the Executive Officer Participant’s executioraofvaiver and release of claims in a form and masatsfactory to the
Company, such Executive Officer Participant willdggible to receive a MIP Award based on an adjdstnnual base salary
amount, but otherwise in the same manner, to the &xtent and at the same time as the ExecutiviegdfParticipant would
have received such MIP Award if such Executive €&ffiParticipant’s employment had continued throbDgbember 31, 2010
(i.e., based on achievement of applicable performanaesures). The Executive Officer Participan®nnual Base Salary w
be determined in accordance with the formula sghfim Section 8(a)(iii)(A)

or closest numerical date occurring during theofelhg month. For example, one calendar month framudry 31, 2010 will elapse as of
February 28, 2010, two months will elapse on M&th2010, and so on.
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(b) Other Changes in Employment Status The terms of this Section 8(b) shall apply to anstances involving new hires, promotions,
demotions, transfers or leaves of absence durit§.28fter a Participant’'s Target MIP Award is detémed under this Section 8(b), the
appropriate weighting of performance measuresapifily to each portion of such Target MIP Award etsfarth in Section 5 above. For partial
calendar months, the change in employment statibevconsidered effective as of thétday of the month in which there is a change irust
The end of year LPM will apply to any IndividualiR@mance measure applicable to the Participargasiihe Participant is no longer subject
to the LPM process after the change in employmiatas, in which case the most recent LPM will apglgry MIP Awards payable under this
Section 8(b) will be paid at the same time anchangame manner as such awards are paid to activepzants, subject to Section 7(b) above.

(i) New Hires With respect to any individual who becomes empladygdelta as a grade 8 or any more senior MIP{gkgposition
during 2010 but after January 1, 2010, such indiaidvill be a Participant in the MIP and will begéble to receive an award under the MIP
for 2010;provided,that such Participant’s Annual Base Salary wiltte result of the following formula: X x Y/12, wheer

X = the Participant’s annual base salary as of Ber 31, 2010; and

Y = the number of calendar months the Participaas actively employed by Delta in a MIP-eligible pios during 2010, rounded up for
any partial month.

(if) Promotions Participants who are either promoted into a MIRible job level or promoted into a higher levelMiP participation
during 2010 will have their Target MIP Award calatdd based on their annual base salary at eactelgjiBle job level (measured as of the
date immediately prior to the date the promotioodssidered effective for purposes of the MIP piplécable, as described in the first
paragraph of Section 8(b) above, and as of DeceBhet010) and the number of calendar months therg wmployed in each such
capacity, multiplied by the relevant total targetad percentage applicable to their position oiitposs during the relevant period.

(iii) DemotionsParticipants who are either demoted to a positiamnis not eligible to participate in the MIP omuigted to a lower level
of MIP participation during 2010 will have their it MIP Award calculated based on their annuaélsadary at each MIP-eligible job
level (measured as of the date immediately prigdhéodate the demotion is considered effectivetoposes of the MIP, as described in the
first paragraph of Section 8(b) above, and, if eyaylile, as of December 31, 2010) and the numbealehdar months they were employe!
each such capacity, multiplied by the relevantl tiatayet award percentage applicable to their ositr positions during the relevant peri

(iv) Transfers and Leaves of Absenicethe event that during 2010 a Participant trarsséenployment from Delta to a Delta subsidiary or
affiliate that does not participate in the MIP, extithan a transfer to the Delta Community Creditodr{the “DCCU "), the Participant will
forfeit any eligibility for an award under the MIExcept as provided under Section 8(b)(v) below, Rarticipant who goes
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on any type of leave or who transfers to the DC€lingy time during 2010 will have his Target MIP Awaalculated based on his annual
base salary (measured as of the date immediatelytprthe date the transfer or leave is considefézttive for purposes of the MIP) and
number of calendar months he was employed in adliitble position during 2010, multiplied by thdeeant total target award percentage
applicable to his MIP-eligible position.

(v) Military Leave.In the event that at any time during 2010 a Paict is on a Military Leave of Absence, his or Aenual Base Sala
shall be equal to the aggregate annual base shlBRarticipant received from Delta during 2010spny amount of base salary such
Participant would have received had he or she betwvely employed by Delta in any corresponding MiIRible position during such lea
“Military Leave of Absence ” means a Participant’s absence from his or hettipasof employment at any time during 2010 becanfse
service in the uniformed services, as defined utiteitJniformed Services Employment and ReemployriRégiits Act of 1994, as amended
(* USERRA™); provided,that a Participant must provide the Company apjatspevidence that his or her absence was duevizsén the
uniformed services and the period of such serviagder to be considered to be on a Military Leav&bsence for purposes of the MIP. |
purposes of the MIP, any Participant who is abdeetto military service (according to Delta’s reds)ras of December 31, 2010 and has
been on such leave for a cumulative period (duttiegperiod he or she has been employed by Deltefears or less, will be presumec
be on a Military Leave of Absence. Any Participedtio is similarly absent due to military serviceged on Delta’s records) and who has
been on such leave for a period of more than feery will not be considered to be on a Military teaf Absence until he or she provides
appropriate evidence that he or she is entitleghtexception to the five-year limit on uniformeaviee as set forth in USERRA.

9. Treatment of Payments Under Benefit Plans or Pgrams. MIP payments, which for an Executive Officer Rapant who receives MIP
Restricted Stock means the amount of the payaiet&xecutive Officer Participant under the MIP tiael payout been made in cash, will be
considered as earnings under any benefit planagram sponsored by Delta only to the extent sugimpats are included as earnings under
the terms of the specific plan or progrggmvided, however, that any MIP payment made to an Executive OffRRarticipant in MIP Restricte
Stock will be considered as earnings only for pagsoof the Company’s restoration payment progranm affect from time to time. If such
payments are included, unless otherwise provideti@h plan or program, participants will be eligibd contribute amounts paid under the
into such plans in the same manner and to the sateat as their ordinary compensation and any ats@amcontributed will be subject to any
applicable Company contributions and/or matcheswitlostanding anything to the contrary in this $@et9, any MIP payment received in
connection with a Termination of Employment shall he considered earnings under any benefit plaomagram sponsored by Delta.

10. Effective Date.The MIP will become effective as of January 1, 2qi@vided howeverif on or before the date the Committee adopts the
MIP any employee who would otherwise have partiggan the MIP is informed that his or her employtneill be terminated by the

Company without Cause, any severance such empisystitled to receive will be calculated basedl®2009 Management Incentive Plan as
in effect as of December 31, 2009.
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11. Amendment.Except as otherwise expressly set forth in thigiSecthe terms of Section 14 of the 2007 Planlsimgly to any amendment
or termination of the MIP. In addition, the termgphcable to any Participant will be subject initrentirety to the terms of any offer letter or
other document to which the Participant has agréed.terms of such offer letter or other documémtyntrary to the terms of the MIP, shall
govern the rights of the corresponding Participant.

12. Fractions.Any calculation under the MIP that results in afranal amount will be rounded up to two decimaings.

13. Section 409A of the Codeé\otwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Mi®the extent that any amount paid hereundeommection
with a Termination of Employment constitutes defdrcompensation under Section 409A of the IntdReafenue Code of 1986, as amended,
and the regulations promulgated thereunder (togett&ection 409A") and is paid to a “specified employee” as defiime&ection 409A, the
payment of such amount will be delayed for six rhent

14. Clawback.Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Mifthe Committee determines that a vice presidemhore senior officer
level Participant has engaged in fraud or misconthat caused, in whole or in part, the need fgcuired restatement of Delta’s financial
statements filed with the Securities and Exchange@ission, the Committee will review all incentivempensation awarded to or earned by
such Participant, including, without limitation,yalMIP Award, with respect to fiscal periods matbyiaffected by the restatement and may
recover from the Participant all such incentive pemsation to the extent that the Committee deemoppate after taking into account the
relevant facts and circumstances. Any recoupmenetimeler may be in addition to any other remediasrtiay be available to Delta under
applicable law, including, disciplinary action upand including termination of employment.
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EXHIBIT A— DELTA CONNECTION GOALS:

Delta Connection’s Operational Performance wilblased on the number of times during 2010 that tbeof Delta Connection carriers
meets or exceeds its monthly operational goalsdanpletion factor and on-time arrival performanite (‘ Delta Connection Goals’). The
24 monthly Delta Connection Goals are includedhenfollowing tables:

On-Time Arrival

Completion Factor Performance

Month in 2010 2010 Goal 2010 Goal

January 97.%% 77.2%
February 97.5% 78.(%
March 97.% 79.2%
April 98.2% 81.%
May 98.8% 84.%
June 97. % 78. %
July 97.1% 77.5%
August 97.&% 78.%
Septembe 98.6% 85.2%
October 98.% 84.5%
Novembet 98.% 85.2%
Decembe 97.2% 75.4%
Total 98.1% 80.£%

A. The primary source of reported metrics used toutate performance will be performance reports gtesliby each Delta Connecti
carrier on a daily basis and validated by Deltar@&mtion Performance Manageme

B. All domestic and international Delta Conmnegtcarrier system operations subject to capacitgipase agreements and/or revenue
proration agreements will be included in the perfance measures, including the operations of ASAuGtuqua, Comair, Compass,
Freedom, Mesaba, Pinnacle, SkyWest and Shuttle idmdrut excluding any revenue proration operatigitB respect to which
passenger reservations are not reflected on De#ta&vations system (thédelta Connection Program”). In the event that a carrier
enters or leaves the Delta Connection Program ctraier’s operations will be included or excludeain the performance measures as

applicable.
C. The monthly calculation for completion factor wik as follows
1. Add all Delta Connection scheduled system operatfonthe month

2. Add all Delta Connection system completéghts for the month (including flights canceleddrye carrier and covered by another
via an extra section, which also includes flighiarged to Delta or Northwest aircra

3. Divide the result of C.2 by the result of C.1 fot@nbined Delta Connection system completion fai
D. The monthly calculation for -time performance will be as follow
1. Add all Delta Connection completed system operation the month

2. Add all Delta Connection system on time operatifmnghe month. On time operations are defined antimber of flights the
arrive at the scheduled destination within 15 nesuif the scheduled arrival tir

3. Divide the result of D.2 by the result of D.1 focambined Delta Connection systen-time performance measul

E. All calculations will be performed and validated bglta Connection Performance Managem



Delta Air Lines, Inc.
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Chargeg?

Exhibit 12.1

Successor Predecessor
Four
Eight Months Months
Year Ended Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31 December 31 December 31 April 30, Year Ended December 31
(in millions, except for ratio dat: 2009 2008@®) 2007 2007@ 20060) 20056
(Loss) earnings
(Loss) earnings before income ta: $ (1,58)) $ (9,04) $ 52t $ 1,29¢ $ (6,969 $ (3,859
Add (deduct).
Fixed charges from belo 1,41¢ 80¢ 432 28t 97C 1,27¢
Capitalized interes (12) (23) (8 3) (8 (9)
(Loss) earnings as adjust $ (177 $ (8,259 $ 94¢ $ 1,57¢ $ (6,006 $ (2,599
Fixed charges
Interest expense, including
capitalized amounts and
amortization of debt cos 1,29( 72¢ 39¢ 265 87¢ 1,041
Preference security dividet — — — 2 18
Portion of rental expens
representative of the interest
factor 12€ 77 34 20 90 21F
Fixed charge $ 1,41¢ $ 80¢ $ 437 $ 28t $ 97C $ 1,27/
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg® (0.19) (10.26) 2.2C 5.52 (6.19) (2.09)

@

@

©)

4
®)

(6)

™

References to “Successor” refer to Delta on tardflay 1, 2007, after giving effect to (1) the calhation of Delta common stock issued
prior to the effective date of Delta’'s emergenaerfibankruptcy on April 30, 2007; (2) the issuantaew Delta common stock and
certain debt securities in accordance with Deliaist Plan of Reorganization; and (3) the applaatf fresh start reporting. References
to “Predecess” refer to Delta prior to May 1, 200

Includes (a) $407 million in restructuring and m&-related charges associated with (i) integratingoiberations of Northwest into Del
including costs related to information technologmployee relocation and training, and re-brandingjreraft and stations and

(i) employee workforce reduction programs andgb)$83 million non-cash loss for the write-off bétunamortized discount on the
extinguishment of the Northwest senior securedfeancing facility. Additionally, interest expenseludes $370 million in net debt
discount amortization primarily as a result of atijug our debt and capital lease obligations tovfalue in purchase accounting upon our
merger with Northwes

Includes a $7.3 billion nc-cash charge from an impairment of goodwill and othiangible assets and $1.1 billion in primarilyn-cash
merge-related charges relating to the issuance or vesfirgnployee equity awards in connection with oerger with Northwes

Includes a $1.2 billion nc-cash gain for reorganization iten

Includes a $6.2 billion ni-cash charge for reorganization items and a $31mihor-cash charge associated with certain accoul
adjustments

Includes an $888 million charge for restructuriagset writedowns, pension settlements and relsetsj net and an $884 million r-
cash charge for reorganization itet

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008, 2008@05, earnings were not sufficient to coverdigbarges by $1.6 billior
$9.1 billion, $7.0 billion and $3.9 billion, respaely.



NAME OF SUBSIDIARY

SUBSIDIARIES OF DELTA AIR LINES, INC.
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2009

EXHIBIT 21.1

JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION OR
ORGANIZATION

Aero Assurance Ltc

Cardinal Insurance Company (Cayman) |
Comair, Inc.

Comair Holdings, LLC

Comair Services, In

Compass Airlines, Inc

Crown Rooms, Inc

DAL Global Services, LLC

DAL Moscow, Inc.

Delta AirElite Business Jets, In

Delta Air Lines, Inc. and Pan American World Airveglync—Unterstutzungskasse GMB

Delta Air Lines Dublin Limitec

Delta Air Lines Private Limite:

Delta Benefits Management, Ir

Delta Loyalty Management Services, LI
Epsilon Trading, LLC

Kappa Capital Management, LL
Mesaba Aviation, Inc

MLT Inc.

Montana Enterprises, In

New Sky, Ltd.

Northwest Aerospace Training Corporat
Northwest Airlines, LLC

NW Red Baron LLC

NWA Fuel Services Corporatic

NWA Real Estate Holding Company LL
NWA Worldclub, Inc.

Regional Elite Airline Services, LL!
Segrave Aviation, Inc

Tomisato Shoji Kabushiki Kaist

Vermont

Cayman lIsland

Ohio
Delaware
Kentucky
Delaware
New York
Delaware
Delaware
Kentucky
Germany

Ireland

India
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Minnesots
Minnesota
Montana
Bermuda
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
New York
Delaware
Wisconsin
Delaware
Minnesots

Japar

None of Delta’s subsidiaries do business uadgrnames other than their corporate names, hétliallowing exceptions:

e Comair, Inc. conducts business as Comair Southjrrtbe following states: Florida and Alabar

e MLT Inc. conducts business as MLT Vacations |



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdlewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement No. :-142424 on Form -8 pertaining to the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Peniance Compensation Pl:
(2) Registration Statement No. :-149308 on Form -8 pertaining to the Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Peniance Compensation Pl:
(3) Registration Statement No. :-154818 on Form -8 pertaining to Delta Air Lines, Inc. 2007 Performoa Compensation Plan, a
(4) Registration Statement No. :-151060 on Form -8 pertaining to Northwest Airlines Corporation 208dck Incentive Plar

of our reports dated February 24, 2010, with resfgethe consolidated financial statements of Dalta_ines, Inc., and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of Dehédr Lines, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Forl0-K) of Delta Air Lines, Inc. for the year
ended December 31, 2009.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 24, 2010



Exhibit 31.1
I, Richard H. Anderson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&B¥K of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) for the feal year ended December 31, 2009;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets) and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of Delta as of, and for, théopks presented in this report;

4. Delta’s other certifying officer and | axesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for Delta and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@ededures, or caused such disclosure controlpentedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to Delta, including its consolidated subaiis, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafficial reporting, or caused such internal corgrar financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Deldisclosure controls and procedures and preséntais report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any chang®elta’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during Delta’s most recent fiscal
guarter that has materially affected, or is reabbniékely to materially affect, Delta’s internabatrol over financial reporting; and

5. Delta’s other certifying officer and | hadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiamerfnal control over financial reporting, to
Delta’s auditors and the Audit Committee of DeltBtard of Directors (or persons performing the eglgnt functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and miadweaknesses in the design or operation of iralecontrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect Delta’s apito record, process, summarize and report firdmeformation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materidlat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in Delta’s internal
control over financial reporting.

February 24, 2010 /s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Andersor
Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
I, Hank Halter, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&B¥K of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Delta”) for the feal year ended December 31, 2009;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statets) and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of Delta as of, and for, théopks presented in this report;

4. Delta’s other certifying officer and | axesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) amdriat control over financial reporting (as definedxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for Delta and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls@ededures, or caused such disclosure controlpentedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to Delta, including its consolidated subaiis, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period ihieh this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control oveafficial reporting, or caused such internal corgrar financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurargadang the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of Deldisclosure controls and procedures and preséntais report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proes) as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any chang®elta’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during Delta’s most recent fiscal
guarter that has materially affected, or is reabbniékely to materially affect, Delta’s internabatrol over financial reporting; and

5. Delta’s other certifying officer and | hadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiamerfnal control over financial reporting, to
Delta’s auditors and the Audit Committee of DeltBtard of Directors (or persons performing the eglgnt functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and miadweaknesses in the design or operation of iralecontrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect Delta’s apito record, process, summarize and report firdmeformation; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not materidlat involves management or other employees who aaignificant role in Delta’s internal
control over financial reporting.

February 24, 2010 /s/ Hank Halter
Hank Halter
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

February 24, 2010

Securities and Exchange Commission
450 Fifth Street, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20549

Ladies and Gentlemen:

The certifications set forth below are herebpmitted to the Securities and Exchange Commigaiosuant to, and solely for the purpose of
complying with, Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Titk of the United States Code in connection withfitling on the date hereof with the
Securities and Exchange Commission of the AnnupbRen Form 10-K of Delta Air Lines, Inc. (“Deltgfor the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2009 (the “Report”).

Each of the undersigned, the Chief Executiffec€ and the Senior Vice President and Chief Raial Officer, respectively, of Delta,
hereby certifies that, as of the end of the pecioeered by the Report:

1. such Report fully complies with the requirement$§ettion 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act &41&nd

2. the information contained in the Report fairly gets, in all material respects, the financial ctadiand results of operations of De

/s/ Richard H. Anderson
Richard H. Andersor
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Hank Halter

Hank Halter

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer




